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SANTA ROSA HOSPITAL:
RESPONDING TO CRIES FOR HELP

When San Antonio was struck by two epidemics of cholera and an out-
break of typhus in the latter part of the nineteenth century, the people
called desperately for help to care for the sick and to control the spread of
disease.! The city had no hospital at the time; the few doctors available
tended the sick in their homes or in the rooms of local hotels.? Such con-
ditions were totally inadequate to cope with the outbreak of an epidemic.

The first siege of cholera in 1849 lasted six weeks and took the
lives of over 600 persons in a city whose population was only 5,000.3
People abandoned their homes and took refuge in the outlying areas in
an effort to escape from the disease. Others shut themselves up secure-
ly within their houses in isolation from their neighbors.

The second cholera attack occurred in 1866, and San Antonio was
still not prepared to deal with such a disaster. The second epidemic was
not as devastating as the first, yet the Board of Health reported that 515
cases were treated by doctors, and 104 persons died during treatment.
Others were found dead or dying in the streets.* As in the past, those who
were unafflicted fled to escape contagion. San Antonio had no hospital to
care for the health needs of its population which now numbered 12,000.

The spread of cholera was attributed generally to poor sanitation,
and while the city began to address the need for proper drainage, the
paving of streets, and adequate sewerage, a new form of disaster struck
in 1869.° The San Antonio River, swollen by excessive rains overflowed
its banks and flooded the city, leaving many persons homeless and des-
titute.> The outbreak of typhus, typhoid fever, and dysentery that fol-
lowed the rains brought new forms of suffering and health problems to
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the community that was still not prepared to cope with contagion and
disease.

Civic leaders, led by Mayor W. C. A. Thielepape, appealed for
help to Bishop Claude M. Dubuis, whose diocese included the whole of
the State of Texas and who three years earlier had helped the people of
Galveston survive an epidemic of yellow fever by prevailing upon
Catholic sisters from France to open a hospital in the coastal city. The
bishop carried the appeal to the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word,
who had established St. Mary’s Sanitarium in Galveston, and to the
French foundation in Lyons, from which they had come. The story of
the three young women who responded to his plea and to the desperate
cry for help from the people of San Antonio is the story of Santa Rosa.
It is a story in which the first cry for help was repeated over and over
again as each new wave of sickness, disease, and disaster struck the area
during the century-long history of the hospital. It is a story in which the
sisters never failed to respond to the people in need.

In March, 1869, the three sisters prepared to leave the Galveston
community to make the long trip by stagecoach to San Antonio.
Inspired by a religious dedication to carry on the healing ministry of
Jesus Christ, they were full of youthful idealism and enthusiasm for
their mission. Before the journey even began, however, they faced their
first disappointment and their first test of courage. Word arrived in
Galveston that the building under construction as an addition to San
Fernando Cathedral Rectory and intended to serve as both hospital and
convent had burned to the ground. When Sisters Madeleine Chollet,
Pierre Cinquin, and Agnes Buisson reached the end of their journey
twenty-four days later, they found themselves homeless and without any
form of hospital where they could begin their work. They were forced
to find shelter with the Ursuline nuns, who had established an academy
in the city and who took them in with gracious hospitality.

Priests and laymen worked side by side in reconstructing the two-
story stone facility on land donated by the diocese.” The sisters them-
selves cleaned and polished the interior. Urgent appeals for financial
help were carried in the San Antonio Weekly Express bringing a gener-
ous response from the city: “Donations to the new hospital have been
even more than liberal on the part of our citizens. Two gentlemen,
Messrs. Twohig and Guilbeau, gave a thousand dollars each and sever-
al others five hundred each. The building is approaching completion.”®

By the end of November, 1869, the infirmary was ready to open its
doors to the public, and the sisters sent the following announcement to
the editor of the San Antonio Express:
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Dear Sir:

You will confer a great favor on us by publishing in your paper the fol-
lowing:

The undersigned take great pleasure in announcing to the public, that, on the
first day of December next, the Hospital and Infirmary under the manage-
ment of the Sisters of the Incamate Word, will be ready to receive patients.

This institution, as every one knows, has been founded with small means,
and is even now encumbered with a heavy debt, a circumstance which
will not permit us to receive an unlimited number of patients. We hope
eventually to get out of debt, and then every exception shall cease, and
every restriction shall be removed. For it is our intention to build with the
course of time, somewhere out of town, an asylum for contagious dis-
eases, and for the incurable, the insane, and all obnoxious cases.

We hope to meet the wants of the patients entrusted to our care by pro-
viding for them healthy rooms, good food and attentive nursing; and for
this reason we take the liberty to solicit not only the assistance of the
authorities entrusted with the welfare of the poor, but also the kind offices
of the physicians of this place. . . .

No regular physician is excluded from our institution. Every one has a right
to send in his patients, whether they be paying or charity patients. He will
have the entire control over them in the Hospital; and his prescriptions with
regard to food, nursing, and medicines, will be strictly followed.

We beg leave to remark, however, that the number of charity patients must
be proportioned to the number of paying patients, or else we should be in a
state of bankruptcy at the very beginning; since we have no revenue, no
resources, no other income, but that which is the result of our industry. . . .

The hospital will be open to all persons without distinction of nationali-
ty or creed.

Sister St. Magdalen [sic], Superioress
Sister St. Peter [sic], Treasurer?

Located on the corner of Cameron and Commerce Streets, the hos-
pital, or infirmary as it was then called, was limited in its facilities to
meet the needs of the growing community, yet it was respected by many
as a great addition to the city. It was obvious that San Antonians shared
a sense of ownership in what they had helped to build. They referred to
it as “The City Hospital” or simply “Our Hospital.” Often it was called
also “The Charity Hospital,” indicating the sisters’ concern for the needs
of the poor. Bishop Dubuis had decided, however, that the hospital be
called after St. Rose of Lima, the first canonized saint of the Americas,
and in time, Santa Rosa Infirmary became the accepted name.'°
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At the time of its opening, a time of widespread racial segregation
in public facilities, local newspapers made particular reference to the
fact that the new infirmary would admit persons of all races and all
denominations. It was praised as an institution that would receive with-
in its “friendly walls . . . whites, blacks, and Mexicans.”!!

Public announcements explained also that although the infirmary
was Catholic it was “open to patients, without regard to religion. No
religious services [were] required, although Catholics [could] find a lit-
tle chapel to do their praying in.”!?

A reporter’s first look at the building was carried in the San
Antonio Weekly Express. Referring to the structure as “Our Hospital,” he
described the two-story stone building as “stately,” with four large
wards that could be divided into smaller rooms by removable screens to
accommodate as many as fifty patients. Women were assigned to one
area of the building; men to the other.

The building was “neatly whitewashed, well-lighted and ventilat-
ed, and in every respect recommendable.” The ventilation was noted in
particular and described as excellent: “From the main entrance an alley
runs through the whole building, allowing the air to pass freely. All
doors open towards the alley, and an air hole above each door gives
additional ingress of the air to the sick rooms.” Water was provided
from a ditch and “led through pipes into a large tank, . . . elevated by a
force pump and driven into the bathing house, the washing house, and
into several departments, . . . with a cistern for the occupation of rain
water used for drinking and cooking.”!3

Charges in the beginning were $1.00 per day, with fifty cents extra
paid for fire in the room. Frequently, however, patients were accepted for
as little as 25 cents, and through an agreement with the city, a payment of
50 cents was made for paupers. Persons from the farms and ranches in the
nearby towns of Bandera, Seguin, and Boerne sometimes paid their bills
by bringing meat, vegetables, eggs, and butter to the sisters.

Many records in the Santa Rosa Diary show that it was not at all
unusual for patients to leave the hospital promising to pay at a later
date but failing to keep their word, and in spite of the opening
announcement that the amount of free service would have to be kept in
balance with that which was paid in full, the number of poor patients
often outnumbered those who were able to pay. With such limited
income, the hospital often seemed on the verge of closing.!# Shortly
after its opening, the San Antonio Weekly carried an appeal for com-
munity support: “In view of the great need of such an institution, debt
was incurred in the completion and fitting up of this building. . . . It will



SANTAROSA HOSPITAL: RESPONDING TO CRIES FOR HELP

become a great blessing for the future and therefore deserves the sup-
port of all good citizens.”!?

In spite of the urgency on the part of the mayor and city leaders to
get the sisters to come to San Antonio, the infirmary did not have a very
promising beginning. Only eight patients were admitted on the opening
day, four men and four women, seven of whom were white and one black.
Before the development of antiseptic surgery, hospitals were generally
viewed as houses of death because of the high mortality rate. They had
grown out of the earlier almshouses and identified with the pauper class.
They were seen as institutions tending to the needs of those who were
destitute and dying, rather than facilities offering care and cure to the sick
and suffering.!® Gradually, however, the care offered by the sisters, the
skill of the physicians, and the cleanliness of the building brought about
a change in attitude and an increase in patients.

The infirmary had been built in an area that was rapidly becoming a
busy thoroughfare. In 1875, the decision was made to exchange the site
with that of St. Joseph’s Orphanage, which the sisters had built the previ-
ous year. The new location, on what was later West Houston St., was sit-
vated on the outskirts of the city and offered a quiet atmosphere as well
as room for expansion.!” It became the permanent site for Santa Rosa.

A description of the building that was carried in the San Antonio
newspaper stated that the first floor was “divided into four wards, one
for wounded men, one for sick, one for females and one for colored peo-
ple.” The second floor was divided into rooms for private patients and
contained a small chapel. The sisters’ rooms were in the garret. Fifty
patients could be accommodated “by crowding them together.”!®

The early success of the infirmary must be attributed to the
courageous and generous service of the sisters. They were pioneer
women who were willing to take on the most difficult tasks, to sacri-
fice their own needs for the needs of others, and to overcome all obsta-
cles. The doctors were the first to recognize this unusual dedication.
Dr. Edward A. Cayo, who was known as the Father of Bone Surgery
for his work at the hospital, once remarked: “The sisters worked 15
hours a day and often slept just where they found a place. They
worked too hard—too many died too young. But no one ever matched
them in dedication.”’® And Dr. John Moore, who established the
pathology department at Santa Rosa, noted: “Santa Rosa’s greatest
strength has always been the unflagging dedication of all the sisters to
taking care of sick people.”?°

Although some persons have described Santa Rosa’s founding sis-
ters as professionally prepared nurses who had completed their training in
France before coming to Texas, such statements are inaccurate. It is true
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that the first sisters whom Bishop Dubuis had brought to Galveston had
been members of a Catholic sisterhood in France, Soeurs Hospitaliéres
des Hopitaux de Lyons, and had worked at least for a short time at the
Hospital of the Antiquaille. There is no evidence, however, that the three
sisters who arrived a year or two later in Galveston and then came to San
Antonio for the purpose of founding Santa Rosa had any professional
training or experience as nurses.

Sisters Madeleine and Agnes spent two years working with the sis-
ters in Galveston at St. Mary’s Sanitarium. Sister St. Pierre had very lit-
tle, if any, preparation for caring for the sick. There are no records of her
having been trained as a nurse, and she spent only six months at the
Galveston sanitarium before coming to San Antonio.

What the sisters did bring to their work was a strong faith in God,
to Whom they had consecrated their lives by religious vows, and a sin-
cere dedication to helping those who were in need. They were ready to
give generously and labor tirelessly under the most adverse circum-
stances. One newspaper account described them as “three French
women [who] do hard work, which is the more astonishing when their
youth is taken into consideration.”?! They were also ready to learn what-
ever they could from the doctors with whom they worked. Their knowl-
edge of medicine, their skills in nursing, their understanding of how to
manage a hospital, and even their ability to speak English, all came
from their daily contacts with the physicians at Santa Rosa.

San Antonio was fortunate in having several established and rep-
utable physicians even in 1869, and the story of Santa Rosa cannot be
told without recognizing the work of these men. Dr. George Cupples
had been Staff Assistant-Surgeon to the British Legion in Spain in 1836,
and after his arrival in San Antonio in the mid-1800s he was recognized
as “a scientific investigator and surgical genius.”?2 When the first State
Medical Association of Texas was established in 1852, he was elected
president, and became a strong advocate for the control and elimination
of medical quackery. “Humbug is the order of the day,” he proclaimed
in his first presidential address. “The standing, social and individual, of
medical practitioners as a class, is confessedly lower here than in any
other country of Christendom. Charlatanism and imposture, the off-
spring of ignorance, general and professional, reign rampant in the land;
no legislative check restrains the indiscriminate and unregulated prac-
tice of physic by unqualified persons, the incredible and destructive
abuse of nostrums and secret remedies.”?3

Closely associated with Dr. Cupples and with Santa Rosa was Dr.
Ferdinand Ludwig von Herff, who was always referred to as “Old
Doctor Herff” by the sisters. He was the first of eight doctors in his fam-

6
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ily to serve on the staff of the hospital. Born in Darmstadt, Germany, he
had been trained as a physician and surgeon in Bonn, Berlin, and
Giessen, before beginning his work on the Texas frontier. In the course
of his long career at Santa Rosa, he brought about many advances in the
development of medicine. He is credited with having performed the first
cataract operation as well as one of the first hysterectomies in the
United States. He was responsible also for one of the earliest successful
corrective operations for Jacksonian epilepsy. He was equally success-
ful in perfecting the draining of a tubercular pulmonary abscess and in
the performance of a gastrostomy for relief of a permanently constrict-
ed esophagus.?*

The association of Drs. Cupples and Herff with Santa Rosa soon
attracted other prominent physicians and surgeons to the staff: Drs.
Amos Graves, Julius Braunagel, J. P. Oldham, A. S. McDaniel, Adolph
Herff, John Herff, and William Wolf, Sr. From such outstanding teach-
ers, the sisters gained their knowledge and experience, not only in nurs-
ing, but also in the science of medicine. Early entries in the Santa Rosa
Diary and Remark Book indicate that a doctor performing surgery was
always assisted by two or more sisters, with Sister Remigius Hackett
administering the anesthetic. Frequently, the sisters in the obstetrics
department delivered newborn infants when the doctors could not
respond quickly enough to hospital calls.?’> They also operated the phar-
macy, managed their own ambulance service, cooked and served the
patients’ meals, tended the fires in their rooms, washed their linens, and
cleaned the rooms and corridors.

Santa Rosa was chartered by the State of Texas in 1881, and by
1884, the two-story stone building on Houston Street was filled to
capacity. Patient wards were overflowing, and the attic in which the sis-
ters lived was so crowded, with some of them even sleeping on mat-
tresses on the floor, that Rev. Mother Pierre thought their health would
be endangered.?® There were no funds available for expansion, but there
was no alternative either. Finally, it was decided to construct a three-
story addition, the beginning of “Old Main.” What a monumental finan-
cial undertaking this was for the new congregation and the new hospi-
tal can be imagined from the statement the sisters prepared for the doc-
ument to be placed in the cornerstone of the building: “The means to
begin are none. . . . The future expenses will be met by the assistance of
Heaven, who has never forsaken us.”?’

Mother Pierre wrote to all of the sisters of the Congregation ask-
ing for special prayers. The fifteen mysteries of the rosary as well as the
devotional prayers of the Seven Joys and Seven Sorrows of St. Joseph
were to be said in common each day during the month of March. And

7
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in order to provide the time needed for the extra prayers, she advised the
sisters, “We allow that all of you may delay the hour of rest in the
evening by half an hour which gives you 9:30 p.m., but only during the
month of March.”?8

They secured a loan of $2,000.00 from the Rev. P. Taillon of
Fredericksburg and borrowed additional funds from the Ursuline nuns
in San Antonio and from the Incarnate Word sisters in Victoria. The
Steves Lumber Company offered them “credit unlimited.” With faith in
God and trust in the generous support of the community, the sisters
knew more help would be forthcoming. In gratitude, they added the
final lines to the cornerstone document:

When reading these lines, dear Sisters, or readers, let a prayer be breathed
from your very soul for the persons who have assisted us, and who will
assist us in this work of mercy, both for the glory of God and our own sal-
vation, and that of our neighbor.?’

The opening of the new Santa Rosa was considered a great asset to
the city that was now expanding in new residential areas and in new busi-
ness operations. A report in the San Antonio Daily Express described the
hospital as “one of the most needed and gratifying improvements” in San
Antonio and gave a detailed description of “the private rooms with their
immaculately white beds and curtains, cheery bright carpets and pictures,
... hot and cold water and all modern appurtenances.” The facility was
“undoubtedly one of the best in the South.”0

Advances in medical science as well as increased attention to
drainage and sanitation made it possible for the city to offset any further
epidemics of cholera. The struggle with the conwol and treatment of
contagious diseases was not over, however, and in 1883, the cry for help
was heard again as small pox broke out in the community. Back in 1869,
with the first announcement of the opening of Santa Rosa, the sisters
had described a plan for establishing sometime in the future a separate
hospital for persons afflicted with contagious diseases. All of their
financial resources had been applied to the maintenance of the general
hospital, however, and they had not accomplished this goal.

Civic leaders responded to the outbreak of small pox by setting up
outside the city limits a makeshift facility that was called “the pest house.”
It was little more than “a cabin with its roof partly torn away and its floor
the bare ground.”?! It would serve primarily to isolate the small pox vic-
tims from the rest of the community. Facing the question of who would
care for the persons separated from their families and from any source of
medical assistance, the mayor once again turned to the sisters asking for
help. “It was such a beautiful opportunity to show our dedication,”
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Santa Rosa Infirmary was moved from the corner of Commerce and Cameron Streets to
Houston Street in 1875. The building, constructed originally to serve as St. Joseph’s
Orphanage, was converted to use by the hospital in order to provide the patients with
fresh air and a quiet atmosphere away from downtown San Antonio.

Surgery was an unusual happening in
the early days of Santa Rosa with many
persons involved in the procedure.
Shown here performing an operation on
a young boy’s leg is Dr. Adolph Herff,
center, with Dr. Ferdinand Ludwig von
Herff, left, supervising the procedure.

w2l S ide « N ek e

Sister Philip Neri Neville, Sister de
Sales Keegan, and Sister Robert O’ Dea
were among the first graduates of the
Santa Rosa Training School for Nurses
in 1906. Classes were taught by the
physicians on the staff of the Infirmary
with Dr. Ferdinand Ludwig von Herff
serving as president and Dr. Julius
Braunagel as dean.
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Mother Pierre said, that she could not refuse. For the sisters who would
move to the isolation unit and stay with the patients, her greatest concern
was that they would have to miss daily mass and the reception of the
Eucharist. “I cannot obligate our sisters to deprive themselves,” she told
the city doctor, “but if they are willing to make this sacrifice, you shall
have them—the epidemic does not frighten us at all.”3?

Sister Alphonse Brollier and Sister Clare Zienc left Santa Rosa and
the convent community to take up their long stay of five weeks at the pest
house. Because of the panic created in the city by the rapid spread of the
disease, they left secretly at night, taking with them bedding, utensils, and
an army tent in which they would sleep in alternating shifts. They worked
day and night in caring for the small pox victims, while three times a day
the other sisters brought them food and medicine from Santa Rosa.
Worried that the sisters themselves would be afflicted with the small pox,
Mother Pierre violated all rules of the quarantine and went to visit them
at least once and sometimes twice a day. “Our sisters washed their faces
when they saw me coming,” she wrote in one of her letters “and they used
to say to me, ‘Mother, we are very clean.’ I embraced them, and indeed
they deserved my affection. . . . It was heart-rending to see them in such
a tent during the cold weather. But they were so happy and had such high
courage that it consoled us. . . . They had the joy of baptizing three out of
the six patients who died.”?

Their work in caring for the small pox victims prompted them to
insert the following directive in their constitutions:

In epidemics and contagious diseases the sisters must rise to the height of
their sublime vocation, devoting themselves, at the peril of their lives, to
the sick who need their services, without regard to creed or color, and their
most anxious care shall ever be for the poorest and most abandoned.34

During a second outbreak of small pox in 1886, Sister Clare
returned again to the pest house accompanied by Sister St. Claude
Esparza and a postulant unidentified by name in the convent records.
This time, however, another and even greater sacrifice was called for on
the part of the sisters’community, as the disease struck one of their own
members, Miss Lucy Bridget Casey, a young woman of twenty who had
come from Ireland just two years earlier to enter the order.33 She was
confined to the pest house with all of the other small pox patients and
died there a few weeks later.

From the daily records of Santa Rosa, it is clear that the sisters saw
their work as a following of the healing ministry of Jesus Christ and as
an extension of the work of the Church.3® Their personal lives in reli-
gious community and their spiritual exercises were deeply interwoven

10
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with their work as nurses, administrators, pharmacists, cooks, and
housekeepers. A small part of the hospital was set aside for their con-
vent quarters, and the first superior general of the Congregation, Rev.
Mother Madeleine Chollet, was the first hospital administrator. She was
replaced three years later by Rev. Mother St. Pierre Cinquin, who like-
wise assumed both positions of leadership.’

Rev. Mother Pierre’s warm-hearted spirit pervades the early
records of Santa Rosa. Her concern was maternalistic; the sisters were
her children, an attitude that would be frowned upon by later theoreti-
cians of religious life. Nevertheless, for those who worked at the hospi-
tal under her direction she offered a warm and loving support, as indi-
cated in the following letter:

Now come up to Santa Rosa, my darling ones, and there you will find
some of everything. You know how it goes here, needless to tell you. Srs.
St. Xavier and St. Alphonsus are in charge of the patients’ departments
with their help, Sr. Lawrence, Sr. Clotilde, Sr. Blandine, and some postu-
lants. Sr. Clare has her wash-house and the sisters’linen. Sr. Martha has
a new stove in her kitchen and you can be sure that we have enough to
eat. She is not only a Martha now to dress the food; she is a baker and
almost a confectioner. Besides all those new trades she finds time to
make us laugh. When you come, bring a scrubbing brush to clean her
tongue, as she says some things once in a while that may smell miles
away.®

The celebration of daily Mass is an important entry in each day’s
record on the operation of Santa Rosa. Religious feasts were observed
by patients as well as by the community of sisters, and the spiritual con-
cerns of the sick were as important as their physical needs. The record
of a person’s death always included information on the attendance of the
chaplain and the administering of the sacraments to anyone of the
Catholic faith. Many records tell of patients being baptized on their
deathbeds or of making their peace with God usually through the efforts
of the sisters. Such events were cause for profound, quiet celebration of
God’s blessings and were often shared through a monthly letter sent to
all of the sisters. Rev. Mother Pierre wrote once about the “special con-
solation” it was for all at Santa Rosa “to give the grace of baptism to a
little baby of five days who left after for the heavenly home.”*°

Growth in the population of San Antonio by the end of the 1880s
and the ever-increasing need for health care ultimately made it impera-
tive for the city to establish its own hospital. In 1885, the City Council
voted to pay $45,000.00 for property bounded by Pérez St. on the north,
Morales St. on the south, Leona St. on the east and Frio St. on the west,

11
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a site now serving as the location for the Brady Green Community
Health Center, or the “Old Green” as it is usually called.

But San Antonio had no educational programs for nurses and other
hospital personnel, and when the city hospital was ready to open, the
mayor and civic leaders turned to the sisters for help in taking over the
management and the nursing services of the new facility. All of the city
patients were removed from Santa Rosa, where they had been cared for
previously. Accompanying them was Sister Angela Pierret, who was
appointed “directress,” and Sister Annunciation O’Connor, Sister
Gregory Rihm, and three postulants, all of whom became the first nurs-
es on the staff of the city hospital.

The existence of the first publicly owned hospital was shortlived,
however. When a severe storm struck San Antonio in 1892, the building
was badly damaged and condemned for further use. Just five years after
they had been removed from Santa Rosa, all of the patients were
brought back again, and emergency- measures had to be taken to make
room for the sudden increase.

Accompanying their patients was the staff of sisters who had been
assigned to the city hospital. Although they had cared faithfully for the
sick and worked diligently in the task assigned them, they had never
been paid by the city for their services. They had tried repeatedly to
secure their wages but to no avail. After several appeals were made to
the mayor and other local authorities, Mother Pierre decided to take the
matter to the City Council. She reported to the sisters:

Many of you have heard that the city has owed us a debt of several thou-
sand for years. It has been impossible to secure any of it by any means
whatever; therefore, we were obliged to put the claim into the hands of
the law. It became necessary, as the debt is of long standing, to have its
validity formally recognized by the City Council. There was a great deal
of opposition: they wishing to consider the debt beyond the limit of law-
ful payment. Thanks to the Incarnate Word and the intercession of St.
Anthony, to whom we had confided the case, the ordinance was passed.
This step is gained and it now awaits the decision of the court. Do not for-
get to invoke St. Anthony in your prayers for this intention.*?

The sudden influx of patients from the city hospital created such
overcrowded conditions at Santa Rosa that the sisters working in the
schools and other institutions were advised that they would not be able
to return, as they usually did in the summer, to the hospital, which
served as motherhouse as well as novitiate. All available space, even the
sisters’ refectory, had been taken over by the patients. “Every hole and
corner is now filled,” Sister Gabriel Wheelahan wrote, “so there is little
hope of having room for vacation.”*!

12
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Also contributing to the crowded conditions at Santa Rosa was the
building of the railroads. Trains had been introduced in Texas in 1877,
and by the 1890s they were coming to San Antonio. The new wonders
of transportation brought great opportunities for advancement, but they
also caused many serious accidents for the unskilled workers who laid
the tracks and for the inexperienced conductors and brakemen who
operated the first trains.*? The Interstate Commerce Commission report-
ed in 1800, the first year for which statistics are available, that “2,070
employees were killed and 20,148 injured.”?

Years later, A. G. Pack, Chief Inspector of the Bureau of Locomotive
Inspection, reported: “The standards of safety, if any, were only such as
conformed to the varying notions and opinions of operating managers
who as a rule were not mechanics, and adopted economy and expedi-
ency as the poor substitutes for, and at the expense of, safety and effi-
ciency. . . . Accidents were numerous and the death rate was appalling.
Hundreds of lives were annually unnecessarily sacrificed.”*

Through the efforts of Dr. Amos Graves, Sr., Chief Surgeon for the
Southern Pacific and Aransas Pass Railroads, a contract was signed with
Santa Rosa for the admission of the railroad workers through pre-
arranged conditions and at reduced rates. As many as fifty or more
patients were admitted each week.*> Many were brought in with severed
limbs and crushed or broken bones; others were suffering from being
scalded by the steam engines or from contracting pneumonia and fever
through exposure. Entries such as the following are found frequently in
the early records:

Our ambulance was called to meet a special train at the Sunset Depot at
11:30 A.M. A brakeman, named D. J. Newby, got badly injured, both legs
in bad condition, one entirely cut off from below the knee and the other
had to be cut off. He was put in Room 7, 3rd Floor, and got every atten-
tion, but he died at 10:20 P.M. . .. Our ambulance also went to the Sunset
at 4:25 to meet James Ryan, another railroad man, whose foot was
mashed.46

Since many of the railroad patients were from out of town, often
far removed from their families, the hospital maintained what was
called a “dead house” located just behind the hospital where bodies of
deceased patients were kept until relatives could be contacted.
Frequently, the sisters handled all funeral arrangements, providing
coffins and cemetery plots. At times, the deceased were even waked in
the Santa Rosa parlor, and when relatives could not be reached or failed
to respond to notification of a family member’s death, the sisters even
paid for the expenses involved in burial.
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Typical of such cases is that of Karl Walther, a patient from Chicago,
who died in the hospital and whose relatives could not be found. The sis-
ters made note of the details: “Buried Karl Walther in San Fernando
Cemetery, Grave No. 237, at 2 PM. We bought a coffin from A. A. Zizik
and Co. for $8.00 and Henry Hoffman took remains to the graveyard in
our ambulance, and we paid M. Trevifio $3.00 for the grave.™’

A similar entry records the death of a worker brought in from the
Mexican International Railway Co. “I am perfectly alone; 1 have no
one,” he had told the sisters. On the evening before his death he asked
to be baptized by Father J. B. Martin. Dr. Graves, the attending physi-
cian, suggested that the man be given “a pauper’s grave.” But such
arrangements were not acceptable to the sisters, who decided to send a
dispatch to the roadmaster in Mexico, Charles T. Norton. He answered
immediately saying, “Give him decent burial at least possible expense,
sending bill to me.” The sisters followed the directions: “We put him
into the hands of McCormick and Zizik, the undertakers, who furnished
coffin, burial and all for $16.50. He is buried in San Fernando Cemetery,
Row I, Grave No. 211.748

Santa Rosa served as the primary medical facility, not only for the
people of San Antonio, but also for patients from the surrounding towns
and communities. Many came from Kerrville, Seguin, Kenedy, Cibolo,
Yoakum, Beeville, Boerne, Pearsall, Del Rio, and Victoria. Some were
admitted also from various parts of Mexico, and many with lung ailments
and tubercular conditions came from St. Louis, Chicago, and New
Orleans because of San Antonio’s mild winter climate.*” Tubercular
patients stayed for weeks and even months at the infirmary, and addition-
al rooms were provided for their relatives to stay with them.>

Santa Rosa celebrated its twenty-fifth anniversary in 1894 with the
completion of a new chapel. The hospital still served as motherhouse
and novitiate, and a larger chapel was needed to accommodate the
increase in the number of sisters, as well as in the number of children at
the adjoining St. John’s Orphanage.’! In the document placed in the cor-
nerstone of the new structure, the sisters declared that it was “built in
gratitude to the adorable person of the Incarnate Word for the success
and development He has granted our community despite the many
obstacles to the contrary at the beginning of our existence here.”>?

The hospital was expanded with the addition of an east wing.
Although plans called for the building to have three floors, only one was
completed in 1894 “on account of scarcity of means.”? The structure
provided a ward for the isolation of consumptive patients, as well as a
new kitchen and dining room. Two years later, the east wing was fin-
ished, and the original rock structure, used first as St. Joseph’s
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Orphanage and then exchanged with the hospital, was torn down to
make room for a three-story west wing.

Charges were still minimal, and the amount of charity offered still
very high. The costs of additional construction placed a severe strain on
the financial condition not only of the hospital but also of the whole
Congregation, since the needs of Santa Rosa became the needs of all of
the sisters. An emergency appeal was sent out from the motherhouse:
“Never were we so ill-prepared to build, as the past year had many calls
on the purse of the Incarnate Word. There is no alternative, however, and
putting our confidence in Divine Providence, we have already begun. We
depend on you all, my dear sisters, to aid us both by your prayers and by
being as economical as possible so that every cent may be put to profit for
the continuance of our works which the Incarnate Word has heretofore
blessed and sustained in so miraculous a manner.”>*

The number of patients afflicted with tuberculosis increased so
rapidly that in 1896 the sisters established St. Mary’s Sanitarium in
Boeme, thirty-five miles outside of San Antonio. Patients dismissed
from Santa Rosa were often sent to the sanitarium for long-term care.>

As construction continued and new departments and services were
introduced, the sisters faced an urgent need for more nurses. The
Congregation was beginning to grow in the number of sisters eager to
take on a mission of caring for the sick. Moreover, the health care profes-
sion was beginning to attract young lay women looking for employment
opportunities. What was needed now was a training school for the prepa-
ration of nurses. Only recently had such programs been established in
Houston, El Paso, Dallas, and Austin.’® When Rev. Mother Madeleine
and Dr. Julius Braunagel proposed the opening of such a program for
Santa Rosa, they were among the pioneers in the field of nursing educa-
tion. The charter for the establishment of the school is dated 1903:

We, the undersigned, Sister St. Colette [Foran], Superior, Sister Longinus
[Goergen] and Sister Robert [O’Dea], all residents of the County of
Bexar and State of Texas, do hereby form ourselves into a private chari-
table corporation, in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas for
the creation of a charitable corporation, to be known as “Santa Rosa
Infirmary Training School for Nurses” under the management of the
Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word. . . .

Said training school to be composed of two classes of pupils:

1. The novices and sisters of the Congregation of the Sisters of Charity
of the Incarnate Word.

2. Young ladies desiring to become trained nurses and to receive their
diploma as such.>’
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Dr. Ferdinand Herff was named president of the school; Dr.
Braunagel was appointed dean; Dr. William Wolf, Sr., became secretary
and professor of nursing procedure. Twenty-three other physicians, all
from the Santa Rosa staff, made up the rest of the faculty. The first class
numbered thirteen students, all of them sisters, and included Sister Robert
O’Dea, who was appointed the first superintendent of nurses immediately
after receiving her diploma. She was later named hospital adminiswator.

Other members of the class who became the first professionally
prepared nurses in the Congregation were Sisters Colette Foran, de
Sales Keegan, Philip Neri Neville, Malachy Sweeney, Eleanor Flynn,
Victor O’Donnell, Stella O’Sullivan, Mary Ascension Ryan, Timothy
Mullen, Austin Kyne, Anselm Zell, and Evaristus Moran.

The school was immediately successful, attracting students from
many parts of Texas. By 1913, the enrollment had increased to such an
extent that a separate building was constructed directly adjacent to the
west side of the hospital to provide classrooms and a residence hall for
the student nurses.”® The training program would in time become high-
ly recognized, winning approval from the Board of Nurse Examiners
for the State of Texas in 1914, and ultimately developing, in conjunc-
tion with Incarnate Word College, into one of the first baccalaureate
degree programs in nursing to be established in the country>® The
school was the first venture of Santa Rosa in the direction of education,
a direction that later distinguished it as a teaching hospital in the fore-
front of new developments in medicine, in nursing, and in the allied
health professions.

Because of such advances in education and the continuing quality
of medical care, the hospital earned national recognition in 1914
through its accreditation with an “A” rating by the American Hospital
Association. Approval from the Catholic Hospital Association followed
soon after, and since that time, Santa Rosa has maintained its accredit-
ed recognition by these two associations without interruption.

Serving the needs of the poor had been a particular concern from
the very founding of the hospital, as indicated in its charter. Each year,
the records show that more services were offered to those unable to pay
the rising costs of medical care. In an effort to offset these costs and still
maintain their care of the poor, the sisters in 1914 opened St. Luke’s
Clinic. Free services, especially for eye, ear, nose, and throat diseases,
were offered by Doctors J. H. Burleson and A. W. Walthal with the sis-
ters assisting them as nurses. The following year, the facility recorded
2,205 persons treated for various medical problems. By 1918, that num-
ber had increased to 5,473 registered cases.
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The clinic had been established at the urging of Bishop John W.
Shaw, who convinced Rev. Mother Madeleine of the urgent need for
outpatient services for the poor.%® What began as a purely charitable
effort on the part of both the bishop and the sisters, however, soon
became a serious problem for the hospital.

Although it was located within the hospital and was not separate-
ly incorporated, the clinic was established with its own board of direc-
tors. Bishop Shaw was named chairman, and Mother Robert was listed
as a director. Initial financial arrangements between the clinic and Santa
Rosa called for the physicians at St. Luke’s to contribute a nominal sum
of $500.00 annually to the hospital in partial compensation for office
space, for examination and operating rooms, for medical and nursing
services offered by the sisters, and for eight beds reserved within the
hospital at all times for patients from the clinic. The amount paid could
not begin to cover the costs involved.

A short time after the clinic was established, however, the issue of
such payment being made to the hospital was brought to the attention of
city officials, and Santa Rosa was notified that it was operating as a
profit-making enterprise and would have to pay property taxes, includ-
ing a large sum of back taxes now due. Attorneys J. C. Sullivan and Don
A. Bliss, acting on behalf of the hospital, tried to secure injunctive relief
against the Bexar County taxing authorities and filed suit on July 10,
1919, asking that Santa Rosa be declared exempt as an institution of
“purely public charity.”®! The suit was successful at the trial court level.
Representatives of Bexar County, however, immediately appealed to the
San Antonio Court of Civil Appeals, which reversed the decision ruling
that injunctive relief was improper procedurally since no attempt had
yet been made by the County to levy the assessed taxes. The suit was
remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.

Before it was tried, another case was instituted which set legal
precedent for Santa Rosa and other charitable institutions for years to
come. The new suit was filed by L. H. Ridgeway, attorney for the City
of San Antonio, and was styled City of San Antonio and San Antonio
Independent School District vs. Santa Rosa Infirmary. The case was
tried before Judge Robert W. B. Terrell in the 73rd District Court of
Bexar County on May 25, 1922. Mr. Sullivan and Mr. Bliss once again
represented Santa Rosa, and judgement was rendered for the hospital.
The city again appealed the decision, however, and the case was sent to
the San Antonio Court of Civil Appeals, which reversed and rendered
judgement on January 24, 1923, against Santa Rosa demanding that
back taxes be paid.
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The Court denied two motions made by the Santa Rosa attorneys
for a rehearing of the case. The published opinion shows unusual bit-
terness of tone, stating that the hospital’s charitable contributions were
only “incidental” and even “negligible in view of the magnitude of the
whole project and the handsome profits derived therefrom.” The hospi-
tal was described as “accumulating a vast estate” and not “subject to any
control or regulation by public authorities.”%2

The administrators of Santa Rosa could not rest with such a deci-
sion threatening its existence and its reputation. Attorneys pursued a
writ of error to the Texas Supreme Court, which upheld the District
Court’s determination and reversed the San Antonio Court of Civil
Appeals. Santa Rosa was determined an institution of purely public
charity and under the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas exempt
from taxation.

The case became the basis for many future decisions affecting
the tax-exempt status of charitable institutions.%® The tenor of the trial,
however, with openly hostile exchanges between representatives of
both parties and the continued attack on Santa Rosa during the long
period of litigation reflected strong religious prejudice against the
Catholic hospital.

Mother Robert, Mother Wendelinus Holzer, and Sister Alcantara
Bedford were all called upon to present testimony and to respond to
cross examination, and the court proceedings dragged on for a period of
five years. The whole situation was regrettable, giving just cause for the
sisters to feel that their many years of dedicated service to San Antonio
had been ungratefully received and poorly recognized by city officials.

Even while the court cases were still in process, the sisters were
called upon for help in responding to a series of disasters that struck the
people of San Antonio and the surrounding areas. Trouble always
seemed to come in three’s. Three epidemics had led to Santa Rosa’s
founding in the 1860s. Now three tragic happenings called for a similar
response of care and concern for people in need.

The first call for help came in 1917, when San Antonio, as well as
the rest of the nation, faced the outbreak of Spanish influenza. The dis-
ease spread rapidly in congested areas and struck a severe blow to the
military installations in and around San Antonio. Santa Rosa responded
immediately by contacting Lieutenant Colonel F. C. A. Killam, Jr., of
the Medical Corps of Fort Sam Houston and offering care for all per-
sonnel who could not be accommodated at the military hospital.5*

By the following year, the situation at Fort Sam had become so
critical that Col. Killam called for the hospital to send nurses to the
army base. Santa Rosa was struggling with its own overcrowded condi-
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tions at the time, and initially only two sisters, Mother Cleophas Hurst
and Mother William Cullen, both professionally trained nurses, could be
spared. When an official order of the city closed all of the schools and
churches a few days later, however, nine more sisters who had been
classroom teachers were sent to help and to work under the direction of
the sister-nurses until the crisis was passed.

The work of the sisters won the admiration as well as the appreci-
ation of the military commander who wrote: “These nurses came to us
when our wards were literally filled with men who were victims of the
terrible pneumonia, following influenza. Practically all these men were
fighting for life. When I saw that our nursing force was becoming
depleted by illness and other causes, I appealed to you for help, and that
help was immediately forthcoming. The work done by your Sisters at
this hospital won the admiration of all in authority here, and earned the
gratitude of every patient who came under their care.”®

The city hospital, now called the Robert B. Green, had been recon-
structed and was able to help in responding to the flu epidemic within
the city, but like the military bases, it could not secure sufficient nurses
to meet the emergency. Once again, in response to a call for help, Santa
Rosa sent eleven sisters to assist the staff caring for the city patients.5¢
More sisters went to help the students and faculty at DeMazenod
Seminary, to care for the cloistered nuns in the Carmelite convent, and
to assist in the private homes of many citizens.

Still another urgent appeal for help came from the nearby city of
Kerrville, where the Incarnate Word sisters were teaching in parochial
schools. When the disease spread quickly among the poorer Mexican peo-
ple of the community who had no recourse to medical help, Father H. M.
Kemper responded by converting Our Lady of Guadalupe School into a
temporary hospital. Two sister-nurses from Santa Rosa went to the aid of
the teachers who, in spite of their total lack of nursing skills, were strug-
gling to care for the sick who were carried into the makeshift facility.

When the epidemic subsided, H. C. Geddie, Mayor of Kerrville,
expressed the appreciation of the citizens of his community: “I share the
belief of the health officer, Doctor E. Palmer, that the sisters by their
self-sacrificing and painstaking devotion to the sick both night and day,
saved many a patient from death, and helped to safeguard our vicinity
from imminent and grave peril.”%’

In addition to sending sisters to help the military base and other
areas in extreme need, administrators at the hospital converted every
available space for the use of the large number of patients crowding into
hallways and reception rooms. Once again the sisters lost some of their
own members in their struggle with disease. By the time the epidemic
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subsided in December, 1918, three had died at Santa Rosa, Sister Agnes
Dominic Foran, pharmacist; Sister Georgina Heckl, pathologist; and
Sister Brendan O’Connor, recording secretary of the outpatient clinic.5

The people of San Antonio had hardly recovered from the influen-
za epidemic when a second disaster struck. On September 11, 1921, the
San Antonio River overflowed its banks taking the lives of over fifty
persons, injuring many more, and causing the most destructive proper-
ty damage in the history of the city. The flood was caused by two days
of heavy rains totaling more than seven inches and a rush of water
flooding into the river from Olmos Creek. San Antonio’s downtown dis-
trict was inundated by a depth of twelve feet of flood water. Coming to
the rescue of the city, army enlisted men risked their own lives in
pulling “more than 500 persons from the rushing waters.”%?

Santa Rosa took in every patient that could be accommodated
within the hospital and set up additional first aid stations in the Bexar
County Court House and in City Hall. Mother Robert and the sisters
took food, clothing and medical supplies to the doctors and nurses who
worked night and day to attend to all of the patients.

San Antonio and Santa Rosa had barely recovered from the
influenza epidemic and the worst flood of its history when the third dis-
aster struck the area. Rock Springs, located between the towns of Del
Rio and Kerrville, just 150 miles northwest of San Antonio, was a small
community of approximately 1,000 people. A record-breaking tornado
struck the area on April 12, 1927. It was described in the San Antonio
Express as “the most destructive tornado yet recorded in Southwest
Texas. . . . Virtually all of the population . . . were left homeless.””®

Santa Rosa, the largest hospital in the vicinity, immediately began
to mobilize doctors, nurses, and staff for the emergency. The Red Cross
rushed volunteers and medical supplies on a special train to Uvalde,
while the hospital prepared to fill its own twenty-five vacant beds avail-
able for the victims. They were brought to San Antonio on cots set up
in the baggage cars of the Southern Pacific and met at the depot by
ambulances provided by the hospital and by the hearses of local under-
takers. Within a 24-hour period, during which the sisters, doctors, nurs-
es, and volunteers worked without stopping, three trainloads of persons
injured in the devastating tornado were brought to Santa Rosa, far out-
numbering the space prepared for them.

Mother Presentation O’Meara, hospital administrator, directed that
every available area be converted into wards filled with beds and cots
borrowed from the army bases. Corridors, recreation rooms, visitors’
rooms, the sisters’ community room, all were set up as nurses’ stations.
Sisters, doctors, nurses, staff worked throughout the long day and night,
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caring for the injured brought in one after the other on stretchers. Father
A. M. Just, Santa Rosa chaplain, worked right along with them offering
the sacraments and spiritual consolation to the dying. When the last
trainload of patients arrived by midnight of the following day, Santa
Rosa was filled with over 100 additional patients, all needing immedi-
ate emergency attention.”’

As happened so many times in the past, Santa Rosa had been there
to respond when people who were sick and suffering needed help.
Throughout the epidemics of cholera, typhus, small pox, and influenza,
doctors and nurses had cured many who were diseased and comforted
others who were dying. And in times of natural disasters, such as the flood
and the tornado, the hospital had offered emergency care to those who had
been stricken. Dr. John Moore once remarked, “Santa Rosa long had to
carry the medical load in San Antonio. Certainly up to the 1940s it was
almost the sole mainstay of the medical practice in [the city] and a tower
of strength in medical emergencies all over South Texas.””?

In the years following the First World War, the hospital continued
to grow in the range of services offered as well as in the construction of
new facilities. Administrators appointed to direct the hospital had
always been carefully chosen for their outstanding leadership abilities,
and when Mother Robert O’Dea took over this position in 1919, the
hospital began to make remarkable progress.”> She was a person who
could take charge easily and effectively, could respond quickly in an
emergency situation, and who always manifested a concern for the wel-
fare of the individual patient.

Dr. Edwin Mueller, Sr., who served at Santa Rosa for fifty years as
a general practitioner, described how her courageous response saved the
life of a young mother about to deliver her first child. Hemorrhaging
severely and needing an immediate Caesarean section, the patient was
brought into the emergency room at a very late hour. When Mother
Robert could not locate a physician on duty in the hospital, she called
upon Dr. John Moore, pathologist, and Dr. Mueller, who was a resident at
the time, to perform the surgery. Neither one felt prepared to take over the
case, but Mother Robert knew the patient was about to die. “Dr. Moore
was not used to working with live patients,” said Dr. Mueller. “and I had
very little experience. I had seen such operations before, but had never
performed one myself. However, at Mother Robert’s insistence on saving
the patient, Dr. Moore and I performed the operation. When it was all
over, we had a live baby and a live and happy mother.””*

In order to appreciate fully the advances being made in the 1920s
during Mother Robert’s administration, it is necessary to look back to
the early days and compare the new developments with the old methods
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and procedures. For many years, the hospital had no medical record
library, although each patient’s name, age, and religion were carefully
hand recorded in the Santa Rosa Diary, together with the date of admis-
sion, the cause of illness, the treatment given, the date of dismissal or
death, and sometimes the method of payment.

By 1919, the medical record library had been set up under the
direction of Sister Lydia Byrne, who had studied at the University of
Chicago and was professionally prepared for her work. All of the hand-
written record books were moved from what was known as “the dark
room” on the first floor, and the department was completely standard-
ized in the new methodology.

During this same period, the maternity department was established.
The first delivery room was set up in 1916. There was still no nursery
available for newborn infants, however, and mothers kept their babies
with them in their own hospital rooms. By 1928, the department opened
on the fifth floor of the new annex under the direction of Sister Honorius
Doyle and included twenty-eight patient rooms, delivery rooms, nursery
and premature nursery, sterilizing room, and interns’ room.

In 1912, Dr. W. S. Hamilton had started the X-ray department by
bringing his own portable instrument to the hospital. In 1916, Sister Clara
Kalbfleisch was the first member of the Congregation to be certified as an
X-ray technician, and by 1922, the department had added an endoscope
for kidney and bladder examinations, a cystoscopic room, and electrocar-
diography equipment. During the next decade, the American Society of
Roentgenology authorized the establishment of a training school for X-
ray technicians with Sister Philotheus Ney as instructor.

Dr. Julius Braunagel donated the first microscope to the hospital in
1910 and opened the way for the establishment of Santa Rosa’s labora-
tory. By 1925, tissue examination was being performed for all types of
surgery, blood chemistry had been introduced, and Sisters Stella
O’Sullivan and Monica Grant had been prepared in the study of basal
metabolism at Johns Hopkins University.

Although antiseptic surgery had been introduced as early as 1867
by Joseph Lister, it was rarely performed either at Santa Rosa or at any
other hospital because of the high mortality rate associated with it. For
several years, Santa Rosa did not even have a separate operating room.
Dr. Ferdinand Herff designed an operating table, a portable structure
that could be wheeled into a patient’s room, where surgery was per-
formed. Water was boiled on the kitchen stove.”” Not until 1884 was a
surgical suite of one operating room and one surgeon’s dressing room
added to the hospital.
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As the department of surgery grew, a curious arrangement devel-
oped that gave special privileges to Dr. Ferdinand Herff and to the
members of his family who succeeded him as physicians and surgeons,
sons, grandsons, sons-in-law, and grandsons-in-law, eight in all.
Because of their close association with the sisters in the founding of the
hospital and because of their distinction in surgery, a special surgical
suite was designated for their use only; sets of surgical instruments
were set aside for their work; and the third floor of the hospital was
reserved for their patients. Director of the exclusive department of
surgery was Sister Evaristus Moran, who was in the first graduating
class of the school of nursing. The privileged doctors established a rep-
utation for being exceedingly demanding, but Sister Evaristus respond-
ed to their every wish, ready to do anything that needed to be done for
the good of Santa Rosa. “That hospital was her life,” according to
Sister Mary Gabriel Dalton. “No mother could have loved a child more
than she loved Santa Rosa.””®

When Sister Evaristus developed a severe case of glaucoma and
finally had to leave her position as director of the surgical department,
she was replaced by Sister Mary Charles Wolf, who was related to the
Herff family and who took even greater care to see that the special priv-
ileges accorded the Drs. Herff and Dr. Wolf were maintained.”’
Needless to say, the situation created dissension among other doctors on
the staff, and the ill feeling that developed was resolved only over a long
period of time. The identification of the hospital with the highly quali-
fied physicians and surgeons of the Herff family, however, brought a
reputation of distinction to Santa Rosa.

Joining the staff of surgeons before the turn of the century was
another physician who was to play a significant role in the history of
Santa Rosa, Dr. Aureliano Urrutia, Sr. Dr. Urrutia, a colorful personal-
ity who always appeared at the hospital in a long-flowing black cape
lined with red satin, was the father of four sons who became doctors and
followed him on the hospital staff, as did his grandson. Some years ear-
lier, Urrutia had fled from Mexico for political reasons. Once he estab-
lished his practice in San Antonio and was recognized as an innovator
in surgical procedures, many of his former patients, most of whom were
very wealthy Mexican citizens, came seeking his medical assistance and
were hospitalized at Santa Rosa.

The first orthopedic surgery was performed at the hospital when
Dr. Edward A. Cayo moved his own drill press, anvil, emery wheels and
other tools into a small room above the fifth floor by the elevator shaft.
He had to pay for the brace material himself, because the hospital “had
money only for a few simple medicines and bandages.””® His brother,
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Dr. Pat Cayo, introduced physical therapy at the hospital. Sister Georgia
Ninning began her professional training in the new medical specializa-
tion in order to assist him. She returned to spend thirty-seven years on
the hospital staff and was largely responsible for establishing the new
department.

Another physician serving on the Santa Rosa staff during the early
years was Dr. Henry Leopold, who became the personal physician for
many sisters working at the hospital and others at the motherhouse or
assigned to teach in the schools. Many of the sisters recall how he could
be called on day or night to offer help at the hospital or to attend to one
of the retired sisters in the infirmary. They recall also that he was never
known to send a bill to the sisters for his services.

The American College of Surgeons accredited Santa Rosa with an
A rating in 1920. The department of surgery at this time was under the
direction of Sister Berenice Bergin, who remained in that position for
over forty years. Under her long tenure of service and her outstanding
direction, the department flourished. Sister’s management was quietly
but firmly effective. She worked hard herself and insisted that those
working with her do the same. She was demanding not only of the nurs-
es and staff but also of the doctors. According to Sister Dorothea Burke,
she had them “in the palm of her hand.””® Dr. James W. Nixon, Sr., who
practiced at Santa Rosa from 1920 to 1977, loved to argue with her and
to joke with her over her insistence on exactitude in the department.
“The way you treat me, I think you’d like to see me in purgatory,” he
told her one day. With all of the good humor that characterized her close
working relationship with him, she responded, ““You won’t even make
purgatory.”$0

During Mother Robert’s administration, both the community and
the administrative staff of the hospital recognized a need to establish
a separate unit for the care of crippled children. When a complete
department was dedicated to these needs in 1918, Santa Rosa became
the first hospital in Texas to provide special facilities for children. The
Crippled Children’s Association, a group of prominent San Antonio
women particularly devoted to the care of sick children, especially
those from the poorer districts of the city, helped to fund a free clinic.
This joint effort of the hospital and the community would ultimately
lead to the development of Santa Rosa Children’s Hospital, the fulfill-
ment of one of Mother Robert’s goals for the future, but one she did
not live to realize.3!

The recent emergencies of the Spanish influenza, the San Antonio
River flood, and the Rock Springs tornado had convinced the hospital
administrators of the need for expansion, even though the necessary
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funds were lacking for construction. The sisters had faced this situation
from the earliest days at Santa Rosa, however, and they were prepared
to do it again. “Debts are our only wealth,” Rev. Mother Pierre had
declared in 1885.82 Now many years later, the sisters still had limited
resources but somehow managed to construct an extra unit of seventy
rooms and to add a fifth floor to Old Main.

Just seven years later, it was necessary to build again, and plans
were drawn up for Annex I. Finances were still a major problem. It
seemed they always would be. When the construction began, there was
scarcely one-third of the necessary funds on hand. The need for addi-
tional space was urgent, however, and with their customary trust in God,
the sisters borrowed the rest of the money.

Annex I was built on the site that had been reserved for the chil-
dren’s hospital planned by the Crippled Children’s Association. The
Association had failed to raise enough money to complete the project,
and complications had arisen over the issue of ownership and control.
Plans for a special hospital for children were abandoned for the present,
although the idea would come up again at a later date.

When Annex I was completed, it was described as ““a splendid build-
ing, scientifically equipped and artistically furnished.”®* By the time it
was opened, however, the country was heading for depression, and the
sisters feared they would never have enough patients to fill all of the extra
rooms and sufficient money to pay the bills. Fortunately, most of the con-
struction, $300,000, had been paid for before the Crash of 1929. Money
for the last note, however, as well as the hospital’s monthly payroll, were
lost in the collapse of San Antonio’s City Central Bank.

The financial decline was felt in health facilities throughout the
country. The American Medical Association reported that “only 62 per-
cent of the beds in voluntary hospitals were occupied on an average
day.”® Patient bills went unpaid, donations from donors dropped off com-
pletely, and a stream of hungry, homeless people lined up at the back door
of Santa Rosa begging for food. In her characteristic kindness and con-
cern for the poor, Mother Robert insisted that each one be given some-
thing to eat. In her great pride in Santa Rosa, she insisted also that lights
be turned on at night in the empty patient rooms so that people would not
think the hospital was empty and be afraid to come for care. Meanwhile
the hospital struggled to keep the doors open. Money had to be borrowed
to meet regular employee payrolls, and construction debts went unpaid.

These were difficult times for Santa Rosa. Nevertheless, the sisters
continued their efforts to keep it up to date with the changes in health
care. Realizing that the character of the institution had changed over the
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years, they decided in 1930 that it should no longer be called an infir-
mary, and a new name was adopted—Santa Rosa Hospital.

Realizing also that the quality of nursing care must be constantly
improved, Mother Robert, together with another dynamic administrator,
Mother M. Columkille Colbert, who was then president of Incarnate
Word College, established an affiliation of the hospital training program
for nurses with the college baccalaureate degree. A five-year combined
. nursing-liberal arts curriculum- allowed students to graduate with a bac-
calaureate degree and a diploma in nursing. First graduates of the pro-
gram were Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell, Sister Mary of the Sacred
Heart Lawlor, Sister Mary Gonzaga O’Connor, and Estella Schellhase
[O’Neill] .3

By 1937, a five-story building offering residence facilities as well
as classroom space for the school was constructed on Travis Street; just
four years later an annex added sixty-six rooms to the building to
accommodate the growth in the enrollment and to provide residence
facilities for 250 students.

Sadness struck the hospital community in 1939 with the death of
Mother Robert. She had guided Santa Rosa through the early periods of
growth in the 20s and 30s, the difficult years of the tax suit over the clin-
ic, and the financial worries of the depression. She was a strong admin-
istrator who acted always with the best interests of the hospital in mind
and with a gentle understanding of humankind. Her compassion for the
sick and the poor, her devotion to the sisters, and her personal concern
for employees of the hospital won her respect and admiration. In the
eulogy delivered at her funeral, Archbishop Drossaerts recalled that the
employees knew they “had a friend in Mother Robert [and] never hesi-
tated to bring their troubles to ‘the Mother.’” He praised her also for her
great concern for the poor. During the desperate years of the depression,
he said, “the hungry and the homeless secured help at Santa Rosa which
they secured nowhere else.”86

Mother Robert had spent almost her entire life at the hospital. She
had graduated with the first class of nurses in 1905, had directed the train-
ing school in its early years, and had completed two terms as administra-
tor of the hospital and superior of the religious community, from 1919 to
1925 and 1928-1937. According to the regulations of Canon Law at that
time, she was not eligible for reappointment at the end of her second term,
but her leadership seemed indispensable to the growing institution.
Through a special dispensation secured from Rome by Archbishop
Drossaerts, she was named superior and administrator once again in 1937.
However, she never lived to complete the additional three-year term.
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In mourning for the person they had loved and admired, sisters, doc-
tors, patients, nurses, staff, and students lined the sidewalks of Houston
Street to pay their last tribute as her funeral procession passed the
entrance to the hospital. They had lost a great leader and a great friend.

Taking Mother Robert’s place as administrator in 1940 was
Mother Mary of Lourdes Hickey, a broadminded, practical person who
guided the hospital during the difficult years of World War II, when
physicians, nurses, and professional personnel were called upon to serve
in military hospitals throughout the world. Like other health facilities,
Santa Rosa struggled with a greatly reduced staff to maintain its service
to the home front.

As a part of the war effort, the government called for an enrollment
of 50,000 students in nurse training programs. Santa Rosa was prepared
for the emergency, having just completed the annex to the School of
Nursing. Congress passed the Bolton Act establishing the United States
Nurse Cadet Corps, and a unit was established at the hospital. When the
class of 1942 completed the training program, thirty graduates were
appointed to the U. S. Army and prepared to join the sixty-eight alumnae
already in the armed services. Many served with great distinction, such as
Clara Mae Biskford and Bertha H. Dworsky, who were taken prisoners of
war on Corregidor Island, and Mary Lohr, who escaped from Bataan.
Many others lost their lives in the service of their country, and during the
post-war years, Santa Rosa faced a serious nursing shortage.

The lack of personnel eventually led to the development in 1951
of the Women’s Auxiliary. Mrs. Ernest V. Kunz, the first president,
described the purpose of the organization, “We will strive to make life
a bit easier for those confined to the hospital during these trying days
where there are too few nurses to attend to all the things a patient
needs and wants.”®’ Other officers of the organization that was initial-
ly described as a “nursing auxiliary” were Mrs. Ben B. Morris, vice-
president; Mrs. Leslie Byrd, vice president; Mrs. J. B. Cross, secre-
tary; Mrs. Katherine R. Staley, corresponding secretary; Sister M.
Ethna Scanlan, treasurer; Mrs. Amy Freeman Lee, parliamentarian;
and Mrs. Adolph Berchelman, historian.

Hospital growth during the war years was at a standstill, but as soon
as the conflict was over and the veterans returned, admissions soared at
Santa Rosa and at most hospitals throughout the country. In 1946, the
United States Congress passed The Hospital Survey and Construction
Act, which became known as the Hill-Burton program after its sponsors,
Senators Lister Hill and Harold H. Burton. The program authorized $75
million a year for five years to be spent on hospital construction. Funds
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were to be distributed by the states and based on state surveys and plans.
Santa Rosa prepared for large scale expansion.

Under the direction of Mother Alban Mannion, who was appoint-
ed administrator in 1952, plans were drawn up for Annex II, that was
constructed on Houston Street. The Post Operative Service Area, that
opened in 1955, became San Antonio’s first intensive care unit. The fol-
lowing year, a new chapel was added to the growing medical complex.

Advancements were made also in educational programs leading to
Santa Rosa’s distinction as a teaching hospital. The Council on Medical
Education of the American Medical Association gave approval to the
appointment of twelve internships and ten residencies on the hospital
staff, and the four-year baccalaureate program in nursing was approved
by the Accrediting Service of the National League for Nursing
Education. The diploma program offered at Santa Rosa had been com-
pletely phased out. Nursing students took courses at Incarnate Word
College and gained their clinical experience at the hospital. When they
completed the four-year program, they graduated with the Bachelor of
Science in Nursing.

Other educational programs offered jointly by Santa Rosa and the
College and leading to baccalaureate degrees were approved by state and
national accrediting agencies. The medical technology program was
approved by the Council on Medical Education and the American Society
of Clinical Pathologists; X-ray technology was accredited by the Council
on Education of the American Medical Association; and medical record
library science was recognized by the American Association of Medical
Records. Professional programs were established also for the preparation
of licensed vocational nurses and surgical technicians.

If the early 1950s showed remarkable growth and development at
Santa Rosa, it was simply a prelude to what was to come. The explosion
of medical science and advanced technology, together with increased
government funding for medical research, patient care, and hospital
construction and equipment made the period a time of unprecedented
progress. Added to these elements for growth was an administrator with
outstanding leadership ability, a vision for the future, and the willing-
ness to take risks to accomplish her goals. Sister Mary Vincent
O’Donnell was the first sister in the Congregation to be professionally
prepared as a hospital administrator, earning her master’s degree from
St. Louis University. Before coming to Santa Rosa, she served as
administrator at Spohn Hospital in Corpus Christi and at St. Joseph
Hospital in Fort Worth.

In 1958, she had been appointed to the general administration and
given responsibility for overseeing all of the hospitals as well as all of the
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schools of nursing owned and operated by the sisters. The following year
she took over the administration of Santa Rosa, and almost immediately
changes began to happen. Getting things done was one of the many things
that persons recognized as characteristic of Sister Mary Vincent. “A prob-
lem,” she said once, “was simply an interesting situation,” nothing more
than a “job that has to be done and completed on schedule.”®?

The sisters recall that at one time she insisted that a part of Old
Main be air conditioned even though maintenance workers had told her
that the ceilings were too high and the building too old for the installa-
tion. It couldn’t be done. After hearing all of their arguments, she insist-
ed, “There is no such thing as ‘can’t be done’ in this hospital.”®® Soon
after, plans were drawn up, ceilings were lowered, equipment installed,
and the floor was air conditioned.

By this time, the Santa Rosa staff had grown to include over 1,250
employees, S0 of whom were members of the Congregation. The sis-
ters held administrative as well as staff positions throughout the hospi-
tal as well as in the school of nursing. They like to tell how Sister Mary
Vincent seemed to be omnipresent, visiting the patients, talking to the
staff, checking on the doctors and on the sisters. She made rounds on
the floors, sometimes at midnight. The nurses on night duty said that
she would sometimes appear even at 3:00 a.m. She knew all of the
problems on the floors before the department heads arrived for work in
the morning. “Well you only have to do that once in a while,” she
explained many years later, “and things will run very smoothly.” But it
was very important also, she insisted, that the hospital staff on night
duty “knew that someone was interested in their work and available if
they needed help.”°

Combined with her demands for superior job performance was a
deep concern that each patient should be treated not as “a cold statistic,
but as a flesh and blood human being with feelings and emotions.”! She
was a strict administrator but also a very compassionate person who
could meet a poor patient leaving the hospital unable to pay a bill and
arrange for forgiveness of the debt. She was a tireless worker and like
the many sisters who had preceded her in the administrative post, she
had come to serve and not to be served. “Our lives are gifts from God,
Whom we serve through helping our fellow man,” she was fond of say-
ing, and her actions proved her belief in what she said.*?

Sister Mary Vincent’s first major accomplishment at Santa Rosa
was the construction of Children’s Hospital in 1959. It was the long
awaited dream of the late Mother Robert O’Dea.

She next turned her attention to the Otto Koehler Radiation Therapy
and Research Unit, which was constructed in 1962 and dedicated to the
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chairman of the board of the Pearl Brewing Company that had donated
$50,000 for the new building. Arotational theratron cobalt machine, scan-
ner and isotope equipment, and a two-million volt X-ray machine were
housed in the new unit to be used for extensive cancer research.

A new convent was constructed also and opened in the same year,
1962. Throughout all their years of living and working at Santa Rosa,
the sisters never truly had a convent home. In the very early years, they
lived in the garret or in a section of the hospital which they shared with
victims of floods and tornados in times of great disaster. As the hospital
continued to grow and the need arose for more patient rooms, the sisters
moved into a residence hall that had been used by student nurses before
the new school of nursing was constructed on Travis Street. With the
construction of the new convent they were finally to have their own
home, and when the building was ready for occupancy, they moved in
with great joy and delight. The four-story St. John’s Convent replaced
the old building, also named St. John’s, which had been built after the
disastrous fire of St. John’s Orphanage. The convent provided living
arrangements for sixty sisters although only thirty-nine were working at
the hospital during the time of construction. The residence was designed
for the future when the sisters felt their number would increase consid-
erably and all of the rooms would be filled. Unfortunately, their expec-
tations were never fully realized.

Construction of the radiation center and the convent had just been
completed, when the Texas State Department of Health announced in
1963 that the City of San Antonio showed a “marked inadequacy” in
hospital facilities. With the population of Bexar County nearing
800,000, the area was almost 100% short of the number of hospital beds
required to meet the minimum needs of the city’s residents. The report
showed also that the city needed a complete psychiatric medical service
with a minimum of 800 beds over and above those available at the State
Mental Hospital.

The report was right in line with the long-range plan set in operation
at Santa Rosa by Sister Mary Vincent. Construction was already under
way to meet the needs of the growing population. In 1964, the hospital
added seven floors to Annex II, increasing the bed capacity from 525 to
755. Included in the addition was a completely licensed facility for geri-
atric patients as well as the first fully licensed private psychiatric hospital
in San Antonio, the John F. Kennedy Memorial Pavilion. The building
program had just begun, however. The following year, 1965, Old Main
was demolished to make room for a new multimillion dollar unit adding
400 additional patient beds and supporting medical services.
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While Santa Rosa was growing rapidly both in size and in service to
meet the changing health needs in San Antonio, efforts were being made
by the city to secure legislative approval for the establishment of a state-
supported medical school which would form the hub of a new complex of
institutions related to patient care and health education and research. In
1947, the San Antonio Medical Foundation had been set up for this pur-
pose, but all efforts to secure funding were unsuccessful until 1959, when
the 56th Legislature approved Bexar County as the location for the
University of Texas’ third medical school.”® The legislative approval
required that a teaching hospital be located within one mile of the school.

City managers addressed the question of whether the medical
school should be located downtown in the vicinity of the publicly
owned Robert B. Green Hospital and Santa Rosa or at a new site in the
northwest suburbs near Oak Hills Country Club, where a teaching hos-
pital would have to be constructed to serve the needs of the school. A
long, drawn-out contest ensued from 1957 to 1961. San Antonio devel-
opers saw the northwest location as an opportunity for long-term eco-
nomic gains, while a coalition of citizens was leading an effort to revi-
talize the downtown area and to retain adequate health services for the
indigent of the inner city. Included in the group that became known as
the Citizens’ Committee were Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell;
Archbishop Robert E. Lucey; C. W. Fenstermaker; Tom Frost; Morris
Siegel; James Kallison; W. W. McAllister, Jr.; Chester Rohde; Dr. O.
Roger Holland; Dr. J. J. Hinchey; M. Winston Martin; F. M. Davis; J.
Edwin Kuykendall; Walter Corrigan; H. B. Zachry; Robert L. B. Tobin;
and Dr. Herman Wigodsky.

Although there was considerable public pressure for establishing
the medical school and hospital in the downtown area, the decision was
made in favor of the northwest suburb of Oak Hills. A donation of 200
acres of land made by a group of developers called the Five Oaks, Inc.,
was one of the deciding factors.”

Construction began on the new facilities, but a new problem arose
when Bexar County voters vetoed a referendum providing additional
taxes to finance the operation of the hospital. If the Board of Managers
of the Bexar County Hospital District could not come up with adequate
financing, state approval would be withdrawn. Following up on a sug-
gestion made by Charles E. Cheever, Jr., at a meeting of the Board of
Managers, a representative from the Commissioners Court approached
Rev. Mother Calixta Garvey, who was superior general at the time, “on
the possibility and feasibility of the Sisters of Charity assisting Bexar
County in the operation of the new teaching hospital or the Robert B.
Green Hospital.”®
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A similar proposal, although an unofficial one, had been received a
short time before from the Methodist Hospital, which had been erected in
the same medical complex, an unpopulated suburban area fifteen miles
from San Antonio and difficult to reach by public transportation. The hos-
pital was failing because of difficulty in attracting patients as well as qual-
ified staff, and the suggestion was made that Santa Rosa might take over
responsibility for the management and staffing of the institution. The sis-
ters rejected both proposals. They were in the midst of a major expansion
program at Santa Rosa and could not assume the kind of extensive
responsibilities called for in both situations.

The matter of financing was finally settled for the new hospital
associated with The University of Texas Health Science Center, and the
construction of Bexar County Hospital was completed in 1968. With the
opening of the new medical complex San Antonio developed two med-
ical centers, one in the downtown sector and the other in the suburban
area northwest of the city. Maintaining their location downtown were
Santa Rosa, Baptist Memorial Hospital, Nix Hospital, Robert B. Green
Hospital, and a newly opened Metropolitan Hospital. In the medical
center complex were the mewly constructed Methodist and Bexar
County Hospital.

New housing developments began to spring up in the northwest
sector, and San Antonio, like other large cities throughout the nation,
experienced an exodus from the metropolitan area. Doctors’ office
buildings were constructed around the new suburban hospitals, and
some physicians who had served the downtown area for many years
urged Santa Rosa to abandon its location in the inner city. Others, how-
ever, decried the suggestion of a move away from the poorer residential
areas populated principally by Hispanics.

The sisters were faced with a serious decision, but one they made
with no hesitation. Although a move to the growing medical center
offered an opportunity to be closely linked to the most recent advances in
medical research and in the latest technology affecting the profession, and
although it held the promise of greater financial security for the future, the
sisters would not abandon their location in the heart of the city. They had
come to serve the poor who had no hospital facilities available to them;
they had for almost one hundred years offered charitable service to those
in the surrounding community who were unable to pay high medical
costs; and in their present location they were easily accessible to those in
need. They would maintain their situation in downtown San Antonio. The
decision was a reaffirmation of their original mission. Just as their initial
response to people in need demanded courage in the face of difficulties,
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so also their determination to continue their mission would have its own
set of problems requiring a sureness of vision.

One of the most significant problems emanating from the opening
of the northwest medical center complex was the transfer of many doctors
to the new hospitals that were rapidly springing up around the medical
school. Some of those who moved had started their practice at Santa
Rosa. Some had been on the staff for many years and had helped develop
the hospital’s reputation for excellence in health care. The sisters deeply
regretted the loss to Santa Rosa.

Another concern was the significant change in the patient-mix at
the hospital. A growing number of persons in need of charitable service
gradually began to outweigh the number of patients who were self-
insured and prepared to pay in full for hospitalization. In their
announcement of the opening of the infirmary in 1869, the sisters had
insisted that the two groups must be kept in balance if they were to
remain solvent. Now, 100 years later, maintaining the balance became
even more difficult.

Although many patients, in line with deep-rooted family tradi-
tions, were very loyal to the hospital, others found the suburban location
of the medical center more convenient to their new home sites. Many
also were following their doctors’preference of a hospital close to their
professional office buildings. The full impact of the loss of doctors and
their patients would not be realized for some years, but the effects were
already becoming evident.

Although the sisters were committed to holding fast to Santa
Rosa’s downtown location, they were faced with another dilemma of lit-
tle room for expansion. The hospital was hemmed in on every side with
small business operations. Building upward was the only alternative and
not a very acceptable one for all purposes.

When the Kennedy Pavilion for psychiatric patients began to out-
grow its capacity on the 10th and 11th floors, as well as the 9th floor of
Children’s Hospital, it was decided to move this unit to another loca-
tion.”0 Sister Mary Vincent appealed to the San Antonio Medical
Foundation, that was responsible for securing and donating land for the
purpose of developing the newly established South Texas Medical
Center. When the Foundation responded to her request and donated a
25-acre tract of land in 1966, an announcement was made that Santa
Rosa would construct Villa Rosa, a $6.5 million, 250-bed psychiatric-
rehabilitation hospital.®’

As part of her ten-year master plan, Sister Mary Vincent had other
dreams, some of which were not fully realized during her administrative
tenure, but suggest the kind of visionary woman she was in her day.

33



PROMISES TO KEEP

A first-class research center would be established in support of the med-
ical facilities; a medical professional building would offer office space for
physicians, and a motel would accommodate family and friends of
patients.”® All of these components would be joined by an underground
transportation system with a moving treadle making it possible to go from
one end of the center to the other in a matter of minutes.

Before she could achieve all of her grand-scale plans, Sister Mary
Vincent had to resign from the administration of the hospital for health
reasons. The San Antonio Chamber of Commerce honored her with a
citation noting that she had developed Santa Rosa “from a $5 million
facility in 1958 to a $25 million center dedicated to relieving human
suffering and restoring broken bodies to full health.”® The chamber rec-
ognized also her contributions to the San Antonio community through
her active participation in local affairs and her service as the first
woman chairperson of the Chamber Convention Committee.

By 1969, the Congregation and Santa Rosa were preparing to cele-
brate the 100th anniversary of their founding and of the three sisters arriv-
ing from Galveston by stagecoach to open San Antonio’s first hospital. In
observance of the anniversary and to meet the ever-increasing need for
charitable services, a new outpatient clinic was constructed at a cost of
$2.5 million, with $1 million obtained through a Hill-Burton grant. The
new building replaced the clinic once known as St. Luke’s which had
been the focus of the long drawn-out tax suit. The facility was renamed
the Santa Rosa Clinic to identify it as an integral part of the hospital.

Sister Mary Aidan Handibode was appointed director in 1950.
Charges for patients coming in for treatment were often as low as 25
cents, and those unable to pay the cost were treated without any charge
at all. By 1967, when the decision was made to expand the facility,
33,000 persons were being served, and the amount of charitable service
offered to the indigent of Bexar County and surrounding areas was $2
million.!% The new clinic was dedicated on December 21, 1969, by the
Most Reverend Francis J. Furey, Archbishop of San Antonio.

During the 1970s and 1980s, Santa Rosa became an increasingly
complex organization with over 1,000 physicians on the medical staff,
more than 2,500 employees, and an annual operating budget in excess
of $50 million. Change was taking place in every aspect of the institu-
tion, in the erection of new buildings, in the expansion of services, and
even in the surrounding neighborhood in which the Farmer’s Market,
Milam Park, and Columbus Park had all been renovated and beautified.

One of the most noticeable changes in the hospital, however, was
the diminished number of sisters in administration, in nursing, in the
laboratories, in the pharmacy, in the clinic, in management and staff
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positions. In the very early years, Santa Rosa had been operated com-
pletely by sisters, although few in number. By the 1960s, that number
had increased to fifty-two, and the sisters’ presence was a distinctive
feature of the hospital.

Many of the sisters had long tenures of service, and the nurses and
staff, as well as the doctors, came to rely heavily on their presence.
Sister Dorothea Burke started at Santa Rosa in 1946 and supervised the
department of surgery for over forty years with quiet demands on the
physicians’ performance and an efficient management of their proce-
dures. Dr. John Hinchey, orthopedic surgeon, remarked once of Sister
Dorothea: “She can get more done with less fuss and feathers than any-
one I can think of.”101

Sister Mary Gonzaga O’Connor was a medical surgical nurse for
thirty years and had proudly become one of the first specialists in the
area of the electroencephalogram. Sister Mary Margaret Rothe had
worked in the admitting office for over thirty-four years, building up a
strong public relations image for the hospital.

Going back to the very early days, Sister Armella Engel had
charge of the dietary department for forty-six years. Sister had come
from Germany at the age of eighteen to enter the Congregation, and the
day after she made her first vows she was sent to join the community of
sisters at Santa Rosa. Although she had learned to speak English, her
busy days in preparing meals for all of the patients and sisters never
allowed her the time to learn how to read and write the language prop-
erly. She soon mastered the skills, however, by handling the written
orders for food and vegetables in the hospital kitchen. Working side by
side with her in preparing all of the patients’meals was Sister Georgina
Sollner, who served at the hospital for thirty-nine years.

In charge of the dishwashing was Sister Mary Bride Dolan, who
remained in that position for over thirty-seven years. Most inconve-
niently, the dishwashing area was located in the basement, one floor
beneath the kitchen. With all of the exposed pipes, dingy walls, and few
windows, the place was appropriately called “the dungeon.” Sister Mary
Bride was never known to leave the job, however, before the last
patient’s tray was washed at night and also before she had sprinkled the
whole work area with holy water to place it in God’s hands and protect
it from all harm. Frequently, the other sisters in the community tried to
entice Sister away from the dishwashing and her long hours of work, but
her only response was, “I’d rather have my reward in heaven.”

Also, Sister Eusebius Klein worked in the hospital laundry for
over thirty-nine years, totally devoted to her work; Sister Ida Reiserth
took care of the sisters’ infirmary for forty years; and Sister Hyacinth
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Mohm worked in the sewing room, mending hospital sheets and gowns
and making white hospital habits for the sister-nurses. Not all of their
work was directly involved with the care and cure of the sick, but
according to Sister Mary Gabriel Dalton, who worked in the Business
Office for twenty-four years, “It was a corporate mission. Each sister
did her part to accomplish the total good.”!%?

By 1982, however, only fifteen sisters remained on the staff, The
many reasons for this loss have all been discussed in Part I of this study
and will not be repeated here. The decline brought about many significant
changes, however, at Santa Rosa. One of the most notable of these was the
appointment in 1966 of the first layman as chief executive officer, John A.
Bradley, who was succeeded by a second layman, George M. Fleming.

By 1972, however, the top administrative post was once again
filled by a member of the Congregation, Sister Angela Clare Moran.
Before coming to Santa Rosa, Sister Angela Clare had served as the
administrator of both Spohn Hospital in Corpus Christi and St.
Anthony’s Hospital in Amarillo. She had also been general supervisor
of all of the hospitals in the Congregation. The years ahead would
involve serious financial problems, as well as grave moral and ethical
concerns, but Sister was a cautious visionary who always seemed to
have the situation well in hand.

By this time, Santa Rosa had been recognized by the Catholic
Hospital Association as the largest Catholic hospital in the country with
a bed capacity of 1,050. The size and complexity of the institution made
it imperative to establish a new organizational structure that would offer
a more efficient form of management and control. Three administrators
were named to direct the three hospitals: Charles V. Heath, Santa Rosa
General Hospital; W. Mike White, Children’s Hospital; and Sister
Thomasine Carter, Villa Rosa. Sister Angela Clare was named president
and chief executive officer, and the total complex was renamed The
Santa Rosa Medical Center.

President Lyndon B. Johnson had signed the Medicare and
Medicaid bills into law, making health services available to the aged and
the indigent through government reimbursement of hospital costs.
Medicare provided also for the payment of depreciation on hospital
assets. With the availability of government funding, as well as the rise
of private insurance coverage, patient admissions increased rapidly at
health care facilities throughout the country. Also, government funding
for construction was still available through the Hill-Burton program.
The development of new programs and the construction of new facili-
ties at Santa Rosa followed each other in rapid succession:
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1970 Groundbreaking for Centennial Pavilion, 32,000 square-foot
addition to the general hospital

1971 Dedication of Villa Rosa Psychiatric and Rehabilitation
Center, a 280-bed hospital operated as a unit of Santa Rosa

1972 Opening of neonatal intensive care unit, hemodialysis unit,
cardiac catheterization laboratory, and physical therapy
service

1973 Dedication of child care center and parking garage

1975 Exterior modernization of Annex I

1977 Purchase of $5 million Rosa Verde Doctors’ Office Building

1978 Dedication of Century II, $16.5 million modernization and

expansion including five-story north wing and three floors
added to existing Centennial Pavilion with new energy plant
and new drive-up mall forming an entrance on San Saba St.

1980 Dedication of Dr. Paul Klinger Memorial Heart Unit
1982 Opening of the International Cardiovascular Institute
1986 Dedication of St. Rose Catholic Hospital in the South Texas

Medical Center complex!%3

The reimbursement practices of Medicare and Medicaid greatly
increased access to medical care, but at the same time they created a sky-
rocketing in health costs. In spite of all of the government funding, the
needs of many persons of low income were not being met in San Antonio.
Some did not qualify for Medicaid although greatly in need of financial
help; most did not have private health insurance. Moreover, the free ser-
vices offered at Bexar County Hospital, that had been built in the north-
west suburbs, were for the most part inaccessible to persons living in the
inner city. The burden of relief fell once again on Santa Rosa.

Throughout its hundred-year history, the hospital had stretched its
means in fulfilling its mission of serving patients without discrimination
based on race, creed, or ability to pay. By the 1970s, the amount of char-
itable services had reached $6 million. From the very beginning, Santa
Rosa had never refused a call for help, but the drain on its resources now
began to threaten its financial stability.

The hospital faced an economic crisis in the 1980s that was
expected and prepared for yet had a serious adverse effect. During the
early period of Medicare and Medicaid, the government had imposed no
control on the reimbursement of hospital costs. When the system was
changed in 1984, and the government established a fee schedule for 477
categories of illness, called DRG’s or diagnosis related groups, a dras-
tic adjustment had to be made. Federal regulations controlled not only
the cost of medical procedures but also the length of hospital stay. The
hospital frequently had to assume extra costs for services needed by
patients and not covered by Medicare payments. By 1982, the amount
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of discounted charges for persons unable to pay their bills reached $2.6
million. This increase was over and above the $3.25 million in charita-
ble service that the hospital continued to offer.

Financial crises were not new to Santa Rosa, but in the 1980s they
became staggering. Sister Angela Clare appealed to the doctors on the
staff to try to balance their admission of Medicare and Medicaid patients
with those paying the full costs of hospitalization, an appeal similar to that
contained in the announcement of the hospital’s opening in 1869.1%4

In addition to such economic pressures, the period brought a new
concern with the moral issue of the meaning of life. Catholic hospitals
were challenged to take a stand on the questions of abortion and
euthanasia. To underscore Santa Rosa’s position, Sister Angela Clare
addressed a letter to the Catholic friends of the hospital: “Respect for
life is deeply rooted in the philosophy of the Sisters of Charity of the
Incarnate Word, perhaps more so today than in 1869 when the Sisters
first came to this city. . . . Our right to refuse cooperation in medical and
surgical procedures which violate the human body—God’s master-
piece—is more and more being challenged and questioned. . . . We want
you to be aware that our entire mission is pointed towards the restora-
tion and not the destruction of life.”1%3

The hospital also published the following statement in Today’s
Catholic:

At Santa Rosa Medical Center, we believe in life.

We believe that the human person—born or unborn, young or old—is
precious, sacred.

We believe that each person—even if weak and suffering—reflects the
beauty, the splendor of God, the Creator.

We believe that life is deserving of our highest respect and most heroic
efforts to protect it.

Our belief is more than a few words in print. It is a matter of hospital pol-
icy. Our belief determines procedures, such as abortions, which are not
performed. Just as important, it determines services we do offer our
patients and their families. Services for the handicapped, the aged, the
terminally-ill, the newborn—premature or full-term—to name only a
few.106

Santa Rosa was the only hospital in San Antonio to announce a pro-
life position and encountered opposition to its stand from both patients
and doctors. The position was stated so clearly and firmly, however, that
it ultimately became an accepted fact that the hospital would not accept
patients seeking abortions. Soon, they stopped applying for admission.
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In 1986, Sister Angela Clare announced her resignation as presi-
dent and chief executive officer. She had held the position since 1972
and had directed Santa Rosa through some of the most difficult chal-
lenges of its history—changing social values with regard to respect for
life and social justice, a sharp and rapid decline in revenues, an ever-
increasing challenge to keep pace with advances in medical science and
technology, competition from the emergence of new hospitals through-
out the city, and increasing governmental control.

During her tenure as chief executive officer, the number of sisters in
the Congregation declined. Moreover, several sisters who had held posi-
tions as administrators or nurses in Santa Rosa left the hospital and
changed to new ministries. Some felt that the advancement of technology
in health care and the increase of lengthy reporting on patients demanded
by government regulations provided little opportunity for hands-on nurs-
ing care and little time to offer spiritual consolation to the sick.

When Sister Angela Clare began her work as administrator at the
hospital, thirty-four sisters held positions on the staff; when she resigned,
this number had dropped to nine. The change represented a loss of strong
support that she had once experienced from her own sisters.

Through many difficult years as administrator, she had directed the
hospital with a calm and quiet efficiency and a strong motivation of ser-
vice for the individual patient. “When I see someone sick,” she said
once, “I am filled with a tremendous desire to help.”'%7 In her relation-
ships with employees as well as friends and benefactors of Santa Rosa,
she was always a gentle, refined, and perfect lady, and was described
once as having “the touch of the master.”!® She had always been
intensely proud of Santa Rosa, would allow no one to speak in any way
disparagingly of the institution, and was determined that it should be a
hospital of the highest quality maintaining a position of prominence in
San Antonio.

The Congregation could find no sister who was willing and pre-
pared to take over the administrative position when Sister Angela
resigned, and a national search was conducted to find her successor.
Thomas H. Rockers, whose financial experience prepared him to cope
with the serious economic situation facing the hospital, was named the
president in 1987. One of his first actions was to establish separate gov-
erning boards for St. Rose and Villa Rosa Hospitals, Children’s, and
Santa Rosa. Three individual medical staffs were created also, and
strategic plans were developed for the three free-standing institutions.

The Santa Rosa Health Care Corporation was formed, bringing
together Santa Rosa Hospital, Children’s Hospital, Villa Rosa Hospital,
St. Rose Hospital & Rehabilitation Center, Preferred Choice Health
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Plan, and Diversified Health Services. The corporation was designed to
strengthen the individual units through cooperative sharing of services
and the creation of a stronger presence in the competitive and now over-
populated health market of San Antonio.

Mr. Rockers also began to take drastic steps to curb the financial
loss in the corporation’s operations which showed a deficit of over $1
million a month. In order to bring expenditures into line with revenues,
the corporation laid off 250 non-nursing employees, including persons
in thirty-five management positions. The layoffs were systemwide,
including employees at Santa Rosa General Hospital, Children’s
Hospital, St. Rose, and Villa Rosa. “It was a choice none of us wanted,”
said Rockers, “yet it was a necessary one.”'% The nursing and clinical
staff was not affected, however, as all four institutions adopted a strong
commitment to patient care.

Rockers also hired a new senior management team, decentralized
services at the four institutions, established strong cost controls, reacti-
vated physician recruitment, re-established the development of sources
for donations, set up continuing education requirements for top man-
agement, and created a career ladder for nurses.

Santa Rosa was not alone in facing the loss of revenue during this
period. Eleven of San Antonio’s thirteen private and public hospitals
reported a combined loss of $98.62 million.!'° The most important fac-
tor contributing to the financial decline was the failure of payment rates
for Medicare to keep pace with rising costs. Additionally, Santa Rosa
was absorbing all of the cost associated with the opening of St. Rose
Hospital but without realizing the projected volumes of admissions and
related revenues.

By 1988, hospital operations showed a profit in operating revenues
and hospital occupancy increased, even though the corporation’s total
revenues of $117.6 million were still not completely offset by the
$119.4 million in operating expenses.

Mr. Rockers resigned his position in 1989, after just two years as
president of the corporation. During his short tenure he had effected
major changes in organization, in management, in fiscal operations, and
in marketing. He had not accomplished all of these changes, however,
without creating some unrest among employees and some antagonism
toward his style of administration. He had reshaped Santa Rosa, a job
that he had come to do, and when that task was completed he decided
to move on to enact similar changes in another hospital system. He was
succeeded by Lloyd R. Vaughan, who served four months as Interim
President. In 1990, Charles B. Van Vorst was appointed president of the
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Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell wel-
comed Ronald Reagan and Otto Koehler
to dedication ceremonies for the Otto
Koehler Radiation Therapy and
Research Unit constructed in 1962 as
part of Santa Rosea’s advancement in the
treatment of cancer.
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Officiating in 1970 at the groundbreak-
ing for the Centennial Pavilion of Santa
Rosa were Auxiliary Bishop Patrick F.
Flores, Hospital Chaplain Father
George O’Connell, Congressman Henry
B. Gonzalez, and Chairman of the
Board of Directors of Santa Rose Sister
Angela Clare Moran.

Senta Rosa Hospital in the 1990s offers & full range of health care services and is part of
a seven-hospital system celled Santa Rose Health Care, thet includes Senta Rose
Children’s Hospital, Santa Rosa Long Term Hospital, Santa Rosa Northwest Hospital,
Santa Rosa Rehabilitation Hospital, Villa Rosa Hospital, and Yoakum Community Hospital.
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corporation, and W. Mike White became the chief operating officer of
Santa Rosa Hospital

The critical areas of finance and patient census were stabilizing, and
under new direction, the hospital began to focus on priority areas for
future development of inpatient services—cancer, heart, and obstetrics—
and to provide for growth in outpatient services.!'! The $1.5 million
Angio Interventional Suite was opened, enabling radiologists to treat
many conditions that once would have required surgery. Santa Rosa had
a baby boom, with over 3,300 infants born in the New Life Center.

The corporation purchased the twelve-story San Saba Medical
Building for $3.3 million and made plans for converting the structure
into office space facilities for expanded outpatient care. Van Vorst
announced plans for a $50 million continued renovation and expansion
project over the next several years.

At the same time, Santa Rosa began to make stronger efforts to
serve the people of the downtown area and to take an active role in the
development of the inner city. “We used to be very concerned about all
of the doctors moving to the suburbs and drifting away from Santa
Rosa,” explained Mike White. “Now we realize that this is the right
place for us to be, right in the heart of San Antonio and serving the peo-
ple we have always served. We have a high percentage of Hispanic
patients and a growing number of Hispanic physicians who are very
well qualified in their special fields. The patient population at Santa
Rosa reflects the population of the City of San Antonio.”!?

In the 1980s and 1990s the hospital no longer faced the epidemics
of cholera, typhus, and small pox, yet 120 years after its founding it was
still responding to community needs. New outreach programs were
developed for patients who could not afford payment for a private
physician or for hospital care. Outpatient services were established to
respond to the changing trends in health care calling for more cost effec-
tive environments.

Lifeline, a service that reached out in particular to the growing
elderly population living alone, was designed to offer a twenty-four-
hour emergency contact and immediate response with medical help for
persons in a life-and-death situation. Under the direction of Sister Mary
Brian Sherry, associate administrator, the program served over 700
clients during the first seven years of its operation.

Another community service program, Hospice, was established in
1986 to care for patients and their families who were coping with a ter-
minal illness, many of them suffering from AIDS. Palliative nursing care,
spiritual support, and counseling were offered in the home environment
through a team effort, involving physicians, nurses, home health aides,
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homemakers, social workers, counselors, pastoral ministers, and volun-
teers. Working together, they sought to alleviate the suffering of a dying
person and the person’s family, whether it was physical pain, relief from
some anxiety, letting go of some responsibility, or facing the harsh reali-
ty and permanent separation of death. Sometimes it was a dying mother
who could not accept death until all of her children were placed in the
homes of loving relatives; other times it was a patient dying of AIDS iso-
lated and alone in the last moments of life.!13

In an effort to reach out to persons who were acutely ill, convales-
cent and long-term patients, Santa Rosa established in 1985 the home
health care program, taking health care directly to the homebound. As
early as 1962, long before home health programs were widely adopted,
Santa Rosa had been involved in a home health service. In that year, the
hospital received a federal grant through the Community Health
Services and Facilities Act. Although the original program had to be dis-
continued when the terms of the grant expired, home health care was re-
established twenty years later. Over 150 patients were being served each
day through the service that provided nursing care, therapy, pastoral
care, as well as supportive services to the families of homebound
patients.

A hospital within the hospital was established in 1992, when Santa
Rosa opened an extended-stay acute care facility. The separately incorpo-
rated unit, called Long Term Hospital, was Medicare certified and
designed to serve patients needing an extended period, averaging twenty-
five days, of medical attention. The twenty-nine-bed hospital was located
on the eleventh floor of Santa Rosa.

In Spring, 1993, Charles Van Vorst resigned his position as chief
executive officer and was replaced by Robert Nolan, who at the time
was vice president for corporate planning at Incarnate Word Health
Service. Robert immediately began to prepare Santa Rosa for its role in
the future. Hospital costs were high, reimbursement was decreasing,
and inpatient admissions were declining. His first task was to streamline
the organizational structure and delete a number of management posi-
tions. He also initiated the use of multiple cross-functional teams
through which the organization would learn not only how to do more
with less but also how to do things differently so as to meet current
health care needs. During his meetings with employees and physicians
he stressed that Santa Rosa would continue in downtown San Antonio
to build on the caring tradition of the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate
Word which began 125 years ago.

This commitment was demonstrated in the opening of the diag-
nostic and surgical center in the Santa Rosa Professional Pavilion, a $9
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million investment in the health care needs of the downtown communi-
ty. Also, basic care in medically-underserved areas of the central city
was expanded through the Community Health Watch Program, that
included a mobile health clinic, a neighborhood-based health-watch,
educational programs, immunization tracking for hospital newborns,
and a no-cost patient transportation system. The program was estab-
lished by Sisters Juanita Albracht and Lauren Moynahan.

In 1993, after Columbia Healthcare Corporation, an aggressive
for-profit health care company, acquired the four Humana hospitals in
San Antonio, there was concern among the non-profit institutions that it
would take over health care delivery in San Antonio. For-profit compa-
nies were known for taking over profitable entities and leaving the non-
paying and Medicaid patients to the mercy of whoever was willing to
provide the health care. The boards of Santa Rosa and Methodist
Hospital commissioned a task force of board members and physicians
to look at the feasibility of consolidating the two respective organiza-
tions. The two corporations were already developing a similar arrange-
ment for the services of Santa Rosa Children’s Hospital and Methodist
pediatric services. The consolidation was seen as a way to strengthen
religiously sponsored health care and to use available resources for
expansion rather than unnecessary duplication.

In the Spring of 1994, however, Methodist announced that it had
been approved by Columbia Healthcare and had chosen to merge with
that corporation rather than Santa Rosa. While this news created some
anxiety among employees and physicians, it was received with a sense
of relief and joy by others. The fear had been that if Santa Rosa and
Methodist merged, more of the resources would be devoted to the north-
west part of the city while the downtown and its poor population would
be deprived of adequate healthcare services. The move would not have
been in keeping with the mission of Santa Rosa.

When the hospital marked its 120th year of service to San Antonio
five years earlier in 1989, a year of celebration began with a reenact-
ment of the founding sisters’ journey by stagecoach from Galveston to
San Antonio. Three sisters volunteered for the public relations fund-
raising event: Sisters Carol Ann Jokerst, Helen Ann Collier, and Lupita
Ruiz. Three others were called upon to be their replacements when
needed: Sisters Mary Brian Sherry, Corine Walsh, and Clare Eileen
Craddock. The 289-mile, sixteen-day trip portrayed the hardships
endured by the first three sisters in responding to a call for help in con-
trolling disease, caring for the sick, and establishing a hospital. As
townspeople welcomed the stagecoach and greeted the sisters along the
way in such early Texas settlements as Panna Maria, Goliad, and Runge,
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the words were always the same, always an expression of gratitude:
“Santa Rosa, you saved my life!” “My mother died in your hospital
back in 1925, but I will never forget your kindness.” “Sisters, you saved
my baby!”1!4

The reenactment journey had a serious mishap which served to
remind the sisters, as well as the general public that followed the course
of the stagecoach along the backroads of Texas, that fulfillment of the
mission of Santa Rosa had always demanded suffering and determina-
tion. Four days out of Galveston, two of the sisters, Carol Ann and
Lupita, were injured when the lead mules in the four-mule team bolted
and caused the stagecoach to overturn. The journey continued, howev-
er, finally reaching San Antonio for the celebration of 120 years of hear-
ing and responding to a call for help.

Throughout its history, it had taken a strong and often countercul-
tural stand in admitting patients without discrimination of race, color, or
creed; in offering charitable service to the poor; in supporting the inner
city and the people of that area; and in upholding a respect for the life
of the unborn child. Now in its second century of service, Santa Rosa
was continuing the journey as it began, answering San Antonio's call for
help with faith and confidence in God; love and concern for the sick, the
poor, and the distressed; and trust in the support of those who share its
mission of caring.
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ADMINISTRATORS

Rev. Mother Madeleine Chollet 1869-1872
Rev. Mother St. Pierre Cinquin 1872-1891
Rev. Mother M. Ignatius Saar 1892-1894
Rev. Mother Madeleine Chollet 1894-1900
Sister Mary Jane Keegan 1900-1903
Sister M. Colette Foran 1903-1906
Mother M. Nativity Henebery 1906-1910
Mother M. Wendelinus Holzer 1910-1912
Mother M. Presentation O’Meara 1912-1914
Mother M. Wendelinus Holzer 1914-1918
Mother M. Colette Foran 1918-1919
Mother M. Robert O’Dea 1919-1925
Mother M. Presentation O’Meara 1925-1928
Mother M. Robert O’Dea 1928-1939
Mother William Cullen 1939-1940
Mother Mary of Lourdes Hickey 1940-1946
Mother M. Philotheus Ney 1946-1952
Mother M. Alban Mannion 1952-1958
Mother Mary Vincent O’Donnell 1958-1966
John A. Bradley 1966-1969
Sister Angela Clare Moran 1969-1970
George M. Fleming 1970-1972
Sister Angela Clare Moran 1972-1986
Thomas Rockers 1987-1989
Lloyd R. Vaughan 1989

Charles B. VanVorst 1990-1993
Robert J. Nolan 1993-
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PRESIDENTS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF

1869-1924
1925
1926
1927
1928
1929
1930
1931
1932
1933
1934
1935
1936
1937
1938
1939
1940
1941
1942
1943
1944
1945
1946
1947
1948
1949
1950
1951
1952
1953
1954
1955
1956
1957
1958
1959
1960
1961
1962

(no records available)
William W. Wolf, Sr., M.D.
Thomas Dorbandt, M.D.
Thomas Dorbandt, M.D.
P. 1. Nixon, Sr., M.D.

R. R. Ross, M.D.

C. E. Scull, M.D.

H. M. Bush, M.D.

R. G. McCorkle, M.D.

B. H. Passmore, M.D.

E. V. DePew, M.D.
Ferdinand P. Herff, M.D.
August F. Herff, Sr., M.D.
Edward R. Cayo, M.D.
Sovern W. Allen, M.D.
R.H. Crockett, M.D.

J.M. Moore, M.D.

Merton M. Minter, M.D.
William H. Keck, M.D.
William R. Reily, M.D.
James W. Nixon, Sr., M.D.
Lloyd I. Ross, M.D.
Joseph B. Copeland, M.D.
Milton G. Davis, M.D.
Edwin L. Mueller, Sr., M.D.
Byron W. Wyatt, M.D.
Edward R. Cayo, M.D.
Sovern W. Allen, M.D.
Sovern W. Allen, M.D.
Richard E. Nitschke, M.D.
Richard E. Nitschke, M.D.
Sidney R. Kaliski, M.D.
Francis E. O’Neill, M.D.
John J. Hinchey, M.D.
Chester C. Shotts, M.D.
Joseph W. Palmer, M.D.
Charles W. Tennison, M.D.
James R. O’Neill, M.D.
James R. O’Neill, M.D.
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1963 Charles A. Hulse, M.D.
1964 O. Roger Holland, M.D.
1965 Albert Nisbet, M.D.

1966 William M. Wolf, M.D.
1967 Adolfo Urrutia, M.D.

1968 Albert Fischer, M.D.

1969 Norman Jacob, Jr., M.D.
1970 Herschel N. Childers, M.D.
1971 Joaquin Gonzéilez, M.D.
1972 George B. Livesay, M.D.
1973 José M. Benavides, M.D.
1974 James H. Lowry, M.D.
1975 Thomas B. Burns, M.D.
1976 Hugh L. Wolff, M.D.

1977 Thomas Hebert, M.D.
1978 Katherine L. Rodgers, M.D.
1979 Frank Bryant, M.D.

1980 Walter F. Buell, M.D.

1981 Ramiro P. Estrada, M.D.
1982 Richard Herndndez, Jr., M.D.
1983 Albert Sanders, M.D.

1984 Leo Cuello, M.D.

1985 William Peche, M.D.

1986 Antonio Cavazos, Jr., M.D.
1987 Gilberto Aguirre, M.D.
1988 Howell A. Cone, M.D.
1989 Ernesto Guerra, M.D.

1990 Carlos Orozco, M.D.

1991 Roberto San Martin, M.D.
1992 Stanley Culotta, M.D.
1993 Stanley Culotta, M.D.
1994 David Guerrero, M.D.
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SHARING A DREAM

A crippled child called “Little Joe” became the inspiration in 1918 for
the dream of a children’s hospital in San Antonio. It was a dream that
attracted strong community support, but a dream that took many years
to become a reality.

Discovered on the streets of San Antonio by Mrs. A. W. Walliser,
prominent humanitarian in the city, Little Joe was the child of a tubercu-
lar mother, a widow struggling to care for herself as well as her crippled
son who needed constant medical care. Mrs. Walliser brought the child to
Santa Rosa Infirmary and asked the sisters if they could provide a bed for
him even though the hospital at that time had no facilities for children.
The sisters responded immediately and not only accepted “Little Joe”
but also set up a five-bed ward for the specialized care of children, the
first pediatric facility in San Antonio.

Santa Rosa had been closely associated with homes for children as
early as 1874, when the sisters established St. Joseph’s Orphanage for
Girls. One of the principal reasons for starting the orphanage had been
to care for infants born at the hospital to unwed mothers who wanted to
turn their children over to the care of the sisters.

Some years later, in 1890, the sisters established a second home
for children, St. John’s Orphanage for Boys. The building was con-
structed directly adjacent to Santa Rosa, and it was not unusual for the
same sisters to work in both the hospital and the boys’home.!

When the five-bed ward was opened in 1918 at Santa Rosa to care
for Little Joe and other children in need of special treatment, the sisters
found there was an immediate demand for admission. Every available
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space was filled, and a waiting list was set up for patients who had to be
turned away. The ward continued to expand, until twelve years later it
included thirty-eight beds and occupied most of the second floor of Old
Main.

Mother Robert O’Dea became the administrator of Santa Rosa in
1919, and the establishment of a special hospital for children was a
dream that she earnestly wanted to see fulfilled. It was a dream also for
Mrs. Walliser, who had sought to help Little Joe, and for many other
prominent women of San Antonio who shared the same concern for
helping sick children. It would take forty more years, however, and
many failed efforts along the way before the dream became a reality.

The time was particularly unfavorable at Santa Rosa for the estab-
lishment of a children’s hospital or even the construction of an addi-
tional wing. The hospital was trying desperately to cope with three
major disasters that struck the San Antonio area within a ten-year peri-
od: the Spanish Influenza, which broke out in 1917 and continued
through the following year; the San Antonio River flood that claimed
the lives of many victims in 1921; and the Rock Springs tornado that
swept away people and property in 1927.2 The three emergencies had
strained the limits of Santa Rosa, calling for immediate response from
physicians, nurses, and staff, and filling every available hospital bed
with critically ill and seriously injured patients.

Mrs. Walliser and the other women whom she had interested in the
project, however, continued to spearhead a movement for special health
care for children. In 1919, they established the Crippled Children’s
Association, the first organization of its kind in Texas, which by 1923,
was incorporated under the State of Texas.

From the very beginning, the stated purposes of the corporation
had the potential for creating an overlapping of responsibilities with
Santa Rosa and for causing problems. According to the terms of the
charter, the Crippled Children’s Association was authorized to provide
“the examination, treatment, and education of crippled children, regard-
less of race, color, or religion, and to look after the mental, moral, and
physical welfare of such children during the time of treatment, and to
build and equip a hospital as an annex to the Santa Rosa Infirmary for
the care and treatment of such children.”

Serving on the board of directors were Mrs. Amos Graves, Mrs.
Fred J. Combs, Dr. Mary King Robbie, Mrs. A. W. Walliser, Mrs. W. B.
Russ, Mrs. Homer T. Wilson, and Miss Josephine King. Named in the
charter as members of the corporation were Dr. H. P. Hill, Sister M.
Robert O’Dea, and Claude V. Birkhead. With only one sister listed as a
member of the controlling group, it was clear that Santa Rosa had only

50



SANTA ROSA CHILDREN'’S HOSPITAL: SHARING A DREAM

minor representation in making decisions for the organization, yet such
decisions could have major consequences for the infirmary. Although
the sisters were eager to help establish the children’s hospital, the ques-
tions of ownership, control, and direction were bound to cause confu-
sion sooner or later.

The terms of the initial agreement called for Santa Rosa to provide
the land for construction of the hospital if the Crippled Children’s
Association could not raise the necessary funds to purchase the proper-
ty. The only right reserved to the sisters was that of supervising con-
struction so that the buildings would harmonize with those already in
place on the Santa Rosa grounds.*

In an even greater, although not wiser, show of generosity, Santa
Rosa assured the members of the association that “the Board has further
agreed to assist your association by accepting as their charge fifty per
cent of the children admitted into your hospital, and to place at the dis-
posal of your hospital all of our scientific equipment, our medical staff
and the trained services of our nurses, for a term of fifty years . . . and
will entail no expense to the Crippled Children’s Association.™

The agreement was drawn up without prior legal consultation, and
when the Congregation’s attorney, J. C. Sullivan, was asked for an opin-
ion, he offered the following advice: “Nothing appears . . . to evidence
the right of the sisters to any part of the hospital—rather a one-sided
obligation to permit construction of the building and undertake free
charge of charity patients up to 50% of cases admitted for and during a
period of 50 years to come.”®

He counseled the sisters that the Santa Rosa property had been
deeded to them by Bishop Dubuis for their own use in establishing a
hospital and that it would be inadvisable “to permit strangers to erect a
building thereon, and to conduct a hospital, having the management
thereof, and in which management you are to have but a minority rep-
resentation, but incur all obligations . . . for a period of a century.”’

In order to avoid any misunderstanding, he insisted that the fol-
lowing points be clearly established:

1. That the Infirmary shall have the right to direct the plans and supervise
and control the construction. . . .

2. That it be made plain that the sisters shall have absolute charge of the
hospital, when in operation. . . .

3. That the Board of Control shall not be vested in the Crippled
Children’s Association, but that the majority of such Board shall be the
sisters of the Infirmary. This last noted item is all-important, for such
Board could, if at any time its members so desired, remove the sisters
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from their assumed charge—and there would be no resort, other than to
expensive and disagreeable publicity attendant on court action that would
inevitably follow.”®

The attorney even proposed that if the agreement with the associ-
ation had been so firmly established that it could not be cancelled, the
sisters should buy another piece of land for the annex and offer it to the
organization, rather than permit the building to be constructed on Santa
Rosa property.

Strangely enough, there is no record to indicate that Mr. Sullivan’s
directives were followed, and the agreement between the hospital and
the Crippled Children’s Association remained unchanged until one year
later, when the organization had succeeded in raising only $53,000 for
construction. At this time, Rev. Mother Mary John O’Shaughnessy
wrote to the members asking to cancel the former agreement:

Your unselfish and devoted efforts in our behalf have touched us deeply,
and it pains us, even more than yourselves, to have to forego your further
aid. But the inevitable conclusion is forced on us. . . . We must abandon
the project [and] secure the right to use our own property freely, so that,
with God’s help and direction, we may eventually be able to undertake
the project, as for ourselves. The public has shown the limit of its
response to making contributions to the contemplated project, and if ever
the Crippled Children’s Hospital becomes a reality, the burden must
seemingly fall on us.’

The association agreed to release the sisters from their commit-
ment, and for the next twenty years, plans for a children’s hospital lay
dormant, principally for lack of funds. These were depression years
when hospital beds were empty, and fund raising efforts were impossi-
ble. Santa Rosa had barely recovered from its financial losses, when
America became involved in World War II, which created a severe
shortage of personnel, as doctors, nurses, and staff left civilian life to
serve in the armed forces. The hospital was so involved in dealing with
the loss of staff to the war effort that the question of expansion could not
be addressed seriously.

Moreover, Mother Robert, whose dream for the establishment of a
children’s hospital had been the propelling force, died in 1939. The
administrators who succeeded her at Santa Rosa, although not opposed
to the idea, did not share Mother Robert’s great enthusiasm.

Not until 1944, more than twenty years after the initial efforts of
the Crippled Children’s Association, was the project brought up for dis-
cussion once again. At that time, Mrs. Walliser, who had maintained her
determination and enthusiasm for the hospital, together with Theresa
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Huth, Nora Kelly, Edward Sullivan and Jack Newman, proposed that
another fund drive be conducted for a pediatric annex that would
become a memorial to Mother Robert.

Rev. Mother Bonaventure Burns gave an initial endorsement to the
plan. The group also approached the archbishop of San Antonio, Most
Rev. Robert E. Lucey, who urged them to make every effort to raise the
money.'® At the end of a year-long effort, however, the drive had
brought in only $15,000, most of it from friends of Mother Robert and
employees of the hospital. Undaunted, the group was intent on continu-
ing its work, but the sisters once again decided to abandon the project.

During the years of World War 11, the Congregation had experi-
enced a decline in its members. Vocations had never been strong in the
United States, and the sisters were dependent on recruiting young
women from Europe, particularly from Ireland and Germany. The war
made it impossible, however, to bring them into the country. The sisters
were concerned about extending their work in a new hospital unit for
children without a sufficient number of sisters to direct the efforts. The
proposal of building a memorial to Mother Robert did not meet with
strong approval either. Drawing such public attention to an individual
sister, even though she had done great work for the health care of chil-
dren, was simply not in keeping with the spirit of the Congregation.
Furthermore, after many years during which the idea of the hospital for
children had been abandoned, Annex I had been built on the land previ-
ously reserved for the facility.

Rev. Mother Laserian Conlon wrote to explain the sisters’ decision
to Mrs. Walliser and the other civic-minded women who had undertaken
the responsibility for raising the money: “We do not see our way to sup-
port the undertaking [under] present conditions in which a dearth of voca-
tions has so seriously limited the number of our religious personnel. . . .
A site for the proposed hospital which was to be the Congregation’s con-
tribution to this project is also out of the question at present. We do not
feel free to make arrangements which will obligate our successors in
office; it is impossible to predict what the future will bring.”!!

The dream of a special hospital for chidren, however, was a dream
that just would not go away. The facilities that had been adapted for
children at Santa Rosa were totally inadequate. Beds and bassinets were
moved into hallways and into an area that had formerly served as a
kitchen. No running water was available in the unit. Doctors and nurs-
es, who were very few in number, had to wash their hands in basins car-
ried in from other parts of the hospital. The situation was intolerable.

Struggling to cope with the poor facilities was a staff of dedicated
and hard-working sisters and doctors who sought perfection in their

53



PROMISES TO KEEP

work in spite of the inadequate surroundings. Dr. Sidney Kalisky, chair-
man of the department, led the way, untiring in his efforts to provide the
highest quality care for children. “We had to measure up,” said Sister
Monika (Febronia) Schonberger, nursing supervisor. “Dr. Kalisky was
very exacting. Everything had to be just so.”!?

Most of the crippled children in the unit came from poor Mexican
families. Care was long-term, continuing for months and even years.
Sister Monika set up a classroom on the floor so that the education of
the children would not suffer while they were hospitalized. She added
teaching to her regular nursing schedule, and classes often included
preparation for the children to make their First Communion. “The work
was hard,” Sister Monika says, “but that was my life. We worked from
7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. seven days a week and never had a day off.”!

Conditions were so crowded that premature infants born at home
could not be accepted because of lack of space. In fact, very few infants
could be admitted at all, according to Sister Monika. “The Robert B.
Green Hospital used to send some to us, many of them at death’s door,”
she recalled. “We took them in, never sent them away, and only God
knows how many of them we saved, and how many we baptized and
sent into heaven.”!*

The hospital was often called upon to take charity cases that were
accepted in spite of the lack of space. At one time, Dr. Edith Bonnet
brought quintuplets into the hospital, five healthy infants who did not
really need hospitalization but who had been born in a situation where
they could not receive proper care. According to Sister Monika, they
had either been abandoned by their parents or taken away from them
by a social welfare agency. “We got so attached to them,” she said,
“that when the foster parents came to take them away, we hated to see
them go.”!3

Only two pediatricians were on the staff at the time, Drs. Kalisky
and Bonnet. Specialized equipment for the care of children was non-
existent, but Dr. Kalisky developed many makeshift instruments. He
used cockpits discarded from outmoded airplanes to make plastic bub-
bletops that could be used as oxygen tents. Dr. Edward A. Cayo, ortho-
pedic surgeon, was equally inventive when it came to providing braces
and other means of helping crippled children. “I used to drill holes in
broken bones and then tie them together with silk fishing line—worked
well, too,” he said.!®

Dr. Kalisky was chairman of the department from 1938 to 1942,
when he left for military service during World War II. He resumed his
chairmanship in 1945 and continued in that position until 1965.
Through his association with Brooke Army Medical Center, he was
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instrumental in securing two residents from the army to serve in the
children’s ward. The addition to the medical staff greatly enhanced the
hospital’s capacity to accept more children. It was at this time also that
federal and state funds were made available for the care of crippled chil-
dren, and Dr. Kalisky gained approval for Santa Rosa to qualify for such
support.

One of the children cared for at Santa Rosa during this period was
Jennifer Jaffe, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Morris D. Jaffe, prominent San
Antonio citizens. When little Jennifer was dismissed after successful
treatment and care, Mrs. Jaffe was extremely grateful to the sisters and
doctors, but she was also quick to see that the children’s ward was lack-
ing in proper equipment and facilities and that the City of San Antonio
desperately needed a hospital just for children. Because of her great
concern, she became one of the most ardent supporters for the effort and
interested many other prominent citizens in once again establishing an
organization to raise the necessary funds.

When the Children’s Hospital Foundation was formed in 1955,
both the sisters and the San Antonio community were ready and eager
for the project.!” Jack Judson became president of the group of out-
standing civic leaders, and serving on the executive committee were
Mrs. Leroy G. Denman, Jr.; William W. Flannery; Mrs. Morris D. Jaffe;
Rev. John J. Lazarsky, OMI; John R. McFarlin; Mrs. Edgar Tobin;
Theodore F. Weiss; Gen. William Hood Simpson; and Dr. Melvin L.
Thornton.

The foundation offered to raise the money to build the hospital if
the sisters would donate land on the Santa Rosa property and operate the
facility once it was completed. The sisters were eager to comply with
the request, but before engaging in any negotiations this time, they
wisely sought the advice of their attorney, Theodore F. Weiss, who
advised them that the hospital should be built according to plans that
were acceptable to both parties and without expense to Santa Rosa.
“The building should become your property,” he told the sisters, and “a
contract fully setting forth the rights and obligations of the parties
[should] be entered into.”!8

When the document was drawn up, both the sisters and the mem-
bers of the foundation were ready to agree on the following points:

1. Recognizing the urgent need for a children’s hospital to serve San
Antonio and Southwest Texas, the [Children’s Hospital] Foundation has
been formed for the purpose of raising funds by public subscription to
construct with such funds, and matching Hill-Burton funds from the
Federal Government, a children’s hospital.
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2. Subject to the terms and conditions of this agreement the Hospital has
agreed to provide the site for such hospital and to maintain and operate it
after it has been constructed.

3. The Hospital agrees to provide the land upon which such hospital is to
be constructed in the block in San Antonio, Bexar County, Texas, on
which the Santa Rosa Hospital is now located and agrees to permit the
construction of the hospital on such land. The exact locale of such site
within the block and its dimensions will be determined by the Hospital.

6. After such hospital is completed and equipped, the Hospital assumes
the responsibility of permanently operating and maintaining it.

7. The Hospital agrees that in the operation of the Santa Rosa Children’s
Hospital it will admit children as patients regardless of race, color, or creed.
The Hospital further agrees to admit as many charity patients to such hos-
pital as reasonable and prudent hospital administration will permit.

10. Full title and ownership in and to the Santa Rosa Children’s Hospital
and the administrative control thereof shall at all times be vested in the
Hospital, it being understood that the Foundation acquires no right, title,
claim, or interest of any character in any property owned by the Hospital.

11. The Foundation shall have the privilege of appointing, subject to the
approval of the Hospital, an Advisory Board of representative citizens,
which Board shall have the authority: to advise in the construction, oper-
ation, and maintenance of the Santa Rosa Children’s Hospital; to exam-
ine and publish an annual financial report of the Santa Rosa Children’s
Hospital; to encourage and publicize the activities of civic groups work-
ing with children in the hospital and generally to make suggestions
designed to increase the usefulness of the Santa Rosa Children’s Hospital
and its contribution to San Antonio and Southwest Texas.!?

Estimated cost of the five-floor, 150-bed hospital was $1.5 mil-
lion. The Foundation immediately launched a fund-raising campaign to
raise $750,000, which would be matched by Hill-Burton funds, and
General William Simpson, former Commanding General of the 4th U.
S. Army, was asked to chair the drive. With both the $53,000 that had
been raised in the 1920s by the Crippled Children’s Association and that
had been kept intact, and the $15,000 intended for the Mother Robert
O’Dea Memorial, the effort was under way.

The Bexar County Medical Society, the San Antonio Pediatric
Society, and the San Antonio Chamber of Commerce all endorsed the
drive. The Junior League became involved; the Chrysanthemum Ball
brought in donations; the reserve grand champion steer at the San
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Antonio Stock Show was raffled off to support the effort; and Lackland
Air Force Base and Randolph Air Force Base sponsored fund drives.

The project became a community-wide effort, a shared dream
involving all segments of society and many different religious groups,
all contributing support for a facility that would ultimately be under
Catholic auspices. Religious differences were still very strong in Texas
during the 1950s, and there was some concern that the hospital would
be dominated by the Catholic influence of Santa Rosa and controlled
through the financial support of the Archdiocese of San Antonio.
According to Don Jacobs, executive director of the Children’s Hospital
Foundation, “Many people did not realize then and still do not under-
stand, that the Catholic Church does not financially support such insti-
tutions as Catholic hospitals other than to offer its blessing and best
wishes for success.”?0

The original board of directors of the Foundation was expanded to
include many prominent people in the City: Edward G. Conroy;
William T. Bear; Frank Blair, Jr.; Mrs. Lee S. Fountain; Edward C.
Sullivan; Mrs. Robert M. Ayres; J. J. Biasiolli, Sr.; Mrs. A. M.
Biedenharn, Jr.; John A. Bitter, Jr.; Mrs. Van Wych Brinkerhoff; A. H.
Cadwallader, Jr.; Angus Cockrell; Mrs. J. M. Fisher; Harry Freeman;
Hugh Halft.

Also, Mrs. Frank G. Huntress, Jr.; Mrs. Eliose W. Japhet; Harry D.
Jersig; Dr. Sidney R. Kalisky; Mrs. Lewis Kayton; Otto A. Koehler;
Mrs. Leslie L. Lentz; Mrs. Cecile E. Logan; Mrs. John R. McFarlin;
Mrs. C. B. Mendel; Joe Olivares; Jesse H. Oppenheimer; Dr. Albert M.
Rogers; Harold M. Scherr; Mrs. Tyson M. Searcy; Mrs. Dorothy
Hissner Spencer; Sam Bell Steves; and David J. Straus.

Within two years, after much hard work and a united community
effort, the organization raised $800,000, more than enough to match the
Hill-Burton grant and pay the original estimated cost of $1.5 million.
The leaders of the group were proud of their achievements as they gath-
ered for the opening of the construction bids. When the cost was
announced at $400,000 over the funds available, however, consternation
prevailed. It seemed that there was no end to the obstacles standing in
the way of the dream of a children’s hospital.

But Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell, who was administrator of
Santa Rosa at the time, was not to be deterred by such obstacles. She
quickly gained the support of the general administration of the
Congregation to accept responsibility for the additional cost. “We will
accept the bid,” she announced to the Foundation members, thereby
closing a chapter on the stumbling start of Children’s Hospital.?!
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Jack Judson, prominent businessman who was the Mayor of
Alamo Heights and had been elected president of the Foundation, offi-
ciated at the dedication ceremonies held July 9, 1959, and handed over
the keys of the building to Rev. Mother Mary Clare Cronly, superior
general and chairman of the board of Santa Rosa. Sister Olivia
Prendergast was appointed the first supervisor of the new facility. She
had recently returned from Washington, D. C., where she earned the
first master’s degree awarded in the maternal and child health program
of The Catholic University of America. Dr. Leo Geppert became the
first medical director of the hospital. Dr. Sidney Kalisky was the first
chief of staff.

The community need for the facility was immediately evident from
the large number of patients admitted even in the beginning days and
weeks. During the first eighteen days of operation, 238 children were
treated for illness or injury. The new hospital, equipped with all of the lat-
est technology, also attracted highly qualified pediatricians and nurses to
the staff. Dr. Kalisky had become widely known throughout the country
for his medical practice with children, and he immediately set up a train-
ing program for the preparation of young pediatricians.

Specialized medical programs were gradually established. Dr.
Irving Ratner joined the staff as a general pediatric surgeon in 1961 at a
time when specialization in surgery for children was all but unknown in
the world of medicine. Over the next several years, the hospital began
to attract specialists in pediatric cardiovascular surgery, pediatric neuro-
surgery, pediatric orthopedic surgery, and pediatric ear, nose and throat
surgery.

Community support for the hospital did not stop once the building
was completed. The Children’s Hospital Foundation continued its
efforts to raise additional funds, and the Women’s Auxiliary offered
generous assistance to the hospital staff. The auxiliary had been formed
by members of the Junior League in 1957, even before the hospital
opened, and grew rapidly to include over 500 members with Mrs.
Gilbert M. Denman, Sr., as the first president. Dorothy Hissner Spencer
became director of volunteer services, and when the doors of Children’s
Hospital opened, the auxiliary was ready to take over the operation of
the hospitality shop, the information desk, the children’s library, the
recreation department, the medical library, and the clinics. By the end of
the year, the Junior Auxiliary had been formed as well, with Mrs. Sue
Hobbs as chairman.

By 1962, just three years after the hospital opened, expansion
became a necessity. Directors of the Foundation led the way in gaining
support for the addition of six stories. When construction was complet-
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ed in 1966, the hospital capacity had been increased to 260 beds, and it
had become the largest pediatric hospital in Texas.

Children’s Hospital was also the only facility of its kind to have a
pediatric mental health unit and a pediatric medical intensive care unit.
Through the generosity of Mrs. Margaret Tobin, San Antonio philan-
thropist, a fully licensed and approved helistop was installed atop the
eleventh floor to provide rapid transit for critically ill or injured children
from areas surrounding San Antonio. In the same year, 1966, the
Children’s Heart Catheterization Laboratory opened under the direction
of Dr. Colette Kohler.

Dr. Howard Britton, who had come to Children’s Hospital at the
invitation of Dr. Kalisky, was appointed part-time medical director of the
hospital in 1969. He moved to full-time status in 1980 and continued in
that position until his retirement in 1991. One of his first major develop-
ments was the conversion of the outpatient clinic to the Children’s
Ambulatory Care Center. Here, physicians specializing in many different
fields as well as nutritionists, therapists, nurses, and social workers orga-
nized multidisciplinary teams offering long-term care to children with
acute and chronic illnesses and physical handicaps. Sister Mary Aidan
Handibode took over direction of the center, giving it sound and balanced
leadership combined with gentle concern for the children.

In 1971, Dr. Katherine Rogers set up the neonatal intensive care
unit, which became the first intensive care department for either adults
or children in South Texas. The following year, a day surgery unit was
opened.

W. Mike White was appointed chief executive officer of the hos-
pital in 1973, serving in that position until 1987. Together with Dr.
Britton as medical director and Peggy Moyers, who was assistant
administrator for nursing services, the identity of Children’s Hospital as
a separate unit became clarified and well recognized not only in the
local community but also throughout the state.

The number of specialized services increased rapidly. The Cancer
Research and Treatment Center was established in 1974 in conjunction
with the University of Texas Medical School at San Antonio. Other pro-
grams and specialties followed: orthopedics, pulmonology/intensive
care service, a spina bifida evaluation center, children’s emergency ser-
vice, and treatment for kidney disease.

In 1980, the pediatric medical intensive care unit was expanded
into the Rachel Vaughan Critical Care Center serving children with seri-
ous medical problems as well as those recovering from complex open
heart, brain, or abdominal surgery. In 1987, the respite station was set up
to offer short-term care for children with disabilities or chronic illness.
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The cancer center was expanded in 1989 to become Children’s Hospital
Regional Cancer Center, consolidating inpatient and outpatient treat-
ment for cancer as well as bone marrow transplant programs. In the fol-
lowing year, construction began on the Neurosciences Center for treat-
ment of children with neurologic and neurosurgical problems. “We
moved even beyond tertiary care,” says Mike White, “with all of these
programs integrally linked to the medical school and to the availability
of 24-hour service from interns and residents.”??

“Over the years, only a few sisters have been involved in leadership
positions at Children’s Hospital,” says Mike White, “but we all thorough-
ly understood and adopted the Christian mission and ministry of the sis-
ters, even Dr. Britton, who was an active member of the Jewish commu-
nity.” Mike recalls an amusing incident that involved the placement of
crucifixes in all of the patient rooms as a visible reminder of the Catholic
character of the hospital. Mike handed one to Dr. Britton to distribute on
his rounds of the hospital, and Britton, who was totally dedicated to the
mission but who could see the irony of the situation, said, “You know,
Mike, I share fully in the values upheld by this hospital, but somehow I
don’t think it is quite appropriate for me to hang this crucifix.”?3

In 1989, the Santa Rosa Health Care Corporation was established
with Children’s Hospital as a separate entity having its own board and
medical staff. Steve Dufilho, who was President of the Children’s
Foundation, was named chairman of the board of trustees. He had been
involved with the Foundation since 1976, giving tirelessly to the work
of the organization even though he held many other business and civic
offices including chairman of the board and president of the San
Antonio Bank of Commerce, chairman of the board of the School of
Business of St. Mary’s University, chairman of the Endowment
Committee of the Greater San Antonio Chamber of Commerce, and
trustee of St. Thomas University. Of all the organizations he was
involved with, however, Mr. Dufilho ranked Children’s Hospital as
“number one because of its worthy mission.” The founding and work of
the sisters also had “a lot to do with his dedication,” he insisted. “They
have given their lives; I give only hours.?*

The name of Children’s Hospital was changed to Santa Rosa
Children’s Hospital in 1991 in an effort to reflect a stronger association
with the Santa Rosa tradition. Some opposition was expressed by mem-
bers of the Foundation who felt that the identity of Children’s might be
lost to that of the general hospital. To avoid this happening and to secure
a close working relationship between the two institutions, the chairman
of the board of Children’s was appointed a member of the board of
Santa Rosa Health Care Corporation.
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Children’s Hospital began as a shared dream of the sisters, the doc-
tors, and the citizens of San Antonio. Once the dream became a reality,
the hospital also adopted the responsibility of sharing its services and its
staff with groups and organizations in the local community and sur-
rounding areas.

One of the first shared efforts and services was established
between the hospital and the U. S. Army’s MAST program (Military
Assistance to Safety and Traffic). Nurses from the hospital flying with
helicopter crews of Fort Sam Houston’s 507th Air Ambulance Unit
transported children from a ten-county area needing trauma and emer-
gency treatment. Children were brought to the hospital from Beeville,
Crystal City, Del Rio, Dilley, Eagle Pass, Floresville, Fredericksburg,
Gonzales, Hondo, Karnes City, Kerrville, Laredo, New Braunfels,
Pleasanton, San Marcos, Shiner, Uvalde, and Victoria.

Just as the U. S. Army facilitated the work of the hospital through
MAST, so the hospital assisted in the preparation of physicians serving
in the military. Through the special efforts of Dr. Irving Ratner, who was
appointed chief of staff in 1990, over 100 resident physicians from
Brooke Army Medical Center and Wilford Hall USAF Hospital were
prepared as pediatric surgeons.

Since 1969, services of the hospital have been shared also with
The University of Texas Health Science Center, which has used
Children’s as a teaching site for medical students, nursing students,
post-doctoral residents, and faculty. Over the years, the hospital’s train-
ing facilities have attracted residents also from Methodist Hospital,
Dallas; Scott-White Hospital, Temple; Duke University Hospital,
Durham, North Carolina; and the Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota.
The hospital has regularly sponsored teaching programs in pediatrics
that attract practitioners from all over the country.

In a real sense, Children’s has become a regional hospital, serving
neighboring communities that lack special health facilities for children.
Patients are now admitted for emergency care and medical treatment
from eighty counties in South and West Texas; most of them are new-
born infants flown in by the MAST helicopter for emergency treatment
in the neonatal intensive care unit. The hospital maintains transport
teams ready to respond to any emergency.

The doctors, in conjunction with hospital staff, have established
outreach clinics in Eagle Pass, Harlingen, Weslaco, Del Rio, McAllen,
Corpus Christi, Austin, and Laredo. The South Texas Regional Pediatric
Network has been established to share the hospital’s and the physicians’
services with twenty-five other hospitals in South and West Texas, as
well as in San Antonio. Nurses, too, from Children’s Hospital have
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become involved with support programs that reach out to smaller hos-
pitals in the region and offer them educational programs in medical pro-
cedures, in immunization, and in preventative health care. Linda Porter,
assistant vice president for patient care, says the mission is very impor-
tant in attracting nurses to work at Children’s. “It attracts a certain kind
of nurse who is willing to go beyond the environs of the hospital to work
with community organization, scout troops, school systems, and other
groups to create an awareness of the health needs of children. The nurs-
es also must create a total environment for care within the hospital that
includes play therapy and other special services to make children feel at
home.”?

Under the leadership of Alex White, who was named administra-
tor in 1987, the hospital became involved with the other four children’s
hospitals in Texas in establishing advocacy efforts on both the state and
national level. Because Medicaid payments were not covering the total
cost of care, hospitals were having to limit their admission of children.
“This was a very sad situation,” according to Alex White, “because the
mission of Children’s Hospital was to serve all children in need of
health care. Now some had to be denied this care simply on a financial
basis.”

“Hospitals had to change from being simply the providers of
health care to being advocates for fair reimbursement for health care
costs,” he said. “The children needed to be represented, and the admin-
istrators of the children’s hospitals took on that responsibility.”?® The
five Texas institutions organized CHAT (Children’s Hospitals
Association of Texas) and convinced legislators of the unique character
of health care for children. They persuaded Senator Lloyd Benson to
introduce legislation expanding Medicaid eligibility for children.
Through their participation in NACRI (National Association of
Children’s Hospital and Related Institutions), they were able to create a
national forum for children’s health needs and to mandate changes in
state funding programs.

Since 1984, administrators and doctors of Children’s Hospital had
looked forward to opening a new, free-standing facility at the medical
center complex in northwest San Antonio. A new Children’s Hospital
had been Dr. Britton’s dream, and much like the original dream that
Mother Robert, Mrs. Walliser, and others struggled with from 1918 to
1959, it had been starting and stumbling along a difficult road to fulfill-
ment. A location in the northwest suburbs “would bring us close to
young families that are growing and having children,” Dr. Britton
explained. “A proximity to the Health Science Center would also pro-
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vide us opportunities for research and contact with those who are on the
cutting edge of the profession.”?

One of the major decisions to be faced was how to construct and
operate a new medical facility at the northwest location and still main-
tain service in the downtown area, where the sisters felt a deep com-
mitment to the poor in San Antonio. “We cannot abandon the down-
town area,” said Dr. Ratner, “but we must expand our services. The
medical community has moved to the north. They have been attracted
by the proximity to the University of Texas Health Science Center.
Children’s Hospital has been able to retain only about one-third of the
City’s pediatricians. The downtown hospital has been left also with a
very large number of patients from indigent families, and the payment
for services has been dependent on government funding, not always a
secure source of adequate support. A children’s hospital on the north-
west campus could help to maintain the support needed for the down-
town facility.”?8

With full support of the physicians and the foundation, adminis-
trators in 1994 approached Methodist Hospital about jointly building a
new children’s hospital in the medical center complex. Neither institu-
tion, however, was in a position to finance the proposed $70 million
facility. An agreement was reached to consolidate services to form a
Children’s regional health care system and to focus on expanding pri-
mary care services for the present. The decision on construction of a
new facility would be delayed until the impact of healthcare reform was
known and financial resources were available.

The proposal of a new children’s hospital to be built in the north-
west area prompted an outcry of protest from the south and southwest
communities of San Antonio. Both were strongly populated by Hispanic
families with low income levels who feared the plan would diminish
services at the downtown location and cut off their access to adequate
care for their children. Many years ago, the county hospital had been
moved to the northwest location, and they had suffered the same loss in
general hospital services at that time

While Santa Rosa administrators tried to allay the fears of the con-
cerned citizens and at the same time convince them of the benefits to be
gained by sharing facilities, the entire matter came to a complete closure
as Methodist Hospital announced its decision to merge with Columbia
Healthcare. Neither the consolidation agreement nor the proposal for a
new facility ever came to fruition.

In spite of the disappointment over the plans for expansion,
Children’s Hospital has been the fulfillment of a dream, and its success
must be attributed to the sisters, the doctors, the staff, and the members
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of the Foundation. “In their founding of the hospital and in the work that
has been done there, the sisters have a lot to be proud of,” says Dr.
Ratner. “They have done a remarkable job.”3? The administrative lead-
ership provided by Sister M. Alban Mannion, Sister Mary Vincent
O’Donnell, and Sister Angela Clare Moran deserves the recognition
offered by Alex White, “These people had great vision. They knew what
they wanted to do and they did it. They even created a psychiatric floor
for children and added a flight deck for helicopter transfers in the 1950s,
when many other children’s hospitals did not have such provisions until
the 1980s.!

Only two sisters are involved in the operation of Children’s
Hospital today—Sister Mary Aidan Handibode, who for over forty
years has served in the Outpatient Clinic that later became the
Ambulatory Care Center, and Sister Michele O’Brien, who is director of
primary care services and involved in securing health services for the
poor. The loss of sisters is greatly lamented by many of the doctors.
“This place was so well run when the sisters were in charge,” Dr. Ratner
says, “you could eat an egg off the floor.”?> And Dr. Britton maintains
that a strong presence has been lost. ““The hospital had a purpose that
was very clear under the direction of the sisters, and it had a way to
accomplish its mission through people giving of themselves.3

In addition to the early direction and service of the sisters, pride in
performance and achievement belongs to the physicians and surgeons
who have given long years of dedicated service, many dating their
appointments back to the beginnings of the hospital in the 1950s: Drs.
Howard Britton, Irving Ratner, Katherine Rogers, Harold Toy, Ramiro
Estrada, John Mangos, Mel Thornton, Cornelius Nau, Bruce
Mewborne, José M. Louro, Thomas Williams, and Fernando Guerra.
Also, Drs. Arthur Marlin; Kaye Wilkins; Robert Campbell, Jr.; James
Rogers; Colette Kohler; Robert Clayton; Albert Sanders; Earl Stanley;
Victor Saldivar; Ricardo Pinero; and Richard Parmley.

In a special way, fulfillment of the dream of Children’s Hospital
belongs also to members of the Foundation, whose initial efforts and
determination made a special hospital for children a reality and who
have continued to sustain the institution through their own generosity
and through the solicitation of financial support from others. First pres-
ident of the organization, Jack Judson, led the initial efforts from 1955
to 1970 in raising funds to match the Hill-Burton grant making con-
struction of the hospital possible. He was succeeded by General Robert
Travis (1970-1974), Angus Cockrell (1974-1981), and Steve Dufilho
(1981 to the present). The strong and dedicated leadership of these men
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has been largely responsible for the Foundation’s efforts to sustain and
expand the facility.

Other prominent civic leaders who have given direction and sup-
port for the work of the Foundation are Charles Hutzler, who organized
the work of the telethon; Ed Sullivan, who directed fund raising appeals
to major donors; Jim Gorman, who chaired the Children’s Hospital
Endowment; and Tena Gorman and Barbara Wilson, who organized the
fund-raising gala, the Gran Noche.

The organization gained the sponsorship of the Texas Open Golf
Tournament in 1976 with proceeds of over $20,000 donated to the hos-
pital. Each year, the tournament raised more and more funds, reaching
a total of $451,936 over its eight-year period of offering support for the
hospital.

When the golf tournament changed direction in 1984, and the hos-
pital lost this source of support, it was immediately replaced by the
Children’s Miracle Network Telethon. The hospital was approached by
the Osmond Foundation of Salt Lake City and invited to become one of
forty institutions throughout the country to participate in the nationwide
televised fund-raiser. W. Mike White, who was administrator at the
time, “led the way in the involvement with the telethon,” according to
Steve Dufilho.3*

Robert F. McDermott, former chairman and chief executive officer
of the United Services Automobile Association, was the first honorary
chairman of the event, and Ted Michel, USAA executive vice president,
served as general chairman. Broadcast from KMOL-TV studios, the
program raised $435,000 during the first year of operation. By 1991, it
reached a total of $1,030,746, becoming the largest telethon not only in
San Antonio but also in the country, surpassing even the Jerry Lewis
effort for muscular dystrophy. Don Jacobs says that in addition to the
money raised “the telethon enabled the hospital to do a superb market-
ing job. Many people in the community did not know about the facili-
ties available before the telethon, and now they certainly know about
Children’s Hospital.”*

While generous volunteers and philanthropic donors have shared
in the development of the dream of Children’s Hospital, the hospital
itself has shared its care and service with many parents and children
who are unable to pay the costs of medical treatment. In the first year
of its operation, 1959, over 50% of all of the children treated were
accepted as charity patients. By 1985, the amount of charitable service
reached $6 million; by 1991 it had increased to $13.1 million.
Approximately 60% of the patients were covered by Medicaid.
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Some years ago, the hospital adopted the rainbow as its symbol,
recalling God’s covenant with all people and the promise of everlasting
love and care. The symbol also appropriately represents the promise of
love and care that the hospital offers to suffering children who share in
the dream that began with Little Joe.
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ADMINISTRATORS
Sister Olivia Prendergast 1959-1970
Sister Margaret Minogue 1970-1973
W. Mike White3® 1973-1987
Alex White 1987-1992
Sharon Smith 1992-

PRESIDENTS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF

Harold Toy, M.D. 1988
Vernon James, M.D. 1990
Irving Ratner, M.D. 1991
Thomas Bartholomew, M.D. 1992
José Rebolledo, M.D. 1993
Ricardo Pinero, M.D. 1994
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VILLA RoOSA HOSPITAL:
PIONEER IN PSYCHIATRIC CARE

“Santa Rosa was always a pioneer in health care in San Antonio,”
according to Dr. Wade H. Lewis. “The hospital was a pioneer in its
beginnings in 1869, becoming the first hospital in the city; it pioneered
in the treatment of polio in the 1940s; it pioneered in establishing
Children’s Hospital in the 1950s; and it pioneered in the development of
psychiatric services in the 1960s.”!

The pioneer effort in psychiatric care began in 1961 when a small
unit of eight patient beds was opened under the direction of Sister
Angelica Coleman. Located on the first floor of Annex I in the general
hospital, the department, although modest in its beginnings, offered the
first private, non-profit psychiatric care in San Antonio and became the
foundation for the later development of Villa Rosa Hospital.?

Almost from the day the psychiatric unit opened, it was crowded
with patients, and the admitting office was turning people away for lack
of space. A report of the Texas State Department of Health issued two
years later, in 1963, confirmed what the administrators of Santa Rosa
had already discovered: San Antonio, with a population nearing
800,000, had a critical shortage of services in psychiatric health care.

Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell, who was the chief executive offi-
cer at the time, was quick to respond to the community need. Santa Rosa
was already planning for expansion with a major building program
designed to add seven floors to Annex II. It was decided in 1964 that the
tenth floor would be totally dedicated to the care of psychiatric patients
and named the John F. Kennedy Memorial Pavilion in memory of the
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late president, who the previous year had visited San Antonio on the day
before his assassination in Dallas.

The 31-bed psychiatric unit was endowed for $250,000 by the
Santa Rosa Women’s Auxiliary and opened in 1964 as a fully licensed
facility. The unit was placed under the medical direction of Dr. Brooks
Mullens. Just two years later, however, Dr. Mullens resigned because of
illness, and Dr. Wade Lewis was named medical director.

Dr. Lewis had been on the Santa Rosa staff since 1954 and had
recently completed his residency in psychiatry. Under his direction, the
program became a fully established department of psychiatry and began
to expand rapidly, outgrowing the facilities of the Kennedy Pavilion and
spilling over to the eleventh floor of Annex II, which had been desig-
nated originally for geriatric patients. At the same time, the ninth floor
of Children’s Hospital was converted to the treatment of adolescent psy-
chiatric patients. “We ended up with a total of 124 psychiatric beds in
downtown San Antonio,” according to Dr. Lewis.3

As fast as the department expanded, the number of patients
increased. Sister Mary Vincent soon realized there was a need for a free-
standing psychiatric hospital. The location of Santa Rosa in downtown
San Antonio, however, offered no possible room for construction of an
additional building. The hospital was hemmed in on every side with
small businesses. If a separate facility were to be built, a totally new site
would have to be chosen.

The determination was made in 1966 to petition the San Antonio
Medical Foundation for a grant of twenty-five acres in the medical cen-
ter complex which was then under construction in the northwest suburbs
of the city. Directors of the Foundation were eager to attract other hos-
pitals to become a part of the complex and to assist in developing it into
a major health research, education, and treatment center. Several tracts
of land had been donated for that purpose.*

In her letter to Dr. James P. Hollers, President of the Foundation,
Sister Mary Vincent described the Santa Rosa plans for expansion. The
new facility, although planned for construction on the northwest subur-
ban site, would be an integral part of the downtown general hospital.
The structure would include 200 beds for psychiatric patients and 100
beds for rehabilitation. In San Antonio, she stated, Santa Rosa had *“the
only psychiatric beds of a private nature having a license as such by the
State Department of Health,” and the need for additional services was
“paramount.”

She explained also that the city had no “complete centralized reha-
bilitation center” and that the need for such a facility was becoming
increasingly important. Santa Rosa planned to begin construction of a
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combined psychiatric and rehabilitation unit “immediately upon acqui-
sition of necessary property.”

Included in her appeal was an announcement that Santa Rosa was
“deeply interested in total affiliation with the forthcoming University of
Texas South Texas Medical School.” Teaching facilities would be pro-
vided not only in the psychiatric/rehabilitation center but also within the
whole Santa Rosa Medical Center.

Moreover, she stated that a need for additional acute general hos-
pital beds had already been identified and plans were being made to
accommodate this expansion by construction of another building at the
medical center site “within five years.” She assured the Foundation
directors that Santa Rosa would plan for all future developments to be
made on the donated tract of land and adjacent acreage.®

The request met immediately with a favorable response on the part
of the medical foundation, whose members passed the following reso-
lution: “The San Antonio Medical Foundation welcomes the desire and
intent of the Santa Rosa Medical Center to become a part of and partic-
ipate in the development of the South Texas Medical Center.”” Edward
J. Gesick, executive director of the Foundation, expressed his personal
sentiments in an accompanying letter, “I am personally delighted to
know that Santa Rosa will be at the Medical Center and believe this is
one of the greatest events in the history of the South Texas Medical
Center.”8

Leaders of the Foundation may have been hopeful that in time the
whole of Santa Rosa might move to the developing medical center site.
Such a move would greatly expand the teaching facilities for the med-
ical school and would advance the long range plans to develop the com-
plex into a major health research, education, and treatment center.

The sisters had firmly decided, however, that although future
development would be planned for the northwest area, the general hos-
pital of the Santa Rosa Medical Center would not move from its origi-
nal location in the heart of San Antonio with its proximity to the low-
income areas of the city. The hospital had been established to serve the
health needs of all social classes within the community, but from its
beginnings the sisters had manifested a special concern for the poor.
They would not abandon the downtown location that offered easy
access to health care for those most in need.

Two years after the 25-acre tract of land was deeded over to Santa
Rosa in 1966, construction began on the psychiatric facility. A Hill-
Burton award of $549,817, the 10,000th grant since the program was
established in 1946, helped toward the $6.5 million cost of construction.
Santa Rosa borrowed the additional funds. The facility was named Villa
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Rosa Psychiatric and Rehabilitation Pavilion. Auxiliary Bishop Patrick
F. Flores presided at the dedication ceremonies held on February 12,
1971, and the dedication address was given by Art Linkletter of radio
and TV fame, who through the tragic death of his own daughter had
become associated with a crusade against drug abuse. Mr. Linkletter
praised the new hospital for its “combination of psychiatry and religion
[that could] effect the more permanent kind of cure.”

The original architectural plans called for construction of one
high-rise structure with adjacent cottages for patient rooms. These plans
were later changed, however, and in a unique architectural design, the
facility consisted of eight one-story buildings. Although the changes
demanded a more extensive use of land than had been originally
planned for and required a reduction in the number of beds for rehabil-
itation purposes, the design offered a totally new approach to psychi-
atric care. Patients were grouped in small cottages that provided a
homelike atmosphere in contrast to the large, congested wards tradi-
tionally associated with psychiatric institutions. Constructed adjacent to
the patient apartments were recreational facilities—swimming pool,
bowling alley, baseball diamond, tennis courts, and an arts and crafts
area. Other units were designated as the dining hall, acute care facility,
and administration building.

The Villa Rosa Professional Building was constructed in the same
year and offered physicians’ office accommodations immediately adja-
cent to the hospital. Just a year later, in 1972, an interfaith chapel was
added to the complex through the generosity of Mr. and Mrs. Albert
Kronkosky, who had been benefactors also of the Santa Rosa Century 11
expansion program.

When the new facility was ready for occupancy, hospital staff
faced the difficult problem of moving the ninety patients from the tenth
and eleventh floors of the downtown general hospital as well as the
ninth floor of Children’s Hospital out to the suburban site. Most of them
were moved by bus; those who were seriously ill were transported by
ambulance. Staff members had to cope with the great anxiety associat-
ed with the transfer of psychiatric and emotionally disturbed patients to
a totally new surrounding. To add to the confusion sixteen new patients
were admitted on the day scheduled for the move.

The location in the northwest suburban area offered a quiet, peace-
ful setting for the new hospital. “It was real country when we moved
here,” says Carolyn Pinc, nurse manager for the chemical dependency
program. “Wild deer roamed the grounds, and it was not at all unusual
to spot roadrunners and even skunks. Babcock Road offered the closest
access, but it was unpaved with only two lanes of traffic.”!?
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Sister Sara (Thomasine) Carter, who had previously been chief
executive officer of St. Anthony’s Hospital in Amarillo, was appointed
the first administrator. Dr. Wade Lewis continued in his position as med-
ical director.

From the day it opened in 1971, Villa Rosa was crowded with
admissions, particularly of patients in their adolescent years among whom
widespread drug abuse was just becoming a serious problem throughout
the nation. The number of psychiatrists on the staff began to increase
rapidly. “We had started out downtown with only seven psychiatrists,”
according to Dr. Lewis. “Before long we had as many as 80 to 90 work-
ing with us. Every psychiatrist in town joined the staff.”!!

Services were soon expanded to include community education and
preventative outreach programs, partial hospitalization, day and
evening outpatient treatment programs, and therapeutic summer day-
camp activities. The hospital offered also regular classes for adolescent
patients in conjunction with the Northeast Independent School District.

In 1978, Sister Sara resigned her administrative position to begin
a study program in pastoral care. Dr. Lewis assumed her administrative
duties in addition to his responsibilities as medical director. In the same
year, the name of the psychiatric facility was changed to Villa Rosa
Hospital.

Psychiatric care went through a radical change in San Antonio in
the 1980s as proprietary institutions were established. For fifteen years,
Villa Rosa had pioneered the way as the only private facility of its kind.
By 1985, however, the delivery of psychiatric treatment was becoming
a focus for profit-making corporations. Villa Rosa faced the challenges
of aggressive, and often questionable, approaches to procuring patients.
At the same time, the state and federal government were changing their
practices of compensation for health care. The hospital faced a difficult
period of financial loss and struggle to maintain staff as well as program
quality.

In 1986, the long-awaited general hospital that had been planned
for the northwest medical center was constructed adjacent to Villa Rosa
and named St. Rose Catholic Hospital. The proximity offered patients at
the psychiatric facility immediate access to acute medical care and to a
24-hour emergency service. The rehabilitation program was transferred
to the new structure and freed up additional rooms for psychiatric
patients at Villa Rosa. Dr. Lewis still served as administrator and med-
ical director of Villa Rosa as well as vice-president of Santa Rosa. He
took on the additional responsibilities of administrator at St. Rose.

When the Santa Rosa Health Care Corporation was established in
1988, a separate board of directors was appointed for Villa Rosa and St.
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Rose with John Bitter III as chairman. Dennis Millirons was appointed
the chief executive officer of both hospitals. Dr. Lewis remained in his
position as medical director of Villa Rosa.

At the same time, a separate medical staff was organized for the
two institutions located in the suburban area. Dr. Roberto Rolfini was
named the first president.

A programmatic model, with clinical directors for each program,
was established in 1988. Before that time, Villa Rosa had been orga-
nized along a traditional medical model. The new structure was
designed to improve the quality of patient care. At the same time, the facil-
ity was licensed to operate as both a commitment and a non-commitment
facility.

In 1989, the chemical dependency program was established for the
treatment of adults and adolescents suffering from drug and/or alcohol
dependencies. A diagnostic and evaluation unit operating in conjunction
with the program became the first of its kind in San Antonio. Also, a day
treatment program was initiated for adolescents, and an eating disorders
program was set up in affiliation with the Rader Institute of Southern
California.

Dr. Lewis retired from his position as medical director in 1990. He
had served on the Santa Rosa staff for thirty-six years and had worked
with the department of psychiatry since its beginnings in the John F.
Kennedy Pavilion of the downtown general hospital. He was largely
responsible for the establishment of Villa Rosa, for developing the over-
all concept of its construction, for securing much of the initial funding,
and for establishing the psychiatric program.

“He had an approach to psychiatric care that was unique in the
1970s,” according to Sister Margaret Mary Curry, who worked with him
as Coordinator of Patient Care. “He did not want a high rise building
with long institutional halls. He wanted a homelike atmosphere in
which patients could feel comfortable and cared for in a setting similar
to their own family situation.”

“Also, he had such a strong sense of the mission,” she said, “that
the spirit became a real part of Villa Rosa. He realized how important
the religious orientation was in a psychiatric hospital, where patients are
so often seeking a spiritual meaning in life and turn to God for help.”!?
Dr. Lewis was succeeded in his position as medical director by Dr.
Charles C. Barnhart.

The competition with the proprietary hospitals reached a high
point in 1990-91, as more profit-making institutions entered the market.
Some of these facilities adopted ethically questionable practices for
securing patients that were finally identified through a series of hearings

74



VILLA ROSA HOSPITAL: PIONEER IN PSYCHIATRIC CARE

conducted by the Texas Senate Interim Committee. The exposure of the
scandalous practices and abuse of patients’ rights created a public out-
cry that led to the establishment of controls by the Texas Department of
Mental Health and Mental Retardation and the Texas Commission on
Alcohol and Drug Abuse.

As a result of the study, physicians in the community began to
recognize the integrity of Villa Rosa in its management of patient
admissions. At the same time, however, the general public began to lose
confidence in any and all psychiatric treatment centers. Villa Rosa expe-
rienced a loss of patients, not by being involved in the public hearings,
but simply by its identification as a hospital for psychiatric patients.

In an effort to correct this distorted image and also to reach out to
a broader public sector, the hospital established an educational series of
tapes available through the public library system to inform the general
public on mental health and emotional well-being. An educational lec-
ture series, “Changes, Challenges, Choices,” was designed to inform
and assist families dealing with psychiatric and behavior problems, and
“The Villa Rosa Mentor Series” was established for the continuing edu-
cation of mental health professionals.

By 1992, the financial situation of Villa Rosa was reaching a sta-
ble position, and the hospital was becoming a regional provider, offer-
ing consultation and service to the surrounding cities of Kerrville,
Uvalde, Seguin, and Fredericksburg. Through the Villa Rosa Network,
physicians and staff were working to establish the facility as a major
regional source of health care and referral center.

Since Villa Rosa opened in 1971, after the widespread changes of
Vatican II and after the number of Incarnate Word sisters had begun to
decline, the congregational presence was always limited. Initially, Sister
Sara Carter was the administrator; Sister Charles Marie Frank was coor-
dinator of psychiatric rehabilitation services; Sister Angelica Coleman
was director of nursing service; Sister Cecilia (Lidwina) Reddington was
supervisor of adolescent services; and Sister Cecilia (Bertrand) Kendrick
was in the dietary department. By the 1990s, however, the number of sis-
ters at the hospital had diminished to only two. Sister Carmen Roche
served as hospital chaplain, having been certified for her position through
the National Association of Catholic Chaplains, and Sister Ann Murphy
was a counselor in the drug and alcohol abuse program.

In spite of the limited number of sisters, the mission of the
Congregation has been well established at Villa Rosa. Some of the long-
time employees who began with the psychiatric program on the tenth
floor of Santa Rosa and have continued on the staff since the beginnings
of Villa Rosa maintain that they brought the spirit with them when they
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moved from the downtown campus. “What characterizes this hospital,”
according to Carolyn Pinc, “is respect and concern for the individual
person.”3 It was that spirit which first attracted Carolyn to begin her
work many years ago as a junior volunteer at Santa Rosa. It is the same
spirit that prompted her to study nursing at Incarnate Word College and
to seek her first employment as a registered nurse in 1969 at the John F.
Kennedy Pavilion.

Villa Rosa remains in 1994 the only not-for-profit private institution
of its kind in San Antonio, pioneering the way in psychiatric treatment and
working toward preventative care through community outreach programs.
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ADMINISTRATORS
Sister Sara (Thomasine) Carter 1971-1978
Wade H. Lewis, M.D. 1978-1988
Dennis Millirons 1988-1993
Robert Nolan* 1993-

PRESIDENTS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF

Roberto Rolfini, M.D. 1988
Juan Reyna, M.D. 1989
Ed Mueller, Jr., M.D. 1990
Ed Mueller, Jr., M.D. 1991
Mark Rittenhouse, M.D. 1992
Mark Rittenhouse, M.D. 1993
John Seidenfield, M.D. 1994

*With a re-structuring of the administrative organization in 1988,
the chief executive officer of Santa Rosa became responsible for Villa
Rosa and Santa Rosa Northwest. In 1994, C. C. Barnhart, M.D., was
appointed medical director, and Sandra Brown was named assistant
vice-president for operations.
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SANTA ROSA NORTHWEST HOSPITAL
AND
SANTA ROSA REHABILITATION HOSPITAL

The presence of Santa Rosa on the campus of the South Texas Medical
Center began in 1971 with the establishment of Villa Rosa Psychiatric and
Rehabilitation Hospital. The health facility was constructed on a 25-acre
tract of land granted by the San Antonio Medical Foundation. In her
appeal to the San Antonio Medical Foundation, Sister Mary Vincent
O’Donnell had assured the directors that upon completion of the psychi-
atric facility, a general hospital would be added within a five-year period.
The population of San Antonio was shifting rapidly toward the northwest
suburban site, and no Catholic acute care hospital had been established in
the area. Opening such a medical center would provide a valuable service
and be a strong asset to Villa Rosa, offering immediate access to emer-
gency room and general medical care for psychiatric patients.

Dr. John A. Bradley, who succeeded Sister Mary Vincent as admin-
istrator, endeavored to fulfill her promise to the Foundation, and in 1968
began negotiations with the directors for securing another 25-acre tract of
land adjacent to Villa Rosa. The foundation directors proposed that “in
view of the twenty-five acres previously allotted” Santa Rosa should
“make a donation of $250,000 to the San Antonio Medical Foundation”
for the additional property.!

The land had been appraised at $12,500 per acre, establishing total
cost of the sale for 25 acres at $312,500.2 The Santa Rosa donation would,
therefore, cover the major portion of the cost. Nevertheless, the land
would certainly increase in value over the next several years, and owner-
ship was essential if Santa Rosa were to expand on the northwest campus.
The original 25-acre tract of land had initially seemed to offer adequate
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space for present and future needs, but the unique design of Villa Rosa
had demanded far more ground area than had been anticipated.

Dr. Bradley assured the directors that Santa Rosa was “prepared to
make [the] donation,” and the warranty deed for the property was signed
on September 18, 1968.3 Santa Rosa administrators immediately began
to draw up plans for a 200-bed acute care hospital. When they applied
for a required certificate of need, however, their application was turned
down. In 1973, the Alamo Area Council of Governments (AACOG)
conducted a survey of hospital facilities in Bexar County and surround-
ing areas which showed that San Antonio had no present need for addi-
tional hospital beds. The building of any new facility would have to be
postponed until the population had grown to a size that warranted more
expansion.

Once the project was delayed, other concerns developed at Santa
Rosa, and not until 1984 did the administration begin planning once again
for the addition to the campus of the South Texas Medical Center. Sister
Angela Clare Moran, who had become president and chief executive offi-
cer, led the way in fulfilling the promise made eighteen years earlier.
Groundbreaking was held May 1, 1984. The new hospital was designed
to have four wings, including a one-story, fifty-bed physical rehabilitation
and occupational therapy wing.

Constructed at a cost of $35 million, the hospital was completed
two years later in August, 1986. The 200-bed facility was dedicated by
Bishop Bernard Popp and named St. Rose Catholic Hospital. Adjacent
to the hospital, a seven-story physicians’ office building was construct-
ed at a cost of $10 million.

The hospital had a slow period of growth in the beginning but soon
gained recognition for its strengths in orthopedic and plastic surgery, in
family practice and internal medicine, and in the treatment of pul-
monary disease, neurology, ENT, and incontinence, a program offered
in cooperation with the University of Texas Health Science Center. The
Sleep Disorders Center, a diagnostic laboratory, began operation a short
time later, and with the growth of outpatient surgery, plans were soon
developed for construction of a new ambulatory surgical center.

When the Santa Rosa Health Care Corporation was established in
1987, a change of administrative structure was introduced. Dennis
Millirons was appointed chief executive officer of St. Rose, replacing
Dr. Wade H. Lewis, who had held that position in addition to his duties
at Villa Rosa. Rehabilitation services expanded rapidly with the open-
ing of the Arthritis Care Center, the second such facility in the United
States providing inpatient, outpatient, and rehabilitation service.
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Administrators soon realized that the name St. Rose Catholic
Hospital did not clearly identify to the general public the presence of the
rehabilitation service. The decision was made in 1988, therefore, to
rename the facility St. Rose Hospital and Rehabilitation Center.

By 1991, it was becoming evident that actually two hospitals were
developing on the same site—one for rehabilitation services and one for
general medicine. In 1991, therefore, the two were separated with anoth-
er name change to clearly identify each institution. The name change was
designed also to associate the two institutions more closely with the
downtown Santa Rosa and its 122-year history of health care in San
Antonio. St. Rose became Santa Rosa Northwest Hospital. The separate
wing for rehabilitation was named Santa Rosa Rehabilitation Center.
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ADMINISTRATORS
Wade H. Lewis, M.D. 1986-1988
Dennis Millirons 1988-1993
Robert Nolan* 1993-

PRESIDENTS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF

Roberto Rolfini, M.D. 1987-1988
Juan Reyna, M.D. 1988-1989
Edwin Mueller, Jr., M.D. 1990-1991
Mark Rittenhouse, M.D. 1991-1993
John Seidenfield, M.D. 1994-

*Robert Nolan serves as chief executive officer of Santa Rosa,
Villa Rosa, Santa Rosa Northwest, and Santa Rosa Rehabilitation
Hospital.
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SAINT JOSEPH HOSPITAL, FORT WORTH:
THE LOCOMOTIVE WHISTLE
AND A CALL TO CARE

The locomotive’s whistle still sounds in the halls of Saint Joseph Hospital
in Fort Worth as a constant reminder of 1876, when the first train came
steaming into the prairie city. It is the same loud, mournful whistle that
first called the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word in 1885 to staff the
Missouri Pacific Railroad Hospital on the outskirts of the City.

It was Bishop Nicholas A. Gallagher of the Diocese of Galveston,
who invited the sisters to staff the hospital. His diocese at that time
included the City of Fort Worth, and the bishop knew the area needed to
maintain its only health institution that was on the verge of closing. He
also knew the Incarnate Word sisters well. He had previously asked
them to take over the operation of St. Mary’s Orphanage in Galveston
because he had great confidence in their ability to work hard and man-
age institutions effectively.

When the bishop’s invitation came in 1885 to take over the direc-
tion of the railroad hospital, however, Rev. Mother Pierre was reluctant
to send sisters to the City of Fort Worth, that was popularly associated
with the Wild West. Located on the Chisholm Trail, the main cattle-
herding route between Texas and the northern states, it was a place
where six-shooting cowboys were a common sight, and rough, hard rail-
road men filled the dusty streets and popular saloons. It was an isolated
and slowly developing center of ranching and agriculture with a popu-
lation of only 21,949.

It was also a full day’s journey on the train from San Antonio, and
the sisters would be far removed from the protection of the mother-
house. They would be working in an environment totally different from
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their accustomed cloistered surroundings and in a hospital that was not
under the direction of the Congregation but operated by and for employ-
ees of the Missouri Pacific Railroad. They would answer to the chief
surgeon, Dr. R. C. Volker, and would be working almost entirely with
lay persons rather than with other sisters. From her training in the clois-
tered monastery of Lyons, Mother Pierre was convinced that such con-
tact with the secular world would present many temptations for the reli-
gious vocations of the sisters.

However, Bishop Gallagher, as well as the directors of the
Missouri Pacific, urged her repeatedly to send help. “Before we could
examine the question,” she told the sisters, “telegrams and letters
poured in from all those interested in the affair, urging us to lose no time
in accepting it. Even our own dear Bishop [Neraz of San Antonio] was
fearful lest we should say no.”"

Together with all the disadvantages of staffing the hospital, there
was one advantage which Rev. Mother Pierre did not fail to note. The
railroad would be responsible for all financial operations, and each sis-
ter would be paid a salary for her services, $15.00 per month to those
employed as nurses, aids, cooks, etc., and $20.00 to the superior. The
stipend was meager enough but could be of great value to the struggling
Congregation. The earnings would help alleviate the heavy debt under-
taken the year before in building Old Main at Santa Rosa.

In response to the continued pleas, Rev. Mother Pierre finally
agreed to go to Fort Worth and see for herself if the sisters should be
sent there. The trip did much to change her mind, as well as that of
Sister Gabrie] Wheelahan, who accompanied her: “We found everything
favorable, and the doctors . . . so anxious to have the sisters that they
asked for them, if possible, the next day. . . . The building is beautifunl-
ly situated [outside] the handsome town of Fort Worth, on a site well
calculated to promote health and comfort.”?

What finally convinced her to accept the offer, however, was not
the promise of additional income, nor the pleasing location of the infir-
mary. It was not even the urging of the bishops and the doctors. Rather,
it was an awareness that the men laying the railroad tracks and operat-
ing the first locomotives were, for the most part, poor immigrant work-
ers who were separated from their homes and their families and who
were trying to get a start in a new land. They were unskilled laborers,
working under extremely hazardous conditions that caused many seri-
ous injuries and fatalities.? From the work at Santa Rosa, Rev. Mother
Pierre knew that many of them were fallen away Irish Catholics. She
knew also that given the opportunity, they could be reunited with God
and the Church. How many conversions the sisters might be able to
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accomplish as they nursed the sick and the injured back to life, or cared
for the dying in their last moments! She finally decided in favor of the
proposal and wrote to tell all of the sisters that some members of the
Congregation would be going to Fort Worth:

We had to pick indeed far and near, and we have robbed the nest as far as
to leave no one at home but mere fledglings. Those appointed for this
new work offered to us for the glory of God through the great kindness
of the Rt. Rev. N. A. Gallagher . . . are:

Sr. Mary of the Assumption [Roguier], Superior

Sr. Xavier [Wiss], Assistant, in charge of the surgical department
Sr. de Pazzi [Sullivan] in charge of the surgical department

Sr. St. Alphonse [Brollier] in charge of the medical department
Sr. St. Gertrude [Nitczer] in charge of the medical department
Sr. St. Martha [Pytel] in charge of the kitchen department

Sr. St. Regis [Dwyer] in charge of the kitchen department

Sr. M. Clare [Zienc] in charge of the laundry department

Sr. St. Justin [Byme] in charge of the laundry department

Sr. St. Helen [Sisson] in charge of the dining department

Sr. St. Julia [Doyle] in charge of the dining department

Do you not think, dear Sisters, we made a sacrifice in giving away so
many at once? Well, nothing is too much for God and we have to be very
grateful for this new proof of His goodness to us.?

The sisters chosen for the new assignment were all very young and
had little or no experience in health care or in religious life. Most of
them were from foreign countries—Ireland, Switzerland, Germany, and
France—and had been in the United States only a few years. At the age
of thirty-two, Sister Justin was the oldest of the group, but she had come
from Ireland just two years earlier and was still a novice. She had come
to Texas with Sister de Pazzi, who was a novice also and only nineteen
years old. Sister Mary of the Assumption, who had entered the
Congregation from France and who was named superior for the new
mission, was twenty-eight and had made her final vows just the day
before she left for Fort Worth.’

Of the four sisters assigned to the medical and surgical floors of
the hospital, only three had prior experience in working with the sick.
Sister Xavier had spent two years in Santa Rosa; Sister Alphonse and
Sister de Pazzi had spent only one. The superior, Sister Mary of the
Assumption, had not worked in a hospital at all.

When the group arrived in Fort Worth, they must have experienced
considerable culture shock. Cowboys rode through the dusty streets,
mixing with the “gandy dancers,” as the railroad workers were called.
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Historians of the 1870s and 1880s have described the many gambling
houses and saloons with such picturesque names as the Silver Dollar,
the Cotton Boll, and the Headlight Bar, saloons “into which cowboys
often rode their horses and out again.”® The most dangerous part of the
town was Hell’s Half Acre, located not far from the hospital and known
as “a haven for footloose cowboys, desperadoes, outlaws, gamblers, and
drifters who roamed its saloons, dance halls, brothels, and casinos.”’

As soon as the sisters arrived at the railroad hospital, the doctors
dismissed all of the other employees, putting the operation fully into the
hands of the new staff. Rev. Mother Pierre had accompanied the group
to Fort Worth, and later she wrote to tell the sisters in Lyons about the
new mission, “It is not possible to describe the disorder and the filth we
found, [but] the sisters who were to nurse went to their areas, and every-
body put heart and soul to the work.”

By the time she left to return to San Antonio, things looked much
better. She was greatly impressed by the kindness of the doctors and was
optimistic about the success of the work, “We are so accustomed to dif-
ficulties and opposition that it seems a dream that for once things could
be so good.” She was convinced also that great spiritual graces would
come from the work. “Our sisters have already had the consolation of
seeing one dear soul receive the grace of baptism and die while yet fresh
in his baptismal purity,” she said. “This is already a rich reward for their
sacrifice.”!?

Less than four weeks later, however, disaster struck the small infir-
mary. On the morning of April 5, 1885, while most of the sisters were
at the parish church for mass, fire broke out in the frame building
spreading rapidly throughout the patients’ rooms. Almost miraculously,
the few sisters who had stayed at home to care for the sick were able to
get everyone out of the burning building, and no lives were lost.

One of the workers came running out of the burning building car-
rying what he thought was something sacred that he had risked his life
to save. It was a starched linen guimpe and bandeau, part of the sisters’
religious habit! During the days that followed, the pieces of clothing did
in fact become great treasures. They were the only changes of habit left
from the fire, and the sisters passed them from one to the other as laun-
dry day came around.

The infirmary was completely destroyed. Some of the patients
returned to their homes, and others had to be taken to the nearby town
of Marshall, where the Texas & Pacific Railroad Co. operated a hospi-
tal."! Four of the sisters returned to San Antonio; the other seven accom-
panied the patients, remaining with them in Marshall until a temporary
infirmary could be built in Fort Worth.
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Just a few weeks earlier, Rev. Mother Pierre had included the fol-
lowing statement in a letter to Lyons: “It is certain that this work will
have its cross and contradictions; it would not be God’s work if it did
not meet with opposition or suffering from some source.”'? Her predic-
tions seemed to come true in the experience of the fire and in the diffi-
cult years that followed. The sisters tried to reestablish the infirmary and
to provide adequate health care for the number of railroad workers that
continued to be brought in for emergency treatment or long-term med-
ical attention. The temporary facility, however, was completely inade-
quate for the work they were called upon to do, and the living arrange-
ments provided for their own use were even worse.

Sister Mary of the Assumption, the superior, tried to bring some
kind of order out of the disarray, but it was hopeless. She also encoun-
tered difficulties with the doctors and suffered some severe misunder-
standings. Rev. Mother Pierre wrote to encourage her with spiritual
advice, affectionately calling her “my good daughter” and “my Sump”:

Hurrah! Hurrah! this time things will be very good for heaven, for our
Good Master, for souls. Hosanna is ended; the cross, contempt is really
here, my good daughter. Suffering is the predecessor of our Good Master;
He blesses only those who suffer; He will love eternally only those who
have suffered for Him and in His name. . . . Pray more than ever, my
Sump; be happy in spite of the grief of entering into the purifying cru-
cible. Your sensitivity and dispositions are good material for divine love.
Courage, courage, my little one. Wish what God wishes and let Divine
Goodness and Wisdom guide you in everything.!3

A short time later, Sister Mary of the Assumption had become so
distressed over the situation that she was forced to return to San Antonio
for some much needed rest. After a few weeks, Rev. Mother Pierre
wrote to the sisters: “If the house were not so bad, I would send her
[back] at once, but I will not let her go before you have another dwelling
place, as I know she would be sick again very soon.”'*

Very hard work under such unfavorable conditions contributed to
the poor health also of Sister Clare and Sister Regis, both of whom were
taken back to San Antonio during the following year. A short time later,
Sister Regis died of tuberculosis at the age of twenty-one.

Eventually the Missouri Pacific Infirmary was rebuilt. The living
and working conditions for the sisters were slightly improved, although
still far from satisfactory. Rev. Mother Pierre seemed determined to
have the sisters continue their work in Fort Worth, however, even if they
had to build their own hospital. She decided to purchase a tract of land
for this purpose. She wrote to Bishop Gallagher asking for his assistance
in getting a loan at 5%. “If we cannot get money at that rate,” she
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explained, “we will not pursue our plan as we fear we could not bring
our work to a satisfactory result, having to start it all on borrowed
money.”!3

She was successful in getting the loan and in negotiating the pur-
chase of the land, but before the sisters could start construction on their
own hospital, the Missouri Pacific decided to sell its facility. The rail-
road had completed its work in the area and began laying additional
tracks for expansion in the Midwest. The decision was made to close the
infirmary in Fort Worth and to move all of the patients to Sedalia,
Missouri. Dr. Volker wrote to the sisters advising them that the
Infirmary was for sale at a cost of $30,000-$35,000.

From Sister St. Paul Boyle, who was stationed at the hospital in
Marshall, however, Rev. Mother Pierre had heard that the company
would sell the property for much less, perhaps even $25,000.!¢ She
wrote immediately to Dr. W. B. Outten, chief surgeon, telling him that
she would be willing to pay $15,000 cash and $10,000 over ten months
at $1,000 per month, but no more. She also warned him that she was not
going to bargain over the price: “Remember, dear doctor, that you have
not to deal with business and speculative purchasers, but I dare say with
honest and upright dealers.”!”

Dr. Outten accepted the offer, and in April, Rev. Mother Pierre and
Sister Madeleine Chollet arrived to conclude the transaction that would
establish the first private hospital in Fort Worth. The deed for the infir-
mary and 15-acre tract of land was signed by robber baron Jay Gould,
who had made a fortune through his unscrupulous buying and selling of
railroads. One of the sisters recorded the event in the St. Joseph’s
Remark Book:

Having been authorized by Rt. Rev. J. C. Neraz, Bishop of the Diocese
of San Antonio and the first superior of the community of sisters of the
Incarnate Word, to close the purchase of the hospital, Rev. Mother St.
Pierre proceeded to the office of the hospital after the exchange of recip-
rocal salutations. Dr. Volker in charge of the hospital told Rev. Mother
that he expected her to take charge at once . . . in the name of the com-
munity. Sister Assistant [Madeleine] had gone to the chapel and offered
herself and the community services to the Incarnate Word to work for
Him in the house that would belong to Him under the [name] and pro-
tection of His foster father St. Joseph.'®

On May 12, 1889, the infirmary was blessed by Bishop Neraz and
officially named for St. Joseph, for whom the sisters, and especially
Mother Pierre, had great devotion. The first public announcement of the
change in ownership advised the doctors of the city, “This is not a rail-
road hospital as is generally supposed, but a private institution which is
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owned and managed by the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word.
The patients can exercise their own pleasure and inclination as to the
clergymen they desire to visitthem, and may also choose or consult the
physician they prefer, and any doctor patronizing the infirmary will be
greatly appreciated.”!?

Dr. W. A. Adams and Dr. F. D. Thompson, both of whom had been
associated with the Missouri Pacific, continued their practice at St.
Joseph’s, and in an effort to gain private patients put out a circular let-
ter advertising the hospital:

It is situated upon the highest elevation in the southern portion of the city,
overlooking the surrounding country in every direction for miles. The
main building is 270 feet in length with proportionate width, having a
capacity for 100 patients, facing south, thereby insuring a full benefit of
our prevailing breezes. The rooms and wards are large and airy, well ven-
tilated, heated throughout with steam, and with modern devices for the
comfort and welfare of their inmates. The operating room is large, well
lighted, and complete in every detail known to progressive antiseptic
surgery, thereby giving the surgeon the benefit of every point in the suc-
cessful prosecution of his work. There is in connection, a pharmacy, well
stocked with the best drugs and chemicals under the supervision of a
skilled pharmaceutist. The water supply is from an artesian well on the
premises of great depth, which gives an abundant flow. The grounds are
spacious and artistically laid out with shell walks, having a profusion of
flowers and shrubbery ornamenting the surroundings. . . .

The terms of the infirmary, including board, lodging, and skilled nursing,
are as follows:

Ward patients—per day $1.00
Private rooms, according to locality and size—$1.50, $2.00, & $3.00.20

Fort Worth had no city or county hospital at the time, and as soon
as St. Joseph’s opened, the mayor approached the sisters asking them if
they would accept the city patients at reduced rates.?! Such an arrange-
ment promised little financial support for the operation of the infirmary,
but the sisters were dedicated to caring for the sick, regardless of their
ability to pay. They agreed to the mayor’s terms, and the first patient
admitted on April 29, 1889, was a charity patient sent by the city.

Just two days later, more patients arrived. This time, they came
from the railroad whose payments would help with the many bills, and
the following entry appears in the sisters” handwritten record book:

By telephone few minutes before 12 a.m., we were [told] that the patients
of the Denver and Ft. Worth R.R. would be at the Infirmary today.
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Ambulance asked and sent. On its return, five patients were brought. The
Infirmary has its beginning, its first patients.

mean patients from whose services we can derive a spiritual and tem-
I tients fi h d tual and t
poral support. Five in honor of the five wounds!??

Additional patients were slow in coming, however. The sisters
were disappointed with the poor response, and the early days were filled
with hopes and prayers: “We were promised so many patients and we
have but six. For this small number we are grateful, but our interior
impatience rises very often to make war [with] our desires of being sat-
isfied in whatever the will of God will ordain.”?3

Several weeks rolled by before the first private patients were
admitted, those who paid in full for the services offered. The sisters
prayed earnestly that their number would increase so that their creditors
could be paid and the debt to the railroad settled. There was great rejoic-
ing when Dr. Volker sent a private patient who paid $1.00 per day.?* But
the answer to their prayers was not without some problems. Just a few
days later, the entry in the daily journal reads: “Our private patient in Dr.
Volker’s room is giving us a great deal of work. He requires a sister by
his bedside continually.”?

By the end of the first year, the sisters’ patience had been reward-
ed. The number of persons admitted to the hospital began to increase
slowly but steadily, and the total number of admissions reached forty-
two. The sisters found themselves so busy that now there was little time
even for prayer. “Our heels are praying very hard all day,” they wrote in
the daily journal.?®

Sister Xavier Wiss was named superior of the community and the
first administrator of St. Joseph’s. Sister was from Switzerland, and
although her experience in health care was limited, she had spent two
years in Santa Rosa before coming to Fort Worth in 1885 with the first
group of sisters, She had been assistant superior to Sister Mary
Assumption, and when the latter became ill and had to leave the
Missouri Pacific Infirmary, Sister Xavier took over the responsibility
for direction of the community. Rev. Mother Pierre, who knew her very
well and who had a pet name for many of the sisters, affectionately
called her “Goosey.” She had great confidence in Sister Xavier’s abili-
ty to administer the hospital and wrote to all of the sisters:

Our own St. Joseph’s Infirmary at Fort Worth is doing well for its begin-
ning and according to circumstances. Sister St. Xavier has been appoint-
ed its superior at the recent decision of the Council, and you know how
earnest and anxious is this dear sister for whatever is trusted to her. Our
sisters who are with her have proved everything we could expect in their
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cooperation to plant in the Infirmary spiritually and temporally the seeds
of true growth of the Incarnate Word’s spirit. It seems that Our Lord is
blessing their efforts and hears their prayers, as they have a good number
of patients, and the best medical men of the place have confidence in the
management of the Infirmary, and trust their patients to the care and
watchfulness of our sisters.?’

The other members of the staff were Sister St. Denis Lynch, Sister
de Pazzi Sullivan, Sister de Sales Keegan, Sister St. Philip Julien, Sister
St. Arsenius Eusebie, and a postulant, Miss Maria McArdle. Just as in
the earlier days of the railroad hospital, the sisters worked hard and
spent long hours doing most of the manual work as well as nursing.
They cooked and served the patients’ meals, scrubbed the floors, and
washed and changed the linens. Every Thursday was set aside for laun-
dry work, unless it was postponed because the weather did not permit
all of the sheets and towels to be hung outside to dry. It was a job done
by hand that demanded the help of everyone and left no time for any
other activity, as suggested by the following entry in the daily journal:
“No mass this morning. We have a large washing today and only six sis-
ters, so we have quite a hard time.”?8

The infirmary was located on a tract of farm land, on which the sis-
ters planted their own vegetables and raised their own horses, chickens,
and cows. In the early entries of the St. Joseph’s Remark Book (1890-
1891), the birth or sale of a calf was recorded just as carefully as the
admission of a new patient to the hospital. When a cow, “Belle” or
“Clara” or “Bessie,” was transported to the stockyards, the entry was
even underlined to emphasize the importance of the event and perhaps
also to suggest a certain sorrow at losing a dearly loved animal. “Watch”
was the sisters’ dog who had been brought from San Antonio to guard
their home, as well as the farm and the hospital.

The infirmary now had three classes of patients: charity cases from
the city and city employees, such as firemen and policemen; private
patients admitted through their own doctors; and workers from the rail-
roads. By 1890, Fort Worth had seven railroads, and contracts were
signed for special rates with the Denver and Fort Worth, the Texas &
Pacific, the Missouri Kansas and Texas, and the Santa Fe. If at the end
of the month, the average number of railroad patients admitted per day
exceeded fifteen, the charges were reduced 10%. Otherwise, the regular
daily rate was $1.00.

The City of Fort Worth was offered an even greater reduction.
Patients were accepted for as little as fifty cents per day. In spite of the
low cost, the City, which was facing bankruptcy at the end of the cen-
tury after a severe drought and the decline of the cattle industry, often
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paid its debt in a form of script, and payments were frequently delayed.
One entry in the daily journal for September, 1890, notes that a bill for
$209.81 was presented to Dr. J. W Irion, the city physician, who asked
Rev. Mother to allow it to run on until January. She was promised 15%
interest for the additional months and consented to the arrangement, but
the bill was not paid until February, when it had reached $1,164.15 for
the five months of September to January.?’ The 15% interest was added
only for the months of September, October, and November.3?

The records for January, 1892, show that the City once again was
delinquent in paying the bills: “Received from city $243.75, monthly
bill of May, 1891, for care of city patients. This is their first payment
since month of April, 1891. We expect the balance towards the end of
this month.”3!

The City not only postponed and underpaid its bills but also exact-
ed what seems to have been an unfair tax rate. The infirmary was orig-
inally outside the city limits but was annexed in 1890. Although it was
a non-profit, charitable institution and served as the city hospital as well
as a private institution, the sisters were assessed a property tax of
$374.00 in 1891. They felt the charges were unfair and made repeated
calls at the mayor’s office to protest the assessment. After many appeals,
the amount was reduced to $174.00 the following year.

From the very beginning, financial concerns plagued St. Joseph’s.
The limited number of patients made it very difficult to pay the bills for
food, linens, medicines, and other supplies. Moreover, monthly pay-
ments had to be made throughout the first year to satisfy the debt on the
property. Santa Rosa came to the rescue by sending monthly checks of
$1,000.00 to meet the payments to the railroad. In time and much to the
surprise and gratitude of the sisters, other generous donors began to
appear and made it possible for the institution to survive. This same
kind of philanthropy was to become very important throughout the his-
tory of St. Joseph’s Hospital.

The sisters’ first benefactor was a railroad worker, Mr. Power, who
was admitted to the infirmary in a critical condition. Just two days after
his hospitalization, he notified the sisters that he wished to leave all of
his possessions to them. W. B. Ford, attorney-at-law, was asked to pre-
pare the will for the dying man. In a later entry in the daily journal, a
sister records: “Received the old gentleman’s trunk containing the deeds
of the land which he willed to us.”3?

Other donations came in the form of service: “A young man
(Catholic) came and offered himself to work for his food. We received
him, and are very satisfied with him. He works in the garden and every-
where we put him.”33
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Gifts were sometimes received in unusual but practical forms: “St.
Joseph is still working hard for the maintenance of his dear house. We
received two beautiful New Jersey milch cows through his gracious
influence from W. Ford, Lawyer, each valued at $75.00.”34

The hospital accepted patients of all ages, children as well as
adults, and from the very beginning, it admitted black as well as white
patients, in spite of the opposition of some of the doctors and even city
officials. The story is told that the Mayor of Fort Worth was shocked
when he heard the infirmary had accepted black patients and told Rev.
Mother Pierre that she was breaking the law. She was not to be deterred
from doing what she believed was right, however, and insisted that
black patients would not be turned away from St. Joseph’s because she
“was going to see these people again in eternity.”3>

Even before the new charter of 1917 made it explicit, the hospital
was dedicated to serving “the sick, infirm, and afflicted of all creeds and
nations.”6 Religion, like race, was not to be a factor in the admission of
patients. Neither was it a consideration in the employment of workers,
although religious discrimination was widespread in Fort Worth in the
1890s and even later, when the Ku Klux Klan played a strong role in
persecuting Catholics and in denying them employment.?

When the infirmary was founded in 1889, Fort Worth had only one
Catholic church with approximately twenty families in the parish.
Within such a strong Protestant community, some of the early doctors
were concerned that the identification of the infirmary as a Catholic
institution might be a deterrent to attracting patients. They even wrote
to the superiors at the motherhouse requesting that a policy be adopted
guaranteeing that Protestant nurses would be maintained on the staff at
all times. Rev. Mother Madeleine Chollet, who had become the superi-
or general in 1894, was gentle but firm in her insistence that the sisters
would not confine themselves to such a restriction:

We could not bind ourselves to keep always in our service Protestant
nurses. We have not the least objection to employ[ing] them, because we
never make religion a condition on which we engage nurses or others.
You know, we have had Protestant young ladies in the service of St.
Joseph'’s very frequently. We are pleased with their conduct and work and
would not reject them now. If they give satisfaction as to gentleness,
capacity and good character, that is all we ask of them, be they Protestant
or Catholic.

We feel sure, dear doctors, that you know well that our sentiments have
ever been very liberal on these points and we trust that the friends of St.
Joseph’s have no reason to think otherwise.
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For the sisters, physical care was always balanced with a concern
for the spiritual needs and dispositions of the patients, regardless of their
religion. Although the infirmary had no resident chaplain, the Rev. Jean
Marie Guyot, pastor of St. Stanislaus Church, was called regularly to
attend the dying, to administer the sacraments to Catholics, and fre-
quently to baptize others who requested it. The sisters had a great friend
in Father Guyot, who had come from France just as the first sisters of
the Congregation, and who had been ordained by Bishop Claude Marie
Dubuis, founder of the order. Father Guyot had come to Fort Worth in
1885, the same year that the sisters arrived from San Antonio, and had
worked closely with them since that time.

Since he was the only priest available and said mass each morning
in the parish church, it was not possible for the sisters to have daily mass
in their own chapel. They had a long trip every morning in their horse-
drawn ambulance wagon or on the horse-drawn South Main trolley car
to St. Stanislaus Church in the 1200 block of Throckmorton St. The
journey took them through dirt-paved roads that were sometimes
impassable because of heavy rains. Every Wednesday, however, Father
Guyot came to St. Joseph’s for the celebration of the Eucharist preced-
ed by confession both for the sisters and for the Catholic patients.

The practice of medicine in the early days of the hospital was very
broad in scope and involved few specialized departments. Pediatric
patients, obstetrical patients, and psychiatric patients were often treated
by the same doctor. Since a large number of patients were men injured
on the railroads, many of the cases involved the setting of broken bones
or the amputation of crushed limbs. Other forms of surgery were rare,
as suggested by the following entry in the daily journal: “Had a very
serious operation this afternoon. Dr. Beall assisted by Drs. West and
Farrar operated on a lady with a tumor. It was very successful.”’
Surgical procedures were still new to American hospitals in the nine-
teenth century, and the mortality rate was very high, “between 90 and
100 percent,” according to Griffith and Johnston.*°

The railroad tracks were located scarcely 150 yards from the infir-
mary, and frequently the train made an extra stop at the back door to
deliver injured workers who were in critical condition. For other
patients, the sisters operated their own horse-drawn ambulance service,
and an interesting letter found in the archives contains an order for a
new wagon:

Sometime ago we received some illustrations and estimates on ambu-
lances, from which we have selected No. 6428, with rubber tires. We
want a good strong ambulance arranged with poles for two horses.
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Have it marked St. Joseph’s Infirmary, but do not put the word ambu-
lance, as shown in the picture with the St. Agnes’ Hospital. Beside St.
Joseph’s Infirmary, we would like to have in a little smaller type, Sisters
of Charity of the Incarnate Word. . . .

Your letter does not give any explanation about this vehicle, and we
would like to know if there is a stretcher with it, and what kind it is.

We have a very nice ambulance here [at Santa Rosa] with a basket
stretcher having two handles on each end, and we can carry the patient
wherever we want.*!

For many years, the operation of the infirmary continued to be
dependent on the admission of railroad patients, and when the Santa Fe
cancelled its contract because the sisters would not agree to their
demands for lower charges, occupancy began to decline. Some of the
doctors on the staff, however, thought the separation of St. Joseph’s
from the railroads would be advantageous. “Many good patrons refuse
to come to Fort Worth to St. Joseph’s on account of the idea prevailing
that it is an old railroad hospital,” they claimed.*?

The doctors also urged the sisters to give more attention and bet-
ter accommodations to the private patients. A new Catholic hospital was
being built in Dallas, which could very well attract private patients from
Fort Worth, if St. Joseph’s did not offer the same quality of care and the
same comfortable surroundings. Dr. W. A. Adams presented the situa-
tion to the sisters:

No doubt you have heard of the elegant infirmary which is being con-
structed in Dallas by the Sisters of Chicago. It is a fact as you are no
doubt aware, that our hospital here is very inferior, especially that feature
which lacks to the comfort of private patients. . . . If the people of
Northwest and Northern Texas—which is probably the greatest country
in the world—should begin to go to Dallas to this institution, it would
take years and years to recuperate what reputation we have made in the
hospital line, and my co-partners, Drs. Thompson and Saunders, are both
in accord with me in urging that the construction of an elegant hospital
for the especial care of surgical cases from a distance would be a wise
thing just at this time. You are aware that Fort Worth is peculiarly advan-
tageously situated, having tributary to it the great Panhandle, the Indian
Territory, and a vast amount of territory west of us, and we would dislike
very much to have it said that Dallas had a superior hospital to Fort
Worth.*?

Rev. Mother Madeleine realized there was a need for improve-
ments, but the Congregation had recently invested large sums of money
in building a new chapel and two new wings at Santa Rosa Hospital.
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They had also borrowed money for the purchase of the George
Brackenridge property in San Antonio to be used as a new motherhouse
to accommodate the growing number of sisters. Many young women
were now coming regularly from Ireland and from Germany to enter the
religious order. It was becoming impossible to house all of the sisters in
the convent area of Santa Rosa, and a separate motherhouse was des-
perately needed. With all of these demands on the limited supply of
funds, how could the sisters take on more financial obligations?

Repeated urgings on the part of the doctors in Fort Worth, howev-
er, could not be ignored, and by 1897, Rev. Mother Madeleine was writ-
ing to Drs. Adams and Thompson asking if they could assist her in
securing a loan and in selling the property that had been purchased
south of the hospital. She appealed to them also to assist her in getting
some financial support from the city, “as has been done in Dallas.”
“Until now,” she explained, “no material aid has been given us, outside
the patronage of our good doctors.”**

Neither the doctors nor the City responded to her plea. But she was
now convinced that a new infirmary must be built in Fort Worth. She
wrote to Gabriel Wiegman of Amsterdam, Holland, asking for a loan of
$10,000 at 5%, and plans were drawn up for the expansion of St.
Joseph’s. By 1898, the cornerstone was blessed by Father Guyot. It con-
tained the following statement:

Owing to the increased demand for accommodation to patients and the
present requirements of medical science, the Congregation has found it
necessary to erect this new building and confiding in the protection of the
Incarnate Word and His Foster Father St. Joseph, hope to see the new
building cleared of the heavy debt incurred. It will consist of three sto-
ries, brick [with] stone trimmings, and constructed according to the latest
hygienic plans for hospitals. Its construction is dedicated to the glory of
the Incarnate Word and the honor of dear St. Joseph, who has so visibly
protected the house confided to his solicitude by our regretted and ven-
erated Rev. Mother St. Pierre, whose memory we also wish to commem-
orate in the erection of the new edifice.*

In spite of the fact that the sisters were facing large debts in San
Antonio, they spared no expense in the construction of the new St.
Joseph’s, no doubt to keep pace with the “elegant” St. Paul’s Sanitarium
in Dallas.? The three-story red brick structure was topped with cupolas,
a two-tiered bell tower, and a magnificent statue of St. Joseph. The oper-
ating room was located on the top floor of the building, which served
also for the sisters’ and the nurses’ living quarters. Patient rooms were
on the first and second floors.
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With such a fine building in place, the number of patients began to
increase steadily, and just six years later admissions had reached 2,000
per year. Dr. Francis Farrar was employed as resident physician “for the
drug store and dressing of wounds, at a salary of $65.00 per month.”*
Meanwhile, the number of outstanding physicians on the staff continued
to grow. Joining Dr. Adams and Dr. Thompson, who had been associat-
ed with the infirmary since its beginnings as a railroad hospital, was Dr.
Bacon Saunders, who established his reputation as an outstanding sur-
geon, the first in Texas to perform an appendectomy:

Saunders had read about the ailment in his medical journal and admitted
he had never removed an appendix before but thought he probably could.
The patient told him to go ahead. He had little to lose. Dr. Saunders anes-
thetized the man with chloroform. He boiled his catgut ligatures in olive
oil, then boiled sheets in order to drape a semi-sterile environment around
the patient who was lying on his kitchen table. Saunders operated; the
man recovered.*®

Drs. Adams, Thompson, and Saunders were joined by five others,
W. A. Duringer, L. R. Miller, J. F. Field, J. V. Anderson, and R. B. West.
The doctors exercised a great deal of power over the direction of the
infirmary, and by 1900 they sought to prevent any other physicians from
joining the staff. Realizing that such a proposal would severely limit the
hospital’s admission of patients, Rev. Mother Madeleine took a firm
stand with those who had issued circular letters describing themselves
as “Surgeons in Charge” of St. Joseph’s:

We feel obliged to keep to our resolution of doing away with this, and
moreover, to tell you that we have reconsidered the matter in some of its
points, and have come to the final conclusion that St. Joseph’s will be
conducted as the Santa Rosa, open to all doctors. We could not give the
privilege to only eight doctors, and exclude the others, as this would cre-
ate the same difficulty. . . . We will do all in our power to do justice to
our good friends of the past and present, and to those who desire to
become such in the future.*’

By 1900, Sister Denis Lynch was administrator, and eighteen addi-
tional sisters were on the staff: Sisters St. Louis Whelan, Chantal Kalka,
Elizabeth Winkler, Holy Ghost Allard, Simon Molitor, Cletus Igel,
William Cullen, Clara Kalbfleisch, Sabina Fritz, Stella O’Sullivan,
Helen Long, Valeria Bolbach, Eugenius Gaetan, Cosmas Meyer, Martha
Pytel, Marguerite Marie Michaud, George Daly, and Eva Christany. In
general, the preparation of the sisters for their responsibilities had great-
ly improved since the early days of 1889. Many had gained initial expe-
rience at Santa Rosa and were well prepared nurses. Some of the early
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infirmary records show that Sister Clotilde Burns and Sister Basil Saar
even administered the anesthetic to patients in surgery. Others, howev-
er, were still lacking formal training, and it soon became apparent that
a nursing school should be established to guarantee the professional
preparation of nurses, both sisters and lay persons.

To meet this need, the St. Joseph Training School for Nurses was
incorporated in 1904 under the laws of the State of Texas and became
the first school of nursing in Fort Worth and the third such program in
the state. Sister Sixtus Doherty was appointed the first director, and the
first class was admitted in 1906. Sister Stella O’Sullivan, who was
superintendent of nurses, *“taught all there was to know about nurs-
ing,”? and the entire course was embodied in Clara Weeks Shaw’s
Textbook of Nursing. Dr. Bacon Saunders was appointed president of
the faculty, and Doctors W. E. Chilton, M. Gilmore, Al J. Gracey, R. H.
Needham, R. B. West, and H. Regar gave lectures in anatomy, physiol-
ogy, materia medica, and medicine.

The first class graduated in 1908 and included two laywomen,
Margaret Regan and Mary Malone Tidwell, as well as Sisters Eugenius
Ward, George Daly, Helen Long, Leonide Craddock, Marguerite Marie
Michaud, Richard Barrett, Valeria Bolbach, and William Cullen. Many
of the graduates went on in later years to assume important positions in
nursing and hospital administration: Sister William became general
supervisor of hospitals and schools of nursing for the Congregation;
Sister George was administrator at Spohn Hospital, Corpus Christi;
Sister Helen was a pharmacist and later administrator at St. Joseph’s
Hospital, Paris, Texas; and Sister Richard became nursing service
administrator at the Texas-Pacific Hospital in Marshall.

Just seven years had passed since the main building had been con-
structed, but with the opening of the training program which called for
additional space for classrooms and for living quarters for the student
nurses, and with the ever-increasing number of admissions, it was nec-
essary to take on further expansion. In 1905, the East Building was con-
structed, providing 165 additional rooms for patients, an emergency
room, surgical suites, a chapel, and sisters’ quarters. Each of the four
floors was named for a particular saint: St. Mary, St. Ann, St. Anthony,
and St. Alexis.

In 1917, the hospital was separately incorporated. A charter taken
out with the State of Texas listed three sisters as the charter members:
Catherine Henebery [Sister Nativity], Mary Cullen [Sister William], and
Bridget O'Sullivan [Sister Stella). At the same time, the sisters were try-
ing very hard to get the hospital accredited and fully recognized. The
American College of Surgeons had been founded in 1913, but not until
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1918 did the organization make any attempt at accrediting institutions. In
that year, it issued a one-page document, “Minimum Standards for
Hospitals.” St. Joseph’s made its first application for accreditation in
1920 and was granted “Provisional Status,” adequate recognition but not
fully satisfactory to the sisters. For many years, they continued to strug-
gle for a higher rating. In 1949, it was finally changed to “Acceptable
Status.”

Meanwhile, St. Joseph’s was once again outgrowing its capacity to
handle all of the patients seeking admission. The limitations on space
became even more acute with the outbreak of the Spanish Influenza fol-
lowing World War I, when the hospital was called upon to accommodate
soldiers from nearby Camp Bowie. The sisters offered all available
space, even their own living quarters, and during the course of the epi-
demic, 294 soldiers were brought in from the military base. The sudden
increase in patients severely strained the resources of the hospital.

The sisters were convinced that another building program should be
undertaken. When they appealed to the general administration for funds,
however, they were turned down, just as they had been in 1897 because
congregational money was being invested in the works in San Antonio,
which always seemed to take precedence. “The erection of our new col-
lege building,” Rev. Mother Mary John O’Shaughnessy wrote, “confronts
us with a financial obligation that makes it impossible for us to undertake
any other construction for the present.”! The growing need for more
space at St. Joseph’s, however, would not go away and became even more
critical as the third floor of the Annex was given over to house the New
Orleans provincial administration set up in Fort Worth.

Mother St. George Daly was appointed superior and administrator
in 1925. She quickly became known to everyone at St. Joseph’s for her
“big heart” and “charity for all.”>? She was also recognized as an admin-
istrator who was determined that the hospital would expand. It was
through her insistence that the congregational administration in San
Antonio finally approved plans for a new building. Unfortunately, Mother
St. George died suddenly of a heart attack before the plans were carried
out. The following year, on Feb. 2, 1927, the cornerstone of the “Greater
St. Joseph’s Hospital” was blessed by His Excellency, Most Rev. Joseph
P. Lynch of Dallas. Several members of the clergy were present: Right
Rev. A. J. McGavick, Bishop of LaCrosse, Wisconsin; Right Rev. R. A.
Gerken, Bishop-Elect of Amarillo; the Right Rev. Monsignor B. H.
Diamond; Very Rev. Robert M. Nolan; Very Rev. J. R. Allard; Rev. A.
Danglemayer; and Rev. L. Parrocinni, chaplain at St. Joseph’s.

The five-story building was designed in a Jacobean classic style. It
was constructed of reinforced concrete, faced with tapestry brick and
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trimmed with artificial granite. In planning for the interior of the struc-
ture, Mother Robert O’Dea, who had been appointed administrator, vis-
ited other hospitals recently constructed in various parts of the country
to see the latest developments in equipment and facilities.

When it was finished, the new hospital was one of the finest of its
kind, not only in Fort Worth but throughout the Southwest. Mosaic tile
floors were used in the hallways; two electric elevators were installed,
and the surgical suites were supplied with circulating sterile water and
electric lights that were independent of the city’s supply of electricity.
Sun porches were added to each floor with wide doors so that the
patients’ beds could be wheeled out into the fresh air. At the cost of
$500,000, the new structure added 200 additional beds to St. Joseph’s.

The building program had just been completed, however, when the
Great Depression hit the country. Hospitals had been booming in the
1920s, but now the number of patients fell off sharply, and most of those
who were admitted were unable to pay their bills. Private hospitals were
averaging only a 50% capacity, and by the end of the 1930s over 626
institutions throughout the country had closed their doors.>?

Like the rest of the nation, St. Joseph’s was facing financial prob-
lems, struggling to maintain its daily operations and to meet the regular
payments on the large debt incurred in the new building. Moreover, the
hospital, located so close to the railroad tracks, became a haven for the
poor and the hungry who lined up at the kitchen door for food. The day
after the sisters fed the first stranger, fifty others appeared for breakfast.
The sisters searched the outside of the hospital for the hobo’s mark,
which was characteristically left on any site where the poor, homeless
drifters had received food. No mark was found, but the word spread
rapidly among the freight cars, and sometimes as many as 100 homeless
and jobless men, young and old, and dressed in rags, appeared in the
daily breadline.

While the sisters struggled to keep the hospital doors open and to
care for the poor at their back door, they faced still another sad experi-
ence in the loss of a beloved administrator, Mother Philip Neri Neville.
She had been administrator of the hospital for just three years (1928-
1931), but she had endeared herself both to the doctors and to the staff
during that short period of time. In accordance with her dying request,
she made a final trip homeward to the motherhouse in San Antonio. As
she left St. Joseph’s carried on a stretcher, she passed through lines of
weeping sisters standing along the ambulance driveway. Her death
came suddenly, just one month after Dr. Alden Coffey had diagnosed
her as having cancer. One of the sisters recorded a tribute to her in the
St. Joseph’s Diary: “Mother Philip Neri’s life of high ideals, both as an
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individual religious and as a professional nurse, was an inspiration to all
those with whom she lived.”

She was succeeded by Mother Nativity Henebery, who took over
the administrative position from 1931 to 1933, followed by Mother
Mary of Lourdes Hickey, 1933-1937, and Mother Friediana Kulhmann,
1937-1943. It was during this period that the name of St. Joseph’s was
changed from “Infirmary” to “Hospital,” which was considered a more
appropriate term to describe the facility.

By 1939, preparations began for the celebration of the hospital’s
golden jubilee. On April 25, a pontifical mass was offered by Bishop
Joseph D. Lynch of Dallas. The anniversary banquet for prelates, mem-
bers of the clergy, and physicians on the hospital staff, together with
their spouses, was held at the Hotel Texas. Characteristic of the sisters’
celebrations throughout the years and in accordance with their custom
of not participating in public functions, even those sponsored by them-
selves, the sisters did not attend. A description of the event is recorded,
however, in the hospital diary: “An evening of high mirth and splendid
comradeship was solemnly closed with an invitation from the toastmas-
ter to rise to the memory of the deceased physicians of the city and to
give thanks to the sisters of St. Joseph’s Hospital in whose honor they
had gathered.”>

Throughout its fifty-year history, the hospital had attracted a num-
ber of outstanding physicians to its staff. Many were associated with the
Coffey Clinic established by Dr. Alden Coffey, or some years later with
the Lorimer Clinic founded by Dr. W. S. Lorimer, Sr.; Dr. W. S. Lorimer,
Jr.; Dr. W. W. Moorman; and Dr. Dewey Johnston.

“What distinguished St. Joseph’s in those days,” according to Dr.
John H. Richards, “was the camaraderie of physicians helping physi-
cians. St. Joseph’s was a humane hospital, not a business. It was a per-
sonal organization of people caring for other people—doctors, sisters,
nurses.”8

St. Joseph’s entered the field of neurosurgery with the coming of Dr.
William Oscar Ott, who had pioneered in this work during his earlier days
at the Mayo Clinic. During his years of practice at St. Joseph’s, Dr. Ott
always insisted on having Sister Christiana Bolle at his side. Sister was
highly skilled in professional nursing, meticulous in every detail, and
devoted to the doctors as well as to the patients. “We have no right except
to do our best,” she was fond of saying.>” She never did less.

Intensive care and recovery departments were unheard of in those
days, and when patients left surgery, they were taken directly back to
their rooms where they had to be watched very carefully for several
hours. At St. Joseph’s, they were usually entrusted to the care of Sister
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Carthage Cunningham, who was head nurse for over thirty-five years
and became highly respected by the doctors even though she could be
very exacting with them. “She ran a tight ship,” says Dr. Thomas
Bussey. “If you arrived in the morning and she called you ‘Doctor,” you
were in good shape, but if she greeted you as ‘Mister,” you knew you
were in trouble.”® “She kept everything spotlessly clean,” according to
Dr. W. S. Lorimer, Jr. “She believed that the patients, too, had to be
clean, inside and out, so every morning each one was given an enema to
start the day.” Dr. John Richards insists she was “the sweetheart of all
the doctors” and “the kindest, sweetest lady in the world.”¢°

The number of sisters working in St. Joseph’s at this time was forty-
six. They staffed every floor and every department in the hospital; they
operated the pharmacy, the medical record library, the business office, the
kitchen, the X-ray department, and the laboratory; they also taught in the
school of nursing. Many of the sisters had long tenures of service at the
hospital, and over the years seemed to become a permanent part of St.
Joseph’s. Sister Euphrosina Braig was in charge of the pharmacy for
thirty-two years; Sister Bibiana Heinrich managed the hospital laundry
for sixteen years; Sister Teresa Martin Joyce served in the business office
for thirty-seven years; Sister Mauritius Sollner worked in the dietary
department for twenty-three years; and Sister Mary Paul Liedel directed
the Medical Record Library for twenty-five years.

The opportunities for bringing patients into the Church and for
spiritual conversions were abundant. Patients who had not practiced
their religion for thirty or forty years were brought back to the sacra-
ments, and newborn infants in danger of death were baptized. Even
marriages outside the Church were often validated in the hospital
chapel. The sisters’ monthly letters to the motherhouse that reported on
all of the happenings at St. Joseph’s were regularly filled with news
items such as the following:

On the feast of St. Augustine [we admitted] a patient, an old gentleman
of 68 years of age—Mr. J. J. Long. On entering the hospital, when asked
about church affiliation, his wife answered for him, saying that he
belonged to no church. Later on, in the course of conversation, Sister
learned he had been baptized a Catholic, and in his earlier boyhood days
received religious instruction from his dear old Irish mother, since dead.

Rev. Father O’Connor came and heard his confession, and on the First
Friday of September, he received Holy Communion. A few days later he
died.®!

Another fallen away Catholic man was brought in on an emergency; both
legs were badly mangled. The Rev. Father heard his confession on the
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emergency table. The patient was transferred to the surgery department
where his limbs were amputated. Sister Gabriella [Meehan] noticed the
patient was going into shock. She called the Rev. Chaplain who anointed
him. He died immediately.%?

As America became involved in World War II and the wounded
soldiers were brought home from the battlefronts, the hospital was
called upon once again for help. The soldiers from Camp Bowie and the
marines from the base at Eagle Mountain Lake filled every room, and
additional beds were lined up in the hospital hallways. Just as they had
done in 1917 during the Spanish influenza epidemic, the sisters vacated
their own living apartments to make extra room for the patients.

St. Joseph’s was involved in the war effort also through the estab-
lishment of a unit of the United States Cadet Corps at the nursing
school. Sister Anna Joseph Gebhart, the director, was a person of such
high ideals of service that she inspired many young nurses to use their
preparation in service to their country. By 1944, almost all of the stu-
dents enrolled were training for service in the military forces.

About this same time, St. Joseph’s formed a friendship with a
donor who would have a profound effect on changing the future direc-
tion of the hospital. In 1889, Rev. Mother Pierre had entrusted the fledg-
ling infirmary to the care and protection of St. Joseph, because she
believed he would respond to every financial need. Although she did not
live to see it, her prayers were answered with great generosity in the
1940s, when Amon Carter and the members of the Carter family began
supporting the hospital.

Mr. Carter, who was the founder and publisher of the Fort Worth
Star-Telegram and a leading figure in establishing the Southwestern
Exposition and Fat Stock Show, had made his fortune in oil and ranch-
ing, as well as in publishing. One of his favorite sayings was: “The chief
occupation of Texans is trying to keep from making all the money in the
world.”3 Fiercely loyal to Fort Worth, he was determined that it would
be a leading city in the Southwest. Customarily, he began his public
speeches by vehemently declaring, “Texas forever! Fort Worth now and
hereafter!” He also popularized the description of Fort Worth as “where
the West begins.”

When Amon Carter came into contact with St. Joseph’s, he found
a hospital that had given public service to the community for close to
fifty years, a cause to which he had dedicated his own life as well as his
newspaper. He had the greatest respect for the sisters and in particular
for the hospital administrator, Mother Mary Ascension Ryan, who had
the same respect for him. According to his daughter, Ruth Carter
Stevenson, he was fond of saying, “She always lets me have her way!”%*
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He would do anything she asked, but she knew also when to ask.
Sometimes she would cautiously say, “Wait till he’s in a good mood!”

The story is told that Mr. Carter developed an interest in St. Joseph’s
in an indirect way. One of his workmen, a person of very poor means, was
admitted to the hospital for treatment. Certain that his employee would
have gone to John Peter Smith, the city hospital, Mr. Carter called there
to visit him, only to find that the patient had gone to St. Joseph’s, where
he was accepted as a charity patient and offered the best of care. Amon
Carter was so impressed with the kindness of the sisters that he became a
lifelong friend and major benefactor of the hospital.

When his son was born at St. Joseph’s, he was diagnosed as a
“blue baby,” and both the sisters and Dr. Charles Hook fought long
and hard to save his life. Amon Carter never forgot what they did to
keep the infant alive, and his loyalty to the hospital was almost as
strong as his loyalty to Fort Worth. “Once his loyalties were absorbed,
there was no turning back,” according to his daughter Ruth.%

Some years later, Mr. Carter was hospitalized himself, and upon
leaving St. Joseph’s, wanted to show some special kindness to the sis-
ters for their excellent care. He asked Sister Thaddeus Byrne, second
floor supervisor, if there were some improvements needed in her depart-
ment. Sister told him that she needed curtains for some of the windows.
Mr. Carter sent his executive secretary, Katrine Deakins, to look over
the situation and take care of whatever improvements were necessary.
Architects and contractors were put to work, and when the job was com-
pleted some weeks later at a cost of several thousand dollars, the entire
second floor had been renovated and supplied with new equipment—
plus the curtains.

He formed a lifelong friendship with Sister Carthage Cunningham.
“They were two of a kind,” says Ruth Carter Stevenson. “She talked
back to him in a way no one else dared to. When he was hospitalized
and confined to her floor, she insisted on following the doctor’s orders
for complete rest, and if she walked in the room and found him talking
on the telephone, carrying on his business from the hospital bed, she
simply walked over and pulled out the plug.”®®

Through Amon Carter’s generosity, a new $500,000 annex
described as a “‘super-structure” was built in 1949.57 It provided a sev-
enth operating room and two additional recovery rooms with their own
air-conditioning and heating units. Hydraulic tables were installed, and
oxygen was piped directly into the area. The unit added 100 beds for
patients in comfortable air-conditioned rooms, bringing the total capac-
ity of the hospital to 343.
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In 1950, the obstetrical wing was completely redecorated and
newly equipped. This time, the donation came from Mr. Carter’s wife
Nenetta. Four years later, the Amon G. Carter Foundation donated
$543,663 for the construction and interior furnishings of a residence
hall for student nurses that adjoined the newly constructed school of
nursing. To assist the students in traveling back and forth from the hos-
pital to the University of Dallas, where they took courses in academic
subjects, Mrs. Nenetta Burton Carter contributed six station wagons,
appropriately called “The Burton Fleet.” In 1957, she and her daughter,
Ruth Carter Stevenson, made another major contribution to the con-
struction of a new chapel, Mrs. Carter donating the main altar and Mrs.
Stevenson providing the altar dedicated to Mary Queen of Heaven. The
bronze plaque in the chapel appropriately noted that the building was
erected in memory of Amon Carter and made possible by the generosi-
ty of his wife and daughter. At the same time, a new four-story convent
for the sisters was built, and the Carter family provided most of the inte-
rior furnishings.

Amon Carter’s timely sale of his oil interests to the Shell
Corporation earned him a profit of $16,500,000, which was the basis for
the Amon G. Carter Foundation. It was the basis also for over forty years
of generous support for St. Joseph’s totaling over $5 million.

In addition to the Carter funds, the hospital benefitted from the
Ella C. McFadden Trust through an endowment of $2 million for the
hospice program. Some years later, two generous donors, Ella Smith
and her daughter Bess Smith Broderick, named the hospital in their
combined estates forming the Bess Smith Broderick Trust. Sharing the
proceeds with the First United Methodist Church of Fort Worth, St.
Joseph’s received an initial gift of $2 million and was named in the 25-
year trust fund amounting to $5,356,000.

Just as the people of Fort Worth demonstrated their charity to the
hospital, so also the hospital continued to demonstrate its own charity
toward the poor, the homeless, and the hungry. From the time of the first
patient, a charity case, admitted in 1885, St. Joseph’s had shown special
concern and care for persons unable to meet the costs of hospitalization.
Over the years, the people of Fort Worth as well as the doctors came to
recognize the hospital as a place that would always accept the sick and
the suffering regardless of their ability to pay. Many of the charity
patients were black, and the hospital for many years was the only pri-
vate health care institution that would admit black patients and accept
black doctors on its staff.

In the days before the Civil Rights Movement of the 1960s, segre-
gation was the norm in hospital wards in the Southwest, as it was in
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school classrooms, in train depots, in restaurants, and in all public facili-
ties. Although black patients were graciously and generously admitted to
St. Joseph’s, they were segregated from whites and cared for in two large
wards in the basement of St. Alexis Hall. Patients undergoing surgery
were brought upstairs to the operating rooms and then returned to St.
Alexis for recovery. Black women delivering babies were taken upstairs
to the delivery rooms and then returned to St. Alexis to recuperate.

In charge of St. Alexis was Sister Eustochia Braun, who was
known to everyone at St. Joseph’s as “Stokes” and who was recognized
throughout the hospital for her devoted care of the black patients, most
of whom were very poor. Sister spent thirty-seven years as a nurse at the
hospital; twenty-five of those years were in the St. Alexis wards.
Always happy in her work, she could be heard walking through the halls
of the hospital humming or singing, softly but joyfully. When she
walked through the halls of St. Alexis, she sang a little louder, and the
patients loved to hear her coming. She was usually followed by her
loyal, devoted dog, a black mongrel, that freely roamed the halls of St.
Alexis but dared not go into other parts of the hospital.

Kitchen workers became used to having Sister Eustochia come in
for food at all times of the day or night. Poor patients coming to the hos-
pital invariably came in hungry no matter what hour of the day it was,
and Sister knew they could not wait until the next regular meal was
served. Sister Erastus Voestner and Nate Rivera, who worked together
for so many years in the St. Joseph’s kitchen, just shook their heads
when they heard the singing coming from the refrigerators. Nate
remembers that Sister Erastus used to say, “There she goes again, steal-
ing food for the poor.”8

Even after the opening of John Peter Smith, the Tarrant County
tax-supported hospital located across the street, St. Joseph’s continued
to receive a large number of patients unable to pay for hospital care. In
some years more than one-fourth of its operating budget was given over
to charity and discount patients, as much as 17% more than the average
of private hospitals across the nation.

In addition to the Carter funds, which continued to flow into the
hospital during the 1950s, St. Joseph’s received money from the Ford
Foundation and from the federal government that had passed the Hill-
Burton Hospital Construction Act in 1946. Hospitals were booming
throughout the country to accommodate new advances in medicine and
continued growth in population. Fort Worth was greatly in need of addi-
tional hospital space. The Fort Worth Star Telegram reported that “if
hospitals had ‘standing room only’signs, they would be inclined to hang
them out. . . . The city’s six major hospitals reported they were filled.
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Some were forced to convert into wards rooms usually reserved for one
patient.”’?® St. Joseph’s estimated that it could use at least 25% more
patient beds.

It was a time to build, and the hospital was in a prime position for
expansion. Funds were available from philanthropic foundations and
from the federal government, and the hospital had a builder, Sister Mary
Vincent O’Donnell, who had been named administrator in 1955. Sister
had previously served as a nurse in the emergency room of St. Joseph’s
and as director of the school of nursing. She had also been administra-
tor of Spohn Hospital in Corpus Christi, where she gained her reputa-
tion as a builder.

Before she could launch the building program, however, Sister
faced a serious problem of regaining full accreditation for the hospital.
In 1955, the status of St. Joseph’s was changed from ‘““Acceptable” to
“Provisional” by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals.
The principal deficiencies noted were ‘“inadequate medical records,
excessive anesthetic death rate, and evidence of excess of removal of
normal tissue.””! Sister Mary Vincent was determined that the hospital
would regain its standing and regain it immediately. As Doctor S. W.
Lorimer, Jr., said, “She would never listen to ‘Rome wasn’t built in a
day.”””? One obstacle she had to fight hard to overcome was the apathy
of the doctors who could not see at that time the value of hospital
accreditation. Sister Mary Vincent was a born fighter, however, and by
the next year she had won her battle. The hospital regained the level of
“Full Accreditation.”

Once the accreditation battle had been won, she announced in
1957 plans for a $3.6 million expansion:

St. Joseph’s Hospital will begin a major building program that will dou-
ble the present bed capacity. This growing need to expand [the] hospital
has been evidenced over the past few years. In 1954, the total number of
patients treated was 15,966 people; by 1956, this has grown to 18,784
patients.

Correspondingly, other facilities serving the patients have been strained.
Our clinic costs have risen rapidly over the past few years. In 1954, the cost
of operating the clinic was $62,785.00. In 1955, it was $99,972.00. By
1956, the cost had increased almost triple over 1954 to $176,000.00. Using
1952 as a base year, the number of emergencies treated has increased 91%.
The number of newborns in a given year has increased about 35%. All this
without an appreciable increase of beds and ancillary facilities.”

Constructed in front of the 1927 main building, the north wing faced
downtown Fort Worth, with a second wing on the east side. The new
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structure was five stories high with a foundation designed to support the
future addition of seven more stories. The Carter Foundation provided
$228,825, the Ford Foundation $158,300, and the federal government
$1,425,000 in Hill-Burton funds. The hospital gained additional support
from individual benefactors to make up the total cost of $4.5 million.

St. Joseph’s was now the largest hospital in Fort Worth and was
making major strides in expanding not only its bed capacity, its labora-
tories, and its surgical suites, but also in introducing and expanding ser-
vices that would set a direction for the future: an acute psychiatric unit,
a unit for ophthalmology patients, and new facilities for physical thera-
py and orthopedics.

In support of the new programs and of the greatly enlarged facili-
ty, the hospital began to introduce additional educational programs in
nursing and in the allied health areas. A school of vocational nursing
was approved by the State of Texas; a nurse anesthetist school was cer-
tified by the American Association of Nurse Anesthetists; a school of
medical technology and a school of X-ray technology were both recog-
nized by the Council on Medical Education of the American Medical
Association. In the 1950s and 60s, the hospital had 150 students
enrolled in various classes and certification programs.

Meanwhile, the school of nursing, the oldest in Fort Worth, cele-
brated its fiftieth anniversary. The school had graduated many outstand-
ing leaders in nursing over the years and proudly boasted of the high
marks earned by the students on state board examinations, a success
record that was due, no doubt, to the excellent guidance of Dr. Bacon
Saunders and Dr. Joseph McVeigh, who served as president and dean,
as well as to the sisters who guided the program so effectively through-
out the years: Sister Stella O’Sullivan, Sister Albertine Grehan, Sister
Carthage Cunningham, Sister Friediana Kulhmann, Sister Christiana
Bolle, Sister Mary Victory Lewis, Sister Gabriella Meehan, Sister Anna
Joseph Gebhart, and Sister Catherine Elizabeth Fluskey. In 1956, Sister
Mary Brian Sherry was appointed director, and the following year, the
program was successfully accredited by the Board of Review for
Diploma Programs of the National League for Nursing.

In 1956, St. Joseph’s Hospital Guild was incorporated. Founded in
1940 as the Auxiliary, the group of women had contributed many hours
of volunteer work as well as financial support during its sixteen years of
service. Now, Sister Mary Vincent announced the new name of St.
Joseph’s Hospital Guild and challenged the organization to a goal of
enlisting 5,000 members. Junior and senior members would staff and
manage the information desk, the gift shop, the surgical waiting room,
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and mail delivery service. By 1989, volunteers were giving 39,700 hours
of service and had donated over a million dollars to the hospital.

The 1960s brought sadness to the nation as President John F.
Kennedy was assassinated in Dallas. The tragedy was particularly close
to the sisters at St. Joseph’s, many of whom had closely followed the
career of the young Catholic leader. Just the day before, President and
Mrs. Kennedy had been in Fort Worth. As Air Force One flew in for its
landing at Carswell Air Force Base, St. Joseph’s was determined that the
hospital would give the President his first salute from the city. Placed on
the rooftop of Fifth Main and Fifth Annex were 300 lighted bulbs that
spelled out “Welcome JFK.”

The next day, President Kennedy left Fort Worth, and Air Force
One headed for Love Field in Dallas. Two of the last persons to bid him
farewell were Sister Mary James Whelan, who was serving as assistant
administrator, and Sister Mary Michael Woulfe, director of the school of
nursing. Little did either one realize that the President was flying to his
tragic death in Dallas and that Sister Mary Michael herself would soon
have a fatal accident that would plunge St. Joseph’s into a second trag-
ic loss for the 1960s.

On the evening of July 23, 1964, Sister was taking a peaceful walk
around the hospital with Sister Mary Veronica Healion. Some of the
other sisters from the hospital followed close behind, enjoying their cus-
tomary fresh air stroll after supper. An automobile, driven by an intoxi-
cated young man, jumped the curb of Main Street near the emergency
room, striking Sister Mary Michael. A few hours later, she died in St.
Joseph’s Hospital, leaving behind a grieving community of sisters in
Fort Worth as well as her stricken family in Washington, D. C.

Sister was from Ireland and had entered the Sisters of Charity of
the Incarnate Word at the age of 23. She had served in the pediatrics
department of St. Joseph’s before becoming director of the nurses’train-
ing program. She had directed schools of nursing at Santa Rosa Hospital
in San Antonio and at St. Anthony’s Hospital in Amarillo. She was
devoted to her lifetime work of caring for the sick and to teaching oth-
ers to have the same concern that she had manifested in her own years
of nursing.

The hospital newsletter paid the following tribute to Sister upon
her death: *““‘She is known for the gracious dignity with which she served
us [and] remembered for the warmth and acts of kindness rendered
those in need. . . . A great personage has departed and left in its place a
memory; a beautiful soul, prepared and developed by a lifetime of com-
plete consecration, has assumed its rightful and infinite residence.”’*
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The 1960s were years of achievement, as well as change for St.
Joseph’s. To meet the requirements of the Joint Commission, as well as
the new federal demands required for Medicare, the Articles of
Incorporation for St. Joseph’s were revised and provided for the estab-
lishment of a board of trustees made up of both sisters and lay persons
from the local community. Prior to this time, members of the governing
board of the hospital had been the sisters serving on the general council
of the Congregation, all located in San Antonio. The new structure pro-
vided a closer link between the civic community and the hospital. It was
in keeping also with recommendations that had come out of Vatican II
calling for the greater involvement of lay persons in the apostolic works
of the Church. The new members of the board were Dewey W.
Johnston, M.D.; Edward R. Hudson, Sr.; Robert K. Hanger; Robert F.
Snakard; Sister Angela Clare Moran; Sister Mary James Whelan; Sister
Thomasine Carter; Sister Mary Nicholas Dittlinger; and Sister Mary
Eustace Farrell.

The amended Articles of Incorporation provided also for a change
of name. Some questions had been raised over the years regarding the
use of the possessive form of the name of St. Joseph. For Rev. Mother
Pierre in 1889, there had been no doubt whatsoever that the facility
should be called St. Joseph’s. The hospital belonged to him, and he was
totally responsible for it. She frequently told him so! In 1966, however,
while not negating their founder’s devotion to the patron saint, nor
denying his powerful protection over the years, the sisters decided that
the possessive form was inappropriate, and the name was changed to
Saint Joseph Hospital.

In addition to the change of name and change of board structure,
the hospital initiated other new directions by phasing out two programs.
In 1967, a greatly reduced census in the department of obstetrics had
resulted in a financial loss of $80,000 over the year. The decline in the
birth rate in Fort Worth was causing all of the local hospitals to look
carefully at their capacity for maintaining this service. In 1955, the birth
rate was 12,278, and ten years later, it had dropped to 10,041.7

Moreover, the Women’s Pavilion, a new wing specializing in
maternity care, had opened at Harris Methodist Hospital and was
attracting not only a large number of patients but also many specialized
obstetricians from the staff of Saint Joseph, leaving only general practi-
tioners to maintain the department, many of whom were not qualified to
handle cases with serious complications. In the other hospitals of the
city, none of which were associated with the Catholic Church, the grow-
ing practices of sterilization and tubal ligations that were against estab-
lished tenets of the Catholic Church were widely practiced. Patients
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seeking admission for such services were turned away at Saint Joseph
Hospital.

All of these factors accounted for a marked decline in admissions
in obstetrics. The sisters were concerned, however, that closing the
department might deprive many Catholics of access to a hospital where
they could be certain that directions of the Church were fully adhered to
and where the services of a Catholic chaplain were readily available.
The administrative staff conducted a study that showed over a period of
eight months, however, that only 20% of the very limited number of
patients in obstetrics were Catholic.

Also phased out during this period was the diploma program in
nursing. Although the school had recently celebrated its fiftieth anniver-
sary and boasted of a number of distinguished graduates, there was a
growing trend in the educational preparation of nurses that favored aca-
demic credit programs based at community colleges and universities.
The training program at Saint Joseph had been affiliated with the
University of Dallas and with Tarrant County Junior College, but was
still a three-year diploma program with emphasis on skills training that
offered students little preparation for advancing to an associate or bac-
calaureate degree. Moreover, Tarrant County Junior College had recent-
ly expanded its academic offerings and introduced the associate degree
program. Students from Saint Joseph could easily transfer to the
College. Hospital administrators and the Board of Trustees at Saint
Joseph felt it was in the best interest of the students and their future as
professional nurses to close the school.

Not all of the 1960s was given over to retrenchment, however. The
construction of the main building in 1959 had provided for a future
expansion of seven more floors. As early as 1960, the administrator,
Sister Alban Mannion, was reporting to the members of the general
council, “We have been running a ‘full house’ in the annex and new
wing, thank God, [and] the cost of maintaining the old building (erect-
ed in 1905) is prohibitive.”” A fund raising campaign was initiated, and
by 1967 seven additional floors had been added to the hospital at a cost
of $4.5 million. Saint Joseph was described as the high rise hospital that
was “reaching for the sky.” Included in the expansion were new units
for intensive coronary care and for psychiatric care, as well as a new
kitchen, cafeteria, and dining room. The expansion added 290 new beds,
making it possible to tear down the east building that had become unfit
for further use.

The 1960s were years of many changes at Saint Joseph—con-
struction of new buildings, razing of old buildings, introduction of new
programs, phasing out of others, change of charter, change of policy-
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making body, even change of name. Throughout the country drastic
changes were taking place in almost every aspect of American life.
Public segregation and discrimination was barred by law in 1964, and
the civil rights movement spread quickly throughout the nation. In Fort
Worth, where blacks comprised approximately 14% of the total popula-
tion, the Office for Civil Rights of the Department of Health and Human
Services questioned any practice of discrimination. Strange to say, Saint
Joseph Hospital was reported as being unfair to black persons in the
admission of patients. Government representatives were quick to
respond, visiting the chief administrator Sister Mary James Whelan in
her office and questioning her regarding hospital practices. The charges
were proved to be unfounded, even somewhat ironic, since the hospital
had from its beginning accepted patients of all races and creeds. It had
even served as the city hospital before Fort Worth constructed its first
city-owned health facility, and as early as 1889, had recorded the admis-
sion of a black patient, a young girl of fourteen years of age. Black
physicians, Dr. Ed Guinn, Dr. Donald Brooks, and Dr. Marion Brooks,
served on the staff long before they were given medical privileges at
other institutions.

The era of rapid and far-reaching change in American life contin-
ued over the next two decades. Advances in medicine coupled with a
rise in government subsidy for health care and in privately funded
health insurance programs caused a spiraling increase in admissions and
in the growth of hospitals and related facilities. At Saint Joseph, Sister
Mary James, together with Dr. Dewey Johnston, chief of staff, and her
administrative team began to plan for responding to immediate needs
and demands for the future.

“It has become more and more evident,” she wrote to the congre-
gational administration in San Antonio, “that the greatest drawback to
Saint Joseph today is the absence of physicians’ offices adjacent to the
hospital.””” The neighborhood surrounding the hospital had greatly
deteriorated, and doctors would not establish their offices in such a
declining part of the city unless the hospital provided its own office
buildings. It was simply a matter of convenience. A doctor preferred to
have his patients in a hospital near his office. If he could not find such
an accommodation at Saint Joseph, he would send his patients to All
Saints or Harris Methodist Hospital, the principal competitors.

Sister Mary James was convincing in her arguments with the gen-
eral administration. A short time later, ground was broken for a five-
story professional building connected to the hospital by a glassed-in, air
conditioned walkway spanning Main Street. The building was designed
to accommodate offices for fifty physicians as well as laboratory and
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pharmacy services. Ten years later, Professional Building II was con-
structed adjoining Professional Building I and added nearly 60,000
more square feet of space for members of the medical staff and for hos-
pital services.

Early in the 1970s, Sister Mary James completed her term as chief
administrator of Saint Joseph Hospital and was appointed director of
health services for the Congregation. She had proved herself a most
capable and efficient administrator. She tells the story herself of how Dr.
Hobart Deaton, chief of staff, had asked her during her first days in the
top administrative position whether she would be “omnipresent in the
hospital,” as Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell was or quietly working
behind the scenes as Sister Alban Mannion or “somewhere in between
the two.”’® The words described her administrative style very well.
During her nine years as chief administrative officer, she demonstrated
the vision and determination to have Saint Joseph Hospital in the fore-
front of the Tarrant County medical community, launching a $4.5 mil-
lion expansion program that added seven floors to the main building,
razing the old 1905 east building to make way for the new develop-
ments, constructing a $220,000 underground storage facility, adding
Professional Building I, and planning for Professional Building II.

She had not only a vision for the future but also a realistic view of
the past and of what needed to be phased out of existence to make way
for the new. She had closed the nurses’training program and established
instead a preceptorship for ten residents in hospital administration; she
had eliminated the failing obstetrics department and developed in its
place, physiotherapy, psychiatry, occupational therapy, and inhalation
therapy.

Sister Mary James had a genius for organization and quietly and
effectively initiated changes in administrative areas such as data pro-
cessing that improved the efficiency of operation in the hospital. But
Sister was also an administrator who identified closely with the people
who worked at Saint Joseph and with matters that affected their person-
al welfare. She led the reorganization of the employee compensation
program and created a retirement program as well as a shared premium
in the employee group health insurance. As she left the hospital, staff
members gave a fitting tribute to the administrator who had given spe-
cial attention to their personal needs: “Saint Joseph’s people will
remember Sister Mary James for the many ways she embraced our lives
and brought something good to each of us.””®

Sister was succeeded by Sister Mary Eustace Farrell in the position
of administrator, while Dr. Dewey Johnston took over a newly created
position of administrative physician. It was during this administration that
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the pastoral care department was established. Rev. George Curtsinger had
joined the staff as chaplain in 1953. Quietly and effectively carrying out
his ministry, he had maintained this position for thirty-eight years, con-
tinuing his service even after his retirement. With the organization of the
pastoral care department, the chaplain’s work was expanded through the
addition of staff, including Sister Brigid Mollaghan and Rev. Charles
Barnes, a Baptist minister.

Under the direction of Sister Mary Eustace, plans were once again
drawn up for another major expansion of the hospital. She remained in
the position only two years, however, before she was replaced in 1974
by Thomas E. Cannady, the first layman to assume the leadership posi-
tion at Saint Joseph. The new role of patient representative was imple-
mented in 1975 with six sisters serving as liaison between patients, their
families, and the hospital: Sisters Alfreda Folan, Veronica Healion,
Christiana Bolle, Magdalen Hession, Adrian Gibbons, and Bridget
Florence Deneny.

The plans for expansion that had been initiated in the early 1970s
were put into operation with the ground-breaking in 1973 for the
Hospital Professional Building and in 1979 for a five-phase expansion,
including a patient bed tower, a 12-story elevator tower, an ambulatory
care center for outpatients, modification of the main building’s first
floor, and a parking garage. The hospital borrowed $14.5 million in tax
exempt hospital revenue bonds to finance the expansion.

In the 1980s, Saint Joseph was helped financially through a large
donation from the Carter family. Mrs. Nenetta Burton Carter died in
1983, naming Saint Joseph and Fort Worth Children’s Hospital as the
principal beneficiaries of her estate. Each institution was given 30,000
shares of Gulf Oil with a total market value of approximately $2.4 mil-
lion. Under the terms of the will, each hospital received an annuity
equal to twelve percent of the assets for a period of twelve years. Saint
Joseph’s first payment of $601,050 was received in 1985.

Significant additions were made to the hospital’s services in the
1980s with the opening of a non-invasive peripheral vascular lab, the
first in the area; the Sports and Occupational Medicine Center; and
magnetic resonance imaging. The community hospice of Saint Joseph,
the first in Tarrant County, was designed to meet the special needs of the
dying and their families, providing physical, emotional, and spiritual
care on a 24-hour basis.

The hospital’s cardiac catheterization laboratory, part of an
expanding surgical services project, was opened in 1987 with new
diagnostic equipment, a dedicated operating room, and cardiac inten-
sive care unit. The following year work was completed on the expan-
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sion project, adding new facilities for surgery, outpatient services, post-
anesthesia care, intensive care, and hemodialysis, as well as a new
pharmacy, cafeteria, medical staff center, and the Xavier Conference
Room named for the first administrator, Sister Xavier Wiss.

Although the 1980s began as a decade of progress, the latter years
brought many changes to Saint Joseph Hospital that threatened the stabil-
ity of the institution. Many of these were changes that were taking place
in hospitals throughout the country. The admission of patients was declin-
ing sharply because of ever-increasing costs as well as the establishment
of government control over the payment for medical procedures and
length of hospital stay. By 1989, there were 445 hospital closures report-
ed nationwide. With a total of seventy-two, Texas was higher than any
other state.®°

Because Saint Joseph was a hospital that from its origin had served
a large number of charity patients and had maintained that service even
into the 1980s, it was not easy to simply raise patient charges to make
up for the loss of income. Moreoever, the number of hospitals in Tarrant
County had been growing throughout the years. Saint Joseph had once
stood alone, the only hospital in the City. Now there were eight general
hospitals, some with more than one location in the area, in addition to
psychiatric hospitals and rehabilitation centers, all operating and com-
peting for patients within the community. Tarrant County offered no
control over hospital expansion and duplication of health services, and
competition spurred a multiplication of institutions well beyond the
needs of the community.

Patient admissions were spread thinly among all of the health
institutions, and decreasing revenues demanded that costs be cut to bal-
ance operating budgets. Employee layoffs were increasing, while some-
times whole areas of hospitals were closed off from use in an effort to
curtail expenditures. The close of the obstetrics department at Saint
Joseph had brought with it an unexpected decline in pediatrics and in
gynecology. By 1986, patient admissions had dropped by 7.8%; four
years later, that figure had risen to 21.1%. During the same period of
time, the hospital had a $2 million loss in operations.

While Saint Joseph struggled with all of these threatening condi-
tions, many of which were facing private health facilities throughout the
country, it had another serious problem in the 1980s with a rapid
turnover of chief executive officers. In 1983, Donald Loftus was
appointed chief executive officer and resigned in 1986. Mrs. Dianne
Stimson, who had served as his assistant, was named acting chief exec-
utive officer.
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She was followed in 1987 by Kevin Andrews, who had a very
short term, resigning in 1989. He was succeeded by William D. Myers,
who served on an interim basis. Mr. Myers was chief executive officer
at St. Anthony’s Hospital in Amarillo at the same time that he was
directing operations in Fort Worth, commuting back and forth between
the two institutions.

The rapid turnover in chief executive officers brought with it many
changes in middle management and staff that compounded the instability
of the situation. Over a three-year period, there were ninety-nine changes
in key personnel at Saint Joseph, and the hospital suffered the loss of
many employees of long tenure and great loyalty to the institution.

In the midst of this changing situation, in April, 1989, Saint Joseph
celebrated its 100th year of service to the sick and suffering people of
Fort Worth. It was an appropriate reminder of the strength and
endurance of the hospital through 100 years of challenges, problems,
failures, and success, and offered confidence in a future that seemed to
promise the same. To commemorate the anniversary, the State of Texas
awarded the institution a Texas historical marker recognizing its service
to the City of Fort Worth.

The centennial celebration opened with a mass in the hospital
chapel with the Most Rev. Joseph P. Delaney of the Diocese of Fort
Worth presiding. In addressing the assembly, he observed that the hos-
pital had always tried to be faithful to its mission of comforting and car-
ing for the sick, and that for 100 years, it had been a sign of the pres-
ence of God’s love in the community.

In 1990, Dr. Arthur Gonzélez became president and chief execu-
tive officer, bringing with him a background in administrative theory
and organization. Dr. Gonzélez offered new goals and strategies to sta-
bilize operations at the hospital and to guide the institution into the
future. He was prepared to cope with the many changes that had creat-
ed instability of direction and of purpose. “It is not that the hospital has
had no plan,” he said, “but it has had too many changing plans over the
last several years.”8! He was prepared also to build on the rich tradition
and heritage of Saint Joseph’s past, to recapture and strengthen the orig-
inal mission, to reestablish the hospital’s position and reputation in the
local community, and together with all of this to balance financial oper-
ations. No small task for Saint Joseph as it entered its second century of
service!

The hospital, however, continued to see a decline in patients, and
with its $48 million long-term debt was a major risk for the Incarnate
Word Health Services System. By 1991, the system board and the gen-
eral administration of the Congregation decided to transfer ownership of
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the hospital to the Daughters of Charity Health System-West Central,
that owned and operated St. Paul’s Hospital in Dallas. The Daughters of
Charity saw great potential for building up their own healthcare network
through the purchase of Saint Joseph Hospital in neighboring Fort
Worth. The decision was a difficult one for the Incarnate Word sisters,
since they had staffed the hospital for over 100 years. Their only con-
solation was that Saint Joseph was being taken over by another congre-
gation of religious women and that the spiritual aspects of patient care
would be continued.3?

On September 30, 1991, the transfer of ownership became official.
Only four sisters remained on the staff at the time: Sisters Alfreda Folan,
Bridget Mary Brennan, and Magdalen Hession, who were serving as
patient representatives, and Sister Florence Zdeb, who was working
with the hospice program as patient accounts representative. They chose
to continue their work with the Daughters of Charity.

Perhaps in no other hospital conducted by the Incarnate Word sis-
ters has the decline in the sisters’ presence been so deeply felt by the
doctors, the nurses, and the staff. “The presence of the sisters made
Saint Joseph Hospital unique in Fort Worth,” said Dr. Thomas
Coleman.?

Nate Rivera, who was employed there for fifty years, had the same
point of view: “Saint Joseph was different from all of the other hospi-
tals in the city, when the nuns were here.”8* And Esther Gutiérrez, long-
time resident of Fort Worth who worked for many years in the pharma-
cy with Sister Euphrosina, said that “Harris Hospital and Saint Joseph
have always been compared, but the people who came to Saint Joseph
came because they knew they would receive more kindness and per-
sonal care here because of the sisters.”® Dr. W. S. Lorimer, Jr., main-
tained, “The sisters offered a spiritual care that was not present in the
other hospitals. It is a great loss to see them go.”8

According to Dr. W. W. Moorman, “Fort Worth always recognized
Saint Joseph as the hospital with heart, a Christian, charitable institu-
tion, and that was because of the presence of the sisters. . . . Their pres-
ence had an invaluable influence, and I feel that I was fortunate to work
with them. They kept my mind on what it was all about.””

Although the regular sound of trains whistling by still fills the halls
of Saint Joseph Hospital in the 1990s, the modern complex of buildings
shows very little resemblance to the small frame structure in which the
sisters began their care of the sick in Fort Worth. As Bishop Delaney
wisely pointed out in his centennial address, however, it is not the build-
ings that make the hospital; it is the community of people working
together in their dedication to the care of the sick. The sisters have left
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their imprint on this community of people working together and trust
that the spirit of personal concern, loving care, and community service
that they established over 100 years ago still resounds, as does the loco-
motive whistle, in the halls of Saint Joseph Hospital.
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ADMINISTRATORS

MISSOURI PACIFIC HOSPITAL
Sister Mary of the Assumption Roguier 1885

Sister M. Xavier Wiss 1885-1887
Sister St. Leo Lyne 1887-1889

SAINT JOSEPH HOSPITAL

Sister M. Xavier Wiss 1889-1898
Sister M. Nativity Henebery 1898-1900
Sister St. Denis Lynch 1900-1908
Sister M. Colette Foran 1908-1909
Mother M. Cleophas Hurst 1909-1912
Mother Nativity Henebery 1912-1918
Mother M. Alexis Harrison 1918-1922
Mother de Sales Keegan 1922-1925
Mother St. George Daly 1925-1926
Mother M. Robert O’Dea 1926-1928
Mother Philip Neri Neville 1928-1931
Mother Nativity Henebery 1931-1933
Mother Mary of Lourdes Hickey 1933-1937
Mother M. Friediana Hulhmann 1937-1943
Mother Mary Ascension Ryan 1943-1952
Mother Claudine Martin 1952-1955
Mother Mary Vincent O’Donnell 1955-1957
Mother Dorothea Burke 1957-1958
Mother M. Alban Mannion 1958-1964
Sister Mary James Whelan 1964-1972
Sister Mary Eustace Farrell 1972-1974
Thomas E. Cannady 1974-1982
Donald G. Loftus 1983-1986
Dianne Stimson, Acting CEO 1986-1987
Kevin R. Andrews 1987-1989
William D. Myers, Interim 1989-1990
Dr. Arthur A. Gonzilez 1990
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PRESIDENTS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF

J. M. Givens, M.D.

T. L. Goodman, M.D.

R. J. White, M.D.

Jack Daly, M.D.

C. E Clayton, M.D.
Joseph F. McVeigh, M.D.
Frank S. Schoonover, Jr., M.D.
F. L. Snyder, M.D.

Tom B. Bond, M.D.

H. O. Deaton, M.D.

Frank S. Sanders, M.D.
C. S. E. Touzel, M.D.

A. D. Ladd, M.D.

Jack Daly, M.D.

Tom B. Bond, M.D.

J. R. Cochran, M.D.
Frank McKee, M.D.

W. R. Lenox, M.D.

W. P. Higgins, Jr., M.D.
C. H. McCallum, Jr., M.D.
John H. Richards, M.D.
R. C. Stow, Jr., M.D.

W. W. Moorman, M.D.
Thomas B. Bussey, M.D.
Harold Beasley, M.D.
Thomas J. Coleman, M.D.
Dewey W. Johnston, M.D.
James O. McBride, M.D.
W. S. Lorimer, Jr., M.D.
Roy E. Snyder, M.D.

M. Dwain McDonald, M.D.
Wiltie A. Creswell, M.D.
William M. Head, M.D.
Lynn C. Perkins, M.D.
Stephen Eppstein, M.D.
John R. Armstrong, M.D.
Richard McKee, M.D. (Honorary)
O. D. Raulston, Jr., M.D.
Robert J. Turner, 111, M.D.
Robert L. Ward, M.D.

W. S. Lorimer, III, M.D.
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ST. ANTHONY’S HOSPITAL:
BLAZING A TRAIL OF MERCY ON THE
GREAT PLAINS OF THE TEXAS PANHANDLE

When the first requests came in 1898 for the establishment of a hospital
in Amarillo, Rev. Mother Madeleine Chollet was forced to reject them.
It was not that she was indifferent to the earnest appeals of the people.
She knew very well that the Panhandle desperately needed a hospital and
that many persons were dying in that area for want of proper health care.

Neither was she adverse to sending sisters to the far distant great
plains of Texas located 533 miles from San Antonio. She had already
made a commitment to open St. Mary’s School in the nearby town of
Clarendon.'

She also knew that the area was “a rich cattle country, but
Catholicity [was] almost unknown.” In fact, Amarillo was a place where
anti-Catholic sentiments, prejudice, and bigotry were widespread. She
had sent sisters into such places before, however, and she would not hes-
itate to do it again.

None of these reasons would have deterred her from responding to
the doctors and people of Amarillo. It was simply a matter of not hav-
ing enough sisters to start another institution. The Congregation, found-
ed in 1869, was not yet thirty years old. It had grown rapidly in mem-
bers with most of the sisters coming from Germany and Ireland, and
some few from the United States. So many hospitals and so many
schools had been opened during the short period of time, however, that
by the turn of the century, the sisters’resources had been stretched as far
as they could go.

Santa Rosa Infirmary, the first foundation, was now well estab-
lished and expanding in San Antonio. The sisters had taken up their
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work as nurses and administrators in hospitals in other parts of Texas
also, in Marshall, Palestine, Fort Worth, Boerne, and Tyler. They had
even moved beyond the Texas border to St. Louis, Kansas City, and
Sedalia, Missouri; to Venice, Illinois; to Las Vegas, New Mexico; and to
Monterrey, México. Requests were still coming in for new hospitals,
schools, and homes for the aged, far more requests than the sisters could
accept.

The physicians in Amarillo were familiar with the work of the
Incarnate Word sisters. They had come to know them through Saint
Joseph’s Infirmary in Fort Worth located 350 miles away, where, for
want of a hospital in the Panhandle, they frequently transferred their
patients for surgical and medical treatment. The trip by train was long
and sometimes even fatal for those who were seriously ill, but there was
no alternative.

Dr. David E. Fly, a member of the Saint Joseph’s staff, was plan-
ning to move his practice from Fort Worth to Amarillo, and he realized
how important it would be to have the sisters open a hospital in the area.
He wrote several letters to Rev. Mother Madeleine to encourage her to
take on the project:

[The people of Amarillo] are very much in need of such an institution.
The place has three railroads, being the terminus of the Pecos Valley
[Railroad], which will be completed about the first of January running
from Amarillo to Roswell, New Mexico, a distance of 200 miles. The
shops of this road will be located at Amarillo. It is also the largest town
on the plains. . . . Numbers of people come there for treatment and can-
not find accommodations. Several sick people had to be taken in by pri-
vate families . . . because they could not get quarters at the hotels and
boarding houses. . . . There are a great many Catholics in that country,
and I know every class of people would give you every encouragement,
and the physicians will be glad to cooperate with you as well as, I am
sure, the Pecos Valley Road would.?

Before he even had a response to this letter, Dr. Fly wrote again
offering more arguments for opening the hospital. “I never saw a place
that offered better inducement,” he said. “The citizens will give you
ground to suit your own selection and other donations. . . . [Patients] are
leaving here nearly every day for other points for hospital advantages,
many going to Kansas City. . . . If you can’t manage it now, next spring
or even early summer would do.”

Politely but firmly, Rev. Mother Madeleine wrote back: “Very sin-
cerely do we thank you for your continued interest in our regard respect-
ing the proposed sanitarium at Amarillo. We regret that it is impossible
for us to think of undertaking it. We cannot know when we could, as we
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have too many obligations to meet now, and our sisters are not numer-
ous enough for all the tasks imposed on them.”?

In spite of her refusal, the appeals kept coming in. With the begin-
ning of the railroad, Amarillo had become a cattle-shipping center and
was attracting enterprising settlers from other parts of the country. With
the increase in population the need for establishing a hospital in the
town became more and more acute. Editorials appeared in the Amarillo
newspaper, and more letters came from the doctors and leading citizens,
including the following from W. H. Fuqua:

There are numerous arguments we could mention why an institution of
this kind should do well here. . .. To commence with, this is the center
and natural outlet of Northwest Texas including the entire plains country,
and it is also the railroad terminus of two roads with fair prospect of
another road coming. . . . [It is] a cattle country, a great part of the popu-
lation being people without families, and in the event of an accident or
sickness they have to seek both medical and personal attention at the
hotel, which is very unsatisfactory from several standpoints which are
useless for me to mention to you. One of the main reasons I take this mat-
ter up with you is [that] I had occasion to have an operation on our little
boy, and we took him to the St. Joseph’s Infirmary, Fort Worth, . . . and
the service and treatment we received there from the physicians and espe-
cially the sisters was highly satisfactory.®

The persistence of Dr. Fly and the many appeals from the people
of Amarillo were very moving, but Rev. Mother Madeleine still felt that
she could not open another hospital. Furthermore, she had been given
some disturbing information recently about the lack of a Catholic
church and a resident priest in the area. If she were to send sisters there,
they would have no access to the sacraments.

Amarillo, at the time, was a mission of the church of Clarendon
located 56 miles away. Mass was usually celebrated in Clarendon on
Sundays, except when the priest was traveling to some other part of his
extensive parish which stretched all across the Panhandle, reaching as
far as Oklahoma on the East and New Mexico on the West. To get to
Clarendon from Amarillo, the sisters would have to take a train, and the
trip back and forth would take all day. They could never leave their
patients unattended for that length of time. Rev. Mother Madeleine
decided that the hospital was out of the question.

In response to this argument, Dr. Fly persuaded Father J. E. Lenert,
who was stationed at Clarendon, to assure the sisters that the influential
men of the city had agreed to give land not only for the hospital but also
for a church and to “donate liberally” toward the building of both struc-
tures. “As to a resident priest there,” Father Lenert said, “I think we can
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make arrangements in the future concerning that. I desire to cut loose a
great deal of this mission [Clarendon] as soon as possible.”’

The Amarillo Evening News began to campaign for the hospital by
running a series of stories on the issue. The editor interviewed Father J. E.
Burns, who had succeeded Father Lenert, urging him to intervene with the
sisters.’ “First,” Father Burns said, “it will be necessary to establish a
church of our faith in the town. . . . All that will be asked of Amarillo will
be to make such donations to help in its erection.”

When no one came forward to offer the donations, the editor ran
an urgent appeal in the editorial column, “Have we not a philanthropist
in our midst who will donate a plot of ground for the proposed sanitar-
ium?”1° He was successful in provoking interest in the project, and
some wealthy citizens seemed ready to offer help.

Finally, in 1900, after refusing the many requests from doctors,
townspeople, and even clergymen that had been coming to her for two
years, Rev. Mother Madeleine agreed to send four sisters to establish
what would be called a sanitarium. The warm, dry climate of Amarillo
was an attractive location for persons suffering from tuberculosis, and
the new facility would be designed to serve their long-term needs.

Dr. Fly began to make arrangements for securing a building that
could be used for both the sanitarium and the sisters’ convent. He wrote
to Rev. Mother Madeleine with two proposals. His first suggestion was
to buy an old structure that had once been used as a public school and
that could be purchased for $1,000. The land was not included in the
sale, but if a piece of property could be secured, the structure could be
moved to a new location for an additional $250. His second proposal
was to look for a house that might be purchased for as little as $3,500
and converted into a suitable facility.

Rev. Mother Madeleine was not satisfied with either of these ideas.
When it came to making decisions on property matters, she could drive
a hard bargain. She was also a wise business woman who was guarding
the Congregation’s limited finances. The old school building would
need too many repairs and renovations, and the estimated cost of pur-
chasing the house was “far too expensive,” she said. “We decided not to
buy this,” she told the sisters at home, “but proposed [to Dr. Fly and his
associates] that we would build a house for $2,000, they to give land
and $1,000.”!1

Dr. Fly persuaded William H. Bush, who lived in Chicago but
owned the Frying Pan Ranch in Amarillo, to donate land at the inter-
section of N. W. Seventh and Polk Street. The property covered a square
block in the Glidden and Sanborn addition to Amarillo. Mr. Bush, who
was a strong Presbyterian, gave the land because he thought the sisters
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“were the only ones who would have the determination to keep a hos-
pital going” in Amarillo.!2 The donation was made, however, on condi-
tion that a hospital would be constructed within two years.!3

Dr. Fly was not about to lose control of the property and arranged
to start building immediately, even before the sisters arrived in
Amarillo. Rev. Mother Madeleine herself took on the responsibility of
overseeing the work, even though arrangements had to be handled by
correspondence from San Antonio. The sanitarium had to be built for
the lowest possible cost, and she did everything possible to economize
on the project, even writing to the railroads for a discount on the trans-
portation of materials:

We have just let the contract for the erection of a sanitarium in Amarillo,
Texas, at the urgent request of the physicians of the place, who claim that
an institution of this kind in so delightful a climate, will be of immense
benefit to suffering humanity.

Our contractors are to purchase two or three cars of lumber, either at
Beaumont or Orange, and we would be very grateful if you could grant
us a rebate on the freight. . . . We ask this in the name of charity and love
for suffering humanity, as you are aware, kind sir, that our only resources
are the labor of our hands in the service of the sick and the care of the
poor.'4

In the fall of 1900, the cornerstone of the new building was blessed
by the Rev. David H. Dunn, who had become the pastor of St. Mary’s
Church in Clarendon, and it was decided that the hospital should be
named for the sisters’ home city, San Antonio. On February 13, 1901,
St. Anthony’s was ready for the small community of four sisters to
arrive, and three days later Father Dunn offered the first Mass in the
small chapel.

Sister Cleophas Hurst was appointed superior and became the first
administrator. Other members of the community were Sister Eugenius
Ward, nurse; Sister Winifred Cullen, supervisor of the operating room;
and Sister Conrad Urnau, who was in charge of the kitchen. Sister
Cleophas had been in the Congregation for fifteen years and had expe-
rience as superior and administrator at Saint Joseph’s Infirmary in Fort
Worth; at the Missouri-Kansas and Texas Railroad Hospital in Sedalia,
Missouri; and at the Texas-Pacific Railroad Hospital in Marshall, Texas.
Sisters Conrad, Eugenius, and Winifred, however, were all very young
and very inexperienced. They had been in the Congregation only a short
time and had not yet made final profession of their religious vows. The
little community of four was international in character, with Sisters
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Cleophas, Winifred, and Eugenius coming from Ireland and Sister
Conrad from Germany.

The sisters could hardly have been prepared for the difficulties
they encountered upon their arrival in Amarillo. The two-story, red
brick sanitarium stood alone on the Texas prairie far removed from the
center of the city and its 1,442 citizens. The building faced south with
the main entrance on 7th Street. Its only neighbor was the Fort Worth
and Denver Depot located across the railroad tracks. Herds of cattle fre-
quently roamed the fields around the hospital, and there were no paved
roads or means of transportation. The sisters had to walk long distances
across the dry and dusty prairies to buy food and supplies for the
patients.

One of the stories they told many times in the later years was of
Sister Cleophas and Sister Conrad getting lost and wandering around for
hours trying to find their way through the darkened fields that led from
the depot to the sanitarium. There were no landmarks to guide them on
their way, no houses, no lights, only barren, flat land that stretched for
miles in all directions. “Someone told us Amarillo was the end of the
world,” Sister Conrad said, “and that day we almost believed it because
there wasn’t a house to be seen in any direction.”!?

Although construction of the building that provided twelve patient
rooms had been completed when the sisters arrived, there was no furni-
ture. ““We used big boxes for tables, small boxes for stools,” said Sister
Conrad. “What seemed to be the best room was set aside for the
chapel.” All of the other rooms were reserved for the patients, while the
sisters themselves “slept in the attic.”!®

The building had no electricity or gas, no central heating system,
and no source of light other than kerosene oil lamps which were used
even in the operating room. Heating the building was extremely diffi-
cult in the bitter cold winters of Amarillo. Blue northers could come
howling across the plains leaving the hospital banked in snow and tem-
peratures below freezing. Local citizens were fond of saying, “Only a
barbed wire fence separates Amarillo from the North Pole.” Many parts
of the sanitarium had no heat at all, but for each patient’s room, the sis-
ters secured a small stove that had to be cleaned and supplied with fresh
coal each day.

There was no inside plumbing. Through the force of a windmill,
water was carried into the hospital, and when temperatures dropped
below freezing, it frequently froze in the pipes. To provide drinking
water for the patients and for themselves, the sisters scooped up snow,
carried it into the hospital, and boiled it on the kitchen stove.
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Dr. David Fly, who invited the sisters to
open St. Anthony's Sanitarium in
Amarillo, is pictured here with his wife
(back row left). Other physicians are Dr.
William Lockett and Dr. Claude Wolcott.
Sisters, left to right, are Winifred Cullen,

Alexis Harrison, Cleophas Hurst,
Eugenius Ward, and Conrad Urnau.
Sister Alexis was a member of the gen-
eral administration. The others made up
the first staff of St. Anthony’s.

From the time of its opening in 1901 as
the first medical center in the Texas
Panhandle, St. Anthony's continued to
expand. Photograph shows the five-story
structure built in 1928, that later became
the central part of the hospital, and the
1971 addition that provided new facilities
Sfor surgery, intensive care, and radiation
therapy.

Rev. Mother Madeleine had been promised that a priest would be
stationed in Amarillo and that the sisters would be able to attend Mass
on a regular basis. When they arrived at St. Anthony’s, however, they
found that neither Father Lenert nor Father Dunn, who had come after
him, had succeeded in dividing St. Mary’s Parish. The nearest church
was still located in Clarendon. As Rev. Mother Madeleine had antici-
pated, getting there even on Sundays proved to be a problem. Each
week two sisters boarded the train and made the long journey, while the
other two stayed at home with the patients.

The lack of the sacraments was a great loss for the young sisters
who were used to attending Mass each day in the motherhouse chapel.
Far out on the Texas prairies they seemed to be separated not only from
the rest of civilization but also from their God. Many years later, Sister
Conrad recalled an evening when they all sat on the back steps of the
sanitarium and cried because they were so lonely. Realizing that at the
age of twenty-six she was the oldest of the group, she took control of
the situation urging the others to “look up and laugh.” As they looked
up to the moon and the stars, “all three were soon laughing.”!?
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Just as the sisters found it difficult to get used to life in Amarillo,
so did many of the townspeople find it strange to have them in their
midst. Many had never seen sisters before and did not know what to
make of these strange women dressed in black robes and speaking
English with Irish or German accents. Sometimes the sisters noticed
that as they walked along the pathway into town, the local citizens
crossed to the other side of the road. They found too that some of the
shopkeepers would not trade with them and did not want them in their
stores for fear that their presence would turn other shoppers away. Some
merchants agreed to deal with them but only on a cash basis.

Nevertheless, the sisters went on with their work of trying to set up
a sanitarium in the community, and by March 28, 1901, the institution
was officially dedicated by the Most Rev. E. J. Dunne, Bishop of Dallas.
St. Anthony’s was ready to receive its first patient, who turned out to be
an alcoholic suffering from the D.T.’s (delirium tremens). Additional
patients were slow in coming, even though the local doctors and towns-
people had expressed such an urgency to have the sanitarium estab-
lished. Hospitalization was still strange to many people of the area. All
they knew about it was that many people admitted to the sanitarium died
there, and in an age before sterilization of instruments and the use of
antibiotics, this was unfortunately true. Being admitted to a hospital
was something to be avoided if at all possible. Medical care was also
something that many persons in the area could not afford. Still others
would not consent to hospitalization, because the sanitarium was
Catholic, and they feared the Catholic sisters.

Only three or four patients, one of whom might be a surgical case,
were admitted each month during the first few years, and many of these
were accepted as charity cases. Sometimes the sisters used the empty
rooms to house the children of patients who were hospitalized for long-
term illness. Margaret, George, and James Jones from Atascosa stayed
with the sisters several months while their mother was suffering from
tuberculosis. The sisters opened a school room and taught them classes
in reading, writing, and arithmetic, while Mrs. Jones struggled to over-
come the disease that finally took her life.

Conditions were so bad in the beginning that the sisters went out
to ask for donations to help keep the sanitarium in operation. Sister
Cleophas, the administrator, and “Little Sister Conrad,” as she was
called because of her small stature, regularly went to the construction
crews working on the railroads and asked for help. They became so well
known among the workers on the Santa Fe that many of the men signed
up for regular contributions, and the foreman agreed to deduct dona-
tions from their paychecks.
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By 1902, the long-awaited Catholic parish was established. Father
Dunn moved his residence from Clarendon to Amarillo, which most
people predicted would in the future become the center of population
growth in the area. The sisters provided the new pastor with living quar-
ters at St. Anthony’s, and Mass was celebrated in the sanitarium chapel
every other Sunday when Father Dunn was not out of town traveling
around the countryside to visit the many missions in his vast parish.!?
When he came home to St. Anthony’s, he was parish priest, chaplain to
the patients as well as to the sisters, and all-round handyman. “When he
was at the hospital,” according to Sister Stella O’Sullivan, “he could be
seen going around with a hammer and a box of tools.” He was “the
plumber, the engineer, and when electricity was installed, he was the
electrician.”!”

The sisters soon discovered that Amarillo was a city of many nat-
ural disasters. Their first encounter with such trials occurred shortly
after their arrival when a severe sand and wind storm struck the sanitar-
ium. In the regular monthly letter from the motherhouse, Sister Gabriel
Wheelahan reported that “the chimney blew down, fell through the sky-
light, and broke the table.” In a way so characteristic of the sisters’
readiness to accept such happenings as divine providence, she added, “It
is too bad, but we must be satisfied with God’s will.”2? Again in 1903,
a cyclone struck the building. “No one was hurt, thanks to our dear
Lord,” the sisters reported, “but a part of the roof was blown away, and
the kitchen chimney torn down.”?!

Although the first years at St. Anthony’s were difficult ones, the sis-
ters finally began to see the number of patients increase and to gain the
good will of the townspeople. The area was becoming one of the major
wheat-growing centers of the country, and the large cattle ranches were
being divided into stock farms with train loads of “nesters” coming in to
work the fields. The population began to increase as early as 1906, and so
many persons were seeking admission to the sanitarium that Dr. Fly wrote
to Rev. Mother Alphonse Brollier, who had succeeded Mother Madeleine,
and proposed that an addition be built. “Patients are turned away and are
going elsewhere for treatment,” he said. “We should have a modern and
up-to-date operating room. . . . Every physician here has the kindliest feel-
ing toward your institution but must have a hospital with equipment nec-
essary to keep up with the progress of the times.”??

Rev. Mother Alphonse refused the urgent request from the doctor
in Amarillo, however, just as her predecessor had done before her. This
time, the refusal came because of lack of money. Most of the congrega-
tional resources were being used for the building of the Motherhouse
Chapel in San Antonio. The chapel had been Rev. Mother Madeleine’s
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cherished dream and was designed as an elegant and richly decorated
structure. The sisters felt that no expense should be spared in its con-
struction, for it was to be, as the inscription over the entrance read, “the
House of God . . ., the Gate of Heaven.” Paying for the magnificent edi-
fice was going to create such a financial strain on the Congregation that
it would be impossible to take on any other building projects.

But Dr. Fly was not easily discouraged, and the need for more rooms
in the sanitarium was getting critical. The area was now growing rapidly
in population, particularly because of the expansion of the Santa Fe
Railroad.? Frequently, the railway companies opened their own hospitals
to care for the many injuries involved in laying the tracks and operating
the steam engines, but no medical facility had been established in
Amarillo. The twelve patient rooms at St. Anthony’s were totally inade-
quate to accommodate the local citizens as well as the railroad men need-
ing hospitalization. Many were turned away every day. Dr. Fly wrote once
again urging Mother Alphonse to enlarge the building:

I sincerely believe that the time has arrived when it is absolutely essen-
tial to the future welfare and success of St. Anthony’s Sanitarium that an
addition including some other improvements, a modern and up-to-date
operating room, etc., be added.

Amarillo has now about 10,000 inhabitants, and it will soon be put on the
main line of the Santa Fe from Chicago to San Francisco and will be an
important division point to the Santa Fe, which now has shops here,
employing about 250 men. . . . If you can furnish the accommodations by
the first of January, or as soon as possible thereafter for the employees of
this road, I am sure you can get the contract.?*

The persistent pleas at last won Rev. Mother Alphonse’s support,
and with a loan of $25,000 secured from the Mercantile Trust Co. of
Amarillo, plans were drawn up for the addition. One of Dr. Fly’s prin-
cipal concerns was that the building should have some wards set aside
for the “number of Mexicans and Negroes” being employed in laying
the tracks for the railroad. “Neither . . . are very popular in this section
of the country or state,” he said, “and it will be absolutely necessary to
provide a ward for these men.”?

In 1907, many years before the American Civil Rights Movement,
discrimination against minorities was the general rule in most aspects of
life in Amarillo as in the rest of the country. In contrast to many other
institutions throughout the Southwest, however, St. Anthony’s had never
refused admission to either Mexicans or to black persons, and the sisters
were as insistent as Dr. Fly that they be given proper care. Nevertheless,
hospital facilities were segregated with minority patients often crowded
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into separate wards. It would take many years before such practices
would be changed.

Before the new addition could be completed, an epidemic of
typhoid broke out in Amarillo. The sanitarium could not accommodate
the sudden onrush of patients. “Every room is occupied,” Mother
Presentation, the administrator, wrote. “Even the office has a patient.
There are four patients in one room—father, mother, and two children,
all very ill with typhoid. It is more than Sister Victor [O’Donnell] can
do to take care of them, give them sponge baths, medicine, nourishment,
and be always at hand with the bed pan.”?

And five months later, she reported again, “We have been crowd-
ed to the doors. This time we even had to give up our own beds.”?” As
the epidemic and contagion continued to spread, it became necessary to
create an isolation unit apart from the rest of the hospital. Sister Blaise
Bracken, together with Drs. G. T. Thomas and R. Walker, cleared out the
laundry building at the back of the sanitarium and equipped it as a “pest
house.” Sister Blaise, bravely facing the dangers of infection, moved
out to the makeshift unit and took up the responsibility of nursing the
patients. Each day, Father Dunn carried out meals from the hospital
kitchen, setting them down at a safe distance from the isolated area.
Sister Blaise brought the food into the ward and fed it to the patients.

The severity of the typhoid epidemic made the sisters even more
aware of the need for additional space. They had stretched the resources
of the sanitarium far beyond its limits, and had worked day and night to
care for the many victims brought to their door. Their sacrifices did not
go unrecognized by the townspeople, who for the first time accepted
and respected the sisters. Many years later, Bishop Lawrence DeFalco
reflected on the situation, “The general public [began] to realize the
devotion of the sisters and how they did not fear for themselves to be
infected.” From that time on “the reputation of the sisters grew [as well
as] the support of the people on their behalf.”?8

The new addition was not completed until 1909. One of the princi-
pal obstacles during the course of construction was the installation of a
sewer system. No provision had been made for this in the original build-
ing, and the sisters discovered that the installation was going to cost them
far more than they had anticipated. Building materials were arriving daily
at the depot, and the bricklayers were hard at work, but the funds that had
been borrowed for construction were already running out, leaving noth-
ing to pay for the sewer line. The administrator, Mother Presentation,
wrote to the general administration in San Antonio, “We . . . have $4,500;
this will not last long; the work will have to stop.”?’
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Before the sisters sent the construction workers off, however, they
decided to appeal to the City for help but found very little support for
their urgent request. A heated argument followed over whose responsi-
bility it was to install the underground pipes. Only through the inter-
vention of Father Dunn was the matter finally settled. “We had a big
fight with the Mayor and City Council,” Mother Presentation reported.
“Now they are putting [the sewer line] in at their own expense, and for
this we may thank Father Dunn.”*°

By April 15, 1909, construction was proceeding once again, and as
the building neared completion, Father Dunn blessed the cornerstone.
The sisters placed a document within the stone expressing gratitude to
all who had assisted them along the way and setting forth their goals for
the future of the institution. They noted, in particular, the “hearty good
help” of the physicians in making St. Anthony’s possible and expressed
their earnest wish that it would serve the people of Amarillo as “a thor-
oughly up-to-date and fully equipped sanitarium wherein the sick and
suffering [would] receive all proper attention and care, according to the
requirements of advanced medical and surgical science.” They stated
also that since they had “been obliged to incur a heavy responsibility for
the erection of the new building, it [was] hoped that the good citizens of
Amarillo and especially the honorable physicians [would] realize what
sacrifices [were] being made for the good of the town.”3!

The dedication ceremony was held August 29, 1909, with the
Right Rev. Theophile Meerschaert, Bishop of Oklahoma, presiding. The
new building, a two and one-half story structure, was constructed of
gray brick and faced Polk Street, forming a “T” shape with the original
building. It had electric lights, running water, and the much disputed
sewerage connections. It provided thirty additional rooms for patients
and a well equipped surgical suite. Total cost of construction provided
by the motherhouse in San Antonio was $100,000, far more than the sis-
ters had originally planned to spend, but the modern, up-to-date facility
satisfied all of their expectations. They took great pride in announcing
the opening to all of the physicians of the area:

The new and costly addition to St. Anthony’s Sanitarium, Amarillo,
Texas, is now complete and open for the reception of patients.

Its construction and equipment are strictly modern, being heated by
steam, lighted by gas and electricity, and provided with baths of every
description.

The Operating Room and the Sterilizing and Surgeons’ Preparation
Rooms are complete in every detail; in fact, nothing is omitted that will
aid the surgeon in his work.
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This is an ideal country for operative surgery on account of the purity of
the atmosphere and the absence of pathogenic bacteria, the bane of mod-

ern surgery.

An invitation is extended to all the members of the profession to bring or
send their patients needing hospital treatment, the same to be under their
own care or that of any physician of their selection. . . .

Rates range from $10.00 to $28.00 per week. This includes board and
ordinary nursing. Medicines and special nursing, extra.*?

Both the sisters and the doctors were determined that St.
Anthony’s would become a respectable health institution, and once they
had the new building in place they set to work immediately in provid-
ing the necessary staff to care for the patients. It was impossible, how-
ever, to find persons in Amarillo who had been trained in nursing. The
sisters decided they would have to set up their own training program,
and in 1909, shortly after the new addition opened, they secured a char-
ter from the State of Texas for the establishment of the St. Anthony’s
Training School. Listed as members of the corporation were Mother M.
Presentation O’Meara, superior and administrator; Sister Camilla
O’Connor, who was the first director of the school; and Sister Helen
Sisson. Classes were taught by the physicians as well as the sisters and
were held in one room reserved in the basement of the sanitarium.
Enrollment grew slowly. By 1913, the first class graduated with only
four students, Eleanor Heasler, Jessie York, Sister Susanna Mayock, and
Sister Thaddeus Byrme, who many years later became administrator of
the hospital.

During all of these early years, Father David Dunn, who was often
referred to as the founder of the Catholic Church in the Panhandle, con-
tinued to serve as the chaplain of the hospital as well as pastor of Sacred
Heart Parish. The small chapel he had erected was the place of worship
for the sisters and patients of the hospital as well as the parish church
for the Catholic population of Amarillo. It was not until 1916 that a new
Sacred Heart Church, the great dream of Father Dunn, was constructed.
Unfortunately, he did not live to see it become the center of parish wor-
ship. He died just as the new building was completed. It was used for
the first time for his funeral.

A short time later, Father Bartholomew O’Brien was appointed
pastor of Sacred Heart Church and chaplain of St. Anthony’s. He made
his rounds to his parishioners in a horse and buggy at first, and later in
a Model-T Ford. He too was closely associated with the sisters.
Extremely conscientious himself in following the rules and regulations
of the Catholic Church, he demanded the same strict observance of the
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letter of the law from the sisters. Nevertheless, he was a devoted chap-
lain to the sanitarium for many years until his death in 1962 and was in
many ways responsible for the early development of St. Anthony’s just
as Father Dunn had been before him.

Physicians who shared in that responsibility and who became loyal
supporters of the institution during its difficult beginnings were Dr.
David Fly, who first convinced Rev. Mother Madeleine to send sisters
to Amarillo; Dr. J. W. Pierson, who admitted the first patient; Dr. E. A.
Johnson, who was dean of the school of nursing; and Dr. A. F. Lumpkin,
under whose direction in 1920 the medical staff was organized, includ-
ing Drs. G. T. Vinyard, J. R. Wrather, George T. Thomas, R. D. Gist, and
Isaac Rasco as executive members.3?

The Spanish influenza epidemic broke out in Amarillo in 1918, tak-
ing the lives of many persons in the community just as it did in towns and
cities across the nation. The sanitarium was crowded with patients, and
sisters, doctors, and staff worked long hours to give the extra care that was
needed. Student nurses were called on to do extra duty as well, and Sister
Sixtus Doherty, director of the nurses’ training program, worked side by
side with them.

Before the epidemic subsided it had taken its toll not only on the
patients but also on the sanitarium workers exposed to the highly con-
tagious disease. One of the first to be affected was Sister Sixtus. Her
death had a great impact on St. Anthony’s, casting a pall of gloom in
particular over the students who mourned the loss of the sister they
loved so well. Many recalled how she had taught them not only the
skills of nursing but also the understanding and acceptance of all per-
sons regardless of their race or religion. Sister Sixtus had no tolerance
for the widespread bigotry against Catholicism that could still be found
in parts of Northwest Texas. She insisted that prayer be part of the reg-
ular classroom routine for the student nurses, regardless of their reli-
gious affiliation, and dismissed the objections, saying, “Don’t we all
pray to the same God?34

Before 1918 came to a close, Amarillo began to recover from the
impact of the influenza and to experience a dramatic change in charac-
ter. Huge deposits of natural gas were discovered in the area, and peo-
ple crowded into the town looking for employment. Oil derricks sprang
up all over the plains, and the population quadrupled. According to his-
torian Thomas Thompson, “Overnight it changed from a cattle town to
a cattle and oil town. . . . Half a dozen office buildings sprang up down-
town including the prize of them all, the Santa Fe Building.”® St.
Anthony’s was no longer isolated on a barren prairie but located in the

134



ST. ANTHONY’S HOSPITAL: BLAZING A TRAIL OF MERCY

center of a fast-growing city whose population could well afford excel-
lent hospital care. The years ahead held great promise for growth.

The sanitarium kept pace with the advancement in the town, con-
tinually upgrading its facilities and the quality of health care. By 1924,
the sisters were applying to the American College of Surgeons for
accreditation. Dr. J. P. Cassidy, who made the first inspection visit,
reported that “the institution was in far better shape for standardization
than the average hospital of its size.”36 Just two years later the hospital
gained full recognition.

By 1926, Polk St. was paved, and access to St. Anthony’s was
greatly improved. The sisters had to pay a portion of the cost, even
though the street was a public thoroughfare. After an argument with city
officials, similar to the earlier dispute over the sewer line, they agreed
to make the payment realizing what the improvement would mean for
the sanitarium.

With the rapid increase in population in the late 1920s following
the oil boom, space once again became a problem. Patients were com-
ing to the sanitarium not only from Amarillo and its surrounding area
but also from parts of New Mexico, Colorado, and Oklahoma. Mother
Mary Ascension Ryan, the administrator, determined that another addi-
tion must be constructed. When she wrote to Rev. Mother Mary John
O’Shaughnessy for permission to borrow the necessary funds, however,
she found that the Congregation was investing a large amount of money
in expanding Saint Joseph’s Infirmary in Fort Worth and had little left
to support other institutions in need.

The most that could be offered to St. Anthony’s was the autho-
rization for a loan of $100,000, even though this amount would not
cover the total cost of the building. In sending the authorization, Mother
Bonaventure Burns added, “Rev. Mother would like to know how you
[will] be able to provide for the remainder.””*” Mother Mary Ascension
spent some time trying to find the answer to that question herself, and
construction was delayed until the following year when Mother Mary of
Lourdes Hickey was appointed administrator and continued the efforts
to secure the necessary money from the Congregational superiors. Her
persistence finally won out, and work began on the new wing that later
served as the central portion of the sanitarium.

By May 24, 1928, the five-story building, which was constructed
at a cost of $375,000, was dedicated by the Right Rev. R. A. Gerken,
Bishop of Amarillo.3® The new addition was crowned by a large celtic
cross, and a statue of St. Anthony was placed in a niche directly under-
neath. The building extended to the north and was connected by a clois-
ter to the 1909 wing, which was renovated to serve as the nurses’ home
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and school of nursing. To describe the institution that now had 100
patient beds and was growing, not only in physical structure but also in
patient services, the name was changed to St. Anthony’s Hospital.

Just one year after the major expansion, the Great Depression
struck the area as it did the rest of the country. The daily census at St.
Anthony’s fell off rapidly, dropping at times to as few as twelve
patients. Doctors sat in their offices every day hoping that a few patients
might come in. Those that did usually paid their bills with “chickens or
produce” or whatever they had to sell—“gasoline, laundry service, or
what have you.”?

The hospital was forced to close the third floor completely, curtail
many of its services, and terminate employees. The sisters had bor-
rowed money to finance the new building and were now forced to bor-
row again to pay on the loan. It was often difficult even to buy food for
the patients, and as many as forty unemployed, hungry men lined up at
the back door each day asking for something to eat. Also, several fami-
lies in the neighborhood came regularly with baskets begging for help
in feeding their children. Although the sisters often went hungry them-
selves, they never turned the men or the families away. Prayer was their
great source of consolation, and it was during this time that they began
the practice of every Thursday having the Holy Hour before the Blessed
Sacrament as a means of imploring God’s help in the desperate situa-
tion, a practice they continued for many years.

The financial losses of the depression were followed by another
period of hardship and deprivation for the people of the Panhandle. A
series of terrible dust storms struck the area in the 1930s sending black
walls of dirt into the air and turning day into night. The “black bliz-
zards,” as the storms were called, brought with them not only severe
property damage and the loss of crops and livestock but also a plague of
health problems.

According to Sister Charles Marie Frank, who was in the depart-
ment of X-ray at the time, “Over one-third of the community developed
emphysema or some other pulmonary problem.” The elderly in particu-
lar were affected by the dust that sifted in through door and window
frames covering everything with a yellowish brown silt and spreading
disease and infection. Patients crowded into the hospital, which in the
1930s had no antibiotics to treat the disease. Dust-pneumonia cases
filled the hospital floors. “We all wore masks,” said Sister Charles
Marie, “nurses, doctors, even patients. The dust had to be shoveled out,
not only because it was so thick but also because sweeping it would
simply scatter it to other areas and spread disease. No surgery could be
performed unless it was absolutely necessary, for fear of infection from
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the pervading dust. Many patients died as a result of those storms that
continued over a couple of years.”40

In the same period, Amarillo was struck by another natural disas-
ter when a series of ice storms struck the city. As utility poles and elec-
tric lines broke under the heavy layers of ice, the city was paralyzed,
without lights, without water. St. Anthony’s was able to continue its
operations only because a steel tank erected in 1921 supplied the hospi-
tal with water. Persons exposed to the bitter cold temperatures and those
injured on the ice-covered streets filled the patient rooms at the hospi-
tal. The sisters were called upon to work night and day taking care of
the many emergency cases being admitted.

Years later, they could recall the severe strain that the disaster
placed on the hospital. They could remember also an incident that
occurred the evening before one of the storms that injected some humor
into the frightful situation. Mother Mary Ascension and Sister Conrad
left the hospital for a trip to San Antonio. They were to travel on the
Pullman car that was prepared at the depot for Amarillo passengers to
board early in the evening. The car was then held on the tracks until the
locomotive arrived late at night, hooked it up to the rest of the train, and
continued on its journey across the plains of Texas. The sisters, tired
from working all day at the hospital, got into their Pullman berths and
went to sleep expecting to awaken the next morning at the San Antonio
depot. Much to their surprise, they looked out their windows just at day-
break to discover the ice storm had made the railroad tracks unsafe for
travel, and the Pullman had never left Amarillo!

The Panhandle gradually began to recover by the end of the decade
from the triple disasters of depression, dust storms, and ice storms. The
services of the hospital had been expanded, and in 1938, St. Anthony’s
reached a record high of 3,250 patients and 22,177 patient days of hos-
pital service. The very busy maternity department recorded 379 births.
Twenty-five sisters were serving on the hospital staff as nurses, admin-
istrators, laboratory technicians, and teachers in the school of nursing.
They also handled admissions, medical records, patient accounts,
housekeeping, the hospital laundry, and the dietary department.

In the same year, 1938, the school of nursing had a record gradu-
ating class of eighteen students. Under the direction of Sister Charles
Marie Frank, it was approved by the Texas State Board of Nurse
Examiners and accredited by The University of Texas for granting thir-
ty semester hours toward the baccalaureate degree.

“Several outstanding physicians joined the hospital staff during
this period,” according to Dr. George M. Waddill, “Drs. B. M. Puckett,
A. J. Streit, George Cultra, Frank Duncan, to name just a few. They
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were very loyal to St. Anthony’s and worked hard to bring the hospital
up to date with new medical procedures and equipment.”*! Members of
the Gist Firm were also among the early physicians on the staff: Doctors
R. D. Gist, A. E. Winsett, Isaac Rasco, Neal Hall, Dan Loving, Richard
Keys, W. H. Wheir, and M. Winsett.*?

By the 1940s, St. Anthony’s was establishing a reputation for its
outstanding doctors and for its excellent care of patients, although
equipment was still rather primitive compared with later developments.
Dr. Waddill, who came to St. Anthony’s in 1935, could recall a time
when the hospital did not even have an incubator for premature infants.
“We just had to improvise,” he said, “by using an orange crate with a
sheet draped over it and an electric light bulb placed inside. If oxygen
had to be administered to the infant, the apparatus was inserted through
slits in the sheet.”*?

With the bombing of Pearl Harbor and America’s involvement in
World War II, hospital progress was brought to a halt. Many of the doc-
tors and nurses were called to serve in the military branches. Those who
stayed behind at St. Anthony’s worked extra shifts, often spending as
many as twenty hours a day in the hospital.

Medical supplies were scarce, and expansion of the physical plant
was at a standstill for lack of construction materials which were gener-
ally reserved for industry associated with the war effort. The only
change in facilities that took place at St. Anthony’s during this period
was an enlargement and renovation of the chapel made possible by a
loan of $6,000 from the motherhouse.

Bishop Laurence FitzSimon blessed the newly installed altar and
the redecorated portion of the building on June 18, 1942. A new taber-
nacle was donated by the bishop and the priests of the Amarillo diocese
and presented to the sisters in recognition of their many years of service
to members of the clergy. Rev. T. D. O’Brien of Slaton delivered the ser-
mon for the occasion and recognized the role of the hospital in bringing
the Catholic Church to Amarillo:

The old chapel of St. Anthony’s Hospital may be considered the moth-
er church of the Panhandle of Texas [and] was the place to which all the
priests came. Travel down the Santa Fe to the Oklahoma line, go south,
go in any direction and you will find crosses erected by priests whose
first acquaintance with the Texas Panhandle was made in St. Anthony’s
Hospital. Sisters, you have done a great work, you have spread the
faith, and better still you have helped others spread the faith in this vast
territory.*

As World War II came to a close and physicians returned to their
private practices, they brought with them new medical specialties and
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procedures. Prior to this time, most of the doctors on the staff of St.
Anthony’s had been general practitioners. Now in-house physicians
highly specialized in radiology, pathology, and anesthesiology were
appointed at St. Anthony’s. The age of specialization was changing the
course of medical science.

At the same time, the hospital experienced a sharp increase in
admissions. Every room was occupied, and even the hallways were
filled with patients. The sisters began to plan for expansion. Mother
Mary of Lourdes Hickey, the administrator, persuaded Mayor Lawrence
Hagy to pave Northwest Seventh and Tyler Streets surrounding the hos-
pital. The ambulance entrance on Polk Street was finally made accessi-
ble from all directions.

A shortage of building materials made further expansion impossi-
ble, however, until 1949, when a four-story addition was constructed at
a cost of $400,000. In comparison with later building projects, the cost
of the new building was modest. Nevertheless, the sisters ran out of
funds before it was finished. When they asked for a loan from the gen-
eral administration in San Antonio, they were advised that the
Congregation could not lend the money and that it would be best for St.
Anthony’s to stop the construction project until funds became available
to continue.

When Mother Mary of Lourdes received the shocking news from
San Antonio, she knew that she had to come up with a more creative
solution than to stop the building project. The bricklayers were already
working on the fourth floor. Just one more floor to go, and the roof
would be added. If the project was not completed, everything would be
lost. She made a desperately convincing appeal to the contractor to
reduce the size of the building by one story and to complete the work at
his own expense, promising to repay him on a monthly basis. He agreed
to the proposal and finished the work, paying all of the construction
costs himself to get the job done. As soon as the building was finished,
the sisters began paying off their debt, straining the operating budget as
far as it would go, but never missing a monthly payment. The fifth and
final floor was added two years later. The additional wing provided
space for a new maternity division and brought the hospital capacity to
165 beds.

Directing the maternity unit was Sister Alfreda Folan, who had
come to Amarillo in 1945 to begin her forty-six-year career in nursing,
most of it spent in the area of obstetrics. It was not at all unusual for
Sister Alfreda to deliver an infant that arrived ahead of schedule or
before the patient’s physician could get to the hospital. It was not at all
unusual either for her to baptize a child that was in danger of death. She
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estimated that during the course of her career she had baptized well over
100 newborn infants in the nurseries of different hospitals, many of
them at St. Anthony’s.

Sister Alfreda offered such loving care to her patients that parents
often asked her to suggest a name for their child. “They felt it was a
privilege to have a sister pick out the baby’s name,” she said.*> She usu-
ally suggested Michael for the boys because that was her father’s name
or perhaps Kenneth, after Dr. Flamm, who as an intern in Santa Rosa
helped her during her early years of training. Several years later the sis-
ters teaching at St. Mary’s Academy wondered why they were having
difficulty distinguishing so many Michaels and Kenneths in their class-
rooms. And long after Sister Alfreda left Amarillo a young man might
return to St. Anthony’s looking for the sister that named him—one of
the many Michaels! What names did she offer for the girls? She con-
fessed that she wasn’t too particular about those!

The postwar years brought an increase in enrollment in the school
of nursing and a corresponding need for new facilities. Representatives
of the National League for Nursing visited the school in 1952 and found
the educational program under the direction of Sister Bernard Marie
Borgmeyer well established and ready for approval, but strongly urged
the administration to replace the classroom building and nurses’ resi-
dence. By this time Sister Charles Marie had been appointed to the gen-
eral council as inspectress general of hospitals and of schools of nurs-
ing. In her insistence on complying with the highest professional stan-
dards and in her characteristically direct manner of speaking, she wrote
an urgent letter to the superiors of the Congregation saying that enroll-
ment in the school could be higher if the facilities were improved,
“There is definite evidence that students are not coming to this school
because they are ashamed to live in the conditions provided for them. .
. . The number of Catholic students in the area is increasing, and this
school should be made attractive to them.”#6

Just one year later the original sanitarium building was razed to
make room for a new nurses’home and education building. Ground was
broken on December 24, 1954, for the structure located on the corner of
Northwest Seventh and Tyler Sts. The building was constructed at a cost
of $600,000 and offered accommodations for seventy-five students.

In dedicating the new building on June 13, 1956, County Judge W.
M. Adams used the inscription from the Amarillo courthouse to recog-
nize the accomplishments at St. Anthony’s. “To my mind,” he said, “the
Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word, St. Anthony’s Hospital, its new
nurses’ home, and the church they represent confirm in every sense of
the words the meaning conveyed by the inscription, ‘Their efforts were
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timeless; their courage was undaunted.””#” His words of praise not only
for the hospital but also for the work of the sisters and of the Catholic
Church offered a sharp contrast to the beginnings of St. Anthony’s in
1901, when prejudice was often directed toward the institution because
of its Catholic affiliation.

From the very beginning the hospital had admitted persons with-
out regard to their religious preferences. The number of Catholic
patients was always limited and in direct proportion to the Catholic pop-
ulation of the area. Even in the mid 1950s, Catholics made up only 12%
of the total hospital census. Realizing the importance of the spiritual
well being of their patients, the sisters readily called on ministers of the
local Protestant churches to assist them. Several, such as Jordan
Grooms, pastor of First Methodist Church, were regular visitors to the
hospital and closely associated with the sisters. According to “Brother
Grooms,” as he was called by the sisters, this kind of collaboration
between St. Anthony’s and representatives of the different Protestant
churches was most effective in breaking down the barriers of prejudice
in the city.*®

While the school of nursing continued to grow in enrollment, St.
Anthony’s was approved in 1951 for a second professional education
program with the accreditation of a school for medical record librarians.
The program was directed by Sister Mary of Jesus Singleton, who spent
sixteen years as a nurse and medical record librarian at the hospital. It
was largely through her efforts that the school was recognized by the
American Association of Medical Record Librarians as well as the
American Medical Association. She had begun her work in medical
records when the profession was still in its infancy, and only through
persistence and dedication was she able to win the respect of the physi-
cians for record-keeping. Although they towered over her petite stature
of 4'8", they learned to respond readily with a “Yes, Sister” to her insis-
tent demands that they complete their patient records.

By the time of its golden jubilee, St. Anthony’s had great reason to
be proud of its accomplishments. A four-story unit had been added; the
nurses’ home and education building was in place; and educational pro-
grams in nursing and in medical records were accredited. Sisters, doctors,
nurses, and staff had worked hard over the fifty years to direct the growth
of the hospital from the twelve-room facility that Rev. Mother Madeleine
opened in 1901 to the modern, well-equipped medical complex.

The hospital had offered more charitable care than it had ever
accounted for as pointed out by Bishop Laurence FitzSimon in his
jubilee sermon:
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Some years ago I asked to see the account books so as to know, from a
pure money standpoint, how much charity was expended by the sisters
during the course of the years, but I learned that for almost 30 years no
record had been kept to make this calculation. But since 1930 and up to
about the year 1942 . . . I was able to estimate that more than $300,000
was written off the bills of patients at St. Anthony’s. Up to the present
time that sum has been vastly exceeded and one may be assured that as
long as St. Anthony’s hospital exists, Christian charity will be expended
upon all who deserve this consideration.*

St. Anthony’s remarkable progress earned proper recognition in
1954, when the hospital was given a high rating by the Joint
Commission on the Accreditation of Hospitals. The Joint Commission
had only recently taken over the work of surveying hospitals through-
out the country, a work that had been carried on since 1920 by the
American College of Surgeons. When the first listing of accredited hos-
pitals was published by the Joint Commission, St. Anthony’s was
included and rated “fully accredited.”

The hospital had won broadbased support among the citizens of
Amarillo also. The auxiliary was founded in 1953 with Mrs. Harold
Brady as president. Over the years the organization contributed countless
hours of volunteer service and generous donations of equipment and
financial support.

Such support was often a means of sustaining the hospital, accord-
ing to Sister Josephine Brosnan, who spent twenty-six years in the busi-
ness office and often agonized over meeting the monthly payroll. “It
was always a struggle,” she said.

At the same time the sisters were always concerned about the poor
who could not pay their bills. “We did loads of charity over the years,”
according to Sister Josephine. No one was ever turned away for lack of
funds. Some people paid for services with vegetables, others with meat.
Sister Josephine could even recall one poor man who came into the
office with two live chickens to help toward the payment of his bill. “We
took them and were glad to get them,” she said.>°

The sisters did not believe in collection agencies. They simply
practiced gentle persuasion in getting delinquent bills paid. It usually
worked, sometimes in surprising ways. Sister Leonilla Sperandio, who
preceded Sister Josephine in the business office wrote the following let-
ter to a patient who was faithfully trying to satisfy his account:

We received your check for ten dollars today and have credited your
account with this amount.
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If you will be able to make frequent payments on this account, it will be
taken care of sooner than you can realize.

We are so happy that you are well.3!

Almost fifty years later, in 1990, the patient sent the letter to St.
Anthony’s with an attached note:

I am not sure that Sister Leonilla is still with your group. If she is, please
express my deep appreciation for her consideration years ago, when I was
really short of funds.

I’'m sure that this was cleared up a long time ago.

I am enclosing a small clipping to show you that your kindness was not
wasted, and that in a small way I am trying to repay it.’2

The clipping showed the patient at the age of eighty-five working
as a hospital volunteer in Bartlesville, Oklahoma, giving back to others
some of the kindness Sister Leonilla had given him.

When Mother Mary Nicholas Dittlinger became administrator in
1955, she was determined to strengthen the relationship of the hospital
to the business community of Amarillo. One of her first actions was the
establishment of an advisory board to serve as a liaison between the
hospital and the city. The initial meeting was held Nov. 14, 1956, and
James M. Lumpkin, Amarillo attorney, was elected president. Other
members were H. C. Vincent, Dick Green, Tol Ware, Mrs. David Rasco,
Lewis Dodson, Thomas H. Thompson, John Gulde, and A. E. Hermann.

Board members were all prominent citizens in the community and
dedicated to serving St. Anthony’s. They represented the hospital’s
interests on the recently established Citizens Health Council, a city-
wide organization formed to address the shortage of health facilities
throughout the region. From 1940 to 1950, Amarillo’s population had
grown by almost forty percent. Health care had not kept pace, however,
and the shortage of patient beds in the City was becoming acute. St.
Anthony’s had crowded 139 patients into a space designed for 100.

The Plains Hospital Fund Drive was organized as a public effort to
address the critical situation. The campaign was headed by F. V.
Wallace, chairman, and Lewis Dodson, vice-chairman. They were
assisted by Guy C. Saunders, A. R. (Long) Watson, David Kritser, S. R.
Curtis, Mrs. Horace W. Wilson, and Dr. Kenneth Flamm. The Amarillo
Area Foundation, Inc., was established as a community trust to accept
donations and administer endowments. Within a matter of months, the
million dollar campaign exceeded its goal, and St. Anthony’s was guar-
anteed its basis for expansion.
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With matching funds from a Hill-Burton grant, a new five-story
unit was constructed. The building cost $2,250,000 and provided 120
additional patient beds. When the formal dedication was held October
9, 1960, Robert E. Clemens, chairman of the Amarillo Area Foundation,
formally turned over the building to Rev. Mother Mary Clare Cronly
and presented her with a plaque bearir\lg the following inscription:

To the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word in appreciation of their
humanitarian service to people of these High Plains for over half a cen-
tury, and in anticipation of their tireless devotion to the sick and injured
of generations yet unborn, the Amarillo Area Foundation acting on behalf
of one thousand, four hundred and fifty-seven donors, proudly presents
this addition to St. Anthony’s Hospital.

In response, Rev. Mother Mary Clare said, “We are indebted
beyond what mere words can express to the Amarillo Area Foundation.
We acknowledge your gift and consider it a trust. As long as St.
Anthony’s stands it will be a monument to your generosity.”*

During this same period, the Foundation began acquiring property
on the southwest edge of town for the establishment of a full-scale med-
ical center for the Texas Panhandle and serving people in a five-state area.
According to the plans that were just beginning to evolve, at least one pri-
vate general hospital would form a major part of the complex. The facil-
ity could be a new St. Anthony’s. When the sisters were approached with
the plans, however, they declined the offer to be a part of the suburban
development. The decision had come from the motherhouse in San
Antonio and may have represented a lack of complete understanding of
conditions in the Texas Panhandle. No doubt it represented also the sis-
ters’concern that they continue to care for the poor in the heart of the city,
the people whom they had served from the founding of St. Anthony’s.
Many years later, however, the decision not to move to the suburban med-
ical complex would greatly affect the hospital.

Mother Marie Vianney Bihr had been appointed administrator in
1958. When she entered the Congregation, she had not expected to
spend her life in health care. She had specified that she wanted to teach
black children in the elementary schools. Although she never had the
opportunity to fulfill her original goal, she sought out every opportuni-
ty to pursue her own education and to update the educational prepara-
tion of the sisters on the hospital staff. She set up the practice of having
the doctors hold regular sessions to instruct them in the latest medical
treatments and procedures. She insisted also that the sisters attend
national professional meetings of nursing and other health related orga-
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nizations. Upon their return to St. Anthony’s they were expected to
share with their colleagues whatever they had learned.

By the 1960s, most of the sisters were well prepared with bac-
calaureate degrees in their professional fields. Some had continued their
studies on the master’s degree level. The situation had changed greatly
from the earlier days, as Sister Lucy Glass could attest. When she began
her work back in the 1930s, schools for medical technologists were non-
existent. She had learned the fundamentals of her profession by work-
ing in the laboratory at Santa Rosa under Sister Monica Grant. “In the
early days,” she said, “Sister Monica and Sister Stella [O’Sullivan] were
sent to take some courses in medical technology. They were the only
sisters the Congregation could afford to send away to study. When they
came home they taught all of the other sisters in the hospital laborato-
ries, and that’s how we became laboratory technicians.”>

Sister Lucy came to St. Anthony’s in 1962 as a nationally regis-
tered medical technologist and directed the laboratory for over twenty
years. “In the early days,” she said, “it was not at all unusual to work
from 7:00 a.m. until 10:30 at night. When we finished all of the labora-
tory tests we had to sterilize all of the equipment and sharpen all of the
needles for the next day. Disposable materials were unheard of.” Sister
worked not only long hours each day but also seven days a week. Even
when the Congregation began to relax its rules, and sisters in the hospi-
tals were given a half day off each week, she appeared in the laborato-
ry each day. “We had untrained staff,” she said, “so you couldn’t leave
them alone. You just went to work every day and that was that.”%

In 1961, the last member of the original St. Anthony’s community
of sisters died. “Little Sister Conrad,” who had come to Amarillo in
1901 and spent almost all of her life at the hospital, working in the
kitchen and in the housekeeping department, died there on May 14 at
the age of eighty-six. She was buried in Llano Cemetery.>’

Mother Marie Vianney was followed in the position of administra-
tor by Mother Angela Clare Moran, who continued the work of expan-
sion that marked the 1960s. She was serious, responsible, and consci-
entious, never sparing herself in her work or deviating from her strong
belief that a Catholic hospital “must do nothing less than imitate Christ
[and] do all He would have done.”?

Under Mother Angela Clare’s direction, St. Anthony’s in 1964
opened its cardiovascular unit and introduced open heart surgery in the
Panhandle. The first cardiac surgery on a patient with a ruptured
aneurism had been performed five years earlier by Dr. Patrick Oles. “No
one had seen an aneurism surgery before,” he said. “Furthermore it was
the middle of the night when we decided to perform the operation, and
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not many people were around to offer help.” Sister John Climacus Daly,
however, secured all of the necessary staff and worked through the night
with the physicians. “She was never one to sit in her office and give
direction,” said Dr. Oles. “She was always ready to get involved in a
hands-on way. And she was so steady; nothing could ruffle her.”>® From
that time on the hospital began to acquire the proper equipment and to
make preparations for becoming a center for cardiac surgery. Joining
Dr. Oles on the staff were Dr. William Klingensmith and Dr. H. E.
Martinez.

Growth in new facilities continued through the decade of the
1960s. Additions were added to additions, and St. Anthony’s halls got
longer and longer. “I served on the staff since 1935,” said Dr. Waddill,
“and I was a patient myself in the hospital two or three times. I cannot
remember ever walking into the building without hearing the noise of
hammers or smelling the odor of fresh paint.”60

Two tracts of land adjacent to the hospital were purchased in 1966
for expansion purposes. The first was a 96,600-square-foot block
behind the hospital on Tyler Street. The other was a piece of property,
240 x 140 feet, located directly across from the hospital on Polk Street.
In the same year, a new convent was provided for the sisters who had
always lived in a section of the hospital, even occupying the attic in the
early days. The following year the hospital was designated by the State
of Texas as an official Texas Landmark.

Sister Thomasine (Sara) Carter became administrator in 1967, and
once again plans were drawn up for expansion. “Our [census] has
increased to the extent that patients are now in the halls,” she wrote to
Sister Stephen Marie Glennon, provincial superior. “We are virtually
back to where we were seven years ago before the new addition was
opened.”®! As she completed her term and was replaced by Sister Grace
O’Meara four years later, construction began on a major two-story
building project costing $3.5 million and including a fourteen-room sur-
gical suite, a 47-bed special care unit, and a complete radiation therapy
department. The hospital received $1,080,000 of the necessary funds
through Hill-Burton assistance. It was the most expansive project for St.
Anthony’s since its founding. The original twelve-room sanitarium had
grown to a 250-bed hospital. On May 2, 1971, the addition was dedi-
cated with Capt. Edgar D. Mitchell as speaker for the occasion. Capt.
Mitchell was the lunar module pilot on the spaceship Apollo command-
ed by Alan B. Shepard. The monitoring equipment in the new structure
had been installed by Space Labs, Inc., of California, the firm that
assisted with the technical aspects of the Apollo 14 communications.
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Although most of the 1960s was given over to expansion of facil-
ities and growth in new services, by the end of the decade St. Anthony’s
was facing the closing of the school of nursing. The trend in nursing
education promoted by the National League for Nursing was toward the
association of hospital programs with junior and senior colleges.
Although St. Anthony’s had been affiliated with the Amarillo Junior
College since 1938, it was now decided to transfer all course work from
the hospital to the Amarillo College campus. Students would continue
to use the hospital facilities for their clinical experience. During the
sixty years of the program at St. Anthony’s, 635 students had complet-
ed their training and gone on to qualify as registered nurses, many stay-
ing on after graduation as employees of the hospital.

Father Joseph Tash was appointed chaplain in 1968, following in
the long tradition of priests who were important in the development of
the hospital. Given the limited Catholic population of Amarillo and the
small number of ordained clergymen in the area, it is surprising that St.
Anthony’s always retained one or more priests on the staff. One of Rev.
Mother Madeleine’s greatest concerns in sending the first sisters to
Amarillo was the fact that the city had no priest to offer Sunday Mass.
Over the years, however, it seemed that God had more than compensat-
ed for her early fears by providing St. Anthony’s with well prepared and
dedicated chaplains to celebrate the sacraments and to strengthen the
Catholic character of the hospital.5?

In 1970, Father Tash established the department of pastoral min-
istry, working with Sister Dorothy Gremminger and Sister Josephine
Brosnan, who had retired from the business office. He worked also with
the administration and the lay employees in setting up an organization
called YASAH (You Are St. Anthony’s Hospital) as a means of involv-
ing lay persons in sustaining the mission of the hospital. “We asked
them,” he said, “to continue what the sisters began.”®

The last sister to be appointed chief administrator was Sister
Kathleen Coughlin, who “came in like a breath of fresh air,” according
to Father Tash, and immediately got involved in the Amarillo commu-
nity, establishing a bond with civic leaders who became supporters of
the hospital.% At the same time, Roy Tolk, who had served as a mem-
ber of the Board of Directors since 1962, was elected chairman. He held
this post until 1989, and his long association with St. Anthony’s as well
as his outstanding leadership offered the hospital a strong link with the
local community.

One of the first problems Sister Kathleen faced was the sharp
decline in admissions in the department of obstetrics. The overall birthrate
was diminishing throughout the country, dropping off significantly from
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the high levels that followed World War II. At St. Anthony’s, the decline
was even greater than the national average because of the closing of
Amarillo Air Force Base. Although the loss of patients was felt in every
department, it was most noticeable in obstetrics, where wives of the mil-
itary men made up a high percentage of admissions.

At the same time, St. Anthony’s, faithful to the teaching of the
Catholic Church, took a strong stand against the performance of surgery
for sterilization and tubal ligation. By 1973, the patient census in the
department had reached such a low level that many persons on the staff
had to be released from their jobs, and the hospital could no longer
ensure quality care. Sister Kathleen took the problem to the board of
trustees, who decided that the hospital should close the department.

By the end of the decade the first layman, John Joseph Buckley,
Jr., was appointed president and chief executive officer. At the same
time, the general administration of the Congregation decided on an offi-
cial transfer of hospital property. The hospital had been separately
incorporated in 1965, but property acquired prior to that date had not
been formally turned over to St. Anthony’s. In 1979, the board of
trustees authorized the purchase of the property, a total of 208,892
square feet, for a price of $323,782.91. Clear title to all land and build-
ings was passed from the Congregation to St. Anthony’s.

The 1980s were to bring about more innovations at St. Anthony’s
in relation to the dramatically changing health care scene in Amarillo.
In 1901, the hospital had been established as the first and only facility
of its kind in the city. By 1981, health care had become one of the city’s
major industries with three hospitals offering every possible form of
medical treatment. Northwest Texas Hospital, the county-owned facili-
ty, had opened in 1924, and High Plains Baptist Hospital in 1968. Both
were located at the 417-acre site of the Amarillo Medical Center devel-
oped by the Amarillo Area Foundation on the southwest edge of the city.

St. Anthony’s had grown also so that it now employed 585 persons
and numbered 145 physicians on its staff. Demographic changes within
the city, however, were rapidly creating a new setting for the hospital.
More and more people abandoned the downtown area and moved to the
suburbs near the new medical center. Over the next several years, the
hospital would have to face an ever-increasing competition for patients
and would have to take strong measures to retain its share of the health
care marketplace. The 1980s thus became a decade of aggressive devel-
opment of new services and new facilities:

1980—Construction of a twenty-four-suite medical office building and
energy center.
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1982—Opening of the Cardiac Rehabilitation Center.

1983—Construction of a major addition and renovation project costing
$25,703,000 and bringing the capacity of the hospital to 336 patient
beds.

Construction of Physicians Office Building I.

1984—Construction of St. Anthony’s Hospice and Life Enrichment
Center.

1985—Construction of Physicians Office Building II.

Opening of a thirty-bed extended care unit to provide post-hospitaliza-
tion care and rehabilitation.

Dedication of the conference center and porch to Sister Mary Nicholas
Dittlinger.

1986—Acquisition of Farrell Manor Motel, renamed the Celtic Inn, for
use as guest quarters.

1987—O0pening of QUEST, an inpatient psychiatric treatment program.
1988—Construction of Physicians Office Building III.
1989—O0pening of the Panhandle Sports Medicine Institute

An important development of the decade that gave new impetus
and expression to St. Anthony’s mission of concern for human dignity
was the establishment in 1980 of the hospice and life enrichment pro-
gram under the direction of Sister Olivia Prendergast. Sister had her
master’s degree in nursing and had just completed her chaplaincy train-
ing at St. Joseph’s Hospital in Albuquerque, New Mexico, with a pas-
toral internship in hospice. The new program had been planned as an
expansion of the oncology unit, but within days of her arrival at St.
Anthony’s, Sister Olivia was deluged with calls from all over the hos-
pital as well as from private homes and nursing homes. She found that
all of the inquiries, without exception, were from patients facing death
rather than specialized care for cancer.

Her first task was the education of the entire staff of St. Anthony’s
concerning the term “hospice,” which was a new health care phenomenon
in the United States. Round-the-clock sessions were provided for all
departments. Staff members from the local hospitals and nursing homes
were invited to attend also. Persons from other areas of the Panhandle as
well as the border states of Oklahoma and New Mexico were soon
involved in the program. Many were interested in setting up satellites in
their own areas. Churches and business organizations asked to become
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involved. J. Matthews, director of the Harrington Foundation, donated
$50,000 toward establishment of the program.

James Whyte, chairman of the hospital board, and his wife became
patient-serving volunteers. Mr. Whyte was instrumental in planning and
leading tours of the major hospices in the United States and Canada:
Branford Hospice in Connecticut, the Royal Victoria in Canada, Cabrini
Hospice and Calvary Hospice in New York, and the Home Hospice of
Saint Joseph’s Hospital in Fort Worth.

Whereas Sister Olivia would have been content with a unit within
the hospital for in-patient hospice care, this group was adamant that
Amarillo should have the very best of all the hospices visited and should
construct a free-standing building complete with its own chapel and
flower gardens. Dr. Winfred Moore, pastor of Amarillo’s First Baptist
Church, chaired the campaign to raise the necessary $3.5 million.

Hospice was a movement that was sweeping the United States and
Canada during the late 1970s as a result of the teachings of Dr. Cecily
Saunders, who began her hospice work with the Irish Sisters of Charity,
and because of the work of Dr. Elizabeth Kubler Ross, author of the
bestseller On Death and Dying. The tenets of hospice held sacred the
dignity of the human being and recognized the special and unique needs
of a patient facing death, as well as the needs of family members and
friends.

It was a concept of care committed to “maximize the quality of life
when the quantity could no longer be extended.” Sister Olivia main-
tained that quality could be interpreted by the patient family unit only,
and not by society, physicians, or the institution. She held also that this
kind of care, which recognized the patient as the chief determiner of
what quality meant for him/her, could be promulgated only through
unconditional love, non-judgmentalism, and authenticity, and by telling
the truth about the patient’s.prognosis. Amazingly, these concepts
gained popularity quickly. Some ministers claimed that hospice was the
best thing that ever happened in Amarillo.

Since the hospice program was dedicated to the care of the termi-
nally ill, regardless of the diagnosis, no change in policy was necessary
when AIDS patients were admitted. Under the chairmanship of Bishop
Leroy T. Matthieson, a coalition was formed with the Panhandle AIDS
Support Organization (PASO) for the care of pre-terminal patients.

Volunteers poured in from every quarter. Staff members from St.
Anthony’s provided home care for patients who called for help. Within
the first three months of operation 200 patients were served.

For the families of deceased patients, Sister Olivia started a wid-
owed persons group which later expanded into a full scale bereavement
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rogram. To involve clergymen in the spiritual care of their patients, she
established the Church Alive Hospice Committee with Rabbi Martin
Levy as the first chairperson. The Rev. Stuart Hoke of St. Andrew’s
Episcopal Church and Gene Shelburne, pastor of the Church of Christ,
were prime leaders in the committee.

Dr. Daniel Epley, director of radiology at St. Anthony’s, volun-
teered as medical director of the program until the opening of the
Hospice and Life Enrichment Center in 1985. Other outstanding physi-
cians who were supportive included Dr. Gary Rose, Dr. E. Santillan, Dr.
J. Ruiz, and Dr. Todd Overton. These physicians, along with Dr. Gerald
Holman of the Harrington Cancer Center, formed the first medical advi-
sory board.

Construction of the hospice building was completed in 1984 and
was ready for occupancy in early 1985. Total cost was $4.1 million.
Interested citizens formed the organization Olivia’s Angels to ensure
financial support for the care of hospice patients. Mrs. Louise Dunn,
whose husband Harold had died in the hospice center, was so impressed
with the care he had received that she procured $500,000 from her
friend, Mrs. Sybil Harrington, to promote the work.

The corps of regular volunteers grew rapidly reaching over 100
persons offering their services each year. Visitors from all over the
country came to the center, many interested in gathering information for
establishing comparable programs. The Joint Commission of Hospital
Accreditation representative, Stephen Connor of California, gave high
commendation for the extent of services offered and noted in particular
the spiritual care.

The program celebrated its tenth birthday in 1990, and a short time
later, it was announced that President Bush had named St. Anthony’s
Hospice and Life Enrichment Center as his 357th Point of Light.
Hospice had gained national attention also for its designation by the
International Hospice Institute as one of two research and educational
facilities approved for the training of hospice physicians.

Through her untiring efforts to establish the program, Sister Olivia
was sometimes referred to as the “Mother Teresa of the Panhandle.”
After ten years she could look back over the challenges and realize that
her dream had become a reality. She had many stories to tell, but her
favorite was that of Ernest Probst, who called in early one morning and
said he thought it was time for him to check into the Hospice Center
since he could not seem to get himself to work that day. He was in his
late seventies and had run his own bakery all his life. He had lived on
Ensure and liquids for the last two years because of cancer. All he asked
of Sister and of the Hospice Center was that he could have “just one
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breakfast of bacon, eggs, and toast” and then be let die. Ernest had four
lovely days in hospice with his favorite breakfast every day, before he
died peacefully at the center.

While the hospice program continued to grow, St. Anthony’s
developed major efforts at reducing competition in the health market by
entering into cooperative arrangements with other health care institu-
tions. The first such arrangement with the Harrington Cancer Center
was set up in 1983 for coordination of services for oncology patients
throughout the region. To St. Anthony’s administrators, the association
with the other health care facility offered an opportunity to eliminate the
duplication of services and reduce costs for patients. By 1986, howev-
er, the project had failed. St. Anthony’s had given substantial financial
support to the Center and could no longer continue such assistance. At
the same time, the Harrington administration was offered funding from
donors who insisted that the Center operate independently of St.
Anthony’s.

A second cooperative arrangement was established in 1983 with
Palo Duro Hospital in Canyon, Texas, and with Compcare, Inc., for the
opening of an adult care unit for the treatment of alcohol and drug abuse.
The program later expanded its service to children and adolescents.

The third effort at a cooperative arrangement was made with Coon
Memorial Hospital and Nursing Home. This effort began in 1983 with
St. Anthony’s taking over the management of the Coon facilities locat-
ed in Dalhart, eighty-five miles from Amarillo. Coon Memorial had
been losing income, and St. Anthony’s administration felt that they
could be of assistance to the small rural facility. As a tertiary hospital,
St. Anthony’s also could benefit from association with primary care
physicians at Coon.

After just four months, however, the management contract failed,
principally because of a lack of cooperation between representatives of
both institutions and an insistence by the Coon physicians on perform-
ing surgical procedures that were not acceptable under St. Anthony’s
pro-life policy. The hospital withdrew from the management contract
and issued the following statement to explain its position:

Since 1901 when the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word first estab-
lished St. Anthony’s Hospital, it has held to a philosophy committed to
uphold and protect the dignity of every individual through the preserva-
tion of life from conception throughout the life span until death. This phi-
losophy has always been the mainstay of care received by untold num-
bers of patients at St. Anthony’s. . . . It is the moral fabric of the institu-
tion that has given them the abundance of love that they share with their
patients and their fellow man, and it will continue to do s0.%
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Just a few months later, the trustees of the Dallam/Hartley
Counties Hospital District proposed the transfer of ownership of Coon
Memorial. Under the leadership of William Myers, who had become
administrator of St. Anthony’s, the change was agreed upon, and a sep-
arate board of trustees was set up to assume responsibility for the hos-
pital now operated as the Dalhart Catholic Healthcare Corporation.

To accommodate the new ownership agreement as well as other
advancements, St. Anthony’s changed its organizational structure from
a single corporate entity into a diversified system of companies. The
various units were set up under the St. Anthony’s Health Corporation
and included St. Anthony’s Hospital; the Dalhart Catholic Healthcare
Corporation; St. Anthony’s Enterprises, a for-profit subsidiary; St.
Anthony’s Foundation; and Panhandle Health Services. The new struc-
ture separated the non-profit entities of the organization from those
units operated on a profit basis for the benefit of the hospital.

Several changes were initiated also at the Dalhart hospital. New
by-laws for the medical staff were developed, and preparations were put
into operation for seeking accreditation. Plans were drawn up for a new
$6.25 million facility, but financing the cost of construction became a
major problem. The Dalhart hospital was recording an average daily
census of only six patients, and St. Anthony’s had already invested $1.7
million to cover the operating expenses. Coon Memorial Trust was will-
ing to contribute only a portion of the costs for the new building, and it
was expected that St. Anthony’s would guarantee approximately $4 mil-
lion to finance the construction.

The board of St. Anthony’s, however, did not think it advisable to
undertake this risk in addition to its own capital needs, and the agreement
between the two institutions was canceled. In 1989, the Dalhart hospital
reverted to its previous ownership. The Coon Memorial Trust and the
local hospital board proceeded with the building of the new hospital.
Although the efforts of the two hospitals to work together had failed
twice, the administrators at St. Anthony’s felt they had helped Coon
Memorial in many ways that could contribute to future success.

As St. Anthony’s entered the 1990s, it faced the problems common
to health care institutions throughout the country as well as many chal-
lenges unique to its own situation. Hospital rates continued to rise as the
costs of salaries, services, and equipment increased, making health care
inaccessible for many persons. At the same time, Medicare reimburse-
ments and private insurance payments were often below hospital costs.
St. Anthony’s had an additional problem to face in its location. It had
become the only hospital in the downtown area. Northwest Texas
Hospital and High Plains Baptist Hospital, together with fifteen other
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health care facilities located in the recently developed medical center,
.were more easily accessible to the growing suburban population.

Under the leadership of Michael Callahan as president, the hospi-
tal worked hard to maintain its leading physicians, its high standards of
service, and its original mission defined in the motto, “We are the heart
and soul of healing.” Sister Antoinette Courtney, director of pastoral
care, was the only Incarnate Word sister remaining on the staff. St.
Anthony’s was nearing its century of service to Amarillo. It had estab-
lished health care in the Great Plains of Texas and saved hundreds of
lives of persons who had no hospital to care for their needs. It had also
brought Catholicism and an understanding and acceptance of religious
differences to an area where generations had struggled against prejudice
and bigotry for their religious beliefs. Rev. Mother Madeleine had once
insisted that only four sisters and a financial investment of $1,000 could
be spared for its beginnings, but St. Anthony’s Hospital had greatly sur-
passed the founder’s dream.

When Michael Callahan resigned his position as chief executive
officer in 1992, no one could have foreseen the chain of unfortunate
events that would follow. Just the day after the resignation, which
caused considerable unrest among the hospital physicians because of
their great respect for his administrative style, the leaders of High Plains
Baptist Hospital and of Northwest Texas Hospital presented a proposal
to Incarnate Word Health Services for the purchase of St. Anthony’s.
Although a sale had not been contemplated, system administrators real-
ized there was unnecessary duplication of health services in the com-
munity which could be eliminated by some form of collaboration.
Apparently, the management of Northwest Texas Hospital and High
Plains Baptist Hospital did not see how they could work in a joint effort
with a Catholic organization. They were interested only in purchasing
the institution.

Just one week before Incarnate Word Health Services was to have
its scheduled board meeting to receive an update and recommendations
on the direction to be pursued, information was leaked to the media that
St. Anthony’s was being sold to Northwest. The city manager was even
quoted as having announced at a businessman’s breakfast that the sale
had taken place. At the same time, since negotiations had not been
agreed upon, no information had been communicated to the Incarnate
Word Health Services board, to the general administration of the
Congregation, to the St. Anthony’s board, or to the physicians and staff
of the hospital.

In the midst of the emotional uproar that followed, the general
administration and health services board decided that it would probably

154



ST. ANTHONY’S HOSPITAL: BLAZING A TRAIL OF MERCY

be best to pursue the sale. The damage had already been done to the
public image of the hospital, and the community would no doubt ques-
tion its continued viability. When the announcement was made by Sister
Nora Marie Walsh, chairperson of Incarnate Word Health Services
board, employee and physician reaction ranged from anger to sadness to
hostility.

But the unfortunate chain of happenings was yet to continue. Less
than a week later, the Amarillo Hospital District prematurely and uni-
laterally terminated negotiations to buy the hospital because of the dis-
covery during a due diligence examination of asbestos in the building.
In reality, it was believed that the real cause was political pressure and
the negative reaction from the St. Anthony’s medical staff.

The administration of St. Anthony’s was then faced with the prob-
lem of winning back the trust and confidence of its constituents. John
Koobs, who was serving as chief executive officer of St. Joseph’s
Hospital in Paris, graciously accepted the challenge of becoming the
new administrator of St. Anthony’s with the task of rebuilding relation-
ships among the physicians, the staff, the administration, and the com-
munity. At the same time, three sisters joined the staff as a mission
team—-Sisters Carol Bird, Helen Ann Collier, and Rose Winkle.

By 1994, the disturbance had subsided, and St. Anthony’s was
going about its business of offering health care in the Great Plains of
Texas. It had survived one more challenge to its existence and emerged
even stronger in its service to the poor and underserved people of the
Texas Panhandle.
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ADMINISTRATORS

Mother Cleophas Hurst

Mother Presentation O’Meara
Mother M. Timothy Mullen
Mother Presentation O’Meara
Mother M. Nativity Henebery
Mother Mary Ascension Ryan
Mother Mary of Lourdes Hickey
Mother M. Nativity Henebery
Mother Mary Ascension Ryan
Mother M. Alban Mannion
Mother M. Thaddeus Byrne
Mother Mary of Lourdes Hickey
Mother M. Alban Mannion
Mother Mary of Lourdes Hickey
Mother Mary Nicholas Dittlinger
Mother Marie Vianney Bihr
Mother Angela Clare Moran
Sister Sara Carter

Sister Grace O’Meara

Sister Kathleen Coughlin

John Joseph Buckley, Jr.
William D. Myers

Michael Callahan

John Koobs

156

1901-1905
1905-1911
1911-1917
1917-1918
1918-1921
1921-1927
1927-1933
1933-1934
1934-1940
1940-1941
1941-1947
1947-1949
1949-1952
1952-1955
1955-1958
1958-1964
1964-1967
1967-1970
1970-1973
1973-1979
1979-1984
1984-1990
1990-1992
1992-



ST. ANTHONY’S HOSPITAL: BLAZING A TRAIL OF MERCY

CHIEFS OF MEDICAL STAFF

David Fly, M.D. 1901*
A. F. Lumpkin, M.D. 1920
R. D. Gist, M.D. 1923
A. F Lumpkin, M.D. 1926
R. S. Killough, M.D. 1927
R. A. Duncan, M.D. 1928
A. F. Lumpkin, M.D. 1929
G. T. Vinyard, M.D. 1930
Richard Keys, M.D. 1931
J. R. Wrather, M.D. 1932
Don S. Marsalis, M.D. 1933
1. Rasco, M.D. 1934
H. H. Latson, M.D. 1935
A. E. Winsett, M.D. 1936
J. J. Croom, M.D. 1937
A. J. Streit, M.D. 1938
Richard Keys, M.D. 1939
J. B. White, M.D. 1940
A. E. Winsett, M.D. 1941
A. F. Lumpkin, M.D. 1942
T. P. Churchill, M.D. 1943
F. J. Crumley, M.D. 1944
H. H. Latson, M.D. 1945
Dan H. Loving, M.D. 1946
Dan H. Loving, M.D. 1947
W. H. Wheir, M.D. 1948
E. A. Rowley, M.D. 1949
A. E. Winsett, M.D. 1950
H. H. Latson, M.D. 1951
E. A. Rowley, M.D. 1952
W. B. Mullins, M.D. 1953
Kenneth R. Flamm, M.D. 1954
David M. Patton, M.D. 1955
E. M. Winsett, M.D. 1956
Charles B. Sadler, M.D. 1957

*Although the medical staff was not organized until 1920, Dr.
David Fly was generally recognized as fulfilling the role of President
during his tenure at St. Anthony'’s.

157



PROMISES TO KEEP

R. F. Wertz, M.D.

J. E. Witcher, M.D.
Sam Aronson, M.D.

F. J. Kelley, M.D.

W. B. Mullins, M.D.

H. M. Bordelon, M.D.
A. H. Robberson, M.D .
Charles B. Sadler, M.D.
N. E. Wright, M.D

Jeff R. Moore, M.D.

L. R. Devaney, M.D.
Coleman Taylor, M.D.
G. R. Chase, M.D.

Ira Livingston, M.D.

W. J. Hegedas, M.D.
John E. Jones, M.D.
John L. Milton, M.D.
Luther S. Nelson, M.D.
Jan R. Werner, M.D.

R. D. Sutherland, M.D.
Bob L. Stafford, M.D.
C. Patrick Oles, M.D.

J. Clint Arthur, M.D.
Joe Frank Robberson, M.D.
Richard G. Kibbey, M.D.
H. Wayne Smith, M.D.
Richard McKay, M.D.
David McDonald, M.D.
Martin I. Cohen, M.D.
Virgil A. Pate, M.D.
John R. Logsdon, M.D.
Thomas D. Easley, M.D.
Gary Rose, M.D.

James Guest, M.D.
James Guest, M.D.
John McKinley, M.D.
Jeffrey Cone, M.D.
Jeffrey Cone, M.D.
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SPOHN HEALTH SYSTEM: A STORY OF
SACRIFICE AND SUCCESS

The names of Kenedy and King have long been associated with the
development of ranching in South Texas. Captain Mifflin Kenedy and
Captain Richard King were friends and partners who began their careers
in the 1800s as ship captains operating steamboats on the Rio Grande
River and transporting passengers and merchandise between Texas and
Mexico. They later established adjacent ranches, the Laureles Ranch
and the famous King Ranch in Kingsville.

The Kenedy and King families are associated also with the found-
ing of Spohn Sanitarium. Through the civic-mindedness and financial
support of these South Texas men and their families, the initial plans
were developed for the first hospital in Corpus Christi. However, with-
out the work of the Sisters of the Charity of the Incarnate Word who
took responsibility for administering the institution and even made up
part of the financial cost of its beginnings, the sanitarium would never
have become a reality.

At the turn of the century, Corpus Christi, with a growing popula-
tion of 7,000 had no medical facility whatsoever. Dr. Arthur Edward
Spohn, who was one of six practicing physicians in the city, treated
patients in their homes, sometimes performing surgery on the kitchen
table for want of a more suitable place, using a kerosene lamp and cis-
tern or well water. Spohn was a well educated doctor, a graduate of the
School of Medicine at the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor and of
Long Island College Hospital in New York. He had trained also at the
Louis Pasteur Institute in Paris and brought the Pasteur treatment for
rabies to America.
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He came to Corpus Christi in 1868 during the Reconstruction Era.
He had been appointed United States Surgeon and placed in charge of a
military quarantine following a severe outbreak of cholera in South
Texas. When the Nueces County Medical Society was established in
1901, he became the first president. The organization deplored the lack
of medical facilities in the city and repeatedly urged the local citizens to
build a respectable hospital. Dr. Spohn became the principal spokesman
for the cause.

Many years earlier, in 1876, Dr. Spohn had married Sarah
Josephine Kenedy, daughter of Captain Mifflin Kenedy, and through his
association with the Kenedy and King families he was able to gain com-
munity support for constructing a hospital. Alice Gertrudis King
Kleberg, daughter of Captain Richard King and wife of Robert J.
Kleberg, Sr., became interested in raising the necessary funds. From the
very beginning, it was understood that once the hospital was construct-
ed it would be named for Dr. Spohn in recognition of his accomplish-
ments in medicine and of his service to the people of Corpus Christi.

As the plans developed and donations came in, Dr. Spohn asked the
Sisters of the Incarnate Word and Blessed Sacrament, who had estab-
lished a convent in Corpus Christi, to provide nurses for the institution.
He was acquainted with Mother Angelique Valentine, the superior, who
often permitted him to use the convent facilities to perform surgery, par-
ticularly on patients from the ranches and nearby towns. However,
because the apostolic work of these sisters was limited to teaching and the
rules of their religious order did not permit them to become involved in
health care, Mother Angelique had to turn down his request.

Spohn’s next appeal was made to the Daughters of Charity of St.
Vincent de Paul, who were operating St. Paul’s Sanitarium in Dallas, but
this religious congregation turned down his request also.! He then con-
sidered asking the Sisters of Mercy, who had established a hospital in
Laredo, but on the advice of Bishop Peter Verdaguer, he turned instead
to the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word in San Antonio. The bish-
op offered several reasons why this religious congregation would be
best suited for the work in Corpus Christi:

First: Because said congregation has a great number of sisters; hence
there is a certainty of always having a sufficient number of sisters to carry
on the work of the hospital, which is not the case with the Sisters of
Mercy. . . . Moreover, the sisters of my selection are never obliged to hire
secular nurses, as most of them are thoroughly trained for the work.

Second: It will be some time before the hospital of Corpus Christi will be
self-supporting; hence, if possible, it should be given to a community
who has means to support itself, so that [it] may not be a burden to the
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citizens of the city, and the Congregation of the Sisters of Charity of the
Incarnate Word, on account of the several hospitals they have and which
they have had for many years, have the means to support themselves.

Finally: Because if the hospital of Corpus Christi is a success and the sis-
ters make money from it, they will use it to advantage for the helping of
the poor. They have at present in San Antonio an orphan asylum for boys
where over one hundred little homeless ones are cared for, and another
for girls, where as many more are supported and educated.? They also
have a home for the aged where a number of poor people are cared for.?

At Dr. Spohn’s request, Bishop Verdaguer approached Rev.
Mother Madeleine Chollet in San Antonio and secured her approval to
have the sisters staff the proposed sanitarium. An agreement was
reached whereby the facility would be turned over to them to own and
operate as their own “on condition that the building would always be for
hospital purposes.”

As soon as Rev. Mother Madeleine accepted the bishop’s proposal,
she began working on a design for the new structure. She involved
Theodore Engelhardt, who supervised all construction efforts for the sis-
ters, in drawing up the necessary architectural plans. Always the practical,
business-minded person, she wanted to make certain that the building
would appropriately serve its purpose as a hospital. She had been
involved in the construction of Santa Rosa Infirmary in San Antonio, St.
Joseph’s Infirmary in Fort Worth, and St. Anthony’s Sanitarium in
Amarillo, and she knew exactly what was needed in Corpus Christi.

Meanwhile, Alice Gertrudis King Kleberg, together with her hus-
band Robert J. Kleberg, Sr., began to solicit contributions from promi-
nent citizens in the Corpus Christi community. The effort was not an
easy one. The city was in the middle of a fund drive to raise $20,000 to
build a new hotel in an effort to attract more railroads to come into the
area. Local citizens who were in a position to contribute to civic causes
had already committed funds to this effort.

Mrs. Kleberg encountered also some religious prejudice in her
fund-raising efforts. In the correspondence of Bishop Verdaguer with
Rev. Mother Madeleine, he described how many of Mrs. Kleberg’s
friends had turned against her “for giving the hospital to Catholics.””
Nothing was going to deter this socially prominent person, however,
from raising enough money to build the much needed sanitarium. By
1903, she had raised $4,000, a small sum to cover the costs of con-
struction but large enough to encourage her to continue.

When she received the architectural plans from Rev. Mother
Madeleine, however, she knew the building was going to cost at least
$12,000-$15,000, a far greater amount than she could hope to raise. She
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was in a state of shock. “It is a very pretty plan,” she wrote to the bish-
op, “but I am sure that $5,000 or $6,000 is all I can hope for out of this
little town.”

She was not ready to abandon the project, however, and offered a
counter-proposal. If the hospital could be “built of frame and not of
brick,” she suggested, “it would reduce the expense.”® She immediate-
ly had a sketch for a frame building prepared by her husband, and the
estimated cost of the alternate design came to $6,000, still more money
than she had on hand, but an amount that she felt sure could be realized
in time. Changing the building materials in an effort to reduce the cost
would have unfortunate, even tragic consequences some years later,
although at this time neither Mrs. Kleberg nor the sisters could have
foreseen the outcome.

Raising more money continued to be a problem through the
months that followed. Mrs. Kleberg prepared a circular letter to be sent
to all of her friends, telling them that John G. Kenedy had “most gener-
ously donated valuable grounds beautifully located on the Bluff” and
that “the Sisters of Charity [had] expressed their willingness to take
charge of and carry on such an institution at their own expense if a suit-
able building, furnishings, etc. [were] provided them free of charge.
Their organization being permanent is more excellently qualified for
such an undertaking.”

She hoped the information would encourage other prominent citi-
zens to become involved in the fund drive. At the end of her letter, how-
ever, she added a note which suggests that she was not yet certain that
the project could be accomplished: “Subscribers will not be called on to
pay subscriptions until an adequate amount has been subscribed to war-
rant the success of this undertaking.” The donations which she listed
were meager indeed:

S. G. Ragland $25.00
Robert J. Kleberg 500.00
M. D. Montserrate 5.00
J. J. Welder 100.00
D. Sullivan 100.00
H. M. King 1,000.00
G. R. Scott 100.00
Mildred Seaton 10.007

Although no records provide the precise reason, plans to use Mr.
Kenedy’s donation of land on the bluff were changed, and the site cho-
sen for the new building was North Beach. The Special Warranty Deed
that records the transfer of three tracts of land to the sisters describes the
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location in “what is commonly known as ‘Brooklyn’or ‘Rincén.’” The
deed lists the owners as R. J. Kleberg, Olivia B. Hirsch, George M.
Kenedy, John G. Kenedy, and Sarah J. Spohn “joined by her husband A.
E. Spohn.”

The shortage of funds delayed construction for two more years,
but by 1905 the two-story frame building that was to be known as
Spohn Sanitarium had been completed and was ready for the grand
opening. It had been built by Dan Reid, prominent architect and builder,
who later became the mayor of Corpus Christi. Mrs. Kleberg was just-
ly proud of the structure she had worked so hard to make possible. She
wrote to tell Rev. Mother Madeleine all about the fine building that was
awaiting the arrival of the sisters from San Antonio: “The plumbing is
first class—& we have good physicians, & the promise of fine nurses. I
feel that we have every reason to thank the good Lord for his wonder-
ful kindness to the children of man.”

Total cost of the construction was $13,013.92. Mrs. Kleberg had
succeeded in raising only $8,886.50. As the sisters assumed the owner-
ship of the facility, they assumed also the debt of $4,127.42.

On July 16, 1905, Sisters Cleophas Hurst, Conrad Urnau, Regina
O’Byrne, and Austin Kyne arrived from San Antonio to begin operating
the new facility.!? The superior and administrator, Sister Cleophas, was
well prepared for her responsibilities, having opened St. Anthony’s
Sanitarium in Amarillo just four years earlier. Sister Conrad had worked
with her in founding that institution, so she too was ready for the chal-
lenge. Opening a hospital in the warm, pleasant climate of the Gulf
Coast would be much easier than it had been in Amarillo, where the
howling winds blew snow, dust, and tumbleweed across deserted plains.

On the other hand, Sister Regina and Sister Austin had very little
experience and preparation for their work. Sister Regina made her pro-
fession of perpetual vows in 1903; Sister Austin's profession was in
1905, just before she left the motherhouse for Corpus Christi. Both had
worked only a few years in the hospitals operated by the Congregation,
but like many sisters who had gone before them, they were true pio-
neers, ready to face any challenge and prepared to work hard in their
service to the sick—all for the glory of God.

The sisters were responsible for operating every part of the sani-
tarium. Sister Conrad’s special charge was to prepare all of the patients’
meals and to tend the garden where she grew fresh vegetables to cut
down on costs. Sister Austin and Sister Regina took care of the patients,
although neither one had been prepared as a nurse. They were responsi-
ble also for housekeeping and laundry. Sister Cleophas handled the
admission of patients and the financial operations.
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Bishop Verdaguer blessed the new sanitarium on July 26, 1905,
and Dr. Spohn gave a highly rhetorical dedicatory address praising the
people of Corpus Christi for making the facility possible:

Here all that science and invention can produce, all that study and research
can unfold, is utilized for the relief of the sick and suffering, to bring an
unendurable condition to one of health, to make life worth living.

Here the physicians can meet in closer communion and by their deliber-
ations devise better means to combat disease. Here you will find the sis-
ters of mercy with their gentle, tender care, soothing the throbbing brow,
and assuaging the pangs of pain and distress.

What a grand institution we are about to inaugurate in our city—one built
by the people and in which we are all interested.!!

On the following day, the first mass was celebrated by Monsignor
Claude Jaillet, who was appointed chaplain. He was originally from
Lyons and had been ordained by Bishop Claude Dubuis in France
before coming to Galveston in 1866 with the first Sisters of Charity of
the Incarnate Word. His French background made him a close friend
and advisor for the small community of sisters at the new sanitarium.!?

Dr. Alfred George Heaney, an associate of Dr. Spohn, who had
been educated at Yale University and at Long Island College Hospital,
admitted the first patient. Many others soon followed as news of the
opening spread throughout the city and to surrounding counties of South
Texas where no hospital had yet been established. In contrast to the
Santa Rosa Infirmary and other hospitals recently established by the sis-
ters, Spohn was crowded with patients from the very beginning. Just
one year after the opening it was necessary to add more rooms, and an
annex was constructed adjoining the main building. By 1911, a separate
chapel was built, and in 1912 a steam heating plant was added.

Hospital costs averaged from $1.00 to $2.75 a day. A physician’s
fee was $1.00 per call, and nurses worked between fifty and seventy
hours a week. One of the original bills issued in 1910 to patient Travis
Du Bois shows the following charges:

Sanitarium services from May 27 to June 2

at $2.75 a day $16.50
Pluto water 35
Liniment 25
Medicine .50
Accommodation of Mrs. Du Bois 2.50
Total $20.10
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The sanitarium was situated about 100 yards from the bay front
and was described as a “beautiful seaside dwelling.” It was “sufficient-
ly removed from the neighboring residences to secure quiet and priva-
cy” not only for the patients but also for many sisters from San Antonio
who came to recuperate from illness or simply to enjoy a few days vaca-
tion at the beach.!3

By 1915, the number of sisters working in the sanitarium had
increased from four to fourteen. The patient census for that year reached
1,554. Mother Mary George Daly who had been appointed administra-
tor, was intent on developing the institution into a facility recognized for
excellent patient care. All of her experience had been in nursing, but she
soon proved that she had a natural gift for administration and became
highly respected by the doctors and staff.

Although the sanitarium had been established in great part through
the financial support of prominent Corpus Christi families, it was never
considered an institution primarily for the rich and socially prestigious
members of the community. In fact, Dr. Maurice Nast says that in the
early years “the wealthy people of Corpus Christi went to San Antonio
when they needed surgery or special care. Dr. Ferdinand Herff and Dr.
Adolph Herff had established themselves as outstanding surgeons at
Santa Rosa Infirmary. Persons who could afford the trip and the service
of these distinguished doctors never went to Spohn. Some went to
Houston and Galveston, but most of them went to San Antonio.”!*

Spohn, on the other hand, was always looked upon as a charitable
institution, established for persons of very ordinary means and for those
who could not afford to pay for health care at all. Over one-half of the
patients admitted in 1915 were charity cases, some who were able to
pay part of their bills, others who could pay nothing.

Admissions continued to increase until 1919, when the steady
growth came to a crashing halt. Disaster struck Corpus Christi as a hurri-
cane of major proportions moved across the Gulf of Mexico taking the
lives of hundreds of people and destroying millions of dollars worth of
property. People living in the area were used to hurricanes and knew what
terrible damage they could cause. In 1875 and 1886, the port of Indianola,
located just west of Port O’Connor, had been completely washed away.
Recently, however, people in Corpus Christi had been lulled to compla-
cency in the face of approaching storms. In 1916, they had been warned
that a hurricane was moving toward the city. They had evacuated their
homes and left all of their belongings only to find that the winds and rain
did not cause nearly the damage that had been anticipated.

Three years later, on September 14, 1919, the morning newspaper
once again carried storm warnings. Gale winds had already destroyed
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lives and property in South Florida, and the hurricane was moving west
and north directly toward Corpus Christi. People were advised to evac-
uate their homes, but most refused to do so until by 1:00 p.m. the flood
waters were rising, threatening every part of the bayfront.

Winds reached eighty miles per hour striking North Beach with their
greatest power. The frame structure of the sanitarium could not withstand
the force of the storm. The bathhouse was completely washed away, and
parts of the main building were torn apart. The sanitarium had twelve
patients, fourteen sisters, the chaplain, eight employees and their relatives,
as well as two families whose homes had been blown away and who came
in looking for shelter. As the intensity of the storm increased, the sisters
moved most of the patients to the south wing of the building which was
not as exposed to the winds. They huddled together trying to protect
themselves and watched desperately as the hurricane destroyed most of
the sanitarium and threatened the lives of those within.

The following newspaper account described the course of the
disaster:

The storm accompanied by heavy rain broke in all its fury about two
o’clock Sunday morning; between ten and eleven o’clock the waters of
the Nueces Bay, north and northeast of the city, had poured across the
country cutting off escape to the bluffs. . .. While some of the sisters
remained on duty with the patients, others repaired to the chapel on the
second floor in the southeast wing of the building, where Monsignor
Jaillet recited the rosary and the prayers for the dying. Confessions were
heard about four o’clock. At that time Sister Bruno [Lavallin], in going
to relieve one of the sisters on duty in the north wing, was knocked down
several times as she passed through a connecting hallway, the windows
of which had been blown out. Shortly after four o’clock a terrible crash
occurred. The north wing was split open, the roof fell in, and the wreck-
age was swept away by the flood, carrying with it Sister Thais
[Desroche], Miss Teresa Reece [a nurse], and two patients—Mr. Plum, a
paralytic, and Mr. Hernandez, an employee of the Corpus Christi power-
house who had been hurt in an explosion.! Sister Thais was waiting on
the patients when the crash came. . . .

The wind, changing to the west, sent the great smokestack of the boiler-
room crashing through the roof and ceiling. The debris struck one of the
patients and pinioned Sister Aloysius [Levissy] beneath the wreckage; it
was only by cutting away a part of her habit that she was released. With
two more rooms gone, sisters and patients grouped themselves in their
close quarters until aid arrived the next day.'®

One of the first to come to their rescue was a young man named
Coulter McCuistion, who braved the torrents of the rising waters and
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swam across Hall’s Bayou to offer assistance. The sisters and patients
were finally picked up by boats and taken to the courthouse that had
been converted to a shelter. Mother Mary George was the last to leave
the shattered building.

By the time the storm subsided after striking Aransas Pass,
Rockport, and Portland, as well as Corpus Christi, it was estimated that
property damage totaled $15 million. The number of persons killed was
variously reported, ranging from 180 to 500. Many other victims were
suffering from injuries and illness; hundreds were left homeless.

Sister Thais’ body, identified by her religious habit, was recovered
five days later near Portland, ten miles from North Beach. The sisters felt
that she had died a martyr’s death, sacrificing her own life to save the
lives of her patients.!” That so few persons in the sanitarium had been lost
in the face of such danger and destruction was declared miraculous.

Sister Thais had been born Lea Desroches on August 15, 1868, in
Quebec, Canada. She had come to Texas to join the Sisters of Charity of
the Incarnate Word in 1887 and had worked in St. Joseph’s Infirmary,
Fort Worth; St. John’s Sanitarium, San Angelo; St. Joseph’s Infirmary,
Paris; and the Missouri, Kansas & Texas Hospital in Sedalia, Missouri.
She had been at the sanitarium in Corpus Christi just three years, serv-
ing as a nurse in various departments. Years later, Sister Paula Block
could recall that during the hurricane it was Sister Thais who first real-
ized the impending danger of the situation and came hurrying from the
chapel, leading the way to the annex on the north side, saying, “We must
save the patients.” Just as she opened the door, according to Sister
Paula, the hall and annex blew away. “Sister Thais went down before
my eyes,” she said, “and I never saw her again.”’8

Atemporary emergency hospital was set up for patients when John
G. Kenedy, Sr., offered his home on the bluff overlooking Corpus
Christi Bay. The site on Broadway and Lipan Streets, which later
became the location for the Corpus Christi Cathedral, was high enough
to be saved from the 14-foot tides that washed away the bayfront.!® The
sisters were immediately called upon to care for the victims of the storm
in the makeshift shelter and had little time to recover from their own
shock of losing the sanitarium and the even greater tragedy of losing a
patient, one of their lay nurses, and their own sister.

Congregational superiors in San Antonio sent additional sister-
nurses to the scene, who together with the doctors worked day and night
to care for the sick and wounded refugees and to control the spread of
disease. Relief trains of food and medical supplies came from San
Antonio, Brownsville, Houston, El Paso, and Laredo. Arriving on one
of the trains was Rev. Mother Mary John O’Shaughnessy and Mother
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Wendelinus Holzer, members of the Congregational administration,
who rushed from San Antonio to the aid of their sisters.

Local citizens who were spared the disastrous effects of the storm
went to work cleaning up the destruction of the city. On North Beach,
the ruins of the sanitarium were beyond recovery. The hurricane had
struck this area with its greatest power, and the frame hospital could not
withstand the force of the winds. Only the Beach Hotel, a well con-
structed brick building, remained standing. If the same materials had
been used in the sanitarium, as the sisters had proposed, it too might
have withstood the storm.

As the days and weeks went by, Corpus Christi began to recover
from the ravages of the hurricane, and emergency health care was no
longer needed. The general administration considered recalling the sis-
ters to San Antonio. The temporary shelter, which was known as the
Kenedy Home Hospital, was inadequate in size and in equipment to
serve for anything more than an emergency facility. A new sanitarium
was desperately needed, but the sisters knew it would be impossible for
them to take on the construction at their own expense. They had lost a
considerable investment in the original building, and they had no other
financial resources.

Once again, Alice Kleberg launched a campaign to raise funds
from the local community. She established a committee of prominent
citizens to help her: Roy Miller; John G. Kenedy, Jr.; Robert J. Kleberg;
Robert Driscoll; W. E. Timon; H. R. Sutherland; Robert W. Stayton;
Richard King, Jr.; Joseph Hirsch; George R. Clark; Gordon Boone;
Vincent Bluntzer; John Dunn; J. W. Pittman; E. A. Born; W. B. Hopkins;
Clark Pease; and C. E. Coleman.

Mrs. Kleberg also convinced the sisters to stay on at the Kenedy
Home Hospital until a new sanitarium could be built. Next she con-
vinced her mother, Mrs. Henrietta King, to donate five acres of land
overlooking the bay for the site of construction. The sisters agreed to
accept the land on condition that “the city of Corpus Christi [would]
soon take steps toward the erection of the sanitarium.”20

Although many persons thought the site was too far removed from
the center of the city and that it would not be an appropriate location for
a hospital, negotiations for the transfer of the property were settled, and
the transaction was recorded on March 6, 1920. According to the terms
of the deed, the five-acre tract of land was turned over by Mrs. King “in
consideration of the sum of ten dollars” and “the further consideration
that the sisters establish, within five years from date hereof and there-
after maintain upon the premises hereinafter described, for a period of
twenty-five years, a hospital to be known as the Spohn Hospital or
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Sanitarium.”?' The deed was signed by Mrs. H. M. King with Robert J.
Kleberg listed as agent and attorney-in-fact.

Raising enough money to start the building took much longer than
had been anticipated. Mrs. Kleberg was just as dedicated in her efforts
as she had been in establishing the first sanitarium, but community sup-
port was not forthcoming. The people of Corpus Christi realized how
much they needed a hospital, but many of them had lost property and
money in the hurricane. They had little to donate to the cause.

Meanwhile, the sisters continued their work at the Kenedy Home
Hospital under the most adverse circumstances. Although the home had
been considered large as a family residence, it was much too small to
accommodate more than a few patients and at the same time serve as
living quarters for the sister-nurses. Many persons could not even be
admitted to the hospital because of a lack of space, and the shortage of
equipment made it impossible to offer proper treatment, particularly to
those who were seriously ill.

Six months passed, and the situation was becoming untenable; the
sisters began to doubt that it was ever going to change. Finally, Mother
Bonaventure Burns, secretary general for the Congregation, wrote to
express appreciation to Mrs. Kleberg for her sustained interest in re-
building the sanitarium and in having the sisters remain in Corpus
Christi. She insisted, however, that they would soon have to leave the
makeshift facility if conditions did not change: “We have agreed to per-
mit the sisters to remain for six months longer, on condition . . . that by
the end of that time, the new hospital will be in progress. . . . If at the
end of this stated time, that is at the close of the month of October, the
proposed building is not in course of erection, then we shall be obliged
to withdraw the sisters.”??

Another six months went by, and the fund raising seemed no near-
er to the final goal. Only Mrs. Kleberg’s persistence in the cause con-
vinced the sisters to stay on a little longer. “You must not think,” she
wrote to the superior in San Antonio, “that I don’t expect to succeed. I
am sure we will but we must ‘watch and wait’ longer than I had hoped.
People so soon forget.”??

The Congregation had agreed that once the sanitarium was built
they would guarantee $20,000 for the furnishings. Almost in despera-
tion of ever raising enough money to even break ground for the new
building, Mrs. Kleberg tried to convince them to put the money into the
costs of construction. “If your sisters’ donation was in the building,” she
proposed, “it would help us more, and while it was being built we could
do things to help at the furnishing.”?*
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By this time the sisters’ patience was running out, and they were
ready to completely abandon the entire project. Mother Bonaventure
wrote a polite but determined response:

It is not possible for us, dear Mrs. Kleberg, to advance $20,000 for the
building, according to your request. We agreed to expend this amount on
the furnishing, because we could do so, little by little; but we are by no
means in a position to advance the money.

After the losses we sustained and which could never be restored, we
were, nevertheless, willing for the sake of the good people of Corpus
Christi to allow our sisters to remain there and continue the good work as
best they could under the circumstances; and until in a reasonable length
of time conditions could be remedied by the erection of a sanitarium. A
private dwelling, however desirable it might be as such, could not even
temporarily serve the purposes of a hospital on account of the lack of nec-
essary conveniences for the proper care of the sick. Still, in the face of all
this we left our sisters to cope with the difficulties of the situation.

It is now a year and five months nearly that we are waiting for the new
building, the delay to which seems to be indefinite. During this time our
sisters in Corpus, owing to the aforesaid conditions, have endured much
physical suffering and inconvenience which cannot be permitted to con-
tinue much longer. In view of these reasons and of the fact that the ser-
vices of the sisters are needed elsewhere, we have decided to withdraw
the sisters from Corpus Christi the end of the month of April.?s

The letter created great consternation in Corpus Christi. Appeals
began to pour into the motherhouse in San Antonio, not only from Mrs.
Kleberg but also from Roy Miller, editor of the local newspaper The
Caller; Mrs. John G. Kenedy; and other members of the fund-raising
committee. Doctors on the hospital staff made a special trip to San
Antonio to convince the sisters to stay. Bishop Emmanuel Ledvina
offered to assist in any way he could and pledged $10,000 to the build-
ing fund.

The superiors in San Antonio seemed impervious to the pleas.
They had given up all hope of ever seeing the new hospital. “Our deci-
sion to withdraw the sisters is not altered,” Mother Bonaventure wrote
to Mrs. Kleberg. “We hope—and we have no doubt—that the good peo-
ple of Corpus Christi will be able to secure the services of some other
religious community for their hospital.”’6

Mrs. Kleberg and the members of her committee now became
truly alarmed. It seemed that all of their efforts were going to fail. In a
last desperate attempt to raise money, they turned the campaign into a
city-wide appeal. Years later, people like Minnie Haas could remember
gathering donations of $1.00 and even 25 cents as they knocked on
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neighborhood doors. A $5.00 gift was an “eye-popper,” she said.?’
Among the volunteer groups collecting money was a committee of
black women who sponsored a raffle and raised funds to furnish “a
room for persons of their race.”?® Donations came from Robstown,
Kingsville, San Patricio, Bishop, Alice, and Port Aransas.

Mrs. Kleberg published an appeal to the “Citizens of Corpus
Christi” in The Caller. The tone of her letter suggests the level of exas-
peration she had reached:

This is Thanksgiving Day and therefore, I want to thank all who are
putting their shoulders to the wheel and helping to replace the Spohn
Sanitarium.

1 feel it is due you, due the Order of the Incarnate Word, and due me that
we have a plain talk. . . .

1 had “ups and downs,” many of them, in our hospital work sixteen years
ago. Some even refused to help then because the hospital was to be run
by Catholic sisters. To them I made answer, “Keep your money.”

The old Spohn Sanitarium was built because we needed hospital facili-
ties, then as now, and because we wanted to honor Dr. Spohn for his man-
ifold goodness and many acts of kindness and charity.

The new sanitarium is to be built because of humanity’s need and also as
a memorial to the same Dr. Spohn, who has gone to his reward. For the
last reason, I, for one, do not want a single penny contributed to it with-
out the right spirit behind it.

Sixteen years ago, the deed given the sisters had a clause in it something
to this effect, “to be controlled by the Order of the Incarnate Word as long
as it was run as a hospital and without expense to the city.”

May 1 ask the city if it was ever called upon, even in the stress of war
times, to aid in the maintenance of this hospital. I consider this a proud
record and also proof that such an institution is an asset to the city.

Sixteen years ago, Nueces County was asked to aid in providing a chari-
ty ward in the hospital. The county could not provide the ward and yet no
patient was ever refused unless of serious contagious type or because of
lack of room.

The surest way to rebuild this structure is to add the mold of human kind-
ness to the mortar.

I am a Presbyterian but many of my dearest friends are Catholics. They
do not love me less because I am a Protestant. Should I love them less
because they are Catholics? . . .

171



PROMISES TO KEEP

Now that we understand each other, we shall press on to the mark. Again,

1 thank our earnest helpers and urge others to fall in line for this good
29

cause.

The April deadline for withdrawing the sisters passed, but they
stayed on at their work in the Kenedy Home. Rev. Mother Mary John
O’Shaughnessy could not help but be moved by the earnest efforts of
the people to provide a hospital for their community. In November,
1921, when the committee was just $5,000 short of its $50,000 goal, she
sent a check to complete the fund. Bishop Ledvina added $10,000,
bringing the total to $60,000.

Not until a year later, however, on October 5, 1922, was the con-
tract for the new sanitarium finally signed. Atlee M. Ayres and Robert
M. Ayres of San Antonio were appointed architects for the structure to
be located on Third Street, a short distance away from Ocean Drive. The
building was designed in a U-shape surrounding a 60-foot by 40-foot
courtyard open to the east.

Construction moved along smoothly until the following April, when
the money ran out. The final cost of $175,000 had far exceeded the orig-
inal estimate. More contributions had come in, but not enough to pay all
of the bills. The sisters could not let the project fail now. They were forced
to borrow $50,000 to finish the work. The motherhouse in San Antonio
was mortgaged to secure the ten-year loan at 5'/2% interest.

The comerstone was blessed on August 2, 1923, and contained a
document prepared by the sisters recognizing the financial support
given by the people of Corpus Christi and the surrounding areas as well
as “the heavy responsibility” incurred by themselves. “It is to be
hoped,” the document stated, “that the good citizens of Corpus Christi
and the honorable physicians will realize what sacrifices are being made
for the purposes of the new institution, and that it will receive the nec-
essary support to carry on its work of mercy towards suffering humani-
ty.”3? Through the years that followed such difficult beginnings, the sis-
ters’ hopes for receiving “the necessary support” would be completely
realized.

The new three-story sanitarium, which provided beds for fifty
patients, was blessed on August 25, 1923, by Bishop Ledvina and was
greeted with great admiration by the people of Corpus Christi. “There
are many larger hospitals in the State,” it was conceded, “but none more
modern.” The site was described as perfectly suited to “receive full ben-
efit of the Gulf breezes, and give the patients a cheerful vista of the sur-
rounding country.”3!

The only remnant of the North Beach frame building was a statue of
the Child Jesus which the sisters had somehow saved from the destruction
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Overlooking Corpus Christi Bay, the
originel Spohn Senitarium had an ideal
location for healthful sea breezes.
Struck by a hurricane in 1919, however,
the frame building was completely
destroyed by high winds and surging
waters. The storm also caused the death
of Sister Thais Desroches.

Completely reconstructed on Shoreline
Drive, the new Spohn Hospital has devel-
oped into a 560-bed medical facility with
specialized programs in the treatment of
heart disease, diabetes, cancer, orthope-
dics, neuroscience, and rehabilitation. The
hospital serves patients from all parts of
South Texas and is part of the Spohn Health
System, thet includes Spohn Kleberg
Hospital and Spohn Hospital South.

of the hurricane and placed in the new chapel, where the Rev. Damian
O’Rourke, C.P, celebrated the first mass on August 26, 1923.

Dr. Harry G. Heaney admitted the first patient to the new Spohn,
just as his father, Dr. Alfred George Heaney, had done in 1905 in the old
sanitarium. Mother Mary George continued to serve as superior and
administrator, and working with her were Sister Mary of the
Assumption Reynolds, Sister Leonide Craddock, Sister Ferdinand
Farrington, Sister Francis Ignatius Schroeder, Sister Gabriela Meehan,
Sister Mary Alice Swindler, and Sister Benigna Wall.

The announcement of the opening of the new facility carried with
it news of “the establishment in the near future of a training school for
nurses.”2 No such program existed at the time in South Texas, and the
sisters realized that if they were to secure nurses for the new sanitarium,
they would have to train their own. By 1926, the first students were
enrolled, and the following year the school was accredited by the State
Board of Nurse Examiners.

Classes were held in the hospital and taught by the sisters and
physicians on the staff, including Drs. C.P. Jasperson, R.V. St. John, A.J.
Ashmore, Cedric Priday, L.C. Arnim, and Mclver Furman. Sister M.
Benjamin Laesing was the director, and Dr. Henry Redmond was named
the first dean. Residence facilities for the students were provided with-
in the sanitarium, until Dr. Redmond offered the use of his home for this

173



PROMISES TO KEEP

purpose. The house, located on Leopard and Broadway, was moved to
the hospital grounds and for eight years served as the Nursing Students’
Residence.®

The number of physicians on the staff of the sanitarium began to
increase, and by 1927 the first organization of the medical staff was
established. Their adopted by-laws stated that all legally registered
physicians residing and practicing in Nueces County who were of “good
normal and professional standing” and who subscribed to the regula-
tions of the American Medical Association would be considered eligible
for appointment to the staff. The procedure for application required the
filing of an application “with the Mother Superior . . . and being
endorsed by the Mother Superior.” Racial segregation was still common
in Corpus Christi, as in most areas of the country, and the by-laws
included the following statements: “No negro doctor shall be allowed to
treat patients in the hospital. Mexican doctors who are members of the
County Medical Society are eligible to do so.”3*

The sisters’ records of the early days of the hospital are filled with
stories of patients being converted to Catholicism on their deathbeds or
being brought back to their earlier belief in God and to the practice of reli-
gion. In one of the regular monthly letters sent to the motherhouse,
Mother Mary Ascension Ryan, who was appointed administrator in 1928,
described how sisters from Incarnate Word College, visiting the hospital
during the summer vacation period, were successful in bringing back to
the sacraments a man dying of cancer who was “forty years away from
his God and Church.” The man had insisted that he did not want to talk to
the chaplain and “did not care to be bothered at all, for the days were so
very hot, and he was so sick.” Nevertheless, the sisters began to visit him,
bringing him first a religious medal, then a relic of Saint Therese de
Lisieux. The patient finally asked for a priest, saying he wanted to “get
settled up.” He died happy and peaceful a few days later.3

In another letter, Sister M. Octavia McGarry told about a patient
who was so ill that he could not respond to the sisters’ inquiries regard-
ing his religion and need for spiritual help. As the man’s condition
became critical, one of the sisters tried to utter the prayers for him,
whispering into his ear: “My Jesus, I am sorry for all my sins.” Much to
the sister’s surprise, the man spoke up in a loud, clear voice saying,
“Me, too,” and immediately expired.3®

With the increase in physicians and the ever-growing number of
patients, the character of Spohn began to change from an institution of
care for long-term illness to an institution of cure for the critically ill.
Realizing that the facility was no longer appropriately described as a “san-
itarium,” the sisters determined in 1930 that the name should be changed
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to Spohn Hospital. They also began to plan for expansion and to raise
funds for construction of an annex. Before they could achieve this goal,
however, the country was plunged into the Great Depression. More and
more patients were unable to pay their medical bills, and the hospital was
forced to draw on all of its financial resources to meet the regular costs of
operation. Adding more rooms would have to be postponed.

Sister Edelburga Lang was appointed treasurer at this time and
took her job very seriously. Just as people throughout the country were
cutting back on spending in order to cope with the effects of the depres-
sion, Sister Edelburga was trying to reduce expenditures at Spohn. To
control maintenance costs, she learned to handle many building and
equipment repairs herself, even fixing the elevator at times. She also
controlled central purchasing and scrutinized every order for equipment
and supplies. Years later, the doctors at Spohn could recall how difficult
it was to get what they needed from Sister Edelburga, who was often
better acquainted with maintenance and repairs than she was with med-
icine. From generation to generation, the doctors passed on the story of
how she once responded to a special request from surgery for a “double
0” suture by saying that the hospital had no sutures of that size; maybe
the surgeon could use two “single 0” sutures instead!

Even during the depression years, records show that the hospital
was regularly filled to capacity. Several entries in the daily journals
describe the crowded conditions: “Still rushed for rooms, turning down
patients every day, no room!”?’” A few months later, it is recorded: “The
hospital is crowded. We registered 205 patients during the month of
May.”*8 And the following month the journal notes, “Fourteen patients
received today. During the past month the facilities of the hospital have
been overtaxed to the utmost.”?

In an effort to use all available space for patient care, the school of
nursing was closed in 1935, and classrooms were converted to hospital
wards. The sisters moved out of their living quarters in the hospital and
into the Redmond home that had been used previously as a student res-
idence. Every room in the hospital was filled, and day by day the situa-
tion became more critical. Not until 1937 were the sisters in a financial
position to build again. Finally, a fifty-room annex was constructed
adjoining the north side of the main building.

Mother Monica Grant was appointed administrator the following
year, and the hospital was evaluated for accreditation by the American
College of Surgeons. When the visiting representative completed his
inspection, he offered high commendation and praise, saying that he
“did not expect to find such a well equipped hospital in Corpus
Christi.”0 The institution was given full accreditation.
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Mother Monica, who had been prepared as a laboratory technician
rather than an administrator, provided excellent leadership for Spohn. She
had a natural ability, like Mother Mary George, who had preceded her, for
organizing and operating an effective, efficient, and caring hospital. She
made rounds in the various departments every morning, knew every staff
employee by name as well as every nurse and every doctor. She was a
wise businesswoman with much common sense and a great deal of human
understanding; the hospital ran smoothly under her direction.

When the United States became involved in World War II, sixty-five
physicians on the staff were called into military service, and the sisters
anticipated that the new annex would be left standing without sufficient
patients to keep it in operation. Through a cooperative arrangement with
the Corpus Christi Naval Air Training Station, however, many dependents
of military personnel were admitted to Spohn. The census report for 1943
showed that a total of 5,174 patients were treated in the hospital.

An additional 1,300 newborn infants were registered in the nurs-
ery, which Sister Adelaide Funk directed with such professional skill
that the physicians named her “Dr. Adelaide.” Sister had been at Spohn
as early as 1925. She knew all of the doctors on the staff. Often she
knew their fathers who had been there before them and their sons who
came after them. Some of the younger doctors did not meet with her
approval, and she was even known to tell her staff, “Don’t let those doc-
tors in here; they’ll kill my babies!”

She thoroughly disapproved of the new miracle drugs, such as
penicillin and sulfa, that were being introduced about this time. She had
her own remedy, which she believed was far more effective and which
she did not hesitate to substitute for the doctor’s orders. As soon as the
physician left the department, she simply pulled out a bottle of whiskey
that she had hidden away in the drug cabinet, mixed a little with water,
and cared for the baby in her own way.*! With Sister Adelaide’s expert
touch, the cure worked!

The crowded conditions at the hospital continued through the next
decade. When a new city/county medical facility opened in 1944, the
sisters wrote in the hospital’s daily record: “Open house at the Memorial
Hospital today. We hope it will relieve us of a few patients.”? A short
time later, a base hospital was established at the Naval Air Training
Station. Even with all of the additional health facilities in the city,
Spohn was still turning people away for lack of space.

As World War II came to a close, the sisters looked forward to a
long-awaited expansion. Sister Benjamin Laesing had been appointed
administrator, and under her direction plans were developed for a new
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wing. The shortage of building materials following the war, however,
delayed construction for several more years.

By 1950, Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell was named administra-
tor, and conditions were all in place for her to move forward at her usual
high-speed. She had just completed her master’s degree in hospital
administration at St. Louis University and was the first executive
administrator at Spohn to be professionally prepared for her position.

The federal government had passed the Hill-Burton Act in 1946
making funds available for hospital construction, and Sister Mary
Vincent was determined to secure a grant for the proposed new wing.
When the application was sent to Austin, she learned that political pres-
sure was being exerted to restrict the Hill-Burton money to Memorial
Hospital, the city/county institution. It seemed certain that Spohn was
not going to get any support for its much needed expansion.

Sister Mary Vincent immediately turned to the staff doctors for
help. A county medical meeting was called on the issue, and discussion
among the doctors was heated, some arguing for the funds to be used for
expansion of Memorial, others, particularly Drs. Joseph Gardner and
Thomas F. FitzGerald, making a strong case for an addition to Spohn.
As the arguments went on and on, and the meeting ran far into the night,
several people began drifting away. When the vote was called in favor
of the funds going to Memorial, those still participating in the discus-
sion found they no longer had a quorum present at the meeting. Spohn’s
supporters immediately telephoned all of their own doctors, calling
them back to the session, and the vote for Memorial failed. A short time
later, Spohn was awarded the million dollars it needed for Annex A.

By 1951, ground was broken for the new wing, and construction
was completed the following year at a cost of $2 million. The five-story
building provided space for 120 additional beds as well as new nurs-
eries, operating and emergency rooms, X-ray department, laboratories,
and orthopedic facilities. The fifth floor was designated as a convent for
the sisters and was furnished by Mr. and Mrs. Myron Pease in memory
of their granddaughter, Helen Pease Martin.** Always proud of her Irish
heritage, Sister Mary Vincent placed on the front of the building a large
Celtic cross, the first of many that would follow in the years to come.*

The new wing brought the total capacity of the hospital to 250
beds and 48 bassinets. Sister Mary Vincent, however, had just begun
the drive for building Spohn into a major medical center. In 1953, just
three years after the new wing was completed, she was planning for a
reopening of the school of nursing. Since the closing of the original
school, the hospital had been struggling to maintain a sufficient num-
ber of nurses to care for its many patients. The sisters had sought
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approval for reopening the school in the 1940s, but the general admin-
istration in San Antonio had rejected their request. Educational pro-
grams in nursing had advanced significantly over the years, and the
superiors feared that the school in Corpus Christi would not be able to
meet the new standards.

Sister Mary Vincent, too, was concerned that an educational pro-
gram should meet the highest standards and that the finest facilities
should be provided for the students. She talked to Ben Vaughan, Sr.,
administrator of the James R. Dougherty, Jr., Foundation in Beeville, who
thought the school would be a great asset not only to Spohn but also to all
of South Texas, where training programs were still at a minimum.

When a “For Sale” sign went up a short time later on a piece of
property adjacent to the hospital, Vaughan moved into action, declaring
to Sister Mary Vincent, “We want the school of nursing on that corner
lot. You get the house. I’ll get the money.” Through his efforts a grant
of $300,000 was received from the Dougherty Foundation, and the hos-
pital borrowed the rest of the money to erect a student residence and
classroom building located on Ocean Drive. The new facility was dedi-
cated on February 22, 1954, and named the James R. Dougherty, Jr.,
School of Nursing in memory of the Doughertys’ son, who was killed
in Germany during World War II and was awarded the Distinguished
Service Cross. Classrooms were constructed around a tiled patio that
displayed a large green shamrock in the center that tied in with the
Celtic cross on the front of the building.

Sister Mary Vincent was a strong administrator who rarely
encountered surprises in her plans for the hospital. She was used to hav-
ing everything under control—her control—and as a result, plans usu-
ally developed in accordance with her expectations. She got a great
shock, however, with the opening of the school of nursing. She had been
in constant communication with the superiors in San Antonio and had
shared with them the progress of the building, the details of the educa-
tional program, and the success in recruiting faculty and students. She
had been promised that a sister would be appointed director, someone
well qualified for the position, perhaps a member of the College facul-
ty. As the building neared completion and all was in readiness for the
grand opening, she was told that no sister-director would be available.

Fifty students were scheduled to arrive within a month’s time; fac-
ulty were ready to take over their classes, and the school had no one in
charge. Sister Mary Vincent had a problem that had to be solved imme-
diately. She called on Sister Mary Digna Lynch, who was supervisor in
the department of surgery, to take on the responsibility. Sister Digna
held a bachelor’s degree in nursing but had never been involved in
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teaching and was not prepared to take over the direction of a school. Just
as the Incarnate Word sisters who founded the hospital had not turned
away from a cry for their help, however, neither would she. Within the
month she was ready for her task, took on the direction of the new
James R. Dougherty, Jr., School of Nursing, and became such an able
administrator that she held the position for sixteen years.

A school of X-ray technology was established a short time later
and accredited in 1955, followed by a school of medical technology in
1956. Both were sound educational programs that attracted large enroll-
ments of students and served the hospital by providing professionally
trained employees. Spohn was becoming distinguished in the various
fields of allied health education. Sister Bridget Mary Brennan was
appointed director of the school of X-ray technology in 1958, working
with Dr. Joseph Gardner, director of the radiology department. “It was
not in Sister Bridget Mary’s plans that students should fail,” according
to Dr. Gardner, *“so they had classes, then extra classes, and more extra
classes until they were prepared to excel.”*® Under the direction of
Sister Grace O’Meara, working with Dr. Joseph Pasternack, the School
of Medical Technology was accredited and became affiliated with Texas
A&I University in Kingsville.

At the same time that Spohn was developing its educational pro-
grams, it was strengthening its presence as a vital human resource in the
local community. Sister Mary Vincent was the first woman to serve on
the Chamber of Commerce, much to the dismay of some local citizens
and some hospital physicians who were shocked that such leadership
should be assumed by a woman, particularly one who was a sister as
well. Her participation in the Chamber, however, fostered a strong rela-
tionship with the business community.

She was involved also with many socially prominent women in
Corpus Christi, when in 1951 she established the Women’s Auxiliary.*’
Mrs. Patrick J. Dunne was named the first president. The auxiliary
proved to be of invaluable service to the hospital, providing volunteers
for many areas of service and assisting with fund-raising efforts. The
organization later established a junior auxiliary, the Shamrocks. Sister
Mary Vincent, in later years, liked to tell the story of how the bishop of
Corpus Christi, Mariano S. Garriga, advised her that it would be better
to name the group the “Bluebonnets,” but she felt “Shamrocks” was far
more appropriate in a setting of Celtic crosses and a shamrock-decorat-
ed patio. She refused to yield to the bishop.

By January, 1955, Sister Mary Vincent was constructing another
building. This time she was adding a new chapel, and once again the
structure was in memory of a South Texas donor. Robert Welder, rancher
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and philanthropist from Sinton, Texas, was a patient in the hospital at the
time. When he heard of sister’s plans for a new chapel, he told her, “Go
build it; I'1l pay for it.”*8 Mr. Welder died before the structure was com-
pleted. His widow donated $100,000 to pay for the building that was
named the Welder Memorial Chapel and dedicated to the memory of her
husband.

Sister Mary Vincent wanted the building constructed directly in
front of the hospital with a glass-covered entrance so that everyone
coming to Spohn could see the interior with its beautiful marble altar.
“Maybe they’d go in and kneel down and say a prayer,” she thought.
“The chapel would give them courage.” However, when she shared her
plans with Bishop Garriga, who had become her close friend and ally,
she met with strong opposition. The bishop felt that the chapel should
not be so public. It was enough to have a room inside the hospital set
aside for the celebration of the Eucharist. He was adamant in his oppo-
sition. “If you build that chapel out there,” he told her, “I’'ll come out
and take it down brick by brick.” However, the bishop had met his
match in Sister Mary Vincent. “And I’'ll come after you and put it back
up, brick by brick,” she responded.*’ The chapel was constructed exact-
ly where she wanted it.

Sister Mary Vincent was fearless in her administration of the hospi-
tal. She worked hard herself and demanded the same of everyone around
her. She encouraged the resignation of incompetent physicians who had
been on the staff for many years and had stayed on beyond their tenure of
effective practice. She added the first black physician to the staff long
before desegregation became acceptable in the community.

She was recognized as a leader who often accomplished the
impossible, although not without opposition. She could take the oppo-
sition when it came, however. One day in 1953, she met Dr. Joseph
Gardner in the hall and said, “There are going to be a lot of coronaries
in the hospital today, Doctor.” Surprised at her announcement, he asked,
“What do you mean?” With her usual sense of humor that made it pos-
sible for her to laugh at herself, she answered, “I’ve just been appoint-
ed administrator for another term.”?

Corpus Christi was growing in size, and with its growth came an
ever-increasing demand for more patient beds and larger facilities. A
development board was set up in 1956 to strengthen relationships
between the hospital and the community and to assist Spohn in plan-
ning for future needs. Benjamin F. Vaughan, Jr., was appointed the
first president.

When Sister Mary Vincent left Corpus Christi in 1955 to become
the administrator of St. Joseph Hospital, Fort Worth, she was succeed-
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ed by Sister Angela Clare Moran. Sister’s calm, quiet approach to
administration contrasted sharply with Sister Mary Vincent’s flurry of
activity, yet the hospital continued to move forward. Plans were drawn
up for a five-story addition, Annex B, and the hospital applied for anoth-
er $1 million grant through the Hill-Burton Program. A fund-raising
campaign with Morris L. Lichtenstein, Sr., as chairman was organized
to raise an equal amount in matching funds from the Corpus Christi
community. The sisters borrowed the money needed to make up the
remainder of the $4.5 million total cost.

When the new unit was dedicated on December 3, 1961, Spohn
became a 300-bed hospital. Laboratory and X-ray facilities were
enlarged, and new space was given to the dietary department, central
supply, pharmacy, purchasing, admitting offices, plant maintenance,
surgery, labor rooms, nursery, and laundry.

Sister Mary Eustace Farrell was appointed administrator in 1962,
replacing Sister Angela Clare, who was named inspectress of hospitals
and schools of nursing for the Congregation. Sister Mary Eustace had
held the Spohn post previously for just one year, 1958-1959, while
Sister Angela Clare completed her studies in hospital administration at
St. Louis University.

Under Sister Mary Eustace’s direction, the hospital continued to
expand and accommodate new developments in medicine. The increasing
number of cancer cases called for new facilities and equipment in radiol-
ogy. In 1964, the Rachael Vaughan Radiation Therapy Center was con-
structed financed by a Hill-Burton grant and matching funds contributed
by B. C. Garnett, Amold O. Morgan, Edwin Singer, and Benjamin F.
Vaughan, Jr. The center was dedicated as a memorial to Mr. Vaughan’s
wife, Rachael Dougherty Vaughan, who was a charter member of the
Women’s Auxiliary and first chairman of its board of directors.

In the same year, 1964, a new intensive care unit was opened as
well as new facilities for medical records and nursing services. Once
again, the hospital was successful in securing Hill-Burton funds, princi-
pally through the efforts of Drs. Gardner and FitzGerald, who traveled
to the state offices in Austin so frequently on behalf of the hospital that
Dr. Robert Morton, the statewide director, finally asked them, “If I give
you this money, will you promise not to come back again next week?”!
The $500,000 grant was matched by the Incarnate Word sisters.

To make room for additional expansion, the hospital purchased
more property in 1965. Spohn’s location directly on the waterfront had
from the very beginning offered great advantages to the hospital.
Property values in such a prime location, however, continued to rise.
Looking to the future and to continued growth, Sister Mary Eustace
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determined that more land should be acquired before it became impos-
sible to meet the ever-increasing costs. The hospital purchased lots on
the corner of Second and Ayers Streets, on Second Street in front of the
main entrance, at the corner of Elizabeth Street and Ocean Drive, and
on Third Street across from the hospital. Spohn was prepared to meet
the demands for future growth.

While the 1960s were years of expansion, they were years also for
beginnings and endings. In 1965, the hospital was separately incorpo-
rated. Prior to this date, it had operated as part of the corporation formed
by the Congregation, with the members of the general council making
up the governing board. In 1967, under the new corporate structure, a
board of trustees comprised of sisters as well as local citizens was
appointed. Sister Angela Clare Moran was named president. Other
members of the board were Sister Mary Eustace Farrell, vice-president;
Sister Mary Digna Lynch; Sister Mary Gabriel Dalton; Sister Mary
James Whelan; B. C. Garnett; Benjamin F. Vaughan, Jr.; Robert M.
Jackson; and Edwin Singer.

Since the reorganization of the board, other prominent members of
the Corpus Christi community who have given long tenures of service
and valuable direction to the hospital include Jim Clement, chairman of
the board of the King Ranch, who served for nineteen years; Hayden
Head, local attorney, businessman, and civic leader, who joined the
board in 1972 and continued his service until his death in 1987; and
Thomas F. FitzGerald, M.D., who served from 1974 to 1986.

Just as the 1960s ushered in a beginning for the board of trustees,
they also brought about an ending for the James R. Dougherty, Jr.,
School of Nursing. The school, established in 1954, had prepared 450
nurses, many of whom had remained at Spohn to serve the needs of the
hospital while others assumed positions in local clinics, doctors’ offices,
the public health department, and branches of the military. Many grad-
uates had pursued their studies to the bachelor’s, master’s, and doctor’s
levels, assuming teaching positions in collegiate programs. With the
development of an associate degree in nursing at Del Mar Junior
College, however, the sisters determined that it was time to discontinue
the hospital-based program. The last class graduated in 1969. All class-
es after that time were offered at Del Mar, although students received
their clinical training at Spohn. The nursing education building contin-
ued to serve as a school for medical technology, radiologic technology,
and coronary care nursing.’? The second floor was given over to persons
suffering from acute and chronic renal diseases and hypertension. The
building was renamed the James R. Dougherty, Jr., Health Service
Education Center.
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By the end of the 1960s, Spohn was recording 100% occupancy
rates, and the administration was ready to build again. A $5.5 million
addition of five floors on top of Annex B was constructed in 1969, the
year in which the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word celebrated the
centennial anniversary of their coming to Texas. The foundation of
Annex B, that was built in 1961, had been prepared to support a twelve-
story structure. With the addition of the five new floors, the building
now reached ten stories with most of the new space devoted to private
rooms. Once again, funds were provided by a Hill-Burton grant that was
matched by contributions from the Women’s Auxiliary and other private
donors.

While the 1960s had been essentially years of success and a time
of moving onward, upward and outward, the period was not without its
struggle and sacrifice. The location on the sparkling Corpus Christi Bay
offered a beautiful vista, healthful ocean breezes, and generally a warm,
sunny climate. Occasionally, however, it offered also the danger of
destructive storms that had endangered the existence of the hospital
from its beginnings and continued to pose threats throughout its years
of progress. It has been said that the people of Corpus Christi learn to
document their history by reference to hurricanes. The sisters at Spohn
could trace the development of the hospital not only from the great
storm of 1919 but also from the attacks of Audrey in 1957, Carla in
1961, and Beulah in 1967. They learned to live with the threat of winds
and rain that demolished property and endangered their existence and to
respond courageously to help the victims of such disasters, offering
health care to the injured and shelter to the homeless. When Beulah
struck in 1967, Sister Mary Eustace issued an invitation to all employ-
ees at Spohn whose homes had been flooded by the high waters “to
bring [their] families to the hospital immediately” and to remain there
until the flooding subsided.’>

The 1970s were ushered in by still another devastating storm,
Celia. Winds were registered at 161 miles per hour, and as they lashed
against the coastal city, they destroyed lives, property, and everything in
their path. The hospital’s incoming source of electricity failed, but in a
matter of seconds the emergency generator restored the power. The eye
of the storm, however, sped directly toward the hospital, and all patients
on the top five floors were evacuated. Over 100 persons were lifted into
wheelchairs or transported by stretchers to emergency patient facilities
set up in every available corner. Total hospital census for the day was
high with 320 patients and 26 newborn infants. Sisters, doctors, nurses,
and staff made up another 500 persons within the crowded building.
When Sister Mary Eustace announced that “no one seeking shelter
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would be turned away, and accommodations would be stretched to the
limits of the hospital complex,” another 500 relatives and refugees filled
every corner of the congested buildings.>*

Hospital employees worked for thirty-four hours without rest. Just
as they reached the exhaustion point they were relieved by helicopter-
loads of sisters, nurses, technicians, and physicians, thirty persons in all,
who arrived from their sister institution in San Antonio, the Santa Rosa
Medical Center. They brought food, supplies, and most important of all,
relief for the Spohn staff. Not since the disastrous hurricane of 1919 had
Spohn suffered such damage. Destruction of buildings and equipment
reached $1.3 million, with most of the loss in the top five floors of
newly constructed Annex B. Not one person in the hospital, however,
was injured.

Although the 1970s were ushered in with the destruction of Celia,
the years that followed brought not only repair of the hurricane damage
but also additional expansion of the hospital. By 1971, a new
Rehabilitation Center had been constructed, followed by a Respiratory
Therapy Center and a coronary care unit in 1972.

Sister Mary Eustace completed her ten-year term of service, and as
she left her administrative post, she noted the many changes in diag-
nostic technology, comprehensive care, rising costs, and health legisla-
tion that had filled her years as the chief executive officer. “Institutions,
like people,” she said “evolve, adapt, grow or wither in response to the
parade of societal forces.” Spohn had evolved, adapted, and grown in
new programs, services, and facilities, but “one dimension of concern
[had] remained constant—the developing and maintaining of [a]
Christian commitment to the care of each patient with skill and devotion
mindful of his personal dignity and eternal destiny.”>>

Succeeding Sister Mary Eustace in the administrative position was
Sister Bernard Marie Borgmeyer, a quiet, compassionate person who
made a point of knowing every person on the staff of the hospital.
According to Johnnie Harpole, director of administrative services for
nursing, “Sister was a real mother-figure” and demonstrated in her own
relations with people the hospital’s reputation for caring.>

The hospital was admitting over 20,000 patients a year and pro-
viding 41,693 days of hospital care. The average occupancy was 90.3%
of the total capacity. It was time to grow again, and Sister Bernard Marie
announced in 1974 a program of future expansion that would cost $18
million and be completed by the 1980s. Phase I would include con-
struction of a thirty-bed Special Care Unit, a ten-story elevator tower, a
new hospital entrance, and a multi-level parking garage. Phase II would
offer new facilities for radiology, emergency care, day surgery, and
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ancillary hospital departments as well as an eight-story physicians’
office building.

From the time of its troubled beginnings in 1905 and throughout the
years of early development, Spohn had emphasized the importance of
spiritual care in the total well-being of the patient. The sisters and the hos-
pital chaplains rarely lost sight of this goal. By 1974, it was determined
that a department of pastoral care should be organized to address four
basic areas: healing, sustaining, guiding, and reconciling. Appointed to
the pastoral care team were Father Boniface Buergler, OSB, chaplain and
director; Sister Marjorie Muldowney, associate director; Sister Mary
Digna Lynch, pastoral associate; Sister Miriam Teresa Mansfield, sister-
visitor; Dorothy Tischler, secretary; Sister Maria Imelda Barranco, sac-
ristan and sister-visitor; and Lillie Aven, volunteer.

In the same year, 1974, Sister Bridget Maher began the practice of
the Spiritual Coffee Break. Once a month administrators and staff
paused in their work and gathered in the hospital chapel for a twenty-
minute period of prayer or spiritual reflection. “The practice started at
the request of the employees who were seeking some form of spiritual
sharing,” according to Sister Bridget.>” The reflection was led by a sis-
ter, by the Catholic chaplain, by a minister of another religion, or by an
employee. The subject varied from month to month and was related to
the liturgical season of the year, to some particular feast day, or to some
aspect of spiritual life.

In 1980, Spohn celebrated its seventy-fifth anniversary. The hos-
pital had grown from a fifty-bed capacity in 1923 to a total of 448 beds.
The number of physicians on the staff had reached 353, and the hospi-
tal had 1,200 employees. To celebrate the seventy-five years of
progress, Bishop Thomas J. Drury rededicated the hospital to “the mis-
sion of caring which inspired its founders” and to a service of “loving
healing [for] all patients regardless of race, color, creed, national origin
or economic status.”®

The following year Sister Bernard Marie was instrumental in
securing the largest financial contribution Spohn had ever received
through a gift from the Kenedy family, that had been closely associated
with the hospital since its founding in 1905. The John G. and Maria
Stella Kenedy Foundation awarded $10 million for the establishment of
a three-floor medical-surgical addition bringing the total capacity of the
hospital to 500 beds.

When Sister Bernard Marie left Spohn in 1981, she was replaced
by Sister Kathleen Coughlin as administrator. Construction began on
the addition which was dedicated as the Sarita Kenedy East Wing on
September 10, 1982, by Bishop Thomas J. Drury. An eight-foot bronze
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statue of Christ the Healer, the work of Dr. Sherman T. Coleman, a staff
physician, was blessed at the same time and placed at the entrance to the
hospital.

Sister Kathleen was the nineteenth sister to take over the leader-
ship position at Spohn. The hospital had been particularly fortunate
throughout the years in having strong administrators who were dedicat-
ed to making the institution the leading health care facility in South
Texas. Sister Kathleen followed in the same direction. She determined
that her three major administrative responsibilities were to continue
Spohn’s service “to God and mankind,” to maintain the hospital’s tradi-
tional values and resources, and to give “guidance, vision, and direction
for the future.”?

She began immediately to take a leading role in the civic commu-
nity, joined the Chamber of Commerce, served on various local boards
and committees, and kept the name and reputation of the hospital before
the general public. She worked also with the development board in
establishing the Spohn Hospital-South Texas Lyceum for the benefit of
the hospital. The first distinguished speaker for the annual fund-raising
event was the world renowned Dr. Henry Kissinger.

Although the hospital was now facing competition from other
health care institutions in the city, something unknown in the early days,
Sister Kathleen was determined that Spohn should be “the hospital of
preference in the community.”® The 1960s and the 1970s had been
marked by steady progress in new services and in the opening of new
facilities. The 1980s followed with still more developments:

1983 Inauguration of home health and hospice service

1984 Opening of the Bayview Fitness Center

1985 Purchase of Kleberg Memorial Hospital, Kingsville

1986 Construction of the Spohn Kieschnick Guest House

1987 Construction of Spohn’s Women’s Center

1988 Construction of Radiation Therapy Center

1989 Opening of Spohn Diagnostic Center and Professional

Office Building in Sinton, Texas

1991 Opening of rehabilitation unit, muscular dystrophy clinic,

and diabetes unit

The purchase in 1985 of the Kleberg Memorial Hospital, a 136-
bed general acute care facility in Kingsville, was a major step forward.
The medical facility had been established originally in 1914 as the first
county-operated hospital in Texas. It had been successful in its early
years, expanding facilities on a regular basis to meet an increase in
patients and in demand for services. By 1980, the original building had
been enlarged in every direction with new additions, and the decision
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Sister Kathleen Coughlin, President and
Chief Executive Officer of Spohn
Hospital, introduced Walter Cronkite,
nationally recognized TV news commen-
tator, at the 1990 Spohn Hospital—
South Texas Lyceum.

Representing the hospitals sponsored by
the Congregation, Sister Nora Marie Walsh
was involved in 1994 in the nationwide
effort led by Hilary Rodham Clinton to
reform the delivery of health care. Sister
served as Chairman of the Board of
Directors of Incarnate Word Health
Services, established tro provide centralized
leadership for the sisters’ministry in health
care. Joining Sister Nora and Mrs. Clinton
at a New York meeting of the Democratic
Senatorial Campaign Committee was
Richard Fisher, Chairman, Morgan Stanley
& Co. Inc.

was made to construct a totally new complex of 136 patient beds.
Because of the unfavorable association of county hospitals with the idea
of free care and lower quality of service, the name was changed from
Kleberg County Hospital to Kleberg Memorial Hospital

Some years later, the institution incurred heavy financial losses
and services fell below federal health standards. Rather than close the
facility and deprive the people of the Kingsville area of local health
care, county officials approached the administrators of Spohn regarding
transfer of ownership. After some negotiation, Kleberg County
Commissioners in 1985, following a three-to-one voter-approved refer-
endum, accepted Spohn’s offer to purchase the property for $16.5 mil-
lion, which included a cash payment of $7.5 million and assumption of
the institution’s indebtedness of $9 million. The facility was renamed
the Spohn-Kleberg Memorial Hospital.

Allan Sonduck was appointed Chief Executive Officer and began to
upgrade existing services and introduce new programs in an effort to
bring the hospital to a stable position. The recruitment of new physicians,
the addition of a wellness center, and the construction of a physicians’
office building brought a change of direction that offered promise for the
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future. A sharp decline in patient revenues occurred at the same time,
however, because of the changes in Medicare and Medicaid that were
affecting hospitals nationwide. By 1988, the hospital recorded a loss of
$4.5 million. New financial controls were introduced, but not until the fol-
lowing year was the hospital restored to financial stability. At the same
time, a change in administration took place. Elwood E. “Buzz” Currier,
Jr., was appointed Chief Executive Officer.

Spohn’s purchase of the hospital in Kingsville was instrumental
not only in preserving access to health care for a large community of
over 30,000 persons that otherwise would have been deprived of this
service but also in establishing a Catholic presence within Kleberg
County and within the hospital that had been county-owned and operat-
ed as a non-sectarian institution. A patient room was converted into a
chapel, and a pastoral care department was established. Sister Elizabeth
Mary Smith was named chaplain and director of pastoral care in 1986
and introduced a new emphasis on the spiritual care of the patient.

As the only sister on the staff, she became the official representa-
tive of the Congregation within both the hospital and the local commu-
nity. That role was not always an easy one in the period of transition.
Many of the people working in the hospital had never known a member
of a religious congregation and did not know what to expect of Sister
Elizabeth as she appeared on the floors. “Sometimes there was a defi-
nite attitude of anti-Catholicism and even prejudice,” she says, “but I
just pretended not to notice it. Soon I got people involved in working
with me, and the attitude began to change.”!

In a community where one-third of the people lived on incomes
below the national poverty level, the hospital was called upon to offer a
high percentage of charity care. Through Sister Elizabeth’s efforts, it also
took on an extensive outreach program involving the local churches, both
Protestant and Catholic, in adopting families in need of food, shelter, and
clothing.

Sister Elizabeth also organized volunteers to follow up on patients
in need of special help with child care or other assistance as they left the
hospital. She was “always there when people wanted help,” according
to Bernadine Morgan, Director of Marketing, “and doing whatever
needed to be done, bringing food to a family in which the father was out
of work and the mother seriously ill, securing a refrigerator for a fami-
ly without money, or just saying a prayer for a dying patient.”6?

The move to the Kingsville area, fifty miles from Corpus Christi,
that includes the Naval Air Station and the King Ranch, also brought the
'history of Spohn Hospital full circle into a renewed contact with the
military installation that had played an important role in its early histo-

188



SPOHN HEALTH SYSTEM: A STORY OF SACRIFICE AND SUCCESS

ry as well as with the King and Kenedy families, who had contributed
so generously to the founding of the first sanitarium.

In addition to the reestablished hospital in Kingsville, two other
units of Spohn were set up at this time as separately incorporated entities.
The Spohn Investment Corporation was established for the ownership and
operation of for-profit, taxable subsidiaries that benefit the hospital—
Tower Health Care, therapy and home medical equipment service, and the
Elizabeth Street Pharmacy. Additionally, the Spohn Development
Foundation was organized to conduct fund-raising programs and to man-
age trust and endowment funds in the name of the hospital.

The complexity of the hospital’s organization created by the vari-
ous separate units prompted the establishment in 1989 of the Spohn
Health System, a mini-system comprising all of the units listed above.
Added to the system in 1991 was the Spohn Hospital Physicians’
Organization incorporated as a joint venture in managed care.

To meet the health needs of the growing population on the south
side of Corpus Christi, the Spohn System added a new primary care hos-
pital called Spohn Hospital South dedicated on February 14, 1994, An
adjoining health plaza included a Woman’s Life Center offering mam-
mography, counseling, massage therapy, a resource library, and classes
on such topics as parenting, smoking cessation, and weight control.

In 1992, only six sisters, in addition to the administrator Sister
Kathleen, remained on the staff, Sisters Mary Digna Lynch, Mary
Eustace Farrell, Bridget Maher, Mary Julia Delaney, Margaret Mannion,
and Sara Carter. In comparison with the large numbers of sisters assigned
there in the past, as many as twenty-three in 1964, the group was small.
The presence of the sisters was strongly felt, however, as they carried on
the traditions of care and service established by those who went before
them, many of whom had long tenures on the hospital staff: Sister
Palladius Kavanagh, who was a medical-surgical nurse for ten years;
Sister Balbina Kogel, who worked in the dietary department for twenty-
two years, together with Sister Erastus Voestner, who worked in the same
area for seventeen years; Sister Simona Bruggemann, who directed the
laundry for thirteen years; Sister Benjamin Laesing, who headed the
obstetrics department and was later appointed administrator, serving a
total of twenty-seven years; Sister Adelaide Funk, who directed the nurs-
ery for sixteen years; Sister Therese Frances Eagney, who supervised the
business office for thirty-five years; and Sister Mary Gabriel Dalton,
who became Treasurer in 1958 and held that position for thirty-two years
until her retirement in 1990.

The mission statement of Spohn Hospital remains prominently dis-
played in every department. It is woven into a brightly colored tapestry
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that greets each person coming through the front entrance. Every visitor
and employee of the hospital is reminded that here “the sacredness, dig-
nity, and wholeness of all human life” are respected. They are aware also
that the hospital recognizes “the equality of all persons and their need for
health care, with special concern for the poor, the elderly, and the termi-
nally il1.”63

The core values that the hospital upholds in all areas of service are
posted in the main hallway: dignity of person, excellence, responsive-
ness to needs, and collaboration. Most of all, the mission is evident in
the service and care that are offered to the patients. It is a mission that
becomes the responsibility of “every member of the Spohn family.” It is
a mission that is based on “faith in God and the love of all persons as
taught by Jesus Christ.”®* It is a mission that has been established by
hardship, sacrifice, endurance, and dedicated service.

The first eighteen years of Spohn’s history were a time of strug-
gle and sacrifice that included financial difficulties, the loss of prop-
erty, and even the loss of life. In the small sanitarium located on North
Beach and next in the makeshift facility of the Kenedy Home, the hos-
pital seemed to struggle to be born. The story from 1923 onward, how-
ever, is one of unquestionable success. “Since I came here in the
1950s,” says Dr. Joseph Gardner, “this hospital has done nothing but
get better. Everyone who is anyone among the doctors in Corpus
Christi is on the staff of Spohn. And patients realize that the hospital
is everything it ought to be.”%’

The success could never have been achieved, however, without the
financial support of the people of Corpus Christi, the dedication and
loyalty of the Spohn physicians, and the faithful service of the employ-
ees. Neither could it have been realized without the leadership of strong
administrators, beginning with Sister Cleophas Hurst and coming up to
the present time with Sisters Mary Vincent O’Donnell, Angela Clare
Moran, Mary Eustace Farrell, Bernard Marie Borgmeyer, and Kathleen
Coughlin.

Finally, the success of Spohn must be attributed to all of the sisters
who offered professional nursing skills, technical expertise, loving care,
personal sacrifice, conscientious service, and long hours of hard work
on the patient floors as well as in the admitting office, the business
office, the medical records library, the laboratory, the X-ray department,
the pharmacy, the school of nursing, the pastoral care department, the
social service department, the dietary department, and the housekeeping
department. “Today, you could not get persons to do what the sisters
have done for this hospital,” says Dr. Gardner. Their sacrifice and their
success tell the story of Spohn Hospital.®
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ADMINISTRATORS

Sister Mary Cleophas Hurst 1905-1909
Mother Mary Denis Lynch 1909-1910
Mother Mary Angela Pierret 1910-1912
Mother Mary Longinus Goergen 1912-1915
Mother Mary George Daly 1915-1921
Mother Mary Jane Keegan 1921-1922
Mother Mary George Daly 1922-1925
Mother Mary de Sales Keegan 1925-1926
Mother Joseph Calasanctius O’Connor 1926-1927
Mother Mary de Sales Keegan 1927-1928
Mother Mary Ascension Ryan 1928-1931
Mother Mary Winifred Cullen 1931-1934
Mother Joseph Calasanctius O’Connor 1934-1938
Mother Monica Grant 1938-1944
Mother Mary Benjamin Laesing 1944-1950
Mother Mary Vincent O’Donnell 1950-1955
Mother Angela Clare Moran 1955-1958
Sister Mary Eustace Farrell* 1958-1959
Sister Angela Clare Moran 1959-1962
Sister Mary Eustace Farrell 1962-1972
Sister Bernard Marie Borgmeyer 1972-1981
Sister Kathleen Coughlin 1981-

*The position of superior was separated from the position of
administrator in 1958.
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PRESIDENTS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF

(no records available) 1905-1925
Harry G. Heaney, M.D. 1926
Jerome Nast, M.D. 1927
Harry G. Heaney, M.D. 1928
E.F. Stroud, M.D. 1929
Harry G. Heaney, M.D. 1930
Harry G. Heaney, M.D. 1931
Harry G. Heaney, M.D. 1932
C.P. Yeager, M.D. 1933
Edgar C. Mathis, M.D. 1934
C.E. Crain, M.D. 1935
C.F. Crain, M.D. 1936
Mclver Furman, M.D. 1937
Mclver Furman, M.D. 1938
N. Difford Carter, M.D. 1939
N. Difford Carter, M.D. 1940
O.H. Peterson, M.D. 1941
John F. Pilcher, M.D. 1942
John F. Pilcher, M.D. 1943
M.J. Perkins, M.D. 1944
Ralph V. St. John, M.D. 1945
C.F. Crain, M.D. 1946
Leslie M. Garrett, M.D. 1947
Robert J. Sigler, M.D. 1948
Kleberg Eckhardt, M.D. 1949

Michael C. Kendrick, M.D. 1950
Thomas W. Edwards, M.D. 1951

James L. Barnard, M.D. 1952
C.F. Crain, M.D. 1953
Harold E. Griffin, M.D. 1954
Frederick F. Rogers, M.D. 1955
June Yates, M.D. 1956
Robert G. Swearingen, M.D. 1957
Charles A. Mella, M.D. 1958
Paul M. Gray, M.D. 1959
E. Ben Groner, M.D. 1960
Joseph E. Gardner, M.D. 1961
George B. Barnes, M.D. 1962
William A. Shields, M.D. 1963
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T. F. FitzGerald, M.D. 1964
John F. Wetegrove, M.D. 1965
Landon C. Arnim, M.D. 1966
James G. Gabbard, M.D. 1967
H.J. Eberle, M.D. 1968
E. Jackson Giles, M.D. 1969
John M. Jones, M.D. 1970
Alfred L. Lane, M.D. 1971
James I. Tyree, M.D. 1972
John Paul Schulze, M.D. 1973
Richard L. Hudson, M.D. 1974
Herbert E. Madalin, M.D. 1975
Alva Blaine, M.D. 1976
William H. Barth, M.D. 1977
Humberto Garcia, M.D. 1978
Donald E. Jackson, M.D. 1979
Frank J. Luckay, M.D. 1980

F. James McCutchon, M.D. 1981
Adam A. McNitzky, M.D. 1982
John F. Cram, M.D. 1983
Joe E. Lewis, M.D. 1984
Sherman T. Coleman, M.D. 1985
Dallas H. Dalton, Jr., M.D. 1986

William M. Fant, M.D. 1987
Janis L. Birchall, M.D. 1988
James A. Dinn, M.D. 1989
James Mullins, M.D. 1990
Clyde Rutherford, III, M.D. 1991
Pedro Torres, M.D. 1992
Arthur J. Wright, Jr., M.D. 1993
Ray Gras, M.D. 1994
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ST. JouN’s HospitaAL AND HEALTH CENTER:
CaTHOLIC CARE FOR A
WEST TEXAS COMMUNITY

In many ways, the founding of St. John’s Hospital in San Angelo may
be compared to that of Santa Rosa Hospital in San Antonio. Both were
the first hospitals established in their local communities; both were
started in response to a call for help from the people of the city; both had
strong community support and were even recognized in their early days
as community hospitals.

While the call from the people of San Angelo in 1910 was not an
emergency cry rising out of an epidemic of cholera like that of San
Antonio in 1869, it was, nevertheless, an expression of a community in
need, a community that had no hospital to care for its sick and suffering
citizens. San Angelo was growing in population but had only a few local
physicians and surgeons who treated their patients and even performed
their operations in private homes. Those needing hospitalization had to
be sent to Fort Worth by train. The trip took ten to twelve hours, and per-
sons who were seriously ill frequently died on the way.

For some time the people of San Angelo had talked about starting
a hospital. Far-sighted businessmen, such as John Lee, realized as early
as 1905 that the community would have to face the responsibility of
providing some form of health care. A large number of persons suffer-
ing from tuberculosis had sought refuge in the mild San Angelo climate,
and a sanitarium was desperately needed for their treatment. Mr. Lee
was able to convince Peter McKinley to donate ten acres of land for the
project. He was able also to persuade the Sisters of Charity of the
Incarnate Word to take over the direction of the institution. Mr. Lee
knew the sisters very well from their operation of Immaculate
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Conception School in San Angelo.! His own sister had become a mem-
ber of the Congregation; she was known as Sister Madeleine and was
herself involved in health care.

In response to John Lee’s convincing arguments for starting a hos-
pital, the sisters agreed to invest $5,000 in the undertaking provided that
the community would secure the land and raise whatever additional
funds might be needed. The sisters were ready to take over the admin-
istration of the institution once it was established.

Mr. Lee did not get the same kind of encouragement, however, when
he approached the Most Rev. John Anthony Forest, bishop of the diocese
of San Antonio, which included San Angelo. The bishop cautioned him
that a similar institution had been opened recently by the Incarnate Word
sisters in Boerne, and it had not been able to attract patients.
“Consumptives are not segregarious,” the bishop warned, “but rather flee
from the company of their fellowmen attacked by the same disease.” The
bishop knew that the sisters were willing to respond to the need in San
Angelo, but “as far as I am concerned,” he said, “I dread it.”?

With such little support from the hierarchy, the proposal was ulti-
mately dropped, but in the years that followed, the need for some form
of community health care became even more acute. The population in
Tom Green County leaped from 6,804 in 1900 to 17,882 in 1910, with
most of the growth centered in San Angelo. The city boasted of having
four banks with “a united deposit of $2,000,000,” five large wholesale
grocery houses, a $100,000 hotel, two daily and two weekly newspa-
pers, a streetcar system, a telephone system, 125,000 sheep and 15,000
horses in the “best stock raising section of Texas.”® Yet the community
had no hospital.

In 1909, a proposal was brought forth once again, and another
appeal for help was directed to the Incarnate Word sisters. What was
most unusual about the second plea was that it came not from a civic-
minded individual who was familiar with the work of the Catholic sis-
ters, but from the San Angelo Business Club, forerunner of the chamber
of commerce, made up of leading businessmen of the city. They repre-
sented a strong Protestant community in West Texas that at times was
characterized by anti-Catholic sentiments and even prejudice toward the
Catholic Church.*

Only two members of the group were Catholic, M. L. Mertz and
John Lee, who had made the initial effort to secure the assistance of the
sisters.> All of the others were staunch Protestants, but they were will-
ing to put their religious differences aside in order to secure the help of
the Catholic sisters who would establish a community hospital.
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The San Angelo newspaper reported on the landmark meeting and
announced the important decision to the townspeople:

With an attendance of seventy-five enthusiastic San Angelo and
Concholand boosters, all in the best spirits, the regular monthly meeting
of the San Angelo Business Club Monday night at the office of C. A.
Broome & Company was by far the best and most important that had
been held for a long time.

The president called for a report from the special committee, composed
of Jerry Y. Rust, C. Edwards and W. T. Bishop, appointed to thoroughly
investigate the proposition of Mother Alfonse [sic] to build a Catholic
hospital here.b

C. Edwards was the spokesman for the group. He reported that he
had interviewed a number of leading citizens and “some acquiesced
very heartily in getting the hospital, while others were not so enthusias-
tic.” Dr. John Abe March said the proposition was “preeminently the
most important that ever came before the Business Club.” George J.
Bird was equally enthusiastic. He believed that “the hospital of the kind
proposed [was] of far more importance than any railroad.”

Rev. J. W. Howell, pastor of the local Methodist Church, spoke
highly of the work of the Catholic sisters, comparing his own treatment
in both Catholic and Protestant facilities in another city. In the Catholic
hospital, he was treated “in a much gentler and kinder manner despite
the fact that he was a Protestant minister.”” Finally, it was agreed that
the Business Club endorse the proposal to build the hospital and that a
committee be appointed to raise a $15,000 bonus for construction.

“That group of businessmen represented the whole community,”
according to John Schriever, whose grandparents moved to San Angelo
during this period. “Many of those men were Masons; their pictures
were hanging up in the Masonic lodge. But they gave their support to
this hospital.”®

Three initial sites were considered for the building. One was locat-
ed “south of the graveyard”; the sisters described it as “very nice and
high” but too close to the cemetery. A second site was offered north of
the town, but the sisters found it “so very far away” from the center of
the city that it would be undesirable.” The third location was on the
street-car line, three miles from the courthouse, lying west of the Lake
View area and east of the fairgrounds. This ten-acre site was offered by
George Hagelstien, who also proffered a cash donation of $500, togeth-
er with $250 from the people of the Lake View addition, if the site were
chosen.
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The final decision was made for a ten-acre tract of land owned by
J. Willis Johnson and located three miles outside the city limits. The city
purchased the land, and members of the San Angelo Business Club set
about raising the $15,000 bonus. The effort, however, took longer than
expected, because of a severe drought that had brought an economic
downturn to the ranchers of San Angelo. C. A. Broome, president of the
Business Club, wrote to assure Rev. Mother Alphonse Brollier that the
money would be forthcoming. “In our opinion,” he said, “there is no
doubt that it will be raised, but the committee having it in charge is wait-
ing for rain to cheer up prospective subscribers to the fund.”!?

The rains finally came, and a few weeks later, the $15,000 bonus
had been raised. The sisters were prepared to put up the rest of the money
needed for the $35,000 building, and ground was broken on April 8, 1910.
Since the sisters who were to administer the sanitarium had not yet arrived
in San Angelo, Mother Octavia McGarry and the teachers at Immaculate
Conception School represented the Congregation at the event. Rev. Peter
Nickol, Pastor of Sacred Heart Church in San Angelo, blessed the ground
and turned the first shovel of dirt.

On May 28, the sisters were ready for the laying of the corner-
stone. Mother Alexis Harrison of the general administration came from
San Antonio for the occasion, and once again Father Peter Nickol, rep-
resenting Bishop Forest, presided at the ceremony. In the cornerstone,
the sisters placed a carefully worded document recognizing the impor-
tant roles played by the doctors and the businessmen of San Angelo in
making the sanitarium possible and expressing their own dedication to
serving the health needs of the community:

Whereas, the honorable physicians and residents of the City of San
Angelo have given such hearty good help to the said institution, the
Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word are erecting this new building
that the City of San Angelo and the surrounding district may enjoy a thor-
oughly up-to-date and fully equipped sanitarium, wherein the sick and
suffering will receive all proper attention and care, according to the
requirements of advanced medical and surgical science.!!

The sisters also made special note of the fact that they were “oblig-
ed to incur a heavy responsibility” for the building. They hoped that the
citizens and physicians would realize what sacrifices had been made
and would give “the necessary support to carry on [the] work of mercy
toward suffering humanity.”!?

The contract for construction was awarded to the Willeke Brothers,
who were highly recognized stonemasons in the West Texas area. The
work was supervised by Theodore Engelhardt, who had worked closely
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with the sisters in overseeing many of their major building projects and
who traveled regularly from San Antonio to San Angelo during the peri-
od of construction.

When the building was completed, it commanded an imposing
presence situated on high ground well outside the city limits and set
apart from any other structures. The local newspaper pointed out that
“its majestic proportions [were] the last object on the sight of him who
leaves the green vales of Concholand and the first to gladden his eager
soul when he returns.”!3

Designed in a Gothic style of red brick and stone, the sanitarium
had four floors with accommodations for thirty patients, a pharmacy,
central supply, surgical suite, recovery room, and delivery room. Living
quarters for the sisters and a chapel were on the fourth floor.

Even before the construction was completed there was a demand
for the new facilities, and the first patients moved in while the workmen
put the finishing touches on the building. Mrs. R. S. Waring was admit-
ted on October 7, 1910. Three days later her son, Orville Taylor Waring,
was delivered by Dr. J. S. Hixon assisted by Sister Lydia Byrne. Since
the electricity had not been fully installed in the building, the child was
born by candlelight.

On November 28, 1910, the sanitarium was officially dedicated.
Presiding at the ceremony was Bishop John W. Shaw, coadjutor to
Bishop Forest, assisted by Bishop Joseph Patrick Lynch of Dallas, who
gave the dedicatory address. The significance of the occasion for the cit-
izens of San Angelo is indicated in the story carried the following day
in the local newspaper in which the writer’s florid style gives added
emphasis to his message:

Standard readers are already familiar with the history of St. John’s
Sanitarium, its objects, its elaborate proportions, its struggles and its tri-
umphant advancement which culminated Monday evening in the laying
on of holy hands and its dedication to God and humanity. All San Angelo,
all West Texas unites with the church in praise and thanksgiving over the
completion of a memorial . . . [and the] unmeasured benefit which this
institution will confer on this beloved country. . . . St. John’s Sanitarium
marks a spot that must be dear to us and our posterity throughout all the
ages to come, and whosoever in all the coming years shall turn his eye
hither may gaze with rapture on this monument of Christian Charity,
erected by devout men and women to proclaim the Fatherhood of God
over all sentient beings and the brotherhood of all mankind.!4

The new structure was highly praised also in the publication
Hunter’s Magazine:
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The people of San Angelo can scarcely realize the good that will result
from this institution or the enormous magnitude of the sphere of useful-
ness it will occupy. The structure itself is not only of imposing dimen-
sions but will be equipped with every appliance for the care of the afflict-
ed known to modern science. . . . The building will maintain its own
heating plant and every room from basement to dome will be heated and
during the winter an even temperature will be preserved throughout the
structure. The ventilation of every hallway, room and apartment is as near
perfection as human genius can arrange, and the lighting and telephone
service is complete in every respect.!>

In spite of the fact that Bishop John A. Forest had at first expressed
such little confidence in the success of the institution, the hospital was
called St. John’s Sanitarium in his honor. Mother de Sales Keegan was
appointed the first administrator and superior of the sisters’ community
that included Sisters Robert O’Dea, Lydia Byrne, Emilie Boland,
Herman Joseph Steffes, Cuthbert Ward, and Helen Sisson.

Dr.J. S. Hixson was named the first president of the medical staff.
Other physicians serving with him were Drs. E. L. Batts, J. B. Chaffin,
C. T. Cooper, A. C. DeLong, C. E. Mays, G. W. Nibling, J. R. Knight,
W. E. Sturgis, S. L. Smith, and G. M. Yates.

Although there was an urgent need for the services of the hospital
and the first patients had been accepted even before the building was
officially opened, the sanitarium grew very slowly in the early days.
One factor working against it was its location in an unpopulated prairie
land where the roads had not been paved and access was extremely dif-
ficult. Years later, John Schriever, whose farm was close by, could
remember how at one time the area all around St. John’s was flooded.
No roads had been constructed, and when the heavy rains came the farm
lands became completely impassable. Schriever waded across the pas-
ture to bring butter, eggs, and milk to the sanitarium to help the sisters
feed the patients.

As word of the hospital began to spread, however, the number of
patients increased. They came from many of the surrounding towns,
Bronte, Eden, Ozona, Sterling City, Eldorado, and Ballinger, as well as
from San Angelo. Charges ranged from $7.00 to $25.00 per week, but
from the very beginning many persons were listed in the records as
charity patients. It was not at all unusual for some to be hospitalized for
two, three, and four weeks.

The sanitarium was open to persons of all religions, and the earli-
est handwritten records make no reference to a patient’s religious pref-
erence. By 1921, however, this information was carefully noted and
shows that the number of Catholics admitted was very small, usually
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making up one-third or less of the total number of patients. Catholics
and non-Catholics were treated alike and offered prayers and spiritual
counseling in their illness. Conversions to the Catholic faith were a reg-
ular occurrence, particularly for patients who had lapsed in their prac-
tice of religion or who had no religious affiliation. Records of persons
returning to the Church or seeking baptism were carefully noted in the
sisters’ diary, where an entry referring to a patient’s turning to God at
the time of death is often mixed with other happenings of the day as if
it were something to be expected and recorded just as any other event in
the hospital:

Feb. 26th. Mass followed by Benediction as former Sunday. Epistle and
Gospel were read. Last night an old man died after receiving Baptism. He
had never been baptized in any other church and he had been here only a
short time. He showed a desire to be a Catholic, so God gave him that
favor. We have had a good heavy rain today.'®

As soon as the sanitarium opened, the sisters began to realize that
it would be extremely difficult to find qualified nurses in West Texas,
where St. John’s was the only hospital in a large expanse of territory
stretching across the Texas plains. Their only recourse was to establish
a training program at the sanitarium. On November 4, 1910, they
secured a charter from the State of Texas to open the first nursing school
in the area, St. John’s Infirmary Training School for Nurses. Sister
Robert O’Dea was appointed the director, and the first young woman to
enter the program was Miss Ethel Reilly.!” Both the doctors and the sis-
ters made up the faculty.

In addition to teaching and nursing, the sisters cooked the patients’
meals, cleaned their rooms, washed the linens, prepared the medications
in the pharmacy, and handled the patient accounts. They also raised pigs
and chickens to help supply the necessary food. For the heavier work of
maintaining the building and the hospital grounds, they employed a few
workmen who lived in a small house located behind the laundry.

During the 1920s, San Angelo began to grow as a result of the oil
boom that struck West Texas. St. John’s was growing right along with
the city, and by the end of the decade there were nineteen sisters on the
staff caring for an ever-increasing number of patients. Consideration
was even given to constructing a new building. The plan had been put
forth by some of the physicians who sought to build San Angelo into a
well recognized medical center. They appealed to the congregational
administration in San Antonio to promote a “new Catholic hospital,”
promising to launch “a campaign to procure in donations an amount not
less than $200,000 in cash.”!8

201



PROMISES TO KEEP

“We are much interested in a new hospital in San Angelo,” Rev.
Mother Mary John O’Shaughnessy responded, “because we know it is
much needed.” Should a new structure be erected, however, she sug-
gested that a different location be considered. The sisters “would like to
have [it] near the city,” she explained.

The Congregation, however, had just undertaken the construction of
an addition to St. Anthony’s Sanitarium in Amarillo and could not help to
finance the project in San Angelo. “We are already so heavily in debt that
we could not increase our indebtedness,” she said. If the money could be
procured locally, however, the sisters would offer their strong support.!®

Before the proposal for a new hospital in a new location could be
brought to any conclusion, the Great Depression struck West Texas. The
sisters lost “some hundreds” of dollars that they had invested in the
National Bank of San Angelo and were even forced to let some of their
workmen go.2° Meanwhile, many patient beds were left standing empty,
and many of those that were occupied were devoted to charity cases. By
the end of 1930, the sanitarium reported that it had admitted 1182
patients who paid in full, 206 who were able to pay only part of their
bill, and 794 who were accepted as charity patients with no charges
whatsoever.

Five years later, conditions were even worse. Full paying patients
numbered 676; the number that could pay part of the cost reached 873,
and charity patients offered free care totaled 1,034. It was a cause for
prayers of gratitude and rejoicing when a person who could pay in full
came into the hospital. One of the entries in the diary for this period
reads, “We sang a hymn to St. Joseph. We have received three good
payable patients sent by our Good Father St. Joseph.”?!

According to Dr. K. B. Round, who started practicing at St. John’s
during the depression era and who continued to serve on the medical
staff for many years, the physicians had “very little to work with” and
“the facilities . . . were far from modern.” Frequently, he said, the hos-
pital was in such a desperate condition that “the sisters would do with-
out food themselves . . . in order to feed their patients.”??

By 1932, financial conditions had become so bad that it was nec-
essary to close the nurses’ training program. Accrediting organizations
were establishing more exacting standards calling for additional faculty
that would add to the cost of operations. The hospital was providing
room and board and a monthly stipend of $12.00-$15.00 for each stu-
dent, and St. John’s could not continue to sustain the financial drain on
its resources.

Since the opening of the training school, forty-two young women
had graduated from the program and had become registered nurses,
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many of them continuing to serve at St. John’s. Three Incarnate Word
sisters received their training in the program, Sisters Engelbert Reiserth,
Vitalia Dorner, and Mary of Victory Lewis. Three other graduates
entered the Congregation after their graduation and became Sisters
Lucy Glass, Hortensia Nitsch, and Roberta Reilly.

The sanitarium struggled on through the depression years, and in
spite of the difficulties of coping with such severe economic conditions,
managed to move forward. In 1930, the name was changed to St. John’s
Hospital to signify the expansion of services offered, and four years later
the institution was approved by the American College of Surgeons. Dr. M.
N. Newquist, inspector for the agency, praised the physicians and admin-
istrators. He also gave special recognition to Sister Lydia Byrne, who had
introduced a new system of record keeping for the hospital. Like many
other sisters on the staff, Sister Lydia had a long tenure in her position,
giving twenty-six years of service to St. John’s.??

By this time San Angelo had two more hospitals. Angelo Clinic
Hospital, later known as Angelo Community Hospital, that had been
founded in 1929, and Shannon West Texas Memorial Hospital that had
opened in 1932. Shannon Hospital was established for the express pur-
pose of caring for the poor and indigent and was funded by the Shannon
Estate Trust.?*

St. John’s had established a reputation for caring for those in need,
however, and continued to serve many patients who were unable to
pay.? Its size was conducive to fostering a care and concern for the indi-
vidual patient. Perhaps this fact can be best illustrated in the story of
“San Angelo’s Michelangelo,” who appeared at St. John’s in the 1930s.
The young man named Fitzgerald was a drifter, a recovering alcoholic,
who came to the back door of the hospital looking for food.?¢ The sis-
ters discovered that he was an Irish immigrant who was out of work and
had no home or family in America. They allowed him to stay at the hos-
pital, and in payment for his room and board, the young man began to
decorate the hallways, rooms, and entrance lobby with beautiful murals
of forests, lakes, meadows, rivers, sunsets, castles, cottages, and other
pastoral scenes. Over a period of time, he covered approximately 4,000
linear feet of wall space with the landscape murals. The first floor hall-
way had a continuous twelve-inch band of paintings set high up on the
walls, reaching to the ceiling. One day, after spending many hours, days,
and even months completing his work, never disturbing the operation of
the hospital, he disappeared as unobtrusively and mysteriously as he
had come. The painting was no doubt therapeutic for him as he strug-
gled to overcome his dependency on alcohol. It was also his unique way
of expressing gratitude for the kindness shown to him at St. John’s.
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Other illustrations of the sisters’ concern for the physical and spir-
itual wellbeing of their patients is documented over and over again in
the letters and diaries of this period. The following excerpt is one of
many that might be recorded here:

We had a wonderful conversion recently. An old gentleman 85 years old
was brought here who had neglected the sacraments for 50 years. Before
coming to the hospital he had refused to see the priest. “Not now” was
usually his answer when spoken to concerning his condition. One day a
sister brought him a crucifix. It was edifying to see his childlike faith
when he kissed it and pressed it to his heart. You can imagine how we all
rejoiced when he finally went to confession, made his peace with God,
and received our dear Lord in Holy Communion. Contrary to all expec-
tations his condition improved, and he was able to return home.?’

Goodfellow Field opened in San Angelo in 1940, followed soon
after by the San Angelo Army Air Field. Both bases brought an increase
in population to the area and an increase in patients to the hospital. By
1942, St. John’s had twenty-six physicians on the staff and eight sisters
who were registered nurses and in charge of most of the departments.
“Our hospital has been crowded with patients,” Sister Broghan O’Connell
wrote to the sisters at the Motherhouse. “We have to double up by putting
two beds in several of our private rooms. . . [and] had to purchase a new
supply of beds and mattresses.”?® In addition to the large number of
patients, St. John’s was leading the way in new developments in medicine
in West Texas. The first use of penicillin in the area was administered at
the hospital on March 30, 1944, and advanced uses of X-ray, which had
been introduced at St. John’s as early as 1918, were made possible by the
acquisition of the most highly developed equipment.

The increase of patients continued even through the war years, and
with the loss of physicians and nurses who were called to military service,
the sisters themselves had to double and sometimes triple their duties.
Sister John Edward Deneny was appointed administrator in 1944, but
soon discovered that her administrative responsibilities had to be com-
bined with helping in the laboratory, helping in the nursery, and even
washing dishes in the kitchen.?® “There was no such thing as an eight-
hour day or a five-day week,” according to Sister Casilda Conrad, who
sometimes worked far into the night to get the patient accounts in order.3°

Space was becoming a serious problem. In 1944, Sister Mary
Digna Lynch wrote, “We are hoping and praying that God in His mercy
will inspire a kind and charitable person to come to our aid with a big
sack of money so that we may be able to build a new St. John’s. The sis-
ters are kept busy day and night moving beds and other equipment from
one part of the building to another. At the present time, the halls are clut-
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tered with blankets, pillows, suitcases, and everything imaginable. The
doctors are restless and are pleading for a new addition.”3!

The “big sack of money,” however, did not arrive. The sisters and
the people of San Angelo appealed for help to the congregational admin-
istration in San Antonio, but Rev. Mother Laserian Conlon insisted, “We
are not financially able to erect a larger building at St. John’s.””3? There
was concern not only about finances at this time, but also about the num-
ber of young women seeking to enter the Congregation. The sisters had
been dependent on the steady flow of applicants coming from various
countries of Europe, first France and later Germany and Ireland. During
the war years, however, the government imposed strict limitations on
travel as well as immigration. Eighteen young women had entered the sis-
ters” house of religious formation and education in Dunmore, Ireland, but
it had become impossible to procure transportation for them to travel to
the United States. With such uncertainty over the future growth, the sis-
ters became very reluctant to expand their work either in San Angelo or
in other areas. Consideration was even given to closing the hospital at this
time, but Bishop Laurence J. FitzSimon urged the sisters to keep it open.
It was the only Catholic hospital in the area, and the bishop felt it was
responding to both the physical and the spiritual needs of the people of
West Texas.

With the end of the war and the return of the physicians, the nurses,
and the young men from the battlefronts, the situation became even more
critical. It was exacerbated by an outbreak of poliomyelitis that spread
throughout the nation in the late 1940s. At this time, the doctors became
the strongest advocates for expansion. Letters from Drs. K. B. Round,
J. A. Bunyard, and R. L. Powers began to appear in the local newspaper,
that supported their pleas with editorials citing the fact that no new hos-
pital beds had been added to the city’s health facilities in nine years.

San Angelo was a growing community with a total of only 230
hospital beds that could not adequately accommodate the health needs
of its citizens. The population had increased to 40,000, and that of the
eight-county area to 130,000. Both the Angelo Clinic Hospital and
Shannon Memorial Hospital declared they could not expand. St. John’s,
however, could not refuse the continuing requests for more patient beds
and additional medical service. Just as they had done in establishing the
hospital thirty years earlier, the sisters responded to the cry of the peo-
ple and reached out to help the community in need. They agreed to build
a 25-bed addition.

Their response won the support of the townspeople, and a drive to
raise $150,000 was initiated in 1949 by the doctors who committed
themselves to the first pledges of $6,450. Robert G. Carr, San Angelo
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philanthropist, pledged his support also and became a strong spokesman
for the effort, praising the reputation of the hospital and particularly the
work of Sister Hedwig Gromke, a former administrator, who was now
serving as assistant to Mother Claudine Martin. “I have the utmost con-
fidence in the ability of Sister Hedwig and her associates to most prop-
erly and efficiently operate any size addition to St. John’s,” he said.
“They have agreed to this plan for San Angelo in spite of the many sim-
ilar requests of the same kind from other cities.”3 Joining Mr. Carr, who
agreed to serve on the executive committee for the fund-raising effort,
were Houston Harte, Emmett Cox, W. A. Guinn, Gladys Mayer, and
John G. Shepperson. Meanwhile, St. John’s appealed to the federal gov-
ernment for $230,000 in Hill-Burton funds.

Ground was broken for the new building on March 17, 1951. The
importance of the event for West Texas is suggested by the number of
dignitaries who attended the ceremony: Bishop FitzSimon, twenty
priests of the diocese, and Mayor Armistead Rust of San Angelo. The
expansion, in a way similar to the founding of the hospital, was made
possible by the joint efforts of the sisters, the doctors, and the business
leaders of the City. Sister Benignus Mollaghan expressed the gratifica-
tion of the sisters as well as that of the San Angelo community when she
wrote to the motherhouse: “Although St. John’s is a noisy place these
days, we can assure you, dear Mothers and Sisters, that it is like sweet
music to the ears of the sisters who have prayed and waited for many a
year that they might see a new unit for [the hospital].”34

The addition was designed to stretch in a southeasterly direction
from the main building and to include four floors. When construction
began, however, there was not enough money to build even the first two
floors. Since the second level was to contain twenty-eight additional
patient beds, it was decided to construct that floor first and to put it up
on stilts or open columns. The first, third, and fourth floors would be
delayed until the money could be raised.

The structure was completed in April, 1952, and St. John’s had a
capacity of fifty-five patient beds. The following year the open area of
the ground floor was closed in, and the new wing connected to the main
building by a covered passageway. Part of the new building was given
over to a laboratory. Dr. Lloyd Hershberger, who had been appointed
pathologist in the 1940s at Shannon Hospital, had been serving St.
John’s on a part-time basis for several years but without any kind of
adequate facility. At last a laboratory was in place, and the hospital
could provide its own pathology processing service.

Total cost of the building was $320,000 provided by the generosi-
ty of the people of San Angelo as well as state and federal funds. In the
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same year John Willeke, who had built the original St. John’s, con-
structed a replica of the grotto of Our Lady of Lourdes on the hospital
grounds.

Continued support came from the San Angelo community. The
Ladies Guild, which later became known as the St. John’s Hospital
Auxiliary, was established in 1953 during the administration of Mother
Mary Nicholas Dittlinger.3? First members of the organization were
Gladys Mayer, president; Mrs. J. W. Wolslager, vice-president; Mrs. A.
J. Willeke, secretary; and Mrs. Harry Earls, treasurer. Over the years,
the Auxiliary has been important to the hospital in raising significant
amounts of money for equipment and expansion, as well as in the areas
of public relations, social activities, and services to patients. The work
of the organization was expanded in 1957 with the beginning of the
teenage volunteers who became known as Candy Stripers.

During this same period the hospital established an advisory board
made up of business leaders to work with the administration on com-
munity needs and to create a necessary link between the hospital and the
people of San Angelo. Distinguished members of the board included
Mayor H. E. McCulloch and Past Mayor Armistead Rust. Loy Gandy
was named president; Pat Bunnell, vice-president; and James P. Farrell,
secretary. Other members were C. C. Ducote, Bill Earls, J. M. Giles, F.
W. Hamper, J. Willis Johnson III, Gladys Mayer, John I. Moore, T. R.
Salvato, A. J. Willeke, E. C. Brink, and Ed Handley.

Since 1939, the hospital had been approved by the American
College of Surgeons, but by 1954, the sisters were applying for recog-
nition by the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Hospitals. They
immediately earned their accredited status.

When the Joint Commission revisited the hospital in 1957, they
renewed the original accreditation but also advised hospital administra-
tors that the original structure was not fire-resistant and could no longer
be used as a health care facility. Plans were immediately drawn up for
another new wing for surgery, obstetrics, and additional patient rooms.
Once again, the hospital secured a Hill-Burton grant of $230,000 that
required a matching amount from the local community.

F. W. (Mike) Hamper, personnel director for General Telephone
Co. of the Southwest, accepted the chairmanship of the fund raising
committee. Working with him were Henry H. Batjer, Jr., of the Trimble-
Batjer Insurance Co.; Allen M. Boedeker of the San Angelo National
Bank; and E. H. Danner, President of General Telephone Co. of the
Southwest. J. Willis Johnson III was chairman of the recently formed
advisory board, whose members took on the work of soliciting the nec-
essary funds. The campaign was well under way by May 24, 1959,
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when the ground-breaking ceremony was held with Bishop John L.
Morkovsky of Amarillo presiding.

As a part of the hospital’s celebration of its golden jubilee, the
three-story east wing was dedicated on October 11, 1960. The dedicato-
ry address was given by Dr. K. B. Round, chief of surgery, who recalled
the founding of St. John’s, praising the work of the sisters and their
early sacrifice as “the greatest which can be made.”®® The new brick
structure contained three major operating rooms, a surgical recovery
room, central supply facilities, and medical and surgical patient rooms.

It included also a new maternity department and nursery, but unfor-
tunately, just three years later St. John’s was forced to discontinue its
obstetrical services because of a decline in patient usage. During the
month of November, 1967, the hospital recorded only five births.
Although St. John’s facilities were new and offered the latest develop-
ments in technology, the other two local hospitals had established adja-
cent doctors’ offices giving easy access to both patients and physicians.

“Probably two or three of our doctors will oppose the closing of the
service [at St. John’s],” the administrator, Sister Monika Schonberger,
told the governing board, “but it would not be safe to keep the department
open for these men. The qualified doctors for O.B. which we had on our
staff resigned in December as they do not want to spread their practice
over two or three hospitals.”?” Plans were made to convert the obstetrical
department into an area for psychiatric services. St. John’s was the only
hospital in San Angelo offering this treatment at the time, and expansion
of the department gave promise for future development.

By 1968, plans were announced for another major construction
project, the fourth in an eighteen-year period and the final phase of a
complete transformation of the hospital from its 1910 beginnings to a
modern, up-to-date structure with the latest in equipment and technolo-
gy. Once again, the administration was successful in securing Hill-
Burton funds for the construction. The government grant of $700,000
would be matched by $400,000 from the sisters and $350,000 raised in
the local community through the efforts of the advisory board. Nathan
Dansky was named chairman of the fund drive; Omer Dreiling served
as chairman of the advisory board. Ethicon, Inc., a Johnson and Johnson
affiliate in San Angelo, led the way with the first pledge of $25,000.
Other donations soon followed, including $6,000 in proceeds from the
Shrine Circus and donated from the Concho Shrine Association.

The new building included administrative offices, laboratory,
physical and spiritual therapy, kitchen, dining room, central storage,
lobby, and gift shop. Plans called also for renovating the hospital addi-
tions of 1950, 1952, and 1960, and for demolition of the original 1910
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building. The cornerstone of the old building was placed in the lobby of
the new hospital.

When it came time to raze the 1910 Gothic structure, the sisters
faced the problem of how to preserve the murals painted on the walls
that had become such a unique feature of the hospital and a symbol of
St. John’s concern and care. Experts were brought in for consultation,
but none could propose a solution. Unfortunately, the murals had to be
sacrificed to the need for demolition of the old and construction of the
new St. John’s.

At the groundbreaking ceremonies on November 28, 1968, Bishop
Thomas Tschoepe of San Angelo praised the step forward which “would
double capacity of the hospital, . . . establish a payroll of more than a
million dollars annually, and add to the image of [the City] as a medical
center.”*® San Angelo now had a population of 73,000 and was expect-
ed to grow over the next two decades. St. John’s continued to serve also
a large percentage of the rural farm and ranch population.

Sister Monika Schonberger served as administrator during the
construction period, guiding the work to its completion and dedication
on July 12, 1970. Unfortunately, just three weeks later she was changed
from her position to Spohn Hospital in Corpus Christi and never had the
opportunity to enjoy the facilities that she had worked hard to bring to
completion. Sister was replaced by Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell,
who had served as administrator at Santa Rosa Hospital, San Antonio;
Saint Joseph Hospital, Fort Worth; and Spohn Hospital, Corpus Christi.
She had served also on the nursing staff of St. John’s in the 1940s.

Just as she had in the other hospitals where she had been adminis-
trator before coming to St. John’s, Sister Mary Vincent developed the
reputation for being everywhere at once, asking questions, commenting
on situations, insisting on quality performance, and often impatient to
get a job done. “She fired me three times the first year she was here,”
said Father George Fey, chaplain of the hospital, who remembered the
situation with a good sense of humor. “After she did it the third time,
she told Sister Mary Mercy Fitzpatrick, the superior, that I was leaving.
Sister told her that if Father George left, she would go, too. The next
morning, Sister Mary Vincent met me in the hospital and asked me if I
had reconsidered my resignation!”*

Just as she was quick to upbraid, Sister Mary Vincent was ready also
to give praise. Publicly, she would extol the “wonderful medical staff,”
“the master-minds of the board of directors,” and the “vital role played by
the kitchen, boiler room, clerks, . . . secretaries, and laundry.”*°

In the 1970s, the hospital was once again having financial difficul-
ties. Although most of the new wing had been paid for through a Hill-
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Burton grant and money raised by the advisory board, the sisters had been
forced to borrow $500,000 from the Central National Bank. They were
having great difficulty paying off the debt while meeting the regular
monthly payroll. “The hospital will never be able to pay off the loan,”
Frank Junell, bank president and friend of St. John’s, told Sister Mary
Vincent. “We have decided just to make a contribution for that amount.”*!

By 1973, financial conditions had improved somewhat, and it was
evident that St. John’s would have to construct a physicians’ office
building if the hospital were to continue to attract the best medical care
for its patients. Sister Mary Vincent sought board approval to borrow
$200,000 for this purpose, and ground was broken on April 2 for the
new building called the San Angelo Medical Center. In the same year,
the hospital moved ahead in introducing the latest technology by estab-
lishing the “clean room,” a surgical isolation unit with high efficiency
air filters creating a room within a room for a superclean environment.

In conjunction with the growth of the physical plant and in an
effort to maintain the high quality of all members of the staff, a series
of educational programs was established. In-service lectures were
designed for the nurses and offered by the doctors who donated their
time and expertise, while teleconferences were made available for the
doctors themselves through a television tie-up with The University of
Texas Health Science Center in San Antonio.

Sister Mary Vincent’s intense efforts to move St. John’s forward
were brought to an abrupt halt, however, on October 5, 1973, when she
was involved in a serious automobile accident that caused severe dam-
age to her own eyesight and took the life of the sister driving with her,
Sister (Leonides) Margaret Walsh, operating room nurse. Both were
returning to San Angelo from San Antonio when the accident occurred
just two miles south of Brady.

Sister Mary Digna Lynch was appointed acting administrator at St.
John’s while Sister Mary Vincent fought hard at Santa Rosa Hospital to
recover her vision. After several months, she was back in charge in San
Angelo and planning for the construction of a $1 million, 24-bed psy-
chiatric unit separate from the main hospital. The number of psychiatric
patients had been increasing each year, and St. John’s offered the only
inpatient and outpatient psychiatric facility in the city.

Pointing out the critical need for developing such facilities that
were lacking not only in San Angelo but also in Abilene and the
Midland-Odessa area, Sister Mary Vincent quickly won the support of
the board of trustees for the project. It was somewhat more difficult,
however, to get the necessary approval from the members of the gener-
al administration of the Congregation, whose responsibility it was to
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authorize all major expenditures. “We all recognize that this type of unit
will be needed in the future at St. John’s,” the sisters cautioned, “but we
believe the project should be delayed until sometime during 1976
because of the present state of the national economy.”#?

Sister Mary Vincent was not to be deterred, however, in her efforts
to go forward with the plans. By the end of 1975, she was writing to
remind them of the continuing need for expansion. The administration
finally conceded to her requests provided that the new facility would be
financed by “designated funds, grant monies, and contributions.”?
Through the efforts of the board of trustees and the advisory board, that
had only recently changed its name to Development Board, the money
was raised, and groundbreaking ceremonies for the Psychiatric Pavilion
were held September 7, 1976. The name of the Pavilion was later
changed to Life Care Center.%

The following year, Sister Mary Vincent was looking for money
once again. St. John’s had become involved in developing a renal unit in
response to patients who came looking for assistance in self-dialysis. The
number of persons seeking help grew steadily, and the program, the only
one established in the West Texas area, was soon serving patients from as
far away as Ozona. To accommodate the growing need for additional
space and equipment, Sister began to talk about constructing a separate
renal care center. The hospital, however, was not in an economic position
to start expanding again, and Omer Dreiling, chairman of the board of
trustees, asked, “Why are we moving into these areas if we lack the
money?” The answer, was an easy one for Sister Mary Vincent. It was the
same one that had been responsible for the beginnings of St. John’s in
1910: “We are here to serve the needs of the people.”

She secured the necessary approval to borrow $2,000,000, and in
1978, St. John’s entered into a fast-paced series of advancements:

January 29 Completion and dedication of the Psychiatric
Pavilion providing the only private in-patient
psychiatric care in West Texas

March 23 Ground-breaking for new radiology facilities

Ground-breaking for an addition to the physicians’
office building, the San Angelo Medical Center
East

April 26 Dedication of the new Renal Care Center made
possible in great part through the donations of
the Auxiliary

211



PROMISES TO KEEP

June-July Beginning of the mini-hospice program for
terminally ill patients and their families

August 3 Approval for a new Cardiopulmonary-Surgery-
Special Care Unit

By the end of 1978, Sister Mary Vincent had initiated and com-
pleted a significant number of major developments, and St. John’s was
moving forward at a far more rapid pace than either of the other local
hospitals. Angelo Community Hospital, in particular, was having diffi-
culty and initiated a discussion on a possible takeover of their services
by St. John’s. Meetings were held with board members and doctors
from both institutions, and considerable interest was expressed in the
proposal until the discussion turned to obstetrics and the possibility of
sterilizations and tubal ligations being performed at St. John’s. “But
won’t the Catholic Church soon change its views and give approval to
such procedures?” asked one of the Angelo Community Hospital physi-
cians. “Not until hell freezes over,” responded Bob Wood, member of
the Development Board and Board of Trustees. With such strong philo-
sophical differences, it was impossible to work out any mutually accept-
able agreement between the two institutions, and the matter was
dropped.

Ashort time later, Sister Mary Vincent found it necessary to resign
from her position as administrator. “The last eight years,” she wrote to
the Board of Trustees, “have been a challenge which I have enjoyed,
because of what I was able to do for St. John’s and this community. Your
cooperation, loyalty, and support encouraged me in all my efforts. I will
always cherish my association with you.”*® She was later honored at a
testimonial dinner at which Nathan Dansky of the Board of Trustees
presented her with a check for $10,000 to establish the Nathan’s
Jewelers’ Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell Nursing Scholarship.

Melvin Camp, who had worked closely with Sister as assistant
administrator at Spohn Hospital in Corpus Christi and as associate
administrator at St. John’s, was appointed president and chief executive
officer. He was the first lay person to assume the position at St. John’s,
and he was determined that the hospital would continue to operate in
accordance with the mission established by the sisters in 1910.

Three other resignations came shortly after that of Sister Mary
Vincent from three of the sisters who had worked at the hospital for
many years and who had contributed greatly to the fulfillment of the
mission of the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word. Sister Rosalina
Wiggers, who had spent forty-five years of her life at St. John’s, retired
on September 9, 1979. Sister had just graduated from the school of nurs-
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ing at St. Anthony’s Hospital, Amarillo, when she started her work at St.
John’s in 1928. The hospital had only thirty beds at the time and stood
alone on the prairie located three miles outside of town. The work was
hard, demanding sometimes as much as a sixteen-hour day with very lit-
tle equipment or materials available, but Sister made up for the lack of
resources by her loving care of the patients.

When Sister Rosalina reached retirement age, she gave up her
work as a nurse but stayed on at St. John’s, visiting every patient in the
hospital daily, offering them expressions of concern for their health and
their spiritual well being. She was determined to stay in San Angelo
until she reached her ninetieth birthday, and she achieved her goal.
Some years later, however, she reflected that maybe she had left St.
John’s too soon!*

Next to retire was Sister Johanna O’Connor, who had spent many
years at St. John’s also, working most of the time in EKG and EEG.
Like Sister Rosalina, she stayed on at the hospital after her retirement
and spent her last days in visiting patients. According to Father George
Fey, “It didn’t matter if the patients were Catholic or not, they loved to
have the sisters visit them and offer them spiritual consolation. There
was such an ecumenical spirit at St. John’s, and the patients knew they
would all be treated the same regardless of their religion.”®

Sister Benno Gloning was the third to retire after serving for twenty-
seven years in the dietary department, sometimes operating it almost
singlehandedly. Like many other sisters who worked at St. John’s, Sister
Benno was from Germany and readily established rapport with the peo-
ple of San Angelo, many of whom were of German descent. She knew
very well what they liked to eat, and it was her desire to satisfy their
tastes while helping them to regain their strength. Her co-workers in the
hospital kitchen appreciated her also, and she was always ready to work
side by side with them in every job regardless of how demanding it
might be. Even on the day she left the hospital, she spent several hours
in the kitchen working with those who would replace her in the many
duties she performed with such care and generosity.

The loss of the sisters who had served at St. John’s for so many
years was keenly felt by the doctors and other members of the staff. A
short time later, however, two more sisters arrived to maintain the pres-
ence and carry on the mission of the Congregation. Sister Nora Marie
Walsh became vice president for professional services and Sister Brigid
Mollaghan was appointed pastoral associate. Sister Nora Marie contin-
ued in her position until 1985, when she was appointed president of the
Incarnate Word Health Services System. In her later position, she was
still associated with the progress of St. John’s.
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Even from its foundation, St. John’s had established teaching pro-
grams to complement its work in health care. The school of nursing had
been established just after the hospital opened in 1910. The school was
the first of many educational programs established over the years in an
effort to share the hospital staff’s expertise in health care with the peo-
ple of West Texas who had limited access to such offerings. In 1977, the
clinical pastoral education course was offered for the training of profes-
sionals in ministry to the religious needs of patients. By the following
year, three students became the first graduates of the program that was
accredited by the National Association for Clinical Pastoral Education:
Sister Bridget Murrin, Larry Salter, and Sister Therese Ann Sokolski.

St. John’s Health School began in 1980 in an effort to educate the
general public on matters of emotional wellness, nutrition, physical fit-
ness, medicine, and parenting. By 1983, classes were being held also in
churches throughout the City and at the Southwest YMCA. During the
following year, the diabetes care program was established to provide
information for diabetic patients and their families.

In 1980, St. John’s was ready for further expansion. A new wing
east of the hospital entrance was designed to accommodate the car-
diopulmonary-special care-surgery unit as well as the new radiology
center. The new wing was completed in 1980, and two years later the
ambulatory care center was opened, followed by the Three West nurs-
ing unit. Financing for the projects was provided by the Congregation
and through a short-term loan of $1.4 million. In 1981, St. John’s once
again needed to expand to accommodate an increase in patients. A third
floor was added to the west wing of the hospital at a cost of $4 million,
which was financed with tax exempt bonds.

By 1985, St. John’s was celebrating its diamond jubilee, and to
signify its expanded services, the name of the institution was officially
changed to St. John’s Hospital & Health Center. The diamond jubilee
celebration was held on October 20 and was marked by the unveiling of
a Texas Historical Marker recognizing the hospital as the first center for
health care in West Texas.

The newly constructed guest house was opened during the diamond
jubilee celebration also. The building, designed to provide accommoda-
tions for patients’ families from out of town as well as for persons com-
ing to the hospital on an out-patient basis, was made possible in part by a
gift of $125,000 from Austin philanthropist Dick Rathgeber.

During the same year, St. John’s took over the management of the
Lillian M. Hudspeth Memorial Hospital in Sonora. Just a few years
later, however, because of the distance from San Angelo, the manage-
ment contract was discontinued.
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On August 6, 1986, the Board of Trustees announced the appoint-
ment of P. Denny Oreb as the new president and chief executive officer.
In August, 1987, First Step, an alcohol and drug dependency facility, was
established as part of St. John’s Behavioral Health Center. In the same
year, the hospital opened its new Emergency Care Center, which was
funded in great part by local philanthropist and friend of St. John’s, Mrs.
Eva Tucker. Two years later, the Same-Day-Surgery-Center was opened.

During the years that followed, however, the hospital began to
experience a decline in patients. Changes in medical reimbursement,
expansion in facilities at Shannon Memorial Hospital and San Angelo
Community Hospital, and changing patterns in the growth of the com-
munity, all contributed to a significant decrease in admissions.*?

Many changes had taken place at St. John’s since its founding in
1910. The hospital no longer stood alone on the open prairie situated
at the edge of the town, where it once served as a guide to and from
San Angelo. Large industrial plants, Ethicon Inc. and Levi Strauss &
Co., along with new residential developments had been erected close by.
U. S. Highway 67 passed the landscaped grounds and parking areas in
front of the hospital, and a short distance away the Houston Harte
Highway linked its access route with Loop 306.

Other significant changes were evident in the hospital structure.
The original red brick Gothic building that housed only thirty patients
had been completely replaced by three wings, all constructed since 1950
and providing a total capacity of 171 patient beds, plus the Life Care
Center, the Radiology Center, the Ambulatory Care Center, the Guest
House, and San Angelo Medical Center I and II.

In conjunction with changes in the physical plant had come
remarkable changes in services, including introduction of the first
hospital-based home health care program in West Texas, the first psy-
chiatric program in the area, and the first and only health school offer-
ing educational programs for the people of West Texas. Although the
hospital had 480 employees, by the 1990s it had become the smallest
of the three health care institutions in San Angelo. It was still recog-
nized in the local community, however, for having the best care.
According to Philip C. Robinson, who was appointed chief executive
officer in 1990, “The people in San Angelo say that Shannon Hospital
has the money, Community Hospital the location, and St. John’s the
best doctors and and the best care.”?

The most significant change took place in 1991, when it was
decided that the hospital must be sold. Admissions had been falling
steadily since the early 1980s. The decline was owing in great part to the
shift in patient care from the hospital to an outpatient setting. From 1987
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to 1988, hospital income from operations dropped significantly while
investment in capital equipment continued to increase. At the same
time, St. John’s was struggling to pay off its debt incurred by earlier
expansion.

Angelo Community Hospital and Shannon Memorial Hospital had
begun to offer a wider range of services, including obstetrical care and
a fully equipped cardiology program. In addition, Shannon was provid-
ing charity care for the community through a contract with the county
and through its large endowment established for that purpose.

The announcement came on May 30 that the ownership of St.
John’s would be transferred to the Quorum Health Group of Nashville,
Tennessee. According to Sister Nora Marie Walsh, Chairperson of the
Board of Directors of Incarnate Word Health Services, the decision was
a financial one. “The very high debt service,” she explained, “limits the
availability of cash for anything else.” Moreover, the Congregation had
begun to focus attention on areas that were more limited in resources
than San Angelo with its fine medical facilities. *“We feel our mission [at
St. John’s] has been fulfilled,” said Sister Nora. Len Mertz, President of
the Board of Trustees, pointed out that the sisters had come to West
Texas in response to a cry for help. “Now . . . there are other areas that
need the sisters. It’s time we let go.”!

The transfer became official on September 30, 1991. Philip C.
Robinson resigned as president, and Samuel G. Feazell was appointed
administrator. The name of the institution was changed to Concho
Valley Regional Hospital. “The decision to sell was a most difficult
one,” according to Philip Robinson. “The future of the small hospital
seems very bleak, however, and having bought and sold hospitals in the
past, I could see the danger signals at St. John’s. When the directors of
Quorum approached us with an offer to buy the institution, it seemed to
be the best thing to do. The company has the necessary capital to put
into the hospital to sustain it for the future, and the sisters, as well as the
Incarnate Word Health System, are relieved of the heavy debt that was
such a burden.”*?

Two sisters remained on the staff of the hospital during the
changeover, Sisters Brigid Mollaghan, pastoral care director, and Doris
Marie Irlbeck, director of the guest house. Their presence was a strong
link to the past and instrumental in sustaining the mission of the sisters
during the period of transition. “The new owners will change the hospi-
tal,” said Philip Robinson, “but there is a strong Catholic foundation
developed here by the sisters, and that will continue.”>?

Father James Plagens described the witness that the Catholic hos-
pital offered to the area:
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I was in the first grade when my family moved to Wall from Brazos
County. Growing up Catholic in Tom Green County meant being very
aware of St. John’s Hospital, and being proud of the fact that there was a
Catholic hospital in San Angelo. If anyone needed an extra affirmation of
one’s Catholic faith, St. John’s provided that for us. I am very grateful,
therefore, to your community for your ministry to this part of Texas
through St. John’s, a ministry which had so much to do with building up
the kingdom of God out here in the mesquite flats. (Much later did the
more romantic name of Concho Valley come into being!)**

The Quorum administration had come into an institution that had “a
lot of pluses,” according to Dr. Lloyd Hershberger, “a good medical staff,
a good nursing staff, a good home health department. Most things [were]
handmade for them.” St. John’s always had a reputation for reliable health
care, he insisted, in spite of the fact that it had to struggle financially.
“Back in the early fifties the hospital sometimes did not have enough
money to even buy new sheets. The sheets were clean, but there were
times when there were holes in them as well. The people of San Angelo
did not complain, however, because they knew the sisters were there and
that the quality of health care was very good. . . . In that respect Quorum
[inherited) something they didn’t pay for.”>

While both the sisters and the people of San Angelo regretted the
changes at St. John’s, it was nevertheless a time of gratitude for what
had been given. In 1910, the people of San Angelo had called out in
great need for a hospital to be established in their community, and that
call had been answered by the Incarnate Word sisters, who gave gener-
ously of their service and their financial resources. The businessmen of
the community, regardless of their religious affiliations, worked side by
side with the Catholic sisters to make St. John’s a reality. The same kind
of community-wide stipport from persons of all religious denominations
had sustained the development of the hospital throughout its eighty-one-
year history.
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ADMINISTRATORS
Mother M. de Sales Keegan 1910-1914
Mother Robert O’Dea 1914-1915
Mother Mary Ascension Ryan 1915-1918
Mother M. Augustine Curran 1918-1919
Mother M. Timothy Mullen 1919-1921
Mother M. Presentation O’Meara 1921-1924
Mother Joseph Calasanctius O’Connor 1924-1929
Mother Mary of Jesus Singleton 1929-1932
Mother Mary Ascension Ryan 1932-1933
Mother M. de Sales Keegan 1933-1935
Mother M. Presentation O’Meara 1935-1937
Mother M. Hedwig Gromke 1937-1940
Mother Anna Maria Byrne 1940-1944
Mother John Edward Deneny 1944-1947
Mother M. Alexandrina Simonis 1947-1948
Mother M. Claudine Martin 1948-1952
Mother Mary Nicholas Dittlinger 1952-1955
Mother M. Dionysia Hyland 1955-1959
Sister Mary James Whelan 1959-1961
Sister M. Dionysia Hyland 1961-1964
Sister Alban Mannion 1964-1967
Sister Monika Schonberger 1967-1970
Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell 1970-1979
Melvin J. Camp, Sr. 1979-1986
P. Denny Oreb 1986-1990
Philip C. Robinson 1990-1991

218



ST. JOHN’S HOSPITALAND HEALTH CENTER

CHIEFS OF MEDICAL STAFF

J. S. Hixson, M.D.
Ernest Cooper, M.D.
Walton W. Cobb, M.D.
C. E. Mays, M.D.

A. C. DeLong, M.D.

C. T. Keyes, M.D.

J. P. McAnulty, M.D.

G. L. Lewis, M.D.

J. S. Hixson, M.D.

H. R. Wardlaw, M.D.

G. W. Nibling, M.D.

S. J. Burleson, M.D.

C. T. Womack, M.D.

J. B. Chaffin, M.D.

John Findlater, M.D.
Harlan Horney, M.D.
Lewis O. Woodward, M.D.
K. B. Round, M.D.

R. L. Powers, M.D.
Robert M. Arledge, M.D.
K. B. Round, M.D.

J. A. Bunyard, M.D.

R. L. Powers, M.D.
Robert M. Arledge, M.D.

William Lacey Smith, M.D.

Aaron E. Landy, M.D.
Henry N. Ricci, M.D.

E. C. Winkelmann, M.D.
Victor E. Schulze, M.D.

J. A. Bunyard, M.D.
Harvey M. Williams, M.D.

Lloyd R. Hershberger, M.D.

John E. Ballard, M.D.
Harry F. Round, M.D.
Aaron E. Landy, M.D.
Henry N. Ricci, M.D.
Gordon A. Pilmer, M.D.
K. B. Round, M.D.
Victor E. Schulze, M.D.
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J. A. Bunyard, M.D.
Lloyd Downing, M.D.

A. G. Dietrich, M.D.
William T. Womack, M.D.
K. S. Staneff, M.D.

James C. Womack, M.D.
J. P. Darby, Jr., M.D.
William T. Gordon, Jr., M.D.
H. M. Anderson, M.D.
Thomas R. Reid, M.D.
John L. Barnes, M.D.

A. Price Burdine, M.D.

J. Michael Cornell, M.D.
Richard C. Stoebner, M.D.
T. Karman Weatherby, M.D.
Johnny B. French, M.D.
R. H. LeGrand, M.D.
Denver C. Marsh, M.D.
Orloff Monaghan, M.D.
Charles A. Marsh, M.D.

J. H. McCrary, M.D.

G. S. Ramesh, M.D.
Richard C. Stoebner, M.D.
T. K. Weatherby, M.D.
Thomas R. Reid, M.D.
Joe A. Mims, M.D.
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ST. JOSEPH’S HOSPITAL AND HEALTH
CENTER, PARiS: A CATHOLIC PRESENCE
IN NORTHEAST TEXAS

The beginnings of St. Joseph’s Infirmary in Paris, Texas, offered little
promise that the institution would one day develop into a professional-
ly respected hospital and become a strong Catholic presence in
Northeast Texas. In 1911, the town named for the famous French capi-
tal had a population of 11,269 and was located in an area of the Red
River Valley that was strongly dominated by the Baptist Church.! The
small number of Catholics could scarcely support a Catholic school,
much less a Catholic hospital. The Sisters of Mercy had discovered that
fact around the turn of the century. Their efforts had ended in financial
failure.

In 1896, the Mercy sisters had purchased a piece of property and
set up a school called St. Patrick’s Academy, which after a few years
failed to attract enough students to sustain itself.? The building, a sim-
ple frame two-story structure, was then converted into an infirmary and
renamed St. Joseph’s. The sisters were teachers, however, and not
trained nurses or hospital managers. Neither were they prepared to cope
with Dr. L. P. McCuistion, who was the chief surgeon and who insisted
on placing his own lay nurses in charge of the institution, giving them
full responsibility for the care of patients. The sisters, he decided,
should take care of the cooking, the laundry, and the cleaning of the
patients’ rooms.

Dr. McCuistion was no doubt a fine surgeon, but lacked the skills of
both human relations and fiscal management. Under his direction the
infirmary began to fail financially, and the Sisters of Mercy, who still
owned the property, were forced to borrow money to keep the institution
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in operation. A short time later, they were persuaded by Bishop J. P. Lynch
to abandon their work at the hospital and leave Paris.?

In spite of the sisters’ failure, the bishop was anxious to try again
to save the infirmary, which he felt would be a strong Catholic presence
in Paris. A Catholic church and parish, Our Lady of Victory, had been
established there in 1880, but the number of parishioners was so small
that no resident pastor was appointed until 1892.4 Before that time, the
church was maintained as a mission of nearby parishes in Clarksville
and Sherman. The establishment of a hospital and school, in conjunc-
tion with the parish, could greatly strengthen the position of the Catholic
Church in this area of Texas which was a stronghold of Protestantism.

The bishop approached the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate
Word, whom he knew well from their operation of both St. Joseph’s
Infirmary in Fort Worth and St. Anthony’s Sanitarium in Amarillo. In
response to his repeated urgings, the sisters finally agreed to take over
the failing infirmary and extend their ministry to Paris. They agreed also
to assume the $14,000 debt on the property, including $9,000 that had
been borrowed by Bishop Lynch to cover expenses incurred by the
Sisters of Mercy.

Rev. Mother Alphonse Brollier was fully aware of the Mercy sis-
ters’ loss of both school and hospital and knew that paying off the debt
of the hospital would not be an easy burden to carry. She knew also that
Paris was in a remote area of Texas, over 100 miles from Dallas and Fort
Worth, and 370 miles from San Antonio. The sisters ministering there
would be far removed from the motherhouse and would be working pri-
marily among persons who did not share their religious beliefs and who
had even manifested a strong anti-Catholicism. It is, therefore, surpris-
ing that she would consider accepting the bishop’s invitation to send the
sisters to Paris. She was a true pioneer woman, however, who had faced
such challenges before and who saw in the bishop’s determination to
establish a hospital, an expression of the needs of the greater Church to
which she must respond.

She wrote to inform Dr. McCuistion of her plans and to prepare
him for a change in the role of the sisters in the infirmary. She was anx-
ious, no doubt, to avoid a confrontation similar to that which had
occurred in the past with the strong-willed doctor.

Yielding to the solicitations of Rt. Rev. Bishop Lynch, we have decided
to take charge of St. Joseph’s Infirmary, Paris.

The Bishop is anxious that we go as soon as possible, so we hope to be
there a few days previous to Oct. 1st. Will you, dear doctor, kindly inform
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us if this be agreeable to you, that is, if it does not interfere with any of
your present arrangements.

We must work together harmoniously, doctor, so if there be any sugges-
tions you desire to make, do so freely and confidently, and they will meet
with our highest consideration.’

As promised, six sisters arrived in Paris October 1, 1911: Mother
M. Helen Sisson, administrator and superior; Sister M. Simon Molitor;
Sister M. Sixtus Doherty; Sister M. Jerome Urnau; Sister M. Eugenius
Ward; Sister M. Hildegarde Tinnes; and Sister M. Thais Desroche. They
came by train from San Antonio, arrived at the Texas Pacific depot, and
carrying all of their luggage along with them, walked the mile and a half
distance from the station to St. Joseph’s. Their first task was to thor-
oughly clean the infirmary which had been neglected for some time, and
their only source of water for the washing and scrubbing was the near-
by well. Later, the sisters could recall that by the time the cleaning was
completed and everything put in readiness for the admission of patients,
they were too tired to eat and could not even remember how they got
food that night before they went to bed.

Their first patient, J. W. Conly, who described himself as a preach-
er, was received in the midst of all the cleaning on the sisters’ day of
arrival. He was charged $15.00 per week for a private room, and his
attending physician was Dr. L. P. McCuistion. Three of the sisters were
trained nurses. Mother Helen and Sister Eugenius had graduated from
the school of nursing at Saint Joseph Hospital, Fort Worth; Sister Sixtus
had finished her training and later directed the school of nursing at
Santa Rosa.

Dr. McCuistion, who still wished to have lay nurses in charge and
to continue operating St. Joseph’s as he had done in the past, soon found
the new arrangements very unsatisfactory. He left the infirmary, taking
many of his patients and nurses with him to the Aikin Charity Hospital
operated by the county. Just two years later, with the assistance of a
group of citizens from Paris who contributed $75,000, he built his own
hospital, The Sanitarium of Paris, predecessor of McCuistion
Community Hospital and McCuistion Regional Medical Center.

The doctor’s abrupt departure left St. Joseph’s without a chief sur-
geon and with a serious loss of patients. In an early history of the infir-
mary, it is recorded that “at times there were 16 to 18 patients and then
they would dwindle down to 4 or 5.7 The institution was struggling to
survive financially.

In time, however, a new group of physicians began sending their
patients to St. Joseph’s. Among them was Dr. W. W. Fitzpatrick,
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known to everyone as “Dr. Fitz,” who was the only Catholic doctor in
Paris and who became a great friend of the sisters and staunch defend-
er of the infirmary. Others joining the staff were Doctors J. M. Hooks,
J. D. McMillan, C. D. Geron, R. B. Leach, and J. B. Chapman. All of
them had avoided St. Joseph’s in the past, because of difficulty in
working with Dr. McCuistion. Now they were ready to support the
infirmary, and the number of admissions began to increase.

According to Sister Eugenius Ward, “We got busy refusing
patients every day.” The frame building could accommodate only six-
teen. “To make room for more, Sister Sixtus and I volunteered to
[move] outside to a little cottage Dr. McCuistion had built for his
nurses. The weather was so cold the snow came through on our beds.
We got two . . . tin hot water bottles to heat our beds at night. We emp-
tied them in the morning to wash our faces. There was a coal stove,
but we had so little time we did not use it.””

The frame structure that had been purchased from the bishop
soon proved to be completely unsatisfactory. It had been erected orig-
inally as a school and was not easily adapted to the needs of doctors
and patients. The sisters realized that they needed to construct a new
building, but they were not prepared financially for such an undertak-
ing. Father Edward F. Campbell, Pastor of Our Lady of Victory
Church, went to San Antonio and convinced the members of the gen-
eral administration of the need for expansion.

Rather than tear down the old frame building, a decision was made
to move it on rollers to another part of the property facing Austin St. and
restore it to its former use as a school.® According to Sister Eugenius’
report, operation of the hospital continued during the three weeks it took
to make the move. “We had all kinds of patients during that time,” she
said. “Once in a while [the building] gave a terrible [groan] and scared
us.”® At times, the progress was interrupted while surgery was being
performed, but as soon as it was over, the moving started up again. The
patients said they felt as if they were on an ocean liner.

At last the way was cleared for construction, and by July 2, 1914,
a new St. Joseph’s Infirmary had been erected on the site of the old
building. It offered the finest medical facilities and comfortable patient
accommodations. It was also completely fireproof and equipped with its
own electrical power plant which later proved to be a life-saving source
of energy not only for the hospital but also for the whole city of Paris.

Construction costs, however, had far exceeded the sisters’ initial
plans. Rev. Mother Alphonse was in Europe recruiting new members for
the Congregation while the building was in progress. Upon her return
she found that a dispute had arisen between the sisters and the contrac-
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tor who had put them in terrible debt. “With one thing and another,” she
said, “the house will cost us double the price on which we had
agreed.”’® The full details of the disagreement are not described, but it
is noted in the hospital records that both the contractor and the architect
left Paris almost immediately thereafter, a fact that suggests there may
have been some wrongdoing on their part. As a result of the whole sit-
uation, the Congregation was described as being “almost underground
in debt.”!!

Placed in the cornerstone of the new structure was a document pro-
fessing that it was built “in order that the town of Paris and the sur-
rounding district may enjoy the benefit of a thoroughly up-to-date and
fully equipped infirmary.” The troubled beginnings with Dr.
McCuistion were not even alluded to in the statement which read, “The
sisters furthermore hope that the future relations between physician and
citizens will be as amicable as in the past, and that St. Joseph’s new
infirmary will receive the necessary support to carry on the work of
mercy towards suffering humanity.”*?

The third floor of the new building was reserved for residence
facilities for nurses and a convent area for the sisters. Attached to the
structure was an ivy-covered cobblestone chapel called Our Lady of the
Visitation, for which John Gibbons donated the property and paid for
the cost of construction.!?

By 1916, St. Joseph’s was operating at full capacity and experi-
encing a great need for nurses. Since the small town of Paris offered
limited resources of professionally trained persons to staff the three hos-
pitals of the area, the sisters decided to start their own training program
which was later approved by the Texas State Board of Nurse
Examiners. !4

During the same year, the City experienced the second disastrous
fire in its history. The first had occurred in 1877 and had destroyed most
of the downtown business section. Paris had recovered from the tragic
effects, but many of the older citizens still remembered the day the
whole town almost burned to the ground.

Thirty-nine years later on March 21, 1916, a second conflagra-
tion once again destroyed a large section of the business area. Fire
officials were unable to contain the flames that were carried swiftly by
the March winds to many parts of the town dried up for lack of rain.
The blaze reached parts of the residential area and even stretched
beyond the city limits. Help was called in from Dallas, Fort Worth,
and Texarkana with equipment rushed to the scene on special trains.
Not until the following evening was the fire finally extinguished. An
article in The Paris News described the destruction: “The results of the
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catastrophe left the heart of Paris with a silhouette that resembled the
pictorial report on the effects of bombing raids made on European
cities in both World Wars.”! It was reported that only two buildings
were left standing in the business section of the City and that 270
acres were burned.

The fire came so close to St. Joseph’s that sparks were falling on the
infirmary roof, and the heat was so intense that window panes melted, but
the fireproof building withstood the flames. Mother Robert O’Dea,
administrator, directed the emergency operations, and the hospital was
filled far beyond its capacity with persons injured in the disaster.

The sisters went out into the blazing city in response to cries for
help. Mother Robert herself, accompanied by another sister, went to
assist the fire chief and some of his men who were overcome by the heat
and by smoke inhalation. According to a report by one of the sisters,
however, their actions were not always well received: “Owing to big-
otry and prejudice, the fire chief was aggravated on finding a sister
kneeling over his prostrate form administering a hypodermic. Instead of
a word of gratitude for the services rendered him, his response was a
curse and a blasphemous expression.”'%

With its own electric power plant, St. Joseph’s became a haven of
refuge not only for the injured, but also for the hungry and the home-
less. It was described as “a beacon of light” in the darkened and deso-
late city. To the sisters, it seemed almost miraculous that the infirmary,
church, and school had been preserved from destruction and that none
of the patients, students, or sisters had been injured. In communicating
the news of the disaster to the other members of the Congregation,
Mother Bonaventure Burns wrote: “The Providence of God watching
over them was very evident on that fearful occasion, for the sanitarium,
school, and surrounding buildings, although in the direct line of the fire,
thank God, were spared.””

As the City tried to return to some semblance of normal opera-
tion, the hospital offered the use of its facilities to public agencies and
service organizations, as well as to doctors and dentists whose offices
had been destroyed. The basement was given over to the superinten-
dent of the public schools, J. G. Wooten. Public school classes were
held in the nearby Notre Dame Academy, which was operated by the
sisters and which too had been spared from destruction.!® Mayor
Edward H. McCuistion and the City Commissioners took up their
offices in the school building.

The people of Paris never forgot the generosity of the hospital
and the kindness of the sisters. They had taken in everyone, regardless
of religious affiliation, in a time of disaster. They had opened their
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doors to the City, had cared for the sick and the destitute, many of
whom stayed on for months after the fire. Reflecting on the event
sometime later, the sisters wrote: “One cannot but feel that God, in His
all-wise designs, permitted this terrible calamity and spared our build-
ings to harbor and afford relief to the unfortunate, thereby breaking
down the prejudice and bigotry with which the very atmosphere
seemed impregnated.”!?

The number of Catholics in the area had always been small, num-
bering only about twenty-five families when the sisters arrived in 1911.
The Ku Klux Klan was extremely active, directing much of its violence
against Catholics as well as black people and carpetbaggers. According
to A. W. Neville, the group “was in great favor . . . in Lamar County as
well as all over the state. Many prominent business and professional
men were members, though their identity was carefully hidden.”?

Many years later, Sister Matthias Treib could recall that the pastor
of the local parish was threatened by the group and left town in fear for
his life. She described also how at one time a wooden cross had been set
afire on the lawn of the infirmary. The action created not only great fear
among the sisters and patients but also strong reaction from the citizens.
The burning cross endangered the lives of the sick and suffering who
could not protect themselves. What was even worse, it had been placed
directly in front of the maternity section of the hospital. The townspeo-
ple were incensed that young mothers and their children might have
become the victims of such violence. According to Sister Matthias, “It
turned the people against the Klan and won a great deal of sympathy for
the sisters.”?!

With their traditional long black habits and conventual form of liv-
ing, the sisters must have been an anomaly to most of the townspeople
and often felt the lack of warm acceptance within the community. With
the backlash over the actions of the Ku Klux Klan and the generous
response of St. Joseph’s at the time of the 1916 fire, however, both the
sisters and the infirmary began to earn a new regard and affection in the
minds and hearts of the people, even though it would take many more
years before the anti-Catholic sentiments of Northeast Texas would
completely disappear.

As they had done at Santa Rosa and at Saint Joseph Hospital, Fort
Worth, the sisters worked twelve hours a day and even longer if neces-
sary. According to Sister Bridget Florence Deneny, “The sisters were
the only trained nurses, for the most part. When it was time to go off a
twelve-hour shift and a professional nurse had not shown up for duty,
the sister just had to stay on. She might get a little rest right on the hos-
pital floor and be called whenever needed.’??
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Since the hospital was small and the number of sisters limited,
most of them did three or four jobs at a time. Sister Susanna Mayock,
who had just completed her nurses’training at St. Anthony’s Hospital in
Amarillo before coming to Paris in 1914, had charge of everything on
the third floor—laboratory, X-ray, surgery, and obstetrics. She also
administered the anesthetic during surgery. Sister continued to work at
St. Joseph’s for forty-two years, doing most of the same jobs all of her
life, and when it came time for her to retire at the age of eighty-two, she
was still so full of energy and enthusiasm that no one could believe that
she was ready to give up her job. Nor could anyone understand how St.
Joseph’s was going to continue without her.

“She could handle any crisis,” according to Sister Charles Marie
Frank, who trained under her direction at St. Joseph’s.2?> The doctors
were very fond of her, and one of her greatest joys she said, had been
“watching little boys grow up to become fine and wonderful doctors,
among them being Dr. Harold Hunt; Dr. Thomas E. Hunt, Jr.; Dr. M. A.
Walker, Jr.; and the late Dr. John Arch Stephens.”?* Dr. Fitzpatrick, who
called her “Sister Squeezanna,” loved to tease her just as she delighted
in teasing him. She always carried a small bottle of holy water in the
pocket of her habit. She used it to bless the patients when they were crit-
ically ill and to drive away the evil spirits. She used it also to bless Dr.
Fitz with a good heavy splash whenever she met him in the hospital
hallway.

Many stories are told about Dr. Fitz and the sisters, including the
one of Sister Mary of Jesus Singleton, who came to St. Joseph’s in 1925
and organized the medical records department. A standardized system
had not been established at that time, so she simply developed her own.
Dr. Harold Hunt recalls a story that was repeated over and over again
about Dr. Fitzpatrick asking Sister what she was going to do when she
came to the end of her life and “after giving up marriage, family, and the
pleasures of the world, found there was no heaven.” Her teasing
response was, “And Doctor, what are you going to do when you come
to the end of your life and find there is?”*

St. Joseph’s grew slowly in the early years, but by 1919, the sisters
began to prepare for recognition and certification by the American
College of Surgeons. Doctors organized the medical staff in accordance
with the established standards, and elected J. B. Chapman, M.D., as the
first chief of staff. Mother Philip Neri Neville was the administrator
from 1918 to 1921. She was succeeded by Mother Joseph Calasanctius
O’Connor, 1921-1922, and by Mother Presentation O’Meara, 1922-
1925. The infirmary was ready to apply for its first certificate of
approval in 1923 and was recognized for having met the minimum
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requirements. Not until ten years later was it given full approval and
certification. By 1930, the name of the institution had been changed to
St. Joseph’s Hospital.

One reason for the limited growth in the beginning was the fact
that three hospitals had been established to serve the small city of
Paris—the Aikin Hospital, which was replaced in 1926 by the Lamar
County Hospital; The Sanitarium of Paris, which was later named
McCuistion Regional Medical Center, owned and operated by a local
stock company; and St. Joseph’s. Although all of them drew patients
from the surrounding areas, stretching as far as Southeast Oklahoma,
the population could scarcely support the three institutions.

From the very beginning, the hospitals were in competition with
each other, particularly St. Joseph’s and The Sanitarium of Paris. The
competition for patients led to competition also in the schools of nurs-
ing. Both hospitals had developed training programs, but the town was
not able to support two schools. Very few students enrolled in the
classes, and qualified faculty were almost non-existent. In 1932, Rev.
Mother Alphonse Brollier took a strong stand over the objections of
some of the sisters and decided that St. Joseph’s program must be
closed: “The student nurses do not get the complete training and expe-
rience they should have because of the small daily percentage of
patients in the hospital. Therefore, in justice to the nurses we are
obliged to close the school.”?®

In contrast to the sisters’ hospital in Fort Worth, located just 144
miles away, the early history of St. Joseph’s records no admission of
black patients. Like many parts of the Deep South, Paris was a cotton-
producing region with many black workers employed on the rich plan-
tations. Wealthy landowners patronized their black employees, and like
their southern neighbors, looked down on them as an inferior race of
people. Racial prejudice was so strong in the early 1900s that the doc-
tors would not dare send a black patient to the infirmary for admission.

Sister Charles Marie Frank recalls that in the 1920s the sisters tried
to care for a few black patients in an old laundry building behind the
hospital that had been left unused for many years. Not many came for
help, however, probably for fear of reprisal. They depended rather on
the doctors, particularly Dr. Oscar Robinson, who went out to the poor
black neighborhood on Sunday afternoons, taking with him nurses from
the hospital as well as bandages and other supplies provided by the sis-
ters. Surgeries were often performed on a kitchen table or even on the
front porch.?’

The depression years were particularly difficult for the sisters and
the infirmary in Paris. People could not afford to pay for a doctor’s care,
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much less for the high cost of hospitalization. Dr. Fitzpatrick’s daughter
recalls that her father simply asked people to pay whatever they could.
“When he died,” she said, “we had ledgers piled high with records of
patients who owed him money that was never, never collected.”?®

The number of patients in the hospital dropped drastically.
“Sometimes we were down to eight,” according to Sister Charles Marie,
“and we could hardly feed the few we had. Patients who had no money
to pay their bills brought us vegetables, fruit, eggs, and milk from their
farms, and that helped. We also had a few pear trees in the area behind
the hospital, and we used the pears for the patients’ dessert, but there
weren’t enough for the sisters. We didn’t have dessert for years!”?°

“Times were so bad that we couldn’t pay for help either,” she said.
The sisters took on extra work, doing all of the laundry, bed linens,
patient gowns, and starched white habits for the sisters. “On laundry
day, we got up at 4:30 in the morning and started the washing and iron-
ing,” she recalled. “Everything had to be done by hand. One of the sis-
ters read all of the prayers aloud—morning prayer, office, rosary, spiri-
tual reading—while the rest of us did the work.”3°

With the start of World War II, America opened new military bases
around the country, including Camp Maxey located near Paris. Col.
Albert Bowen, camp surgeon and commanding officer of the station hos-
pital, appealed to the sisters at St. Joseph’s to provide hospitalization for
the military personnel until a base hospital could be opened. Within the
year, 30,000 men were deployed to the new camp, and the cooperative
arrangement with St. Joseph’s created a sharp increase in admissions.

The influx of military personnel from all parts of the country and
from all segments of society, black as well as white, made it imperative
that the sisters try again to desegregate the hospital. In 1941, Mother
Arcadius Farrell, the administrator, set up the first ward for black
patients. The doctors, with the exception of Dr. Fitz, opposed her
actions but could do little more than voice their opposition since the
military doctors were referring the black patients to the hospital.

The soldiers at Camp Maxey had moved to Paris with their wives
and children, and the admission of obstetric and pediatric patients
increased. Completion of an unfinished wing provided space for a 16-
bed maternity unit in 1942, and by 1954, a pediatric department had
been added.

St. Joseph’s applied in 1949 and again in 1954 for approval by the
Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals and was denied on both
occasions. In the report following the hospital survey in 1954, Mother
Marie Vianney Bihr, the administrator, was advised that “as recom-
mended in 1949, there is need for more thorough review of the clinical
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work done in the hospital on a monthly basis and prompt, complete
recording of all essential clinical entries on the medical records.”!
Other weaknesses were noted in enforcement of the by-laws and regu-
lations of the medical staff, the inadequate recording of medical histo-
ries, the low autopsy rate, the lack of X-ray reports, the minimal use of
consultations, the inadequate review of obstetrical cases, the absence of
pre-anesthetic investigation and post-anesthetic follow-up, failure to use
shock-proof equipment in the operating room, and the absence of active
pharmacy and tissue committees.

The sisters were determined to have the hospital fully accredited
and immediately set to work to correct the deficiencies. By 1957, they
were ready to apply again to the Joint Commission and received the
maximum three-year approval. Accreditation was a great step for St.
Joseph’s and a recognition which the sisters had fought hard to achieve.
Moreover, the hospital was not only the first institution in Paris but also
the first in this part of Texas to win such approval. The nearest accred-
ited hospitals were in Denison and Texarkana.

With the emphasis on achieving higher standards, more sisters
were needed, and by the mid 1950s, there were twenty assigned to staff
all of the growing departments. Now it became necessary to build a new
convent. The sisters had never had their own living quarters. Together
with the lay nurses, they occupied the third floor of the hospital, much
to the chagrin of the doctors who thought the space should be used for
patient rooms. The arrangement was also very uncomfortable for the
sisters who worked in the institution all day and had no respite from
their workplace even at night. The discomfort to the sisters was
described in a letter of Mother Marie Vianney to the motherhouse:
“Patients are beside us, below us, and above us. . . . Above us is the
Labor Room and there is no sleep or rest at night for the sisters who
occupy rooms below that section of the Obstetrical Department, or for
the sister on night duty, in the day time.”3?

At last in 1957, the sisters were able to move into their own con-
vent located south of the hospital and adjoining it for easy passage to the
patients’ rooms. An entry in the sisters’ annals for July 31, reads: “On
this date we spent our first night in the convent. It was so quiet that
some of us found it hard to go to sleep. How thankful we are for our
beautiful convent home.”33

In 1958 Sister Mary Loyola Liedel started a school for licensed
vocational nurses, which was a source for personnel trained to assist the
nursing staff. Like Sister Susanna and others, Sister Mary Loyola held
three jobs at the same time, directing the school, supervising a floor full
of patients, and operating the pharmacy, which at that time was called
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“the drug room.” She was well trained for the first two responsibilities,
but operating the drug room was just something that someone had to do.
“Whenever I needed help, I used to call on the pharmacist across the
street from the hospital,” Sister said. “Finally, I convinced a trained
pharmacist to come to work at St. Joseph’s.”?*

Mother Marie Vianney completed her administrative term in 1958.
She had been a quietly effective leader, had directed the hospital
through the accreditation process, had established the medical records
department in accordance with acceptable standards, had enlarged the
medical staff with the addition of a radiologist and pathologist, and had
set up an advisory board and a ladies auxiliary. She had also built a con-
vent for the sisters and remodeled the operating rooms, the laboratory,
the recovery rooms, and the doctors’ staff room. A new kitchen had been
added as well as ten additional rooms for patients, and most of the
rooms in the hospital were air conditioned. As she left St. Joseph’s, the
newly formed advisory board recognized her for “the scope, variety and
importance of her work and endeavors . . . so efficiently fulfilled as to
give little indication of the effort involved.”3’

Mother Mary Nicholas Dittlinger succeeded Mother Marie
Vianney as administrator and held the position for a period of fifteen
years, during which time the hospital continued to expand its services.
Although she was born in Kansas, Mother Mary Nicholas spent most of
her life in Robstown, Texas, before entering the Sisters of Charity of the
Incarnate Word. She was a true Texan in her straightforward manner.
She was a registered nurse and X-ray technician and had served at St.
John’s Hospital in San Angelo and at St. Anthony’s Hospital in Amarillo
before coming to Paris. She had no formal preparation for hospital
administration, but her ease in working with people, both religious and
lay, was a natural gift that enabled her to direct St. Joseph’s for fifteen
of its most productive years.3®

She was completely dedicated to her work and to her role as a reli-
gious sister. “From the time I entered the Congregation,” she wrote once
in reflecting on her career in health care, “I did not ask God what I could
get, but what I could give and do for His honor and glory. Sometimes I
was ill prepared for the work assigned me, but by placing myself in
God’s hands and asking Him to help me, somehow the work got
done.”?’

*“She had just the right disposition for administration,” according
to Sister Mary Vincent O’Donnell. “She could handle all of the prob-
lems that came along. She was always jolly and could make a joke out
of everything. At one time she was having difficulties with some of the
older, long-established doctors that were opposed to change, and I
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remember her telling me, “There’s nothing wrong with this place that a
few funerals wouldn’t take care of.’”38

During her tenure as administrator of St. Joseph’s, Mother Mary
Nicholas was very well known and highly respected. According to Dr.
Courtney Townsend, “She had the town on her hip!”®° It was through
her contact with local leaders that both the women’s auxiliary and the
lay advisory board became important links with the civic community.

Mrs. Robert McWhirter had been named the first president of the
auxiliary in 1955. The organization began with only fifteen members
but grew steadily, contributing over $700,000 and thousands of volun-
teer hours of service to the hospital each year. “In the beginning,”
according to Mrs. McWhirter, “the nurses didn’t know whether they
would like having the auxiliary volunteers. They feared that the volun-
teers might take over their jobs.”° Everyone in the hospital, however,
soon learned to appreciate the generous assistance.

The lay advisory board was established in 1956 with W. Henry
Ayres as the first president. Charter members were Hardy Moore,
Gilbert Cecil, Dr. J. R. McLemore, Luther Howerton, Robert
McWhirter, Ed Schilling, George Serur, Dr. Courtney Townsend, and
Ben Marable. In the years before lay persons were appointed to the
board of trustees, the advisory board was instrumental in directing the
hospital in relation to the needs of the local community.

The question of the admission of black patients arose again in the
late 1950s, when initial plans were announced for the closing of Lamar
County Hospital because of financial problems. County Judge C. V.
Flanary, Jr., approached Mother Mary Nicholas asking if the county
patients, many of whom were black, could be transferred to St. Joseph’s.
Without hesitation, she assured him that it was hospital policy to accept
all patients regardless of their race. The following statement appeared
the next morning in The Paris News: “County Judge C. V. Flanary
announced Saturday that St. Joseph’s Hospital here had agreed to accept
Lamar County’s charity patients—both white and Negro.”*' The news
release created a furor among the doctors who resented the fact that they
had not been consulted about the acceptance of county patients and who
were still strongly opposed to the integration of St. Joseph’s. When their
arguments with Mother Mary Nicholas got them nowhere, they tele-
phoned the general administration in San Antonio.

“By 6:00 a.m. the next morning,” according to Sister Mary
Vincent O’Donnell, “we were on our way to Paris to see what we could
do to settle the situation.” Sister was inspectress of hospitals and serv-
ing on the general council for the Congregation. She knew that she must
support Mother Mary Nicholas. She knew also that she had to support
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the right of black patients to be hospitalized at St. Joseph’s. From as
early as 1869, the sisters had accepted persons of all races, nationalities,
and religions at Santa Rosa, and from the time of its foundation in 1889,
Saint Joseph Hospital in Fort Worth had been integrated also, although
black patients were confined to separate wards at both hospitals.*?

As Sister Mary Vincent arrived in Paris, Dr. N. L. Barker met her
at the front door of the hospital and led her into a room full of doctors.
With the exception of Dr. Fitzpatrick, who stood behind the sisters’
decision, all of the physicians had the same complaint, that St. Joseph’s
should not accept the county patients. “Translated, of course, it meant
that we should not accept black patients,” said Sister Mary Vincent. By
the end of the tense and emotion-filled meeting, she had not calmed
their anger, but at least they were prepared to accept the inevitable, as
she turned the complaint back upon themselves. “It is the physician who
refers patients to the hospital,” she insisted. “Patients, whether they are
white or black, cannot be admitted without being sent to the hospital by
a doctor. If physicians in Paris refer black patients to this hospital, they
will be admitted.”*3

By 1962, St. Joseph’s was commemorating its fiftieth anniversary.
The golden jubilee celebration began with a Solemn High Mass in the
adjoining parish church, Our Lady of Victory. Bishop Thomas K.
Gorman presided at the Mass, assisted by Father Julian A. Lubo, S.C.J.,
and Father Philip Blanke, M.S.F,, hospital chaplain. The work of the sis-
ters was praised as “a half century of service given gladly to the sick and
afflicted—a faithful service to the people of Paris and the Red River
Valley, and a loving service to God.”™**

Opening with the golden jubilee celebration, the 1960s became a
turning point for St. Joseph’s—a time of building up and of tearing
down, a time of reflection on the past and decision for the future. The
City had been growing in population, aided primarily by the relocation
in the area of national industrial corporations, Westinghouse Electric
Corporation and Campbell Soup. To keep pace with such growth, the
hospital had been steadily expanding. However, by 1962, when it was
evident that the City needed more patient beds, St. Joseph’s had reached
its full capacity. The doctors were insistent on the need for additional
space. At a meeting of the advisory board, Dr. William deG Hayden said
an expansion program was mandatory, and plans must be initiated for
construction of a new building with an additional 150 beds.*

The original structure, built in 1913, could not be remodeled to
meet the existing standards for hospitals. The sisters would have to
build a completely new hospital to keep pace with the demands of rapid-
ly changing medical technology and medical practice. When the pro-
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posal was presented to the general council in San Antonio, the sisters
weighed two alternatives, either commit a very large sum of money for
a new hospital or close the institution altogether, because of the many
demands on the Congregation for financial support. While the decision
was being made, several things happened that seemed to point a clear
direction for the future.

The first occurrence was a proposal by the local parish for an
exchange of property. The pastor was anxious to build a new church on
the tract of land south of the hospital which had been recently purchased
by St. Joseph’s, and to offer in exchange the site of the original church,
rectory, and parish hall, a desirable location for constructing a new hos-
pital. The two property deeds were exchanged and legally recorded in
the names of the new owners. St. Joseph’s paid the parish an additional
$30,000 for its share of the transaction.

The second occurrence was the qualification of St. Joseph’s for a
$1 million grant under the Hill-Burton program. The terms of the grant
called for the hospital to match the federal funding.?® Mother Mary
Nicholas sought help from the general council in San Antonio, who
approved of a community campaign to raise $500,000 and the securing
of a loan for the same amount. The authorization seemed to be granted,
however, with some doubt that the effort would prove successful.
Furthermore, the burden of raising the money was placed wholly on the
sisters in Paris. Writing for Rev. Mother Mary Clare Cronly, Mother
Calixta Garvey, said, “In the event that the drive will not be successful,
the transaction will be dropped. If successful, $500,000 may be bor-
rowed to complete matching funds.” A directive was added that Mother
Mary Nicholas should “take no active part in the drive.”’

This was a time of transition in the history of the Congregation.
Although many sisters, like Mother Mary Nicholas, saw the need for
more community involvement and were willing to take active roles in
seeking financial help for hospitals and schools, Congregational supe-
riors did not always look favorably upon such direct contact with the
laity. Mother Mary Nicholas, however, was a woman of great determi-
nation. As Sister Mary Loyola Liedel said, “If she thought something
was needed, nothing could stop her.”® In spite of the cautionary direc-
tive from the general council, she took on the responsibility, together
with the newly formed advisory board, of raising the funds for the new
hospital.

It was the first time that the sisters had ever turned to the commu-
nity for financial help, and they were not certain that St. Joseph’s had
fully gained the acceptance of the people of Paris to the extent that they
would support a fund raising campaign. Although the memory of the
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hospital’s service at the time of the great fire had faded over the years,
the sisters had worked hard to maintain the community’s confidence.
The fund raising campaign would be a test of their success. Just as the
early sisters did in times of financial need, Mother Mary Nicholas
turned to St. Joseph, and as Sister Mary Loyola Liedel said, “She start-
ed that campaign on a wing and a prayer.”*

In the regular monthly letter sent to the provincial superioress,
Sister Mary of Jesus wrote, “Much has to be done by us before we can
build a new hospital, but we are placing great faith and trust in St.
Joseph, who has carried us through good times and bad times over the
more than fifty years since St. Joseph’s was established. We enlist your
help in the way of prayers and ask especially the Paris sisters to pray
without ceasing that all will succeed for the glory of God, the honor of
the Church, and the welfare of all the good people we serve in this
area.”?

The campaign was directed by civic leaders Leland Smith and
Henry Ayres, co-chairmen of the St. Joseph’s Hospital Development
Council. Working with them were Harold Hodges, R. L. Reed, and
George Serur. The response of the community was generous in contribut-
ing the necessary $500,000, which was reassuring for the future of St.
Joseph’s. The following editorial appeared in The Paris News:

Through 54 years of poverty and plenty, prosperity and depression, the
St. Joseph’s Hospital has ministered to the medical and surgical needs of
Paris and the Red River Valley.

And interwoven in this more than a half century of unselfish, non-
denominational service and dedication has been the very lives of the
Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word.

Their service and dedication has gone, for the most part, unnoticed by a
busy public that saw only another hospital which stood ready if they ever
needed it.

But had it not been for the Sisters of Charity, there would not be a St.
Joseph’s Hospital. And had it not been for their faith in the future, their
strong odds, and their literal vow of poverty, the hospital would have
been forced many times by the economic facts of life to close its doors.’!

With the success of the campaign and assurance of the $500,000
loan, plans for the new hospital were drawn up. Initially, it was designed
to include five stories and provide for 140 beds as well as a complete
obstetric department, an intensive care unit, the most completely
equipped surgical suite and surgical recovery room, and up-to-date X-
ray and pathology laboratories.
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When the bids were submitted for the new building, they far
exceeded the projected cost, and the sisters discovered they had to bor-
row an additional $1,130,000. Plans were adjusted to reduce the size of
the building to four floors rather than five, with provision for the future
addition of three more floors. Even with such changes the hospital cost
$3.5 million. It was finally dedicated on November 17, 1968, by Bishop
John Cassatta, auxiliary bishop of Dallas and Fort Worth.

Mother Mary Nicholas wrote an open letter of appreciation to the
people of Paris who had come to the aid of St. Joseph’s when the impor-
tant decision had to be made either to build for the future or to close the
hospital:

Eight years ago the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word were faced
with the same decision that faced the sisters in 1911 when they accepted
the operation of St. Joseph’s Hospital. They could abandon the hospital
or they could strive to carry on Christ’s work of caring for His sick and
injured in this community. . . . It was Our Lord’s example and the love of
the people here that provided the courage to remain and attempt the
building of the new hospital. . .. You responded generously and we are
truly grateful.>?

Once the new building was in place, the old St. Joseph’s was
demolished. The hospital had been built almost entirely of concrete, and
the demolition was almost beyond the power of the wrecking crews that
came from Dallas to perform the job. The old St. Joseph’s seemed to
resist every effort to be torn down, and in the course of its destruction,
the falling building even swallowed up the wrecking ball. According to
Thomas Steely, past member of the Board of Trustees, “Those brand
new trucks that had been sent over from Dallas went limping back over-
loaded with all that concrete.”? Once the debris had been cleared away,
the site was transformed into a two-level parking garage to serve the
new hospital.

As the recipient of Hill-Burton funds, St. Joseph’s had to be estab-
lished as an independent corporation, a requirement of the federal gov-
ernment. Up to this time, the hospital had been operating under the first
state charter secured by the sisters in 1881, which authorized them to
operate both schools and hospitals in all parts of Texas. The new char-
ter was granted on October 4, 1965, establishing St. Joseph’s as an inde-
pendent non-profit institution. Charter members were Rev. Mother
Mary Clare Cronly, Mother Maternus Hallekamp, Mother Mary
Nicholas Dittlinger, Sister Fidelma Lavelle, and Sister Mary of Jesus
Singleton. The new charter provided also for two lay persons to be
named to the Board of Trustees. They were Henry Pykes and R. L.
Reed.
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The acceptance of the Hill-Burton funds also put St. Joseph’s
under a new responsibility to comply with federal regulations regarding
the acceptance of black patients. The Civil Rights Act, that required
complete desegregation, had been enacted in 1964. St. Joseph’s, as the
beneficiary of federal funds, was now responsible for the acceptance
and equal treatment of all patients without regard to race, creed, color,
or national origin. In accordance with the law, the question of accepting
black patients was finally laid to rest.

The decade of the 1970s was a critical time for Catholic hospitals
throughout the country when a landmark decision on abortion was
passed down from the Supreme Court. The National Conference of
Catholic Bishops issued a set of guidelines for Catholic health care
facilities, stating that “the opinion of the Court is wrong and is entirely
contrary to the fundamental principles of morality.” The Conference
insisted also that “Catholic hospitals cannot comply with laws requiring
them to provide abortion services . . . [and] must give public notice of
their commitment to the sanctity of life and their refusal to provide
abortion or sterilization services.”*

St. Joseph’s took a firm stand on the issue and promptly published
a resolution stating its position as a Catholic hospital:

January 22, 1973, should long be remembered as a day of mourning in
our land, for on that dreadful day the United States Supreme Court struck
from its statutes the law that afforded protection to the unborn.

The decision handed down by the Supreme Court declaring the Texas and
Georgia abortion laws to be unconstitutional in no way changes the phi-
losophy of the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word . . . that whatev-
er is opposed to life itself, whether it be murder, genocide, abortion, or
euthanasia, violates the integrity of the human person.

We therefore reaffirm our unswerving intention neither to provide such
services, nor to cooperate in the deliberate termination of the life of a
human being, and to abide by the ethical and religious directives for
Catholic health facilities.

We are completely committed to uphold and protect the dignity of human
life at any stage or phase of its development.>>

Although the effects of such action were not felt immediately, in
time the hospital would see a definite decline in the number of obstetrical
patients seeking admission. In the mid 1970s, however, the average occu-
pancy rate for the whole hospital was 92%, far above the national average
of 77.5%. The new building had been constructed with four floors, but the
structure was designed to support a seven-story building. It was time to
start growing again. This time, the decision to build was not a difficult
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one. The people of Paris had shown enormous support for the hospital,
and the sisters were confident that such support would continue.

Sister Grace O’Meara was appointed administrator in 1973 and
immediately began to plan for a $2.5 million building program to add a
fifth floor on three of the four wings of the hospital. When the project
was completed four years later, the number of patient beds was
increased to 150, and a physicians’ office complex was constructed
adjacent to the hospital, the first of six medical office buildings to be
connected to St. Joseph’s. Fund-raising efforts within the community
and a $1.5 million bond issue helped to pay the cost of construction.

In 1976, Sister Grace was replaced in the administration by Sister
Mary Eustace Farrell, who had held the same position at Spohn Hospital
in Corpus Christi and at Saint Joseph Hospital in Fort Worth. The plans
for expansion were well underway, but Sister faced two major decisions
that had been under consideration for some time. Neither one would
have popular acceptance within the hospital or within the community.

The first decision was to tear down Our Lady of Visitation Chapel,
the small ivy-clad structure made of Oklahoma cobblestone. As early as
1964, the building had shown signs of deterioration.>® Costs for restora-
tion were prohibitive, however, and the project had been delayed. In 1975,
the ceiling collapsed and the building was declared unsafe for public use.
A new chapel was opened on the second floor of the hospital.

The old structure had been built in 1914 as part of the first hospi-
tal and was regarded as a historical landmark in the City. Both the prop-
erty and the money to construct the building had been donated by one
of the first Catholic families in Paris. Although the chapel was used pri-
marily by the sisters, many of the townspeople had been married there
and had their children baptized there for sentimental reasons. The sis-
ters were reluctant to tear the building down and tried to raise commu-
nity funds to restore it. They appealed to several organizations in Paris
and to the state historical society for help and received a great deal of
encouragement, but no financial assistance.

At the same time, hospital authorities did not think that funds need-
ed for the addition of patient beds and the expansion of health services
should be allocated to the restoration and preservation of the chapel.
Moreover, the space was needed for hospital expansion. After much dis-
cussion and some community outcries, the stone structure came down. Its
demolition in 1976 marked a passing of the old to make way for the new.

The second difficult decision that Sister Mary Eustace faced in the
beginning of her administration was whether or not to continue the obstet-
rical services offered by the hospital. In the early years and extending into
the 1960s, St. Joseph’s had operated a large obstetric department. Sister
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Maternus Hallekamp spent twenty-five years supervising the unit and was
so well known for her work there that most of the people of Paris knew
her as “Sister Maternity.” Sister Adelgunda Klein, who had served many
years in the department also, could even recall the time she helped deliv-
er twenty-four babies within twenty-four hours.

The department began to lose patients, however, after the hospi-
tal’s response to the 1973 Supreme Court decision regarding abortion.
Doctors responding to patients’ requests for abortions or sterilizations
knew that they could not use St. Joseph’s for such procedures. They had
not opposed the sisters’ stand on the issue; they just simply transferred
their practice to McCuistion. In 1977, a study of the obstetrical depart-
ment at St. Joseph’s showed that it had been underutilized over the past
five years and operating at a substantial loss ($35,000 in 1977). In the
same year, only two physicians were serving on the staff of the unit, and
both were planning to discontinue their practice. Although some efforts
had been made at recruiting new obstetricians, they had been unsuc-
cessful. Equipment was outdated, and the hospital would face a large
capital expenditure to replace it. Moreover, the fourth-floor maternity
section was needed for the expansion of other services. In 1978, the
decision was made to phase out the unit. With the close of the depart-
ment, however, the hospital in time began to lose patients in associated
areas, such as pediatrics and gynecology.

Obstetrics was immediately replaced by a hemodialysis unit estab-
lished in 1978 in response to an urgent need for such service within the
community. The decision proved to be fortuitous both for St. Joseph’s
and for the people of Paris. The number of renal patients utilizing the
service grew rapidly over the next few years, causing the hospital to be
named a national hemodialysis center. Four years later, it expanded into
the Watson W. Wise Memorial Dialysis Center, a 5,000-square-foot
structure at the corner of 10th Street NE and Austin Street, named for its
benefactor, Watson W. Wise, a philanthropist of Tyler who supported
the development of hemodialysis services throughout the state.

Another significant development in response to community need
came in 1980. To serve the cancer patients of the area who previously
had to travel to Dallas or to Fort Worth for chemotherapy treatment, the
hospital opened an oncology clinic. Consulting oncology physicians
from Dallas assisted in offering treatment to the patients. As soon as the
facility was in operation, patients came from all of the surrounding
counties in Texas and from parts of Oklahoma.

St. Joseph’s was growing into a major medical complex, and as
patient beds and services expanded, the need to recruit and retain more
physicians became critical. A major effort had been initiated in 1976
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with the construction of three medical office buildings adjacent to the
hospital. In 1979, two more were added, and in 1981, the purchase,
renovation, and enlargement of the Clarksville Clinic expanded the
physician office complex to six buildings. The hospital administration
also took deliberate steps to attract specialists in different fields of
medicine as well as young doctors current in the most recent develop-
ments of medical practice. By 1981, St. Joseph’s had an active staff
membership of thirty physicians, with six in associate status.
Admissions now numbered 6,446 and patient days rose to 43,134,
Outpatient visits were up to 11,133.

The patient representative program, designed to assist the hospital
in becoming more responsive to human needs, began in 1980 with
Sister Tricia Freeman. Hospital administrators throughout the country
were concerned that recent developments in technology were tending to
dehumanize health care. St. Joseph’s introduced the patient representa-
tive service as a means of counteracting this trend and of preserving the
caring spirit that had marked the hospital from its beginnings.

The 1980s also brought two tornadoes to Lamar County, both of
them natural disasters much smaller in size but similar in tragic effect to
the great fire of 1916. On May 13, 1981, a tornado swept through the
small community of Emerson about ten miles northwest of Paris. The
twister demolished most of the town, and more than thirty residents
were taken to Paris hospitals. St. Joseph’s admitted eight persons who
were seriously injured, while twelve others were treated and released
later in the evening. The hospital had only recently expanded its emer-
gency facilities, but even with the additional space and newly installed
equipment, the department was overflowing with patients.

The second tornado struck the city of Paris just eleven months
later on April 2, 1982. A storm of huge proportions cut a west-to-east
path five miles long and up to one-half mile wide through an area
close to the center of the town. More than 1,300 homes were damaged
or destroyed; eight persons were dead, and another 180 injured. Over
3,000 people were homeless, and the damage totaled between $35 and
$40 million. More than 100 were treated; thirty were admitted with
serious injuries; ten required major surgeries. Before the storm struck,
St. Joseph’s had recorded a heavy patient census that day. By late
evening, all facilities were stretched to their limits with a total of 190
persons having been admitted, the largest patient count in the history
of the hospital.

In 1983, St. Joseph’s resumed its program of expansion, develop-
ing a special service for homebound patients through the home health
program and a hospice program which was established in 1985 through
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a $1.5 million endowment from the Ella C. McFadden Charitable Trust
of Fort Worth. By the end of the year the hospital had also completed a
major construction program costing $7.6 million, expanding the third
floor and adding two additional floors to the building. The extra space
allowed for the enlargement of the oncology unit, the pharmacy, and the
intensive care unit, as well as the establishment of the department of
psychiatry and the department of rehabilitation, including physical ther-
apy, occupational therapy, and speech-hearing therapy. Total capacity
was 212 beds.

In the same year, St. Joseph’s took a totally new direction in the
delivery of its services through the purchase of the Janes Clinic. Located
twenty-two miles southwest of Paris, in an area of Delta County that had
a low income and aging population, the clinic had been owned and oper-
ated since the early part of the century by Dr. Olan Yandel Janes. His
son, Dr. O. G. Janes, together with his two brothers, had carried on the
practice for many years. By 1983, however, Dr. Janes realized that he
could no longer continue his work and approached Sister Mary Eustace
with a proposal for St. Joseph’s Hospital to purchase the property and to
carry on the health service greatly needed by the poor and elderly peo-
ple of Cooper who were unable to travel the long distances to either
Paris or Dallas for health care. By 1985, the facility became the St.
Joseph’s Hospital Delta County Clinic.

The hospital was seventy-five years old in 1986, and the diamond
jubilee was celebrated with a rededication ceremony. The Most Rev.
Thomas Tschoepe, Bishop of Dallas, presided at the anniversary Mass.
In recognition of its seventy-five-year history in Paris, the state desig-
nated the hospital as a Texas historical site. The historical marker was
unveiled during the jubilee ceremony. In the same year, the hospital
name was changed to St. Joseph’s Hospital and Health Center, which
appropriately described the expanded services, and St. Joseph’s
Foundation Board, with Johnny Williamson as chairman, was estab-
lished to assist in maintaining and enlarging community support.

Because the hospital was serving a six-county area of Texas as
well as parts of southeastern Oklahoma, a twenty-one-bed guest house
was constructed in 1987 for families of patients and for patients them-
selves who were unable to travel long distances to return home after
outpatient surgery, diagnostic procedure, or treatment. The guest house
was made possible in part through funding provided by Dick Rathgeber,
Austin philanthropist and strong believer in the necessity of having rel-
atives in close proximity to family members recovering from illness.
Other contributors to the $350,000 guest house were the J. E. and L. E.
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Mabee Foundation of Tulsa, the Dougherty Foundation of Beeville, the
St. Joseph’s Hospital Auxiliary, and local individuals and businesses.

The Tijerina-Dunnington Urology Clinic was opened during the
same year and located in the former parish church. Negotiations had
been going on for some time between the hospital and the pastor of Our
Lady of Victory Church, Father Carl Vogel, for the purchase of the
parish property. In 1986, St. Joseph’s paid the diocese $1.2 million for
the land and buildings, and a new church was built three miles away
from the hospital. Sister Mary Eustace began to make plans for renova-
tion and hospital use of the old building. The following year, Doctors
Art Tijerina and Glenn Dunnington moved their offices into the newly
renovated structure.

In 1987, Sister Mary Eustace retired from the administration of St.
Joseph’s after completing twelve years as chief executive officer. Her
tenure had been marked with many developments for the hospital: the
addition of three floors to the main building, the opening of a physi-
cians’ office complex of six units, the construction of the hemodialysis
center and the guest house, the establishment of the oncology and psy-
chiatry departments, the opening of the rehabilitation unit, the expan-
sion of the intensive care unit and the physical therapy department, the
beginning of the hospice and home health care programs, and the exten-
sion of services to the Delta County Clinic. Sister had tried to bring the
hospital in closer contact with the local community and was well rec-
ognized as a civic leader of Paris. She was also highly respected by her
peers in health care, and in 1985, was the first woman and the first
Catholic hospital administrator to receive the Earl M. Collier Award for
distinguished hospital administration by the Texas Hospital Association.

Construction had begun on a new fitness and rehabilitation unit,
the Aerofit Center, a major addition to the complex of medical build-
ings making up St. Joseph’s Hospital. Located on Austin St., the
18,000-square-foot structure included an indoor swimming pool, rac-
quetball courts, gymnasium, aerobics and weight room, and examina-
tion rooms for cardiac patients. A large part of the $1.5 million con-
struction costs came from the fund-raising campaign, “On the Grow
Again.” The building was dedicated in July, 1988, and named the
Sister Mary Eustace Farrell Aerofit Center in recognition of her years
of service to the hospital.

John D. Koobs, the first layman to be appointed president and
chief executive officer of St. Joseph’s, took over the administrative post
in the same year. One of his first actions was to introduce advanced
heart surgeries and procedures for heart patients who formerly had to
travel to Dallas, Texarkana, or Tyler for coronary bypasses, angioplasty,
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* N P s B o e
St. Joseph’s Hospital and Health Center, opened in 1911 in Paris, Texas, includes an
ambulatory care program, cancer center, cardiovascular unit, fitness center, cardiopul-
monary services, nuclear medicine, rehabilitation services, home health, hospice, dial-
ysis center, a psychiatric unit, and 24-hour emergency services.

catheterization, and other related cardiac services. Health needs assess-
ment of the community showed a higher rate of heart disease in East
Texas than in the rest of the state, and administrators had tried unsuc-
cessfully for years to recruit a cardiologist to respond to the need for
heart catheterization and heart surgery. Dr. Allen J. Duplantis, Jr., the
first cardiologist at St. Joseph’s, was added to the staff in 1990, and in
1991 he performed the first cardiac catheterization proceedure in the
Paris region. The hospital opened a new $1.5 million catheterization
laboratory to support the program, and upon the arrival of Dr. Michael
Lewis, the first open heart surgery was performed..

During the same year, the hospital purchased a nearby building
formerly occupied by Sears, Roebuck and Co. and converted it into
additional office space for physicians.“Over the next three to five years,
we are going to be a major player in health care in Northeast Texas,”
said Mr. Koobs, who was very optimistic about the strengths of St.
Joseph’s in primary care, general surgery, diagnostic radiology, cancer
therapy, cardiology, dialysis, urology, and rehabilitation.>’

One of the greatest challenges he saw for the future would be in
maintaining the spiritual environment created by the sisters. “The spirit
permeates the hospital, the staff, the employees, the administration,” he
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said. “With fewer resident sisters, we shall have to make some kind of
adjustment to preserve that spirit.”38

Many of the sisters had long tenures of service at St. Joseph’s and
contributed greatly to the development of that spirit. Sister Cornelia
O’Leary spent twenty-nine years working in the laboratory, where she
was highly respected not only for professionalism in her work but also
for her kindness and gentle concern for the persons working with her as
well as their families. According to Sister Mary Eustace, “Sister
Cornelia never wanted to have her employees away from their families
at night. She would rather take the night duty herself.”>°

Other sisters who had long periods of service at the hospital were
Sister Borromeo Wagner (thirty-seven years), Sister Genevieve Chollet
(thirty-two years), Sister Sylvester Wagner (thirty years), Sister
Vincentia Bergman (twenty-five years), Sister Mary Elizabeth Daly (fif-
teen years), and Sister Eugenius Ward, who was a member of the first
community to arrive in 1911 (twenty-one years).%0

“I remember when the bell rang in the hospital every afternoon at
five o’clock,” said Dr. Courtney Townsend, “and the sisters stopped
whatever they were doing and went off to the chapel. It was something
very special, and we’re losing that influence.”®!

St. Joseph’s, which at one time struggled to gain acceptance with-
in the local community, had three active boards in 1991, made up of
some of the leading citizens of Paris: the Board of Trustees, chaired by
Curtis Fendley, past chairman of the chamber of commerce and city
council member; the Foundation Board led by Bill Gant, prominent
Paris businessman; and the Advisory Board made up of young business
leaders who were highly active in the community and chaired by Tanis
Hager, Vice-President of NCNB of Texas.%?

The reconciliation and cooperation of religious groups was evident
in the three boards comprised of persons representing many different
religious affiliations, as well as in the medical staff, the administration,
the employees, and the patients. Dr. Harold Hunt could remember hav-
ing a patient who would not be operated on at St. Joseph’s because it
was a Catholic hospital.5 By the 1990s, the bigotry and the discrimina-
tion had disappeared, and the establishment and development of St.
Joseph’s Hospital and Health Center in Paris had accomplished what
Bishop Lynch and the first sisters set out to do. It had established a
Catholic presence in Northeast Texas.
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ADMINISTRATORS
Mother M. Helen Sisson 1911-1915
Mother M. Robert O’Dea 1915-1918
Mother Philip Neri Neville 1918-1921

Mother Joseph Calasanctius O’Connor 1921-1922
Mother M. Presentation O’Meara 1922-1925

Mother Philip Neri Neville 1925-1928
Mother M. Presentation O’Meara 1928-1934
Mother M. Alexandrina Simons 1934-1940
Mother M. Arcadius Farrell 1940-1946
Mother M. Jarlath Rodgers 1946-1949
Mother M. Columban Broderick 1949-1952
Mother Marie Vianney Bihr 1952-1958
Mother Mary Nicholas Dittlinger 1958-1973
Sister Grace O’Meara 1973-1976
Sister Mary Eustace Farrell 1976-1987
John D. Koobs 1988-1992
Monty McLaurin 1992-
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CHIEFS OF STAFF

J. B. Chapman, M.D.

Marcellus A. Walker, Sr., M.D.

Thomas E. Hunt, Sr., M.D.
Turner R. Roberts, M.D.
James D. McMillan, M.D.
Ernest H. Stark, M.D.
James M. Hooks, M.D.
Elbert Goolsby, M.D.
Luke B. Stephens, M.D.

Marcellus A. Walker, Sr., M.D.

Elbert Goolsby, M.D.

Marcellus A. Walker, Sr., M.D.

Ernest H. Stark, M.D.

Marcellus A. Walker, Jr., M.D.

John Arch Stephens, M.D.
Oscar W. Robinson, M.D.
Joseph E. Amstrong, M.D.
Courtney M. Townsend, M.D.
Carl D. Barker, M.D.

Thomas E. Hunt, Jr., M.D.
Nym L. Barker, M.D.

Marcellus A. Walker, Jr., M.D.

John Arch Stephens, M.D.
Courtney M. Townsend, M.D.
Harold E. Hunt, M.D.

Hugh W. Parchman, M.D.
Nym L. Barker, M.D.

James L. Clifford, M.D.
Thomas E. Hunt, Jr., M.D.
William deG Hayden, M.D.
Courtney M. Townsend, M.D.
Charles D. McMillan, M.D.

Marcellus A. Walker, Jr., M.D.

James L. Clifford, M.D.
Harold E. Hunt, M.D.

Hugh W. Parchman, M.D.
Thomas E. Hunt, M.D.
Charles E. Beachley, Jr., M.D.
Carl D. Barker, M.D.
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Marshall K. Dougherty, M.D.
William deG Hayden, M.D.
Clarence A. Temple, M.D.

J. L. Walker, M.D.

Charles D. McMillan, M.D.
Marshall K. Dougherty, M.D.
Freddie Ray Jones, Jr., M.D.
Paul Richard Bercher, M.D.
Henry D. Wolfe, M.D.

Larry D. Crumpler, M.D.
Arthur Tijerina, M.D.

Joseph P. Emmite, M.D.
Glenn W. Dunnington, M.D.
Toby D. Crumpler, M.D.
Philip W. Clifford, M.D.
Robert W. Ballard, M.D.
Charles P. Crumpler, M.D.
Terence L. Babcock, M.D.

B. J. Parkhill, M.D.

R. W. Schneider, M.D.
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INCARNATE WORD HOSPITAL: SERVING
GoD THROUGH SERVICE TO OTHERS—
WITHOUT FUSS OR FANFARE

The Seint Louis Ster-Times carried an article in its April 7, 1951, edition
announcing the first major expansion of Incarnate Word Hospital since
its founding in 1895. The story opened with the following statement:

The Sisters of the Incarnate Word are writing another chapter in their
long history of “serving God through service to man.” Probably no order
of nuns has done more in the last 100 years with less fuss and fanfare.!

The description is an appropriate one, not only for the expansion
of Incarnate Word in the 1950s, but also for the entire history of the sis-
ters’ work at the hospital. It is a history of the successful development
of a small, poorly managed, and financially unstable institution into a
professionally operated and highly respected health care facility, a
development accomplished through hard work, unshaken faith and trust
in God, and a quietly effective form of service.

The hospital was originally established with this same motivation
of service, and its founder, Josephine Heitkamp, sought as little “fuss
and fanfare” for her philanthropy in making it possible, as did the sis-
ters for their work in developing what she had begun.

Located on the corner of Grand and Lafayette in Saint Louis,
Missouri, the hospital in the beginning was known as the Josephine
Hospital Corporation, named for the wealthy Catholic laywoman, whose
philanthropic interests prompted her to establish the institution. In 1895,
Miss Heitkamp provided $50,000 for purchase of the site, construction of
the building, and furnishings for the hospital. She appointed Dr. Frank
Lutz, her personal physician, as the chief surgeon. Because she lost a con-

249



PROMISES TO KEEP

siderable amount of money through damage to her properties from the
cyclone that hit St. Louis in 1897, however, and because of several dis-
agreements with Dr. Lutz, the facility was not completed until 1902.

It was Miss Heitkamp’s wish that the hospital be operated by a
religious order, and Dr. Lutz wrote to Rev. Mother Madeleine Chollet in
San Antonio to ask for sisters to take charge of the institution, assuring
them that “the hospital has no debt and has prospects of assistance of a
material character. Were the sisters to be in charge, debts would not be
their concern.”?

It is not clear how Miss Heitkamp and Dr. Lutz knew the Incarnate
Word sisters unless it was through their work at the Missouri Pacific
Hospital. They had served there as nurses as early as 1889, when the facil-
ity was located on California Avenue, and were highly respected by both
doctors and patients. Some years later, the railroad hospital was moved to
a site almost directly across from the Josephine on Grand Avenue.?

Shortly before the opening of the Josephine, three sisters had been
assigned to care for the sick at St. Joseph’s Sanitarium located on McRee
Avenue, which had been established by three diocesan priests. The
Sanitarium had very few patients because of its unfavorable location and
difficult access, and thus, in response to Dr. Lutz’s request, the three sis-
ters working there were appointed in 1902 to operate the new Josephine,
a 45-bed hospital described as being “situated in a very desirable part of
the city and with every facility for communication therewith.”* Sister
Colette Foran was appointed superior and superintendent, with Sisters
Remigius Hackett, Blaise Bracken, and Cyprian Bersezai being trans-
ferred from St. Joseph’s and Sisters Finbar Mitchell, Meinrad Kuhn, and
Wendelinus Holzer joining them from San Antonio.

Two years later, on Jan. 9, 1904, Josephine Heitkamp, who had
suffered from a hip disease most of her life, died at her home on St.
Ange St. in St. Louis. She never saw the hospital which she had estab-
lished, but in her will she provided that money and property in her estate
be held in trust with the proceeds going toward continued support of the
institution.’

The hospital suffered from the very beginning from the misman-
agement of funds and property. In spite of the assurances that Dr. Lutz
had made to the sisters that the financial condition was secure, the insti-
tution was operating with great difficulty. Problems arose also between
the sisters and Dr. Lutz, and in 1906, he notified them that their contract
was being terminated. Although the agreement had guaranteed them six
months notification in such a situation, he advised Rev. Mother
Alphonse Brollier by letter that “the Board of Trustees is ready to take
over the hospital and its contents as soon as you are ready and we would
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suggest that it be done at a very early period.”® The sisters returned to
the motherhouse in San Antonio.

The Josephine continued under the management of Dr. Lutz until
his death in 1917. The failing institution had deteriorated in its physical
condition, its clientele, and its organization. Furthermore, the real estate
left in trust by Miss Heitkamp had been disposed of with no records to
prove that the income gained thereby was invested in the institution.”

The hospital had been incorporated originally in the names of Dr.
Lutz and six other persons, all of whom were deceased at this time:
David W. Caruth, Remy J. Steffel, John A. Harrison, P. J. Pauley, Jr.,
Luther Balcock, and Josephine Heitkamp. Only three board members
had been appointed to replace those who had died: Ben G. Brinkman,
who named himself president of the board of trustees after the death of
Dr. Lutz, and appointed his attorney, Ed Foristel, as vice president, and
Dr. L. J. Wolfort as treasurer and secretary.

With the hospital on the verge of closing, Mr. Foristel met with
Miss Heitkamp’s heirs and arrived at an agreement whereby the facility
could be sold if at any time it became inoperative. The agreement pro-
vided also for his own personal profit, guaranteeing him one-fourth of
the proceeds of the sale. It was not an opportune time for disposing of
the hospital, however, and an attempt was made to keep it in operation
with Dr. Wolfort serving as administrator.

Under his direction, the Josephine went through a second period of
mismanagement. The reputation of the hospital suffered greatly as it
developed into an abortion clinic. The number of doctors associated
with it diminished as did the number of patients admitted, and the build-
ing was in a serious state of disrepair.

Dr. Wolfort administered the hospital until the time of his death in
1932. Ben Brinkman was still president of the board of trustees, but the
board had become completely inactive. The by-laws called for seven
members, but the deceased trustees had never been replaced, and no
records of board meetings were on file. Mr. Brinkman had his own
financial difficulties at the time and evidently wanted no further respon-
sibility for the failing Josephine. He closed the hospital, putting a
watchman and fireman in charge of the building, and then proposed that
it be turned over to some religious organization, perhaps the Incarnate
Word sisters. He was aware of the fact that at the time of their dismissal
from the staff in 1906, they had expressed an interest in returning if con-
ditions changed.

Mr. Brinkman approached Rev. Mother Alphonse Brollier and pro-
posed that the Josephine be transferred to the sisters’ care for a token
payment of $1.00. The sisters readily accepted his offer, although it is
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difficult to understand why they would want to enter into such an agree-
ment. Just twenty-six years before they had been turned out of the insti-
tution in a most ungracious manner, and the hospital that they had
worked hard to establish was all but destroyed.

In the meantime, however, they had made other foundations in St.
Louis. They now taught at Blessed Sacrament School, had purchased a
large tract of land in Normandy, and had established a St. Louis
Novitiate and St. Louis Province. They were interested in establishing
other areas of ministry in the St. Louis area.

After their dismissal from the Josephine, Rev. Mother Alphonse
had been in correspondence with Father J. C. Burke, S.J., regent of the
St. Louis University School of Medicine, about the possibility of pur-
chasing a site on the corner of Grand and Vista Avenues and construct-
ing a hospital in conjunction with the medical school.® The project was
appealing but too costly for the sisters’ undertaking at that time. Some
years later, they seriously investigated the purchase of a hospital in Pine
Lawn, a suburb of the City, but this venture was rejected for lack of
funds also.

Mr. Brinkman’s proposal to take over the Josephine, however, pre-
sented an opportunity for reentering the profession of health care in St.
Louis without financial investment. They accepted the offer provided
they were granted full trusteeship of the hospital. Mr. Brinkman assured
them they would have full control.

A special meeting of the sisters with the Board of Trustees of the
Josephine Hospital Corporation was held December 30, 1932, at Mr.
Brinkman'’s office in the St. Louis Arena. Because the happenings at this
meeting are of some significance, they are quoted here in detail:

President Brinkman said, “While the by-laws required seven trustees, for
many years there had only been three trustees, to wit, Ben G. Brinkman,
Edward W. Foristel, and E. P. Wachter. The last named Mr. Wachter
recently supplanted the late Dr. Louis J. Wolfort.”

President suggested that two additional members should be elected and
nominated Dr. W. M. Winn and Neil M. Walker.

President reported death of Wolfort and reviewed work performed by him
while he had management of the hospital.

The President recited that he had been on the Board and acting as
President for the past twenty years, and stated his duties were many and
varied; also stated that he had not received any compensation for his ser-
vices, and in addition had at numerous times consulted Mr. Foristel about
legal matters and numerous complicated matters in connection with the
hospital, . . . that all Mr. Foristel’s bills had been paid by the President
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himself, his reason therefore being that the hospital was in a struggling
position and that he did not desire to deplete the funds of the hospital.

The President also stated that numerous times since he was President,
when it was in bad financial state, that he had made loans to the hospital
for the purpose of keeping it in operation; that he never at any time
charged the hospital any interest.

The President also reviewed numerous conferences he had with Dr.
Wolfort with regard to investing funds of the Corporation, and stated at
the time of Dr. Wolfort’s death, Dr. Wolfort had in his possession as trea-
surer of the hospital corporation some $14,000 in cash, a greater part of
which was in the Mississippi Valley Trust Company and the remainder in
the Lafayette-South Side Bank. . . . [After] the death of Dr. Wolfort, Dr.
Wolfort’s brother turned over to him as President of the Board of Trustees
of the Josephine Hospital Corporation $20,000 in Liberty bonds. . . .

The President further stated that . . . he was of the opinion that some con-
siderable money would have to be expended on the equipment of the hos-
pital to bring it up to date, to wit, the replacement of the X-ray and other
equipment, the replacement of the present kitchen equipment, and the
replacement of most, if not all, of the beds in the hospital. . . .

He also stated that all bills of the hospital to date had been paid and he
was now prepared to pay the current taxes, [and] that if new trustees are
to take charge, they will be able to start with a clean slate.

The President also stated that the original by-laws of the corporation had
been lost, and that although he and others had made a diligent search at
the hospital and had made diligent inquiry of those who might have some
knowledge of said by-laws, he was unable to locate same.

. ... [He] did not have in his possession, nor could he find, after diligent
search, the records and minutes of the meetings of the trustees for many
years back. He stated that he was unable to account for this in any way,
unless perhaps, it was that during the confusion due to the death of Dr.
Wolfort many of these papers had been accidentally lost or destroyed.

It was then moved, seconded and carried that the report of the President
be accepted and he be thanked for same.

Dr. Winn stated that in view of the fact that under the direct management
of the President the hospital was one of the few in the City of St. Louis
able to operate without a deficit, and the services rendered by the
President were highly meritorius and commendable, and that he believed
that the President should be compensated for extraordinary services ren-
dered by him during the past twenty years, and cash advances made by
him from time to time in the paying of legal expenses, and the loans made

253



PROMISES TO KEEP

without interest and without commission to the corporation. Therefore
Dr. Winn introduced the following resolution:

Be it resolved: That Mr. Ben G. Brinkman be awarded the sum of
$20,000.00 for his services as trustee and president of the hospital for the
past twenty years, and in full for all cash advanced by him in payment of
obligations, including legal expenses paid by him for the hospital, and for
all loans made by him without commission or interest; that the same be
in full of every claim and demand that the said Ben G. Brinkman has
against this corporation.

Be it further resolved: That the Secretary be authorized and directed to
draw a check in the sum of $20,000.00, said check to be in full for all ser-
vices of any kind or character and all funds advanced by Mr. Ben G.
Brinkman to or for the said hospital. . . .

Mr. Brinkman then suggested that the outstanding bills since the death of
Dr. Wolfort and the cost of operating the hospital had reduced the net
assets on hand from $34,000.00 to approximately $30,000.00, and there
remained after paying all bills, including taxes and the amount to him, the
sum of $10,000.00; that said funds are invested so they are payable
September 1, 1933, at which time they will be paid to the Board of
Trustees of this corporation.

Each member resigned from the board. Elected in their places were Rev.
Mother Bonaventure Burns, Mother Peter Nolasco Keenan, Mother Bridget
Crowley, Mother William Cullen, and Mother Luitgardis Ziermann.

Signed by: Ben G. Brinkman, Edward W. Foristel, W. M. Winn, E. P.
Wachter, and Neil M. Walker.®

It was later discovered that the $10,000.00 to be used for renovat-
ing the hospital had not been invested as the sisters had been advised,
and their repeated efforts to obtain the money from Mr. Brinkman
through the efforts of their attorney, James Carroll, were unsuccessful.
What the sisters failed to realize was that Mr. Brinkman himself was in
a serious financial position. In 1928, he had invested $2 million in
building the St. Louis Arena, which had been designed for the use of the
national dairy show and aimed at making the City the center of the dairy
industry of the United States. He had invested money also in Forest Park
Highlands, an amusement park located nearby. With the financial crash
of the following year, all plans for the arena as a convention site and for
Forest Park Highlands as a tourist attraction failed, and Brinkman lost a
fortune. After negotiating the contract for turning over the Josephine to
the care of the sisters, he left St. Louis and moved to Miami, Florida,
where he went into bankruptcy.!® Although he later made a financial
comeback through the operation of amusement parks in Louisville, he
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died without settling the debt with the sisters in spite of repeated efforts
made through their attorney to recover the funds.!!

In spite of their lack of money, the sisters immediately proceeded
to set the hospital in order, both in organizational structure and in phys-
ical condition. At the first board meeting held January 3, 1933, they
named Mother Mary John O’Shaughnessy and Mother Mary Ascension
Ryan as trustees to complete the board membership. They also appoint-
ed Mother Mary Ascension as superior and administrator and assigned
Sisters Relinda Muller, Heribert Schulz, Agnes Lucia Williams, Aloysia
Kennedy, Alexandrina Simonis, Austin Kyne, Mary Alice Swindler, and
Herman Joseph Steffes to work with her in filling all of the hospital staff
positions. The Board also passed the resolution that renovation “from
the cellar to the garret” and “such necessary repairing, painting, etc., as
would make the hospital livable and usable be done at once.”'? The sis-
ters went to work, scrubbing, cleaning, and repairing. “The walls were
blackened by smoke and grime, and the windows were broken.”!3 They
borrowed $20,000.00 from the Motherhouse in San Antonio to pay the
outstanding bills and to begin the renovation. They also passed the fol-
lowing resolution to change the name of the institution:

WHEREAS, Josephine Heitkamp did during her lifetime donate a fund
for the erection of a memorial hospital and did by her will provide fur-
ther aid for said purpose, and

WHEREAS, purposes of said Josephine Heitkamp have not been fully
fulfilled; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees desires to conform to the wishes and
desires of the blood relatives and former friends and associates of the
benefactor of this corporation, to better honor and perpetuate her name;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the name of this corpora-
tion be changed from the present name of Josephine Hospital
Corporation to “Josephine Heitkamp Memorial Hospital.”!4

The sisters then began a long, hard struggle to bring the abandoned
hospital back to life, to re-create an environment suitable for medical care,
and to reestablish a reputation within the medical community of St. Louis.
They became the administrators, the nurses, and the X-Ray technicians,
as well as the housekeeping and kitchen staff. “Success was not the goal
when the sisters took over the hospital,” according to Dr. John Flynn, then
a third-year medical student at St. Louis University and an employee of
the hospital. “Survival was the objective. Not only was the building still
in need of some repair—its old elevator was barely able to creak its way
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up the hospital’s four stories—but the nation was just recovering from the
Depression.”!?

Several health care institutions were well established in St. Louis
at this time, and some of these were in close proximity to the
Josephine—St. Anthony’s, St. John’s, Lutheran, Alexian Brothers, and
the Missouri Pacific. Desloge Hospital, serving as the teaching facility
for the St. Louis University School of Medicine, stood less than a mile
away on Grand Avenue. With so many institutions to serve the health
needs of the people of this part of the City, it was not easy to attract
patients and to meet all of the financial obligations of renovation as well
as continued operation. Through the contributed service of the sisters
who took no salaries for their employment, however, and through the
loyal support of several doctors who sent all of their patients to the hos-
pital, the work began to succeed. Dr. Samuel Vandover, the police
department surgeon, referred all of the police officers to the Josephine,
while Dr. Paul Fletcher, who was the physician for Union Electric,
directed all of the company’s employees there for medical care.

Within a very short period of time, the transformation of the hos-
pital was evident in the community, and the following article appeared
in the St. Louis Globe Democrat:

Reports of the Josephine Hospital . . . for the last six months show that
225 patients have been treated and discharged, 112 major operations and
59 minor operations have been performed, and there have been 35 mater-
nity cases.

This hospital was reestablished last December, with the Sisters of Charity
of the Incarnate Word from San Antonio, Texas, in charge. Ten sisters, all
of whom are graduate nurses, have carried on the work, with Mother
Mary Ascension as director and Sister Mary Austin as assistant. The
house physician is Dr. John Hennelly.

Under the new management a modern X-ray apparatus costing $5,000
has been added, among other improvements. All rooms and beds are now
occupied.'®

In 1933, one year after the sisters had taken charge, they applied to
the American College of Surgeons for approval, and although the field
representative who conducted the evaluation cautioned them that “only
one out of a thousand hospitals is ever recommended for final approval
on first inspection,” the Josephine Heitkamp Memorial Hospital was
fully accredited five months later.!”

The staff worked also to establish the hospital as a Catholic insti-
tution and announced in a publication for the patients, “The sisters are
interested not only in your physical health, but are also concerned with
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your spiritual welfare and your relationship with God. A Sister
Supervisor is in charge of each division and will visit you periodically
as a regular part of her service. Please feel free to refer any question to
her. She has consecrated her life to the service of God through service
to mankind.”!8

From the very beginning, the sisters reached out to those in need,
even though funds had been borrowed to put the hospital back into oper-
ation, and every effort was being made to get the institution out of debt.
They adopted the policy that no patient would ever be refused medical
care because of an inability to meet the financial costs. Their first
patient was a man with a gangrenous ruptured appendix. Records indi-
cate that he was “very poor, . . . paid $5, and stayed 16 days.”*?

The Josephine began a steady period of growth in the 1940s under
the direction of Mother Alexandrina Simonis as administrator. She
wrote to the provincial superior in Normandy that the 45-bed facility
could not handle the requests for admissions: “It seems so essential to
get more room to satisfy the ever increasing demand for more beds.
Very frequently we have to refuse doctors and patients, which is very
unsatisfactory for all concerned and is becoming detrimental to the hos-
pital. Besides it is also becoming ever more difficult to keep help, pro-
fessional as well as domestic, on account of inconveniences connected
with their work.”20

The hospital would have to expand if it were to survive in the
future, yet it was landlocked on the corner of Grand and Lafayette, sur-
rounded by large public thoroughfares on the South and West, a large
public school building on the North, and single family residences and
small apartment buildings on the East. The four-story structure that had
been neglected for so many years also needed major repairs that became
a financial drain on the institution. One of the principal concerns was
that the building was not fireproof. As early as 1931, it had been charged
with noncompliance of fire regulations.2! Moreover, the reputation for
poor management and questionable health care that it had gained from
1902 to 1932 survived in some sections of the city and among some
members of the medical community.

The best solution to all of these problems seemed to be a move to
a completely new site where there would be adequate room for expan-
sion, as well as the possibility of separating the Josephine completely
from its past history.?? Plans were drawn up, and the sisters and the doc-
tors became enthusiastic about the idea, but construction had to be
delayed. The nation was involved in World War II, and building materi-
als were impossible to obtain.
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By 1946, however, the board of trustees was fully determined to
move ahead with the plans and purchased twelve and one-half acres of
land known as the Berry Farm located on Tesson Ferry Road in Affton.
The purchase price was $25,000, which was paid in full. A five-story
hospital would be built with two hundred rooms and approximately 150
beds. The construction would be financed by resources of the hospital
amounting to $152,673.00 and a loan from the Motherhouse of
$750,000.00.2% It was hoped also that funds could be secured through
the Hill-Burton hospital construction program. Legislation had been
passed which authorized the federal government to pay one-third of the
cost of building or equipping new hospitals, with funds amounting to
$1,125,000,000 available on a five-year program.

The doctors on the staff of the hospital were supportive of the
move. The war had ended, and many physicians who had been serving
in the military returned to civilian life. The prospect of a new building
in a new location offered an opportunity for considerable expansion to
provide for the increasing number of both medical personnel and
patients. Several of the doctors established a building committee to raise
money for the construction, sending out appeal letters to their peers:

The crowded condition of hospitals generally in St. Louis has caused
many of us anxiety about securing the necessary services for those of our
clientele who are in need of such attention and an added institution of this
character for the care of the sick and injured of our City will add to the
supply of accommodations that are now not only difficult to obtain but
necessary for those who require it.2*

In December, 1946, Mother Eucharia Whyte, the provincial, and
Mother Mary Magdalen Cross visited the archbishop of St. Louis,
Joseph E. Ritter, to inform him of their plans and to ask his support for
the fund drive. The archbishop expressed some concern regarding the
site selected in Affton, a suburb of the City, and advised the sisters to
meet with V. O. Nooney, whom the archbishop described as “a wizard
on location” and who was responsible for selecting future locations for
Famous-Barr, a leading St. Louis department store.

Following his advice, the sisters went to see Mr. Nooney the next
day and were told that to build in Affton would be a serious mistake,
since the future growth of the City would not be in that direction and the
hospital would be isolated from the centers of increasing population.
Furthermore, he cautioned that the area offered no sewerage system, no
gas, no fire department, and no police protection. The location was too
far removed from public transportation, and even telephone service
would be doubly expensive. “The best sites,” according to Mr. Nooney,
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would be “between S. Kingshighway and Gravois, as well as from
Arsenal to Gravois and Grand.”?3

Mr. Nooney’s recommendations brought considerable disappoint-
ment to both the doctors and the sisters. To find a new site would mean
additional delay for the project that was ready to go forward immedi-
ately. Furthermore, the archbishop advised the sisters not to borrow
money for construction and incur a large debt, but rather to conduct a
major fund drive to gain the support of the community.2® However, he
cautioned them that efforts to raise money at this particular time would
probably not be successful, since many other Catholic organizations had
already initiated similar efforts in the City, “St. Louis University whose
friends are legion, Webster College, the Cenacle,” and the archdiocese
itself would soon begin to raise money for a memorial to Cardinal
Glennon.?”’

When the report on the visit to the archbishop reached the general
administration in San Antonio, the suggestion came back that the sisters
should consider “using the old Josephine property for the future hospi-
tal.” The superiors questioned also the advisability of “holding the
Affton property if it is so undesirable?”’?® Unfortunately, neither Mr.
Nooney nor the sisters could foresee that the Grand and Lafayette loca-
tion of the hospital would begin to deteriorate over the next quarter
century, while the property in Affton would become the heart of a com-
fortable middle-class residential area and the site of the present-day
Lutheran South High School, with a growing enrollment of students. In
the 1980s it would become the general location of St. Anthony’s
Medical Center, the most rapidly expanding health facility in the City.
On the recommendation of the professional forecasters, however, the
sisters sold the property for $28,000 with slight financial gain but with
great loss of momentum for the first effort at expansion of the
Josephine.

Following the archbishop’s advice regarding a major fund drive,
they arranged through the efforts of Dr. Louis F. Stephens of the hospital
staff to meet with Oliver Parks of Parks Airline and Parks Metropolitan
Airport in East St. Louis. Mr. Parks was a prominent Catholic leader who
had given generously to St. Louis University. Although he was not
familiar with the work of the sisters and the quality of service offered
by the hospital, he investigated the matter and “found that the endeavor
had definite possibilities. That there [was] nothing but praise for the
hospital and the sisters among the community. The project [was] defi-
nitely worthy of aid as far as he [was] concerned and he [was] sure that
he could interest other prominent Catholic laymen, zealous . . . men who
would voluntarily give their time and advice for the sake of the good
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they could do [and] who would consider it sufficient recompense to get
the prayers of the sisters and the hope of an eternal reward.”?® He sug-
gested that the goal of the drive be set at one million dollars, and that a
minimum of two years be allowed to complete the fund raising effort.
Mr. Parks stated also that he “would have nothing to do with a govern-
ment loan.”*0

In reporting the matter to the general administration, Mother
Columbanus Robinson described the disappointment of the sisters at the
prospect of such delay, but the disappointment was accompanied by a
characteristic acceptance of such happenings as the providence of God:

We need hardly say that poor Mother Thaddeus [the new administrator]
is near collapse over the possibility of having to wait two years for the
hospital; but Mr. Parks told her definitely that if we are to avoid the rocks,
not to borrow but do like St. Louis University and the archbishop are
doing, also the Cenacle—make the ‘drive’ and then build. . . . While we
are all sorry for the Josephine and Mother Thaddeus, it would seem from
the countless obstacles that have turned up that Providence has a hand in
this that the future will disclose.’!

Divine Providence indeed had a hand in the future, for out of all
the delays and disappointments came two significant developments.
The first was the establishment of the lay advisory board, a group of
Catholic businessmen whom Oliver Parks had promised to interest in
the hospital and who would spearhead not only the initial fund raising
effort but many more of the same activities in the future. Many of these
men had already demonstrated their willingness to support worthy caus-
es and to work generously for Catholic institutions. Their commitment
to Incarnate Word Hospital was motivated by a concern for preserving
a Catholic health care facility in the center of the City.

The first members joining Oliver Parks on the board were Charles
F. Vatterott, Jr., and Thomas E. Sly. By 1949, the membership had risen
to nine members, and Mr. Parks nominated as chairman Cornelius F.
Weilbacher, president of the Viking Freight Co. and of Drugmaster Inc.,
who was to become the mainstay of the organization, and whom the sis-
ters affectionately called “Mr. Incarnate Word,” because of his great
dedication and service. Through his effective leadership and through his
enthusiasm for the development of the hospital, the following promi-
nent Catholic St. Louisans became actively associated with the Board:
Leo Weick; Daniel F. Sheehan; Royal A. Weir, M.D.; William P.
Glennon, M.D.; Jerome A. Switzer; Leo H. Snyder; Joseph A. Marre;
Frederick E. Hines; Leonard Lipic; Paul J. Rodgers; Louis Miravalle;
Bernard Nordmann; Frank Guyol; George T. Mehan, M.D.; Joseph A.
Lembeth, M.D.; Martin J. Glaser, M.D.; John T. Flynn, M.D.; S.
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Dworkin, M.D.; R. J. King, Jr.; Leo Crimmins; Joseph Holloran; Rev.
Msgr. Lloyd A. Sullivan; Peter Rubinelli; Sam Rallo; Joseph Sestric;
Herman L. Kriegshauser; Norman George; Joseph J. Hillner; Dan J.
Forrestal; R. E. Krings; Joseph A. Glynn; James A. Kearns, Jr.; Mark
Aldrich; James Altadonna; Arthur Benassi; - Joseph Sheehan; and
Hamilton Thornton.

Some twenty years or more before it became the acceptable pro-
cedure for the sisters to work with such organizations of laymen in their
institutions, the members of the lay advisory board of the Josephine
were not only raising funds and providing financial support, but also
acting as responsible trustees. The organization’s initial fund drive was
started in 1948 to raise $500,000 to renovate the old Josephine building
and to construct a new wing increasing the capacity to 125 beds. In con-
junction with the drive, the board suggested that the name of the hospi-
tal be changed in order to identify it publicly as a Catholic institution
and to separate it from its past unfavorable reputation. Charles Vatterott
proposed in 1950 that it be called Incarnate Word Hospital, a name that
would clearly signify its association with the sisters and make their
work better known in the community.

In addition to their fund raising efforts, advisory board members
handled the sale of the Tesson Ferry Road property, the submission and
selection of construction bids for the expansion, the securing of a loan
to cover construction while funds were being raised, and the supervision
of the building process. Seeing the need for future expansion, they
began to purchase property surrounding the hospital. Board member
Pete Rubinelli often bought the land in his own name and with his own
funds, because the sisters in the general administration in San Antonio
were reluctant to advance the money.>? It was also at the instigation of
the board that a new fire protection system was installed, insurance poli-
cies were reviewed by an auditor and adjusted to meet the changing
needs, and a pharmacy was established at the hospital both as a service
to patients and as a means of additional income for the institution.

Just thirty years prior to this time another board of trustees had
exploited the hospital for its own self interest. In contrast, the lay advisory
board worked selflessly and generously because of their esteem for the
service of the sisters and their belief in the value of the Catholic hospital.

In setting up the board, Oliver Parks had proposed that it be asso-
ciated with both the hospital and with Incarnate Word Academy, which
had opened in 1932 in Normandy, a suburb of St. Louis.3? Involvement
with the work of the Academy, however, did not meet with the same
ready acceptance on the part of the sisters, and the board gradually
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began to focus attention solely on the hospital, serving in any capacity
possible to advance its work and reputation.

The expansion that had begun in the late 1940s during the admin-
istration of Mother Thaddeus Byme was sustained through the next
three decades as Mother Bernard Marie Borgmeyer and Mother Theresa
Daly took over as administrators. Mother Theresa, with her long tenure
as the chief executive officer, 1955-1959 and 1963-1985, provided for a
continuity of leadership during the expansion period, while Connie
Weilbacher and R. J. (Bus) King, former state representative and presi-
dent of King Insurance Agency, as well as other board members led the
efforts to raise the necessary funds and to support the work of the
administration.

The continuing growth of the hospital was accomplished in the
same quietly effective way as the early development, without fuss and
fanfare, as noted once again in the St. Louis press: “No fanfare of pub-
licity has hailed the work of the Sisters of Charity of the Incarnate Word
in caring for the sick and injured of the St. Louis area. The Sisters have
gone about the daily routine of operating their hospital at 1640 South
Grand Boulevard in such a modest way that their service to the com-
munity has never attracted the attention it deserved.”*

Major developments and additions over the next thirty years
increased the patient capacity and service areas of the institution:

1951 $1,219,000 four-story addition increased capacity to 110.

1958 Second major expansion costing $960,000 added two patient floors
on top of the newer portion of the hospital, as well as a two-story ground
level facility housing radiology. Expansion provided for a total of 167
patients.

1963 Third addition in twelve-year period brought hospital beds to 193.
Expansion, costing $450,000, included addition of two patient floors to
the old Josephine building with steel framework legs wrapped around the
existing walls for support.

1967 Ground was broken for new $5.5 million East Wing fronting on
Lafayette Avenue, including a 23-bed intensive care unit, special cardiac
unit, new surgical and recovery room facilities, new chapel, lobby and
dining room expansion, renovation of progressive care unit, and increase
of hospital capacity to 320 beds. Hospital’s main entrance was moved to
Lafayette Avenue.

1976 New 23-bed intensive care unit added which won national awards
for its design.

1977 Further renovation of existing facilities and ten-bed progressive
care unit opened providing telemetric monitoring of patients.
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Incarnate Word Hospital, which hed its beginnings in 1902 as the Josephine Heitkamp
Hospital, has gone through a series of expansions that have completely transformed the
medical facility. The focus of patient services has shifted also to providing & continuum
of care for the older adult.

Hospital administrators and superiors gathered at Incarnate Word Hospital in 1956 for &
three-day conference on matters pertaining to health care and its relation to Canon Law.
Seated left to right are Mother Maria Felicitas Villegas, provincial superioress of the
Mexican province; Mother Josephina Cleary, treasurer general; Mother Charles Marie
Frank, consultor general and inspectress general of hospitals; Rev. Mother Mary Clare
Cronly, superior general; Mother M. Micaela Valdés, consultor general; Mother M.
Bernardinus Minogue, provincial of the St. Louis Province; and Mother M. Calixta
Garvey, provincial of the San Antonio Province. Standing: Sister M. Alacogue Cerisola,
Instituto Nacional de Cardiologia, Mexico City; Sister Anastasia Byrne, Texas and Pacific
Hospital, Marshall, Texas; Sister Juana Inés Rubio, Sanatorio Metepec, Atlixco, Puebla,
México; Sister Theresa of the Incarnate Word Daly, Incarnate Word Hospital, St. Louis;

Sister M. Thaddeus Byrne, St. Mary’s Hospital, McAlester, Okla.; Sister Mary Vincent
O’Donnell, St. Joseph Hospital, Fort Worth; Rev. Francis N. Korth, S.J., Associate
Professor of Canon Law, St. Mary’s College, Kansas; Sister Angela Clare Moran, Spohn
Hospital, Corpus Christi; Sister Dionysia Hyland, St. John’s Hospital, San Angelo; Sister
Maria Martha Echenique, Muguerza Hospital, Monterrey, México; Sister Marie Vianney
Bihr, St. Joseph's Hospital, Paris; Sister M. Alban Mannion, Santa Rosa Hospital, San
Antonio; and Sister Mary Nicholas Dittlinger, St. Anthony’s Hospital, Amarillo.
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PROMISES TO KEEP

1983 Expansion and remodeling program costing $9.2 million provided
additional space for hospital’s radiology and emergency room depart-
ments, renovation of administration areas, and upgrading of mechanical
and electrical services, with patient capacity increased to 340.

The hospital celebrated its fiftieth anniversary in 1983, and a tele-
phone call to Sister Theresa Daly from President Ronald Reagan
brought congratulations on “taking care of the people of St. Louis.”
Incarnate Word Hospital had become completely changed from its ear-
lier appearance as the old Josephine Hospital. What had not changed,
however, was its service to the poor. The decision to retain the original
site of the hospital in the central section of the City had provided an
ever-increasing need. This area in St. Louis was beginning to experience
a significant shift in population and an economic downturn. From 1960
to 1970, the total population of the Tiffany, Compton-Grand and Terry
Park neighborhoods dropped by 50%. A new six-lane highway,
Interstate 44, was built running parallel to the hospital and bringing easy
access to the location, yet necessitating the destruction of many resi-
dential areas to make room for its construction.

Many hospitals in St. Louis headed for suburbia with the popu-
lation moving in that direction. Incarnate Word had made its commit-
ment many years before, however, to remain in the heart of the City
and to give medical care to patients without regard to their financial
ability to pay. “Many persons came, saying they could pay only
$50.00 or $100.00, and their bill amounted to several hundred,”
according to Sister Theresa Daly. The response of the hospital was
“simply to write off the charges, knowing that God would bless the
service to the poor.”36

The commitment to the poor was stressed in the capital campaign
effort of the advisory board: “True to their name, the Sisters of Charity
of the Incarnate Word, in all hospitals under their jurisdiction, have fol-
lowed a policy of never turning the sick away because of unfortunate
economic circumstances. . . . An analysis of the years 1948,1949, and
1950 shows the sisters rendered care in the amount of $657,640 for
which no payment was received. Since the average cost of maintaining
a patient is about $10 a day, this means 6,764 days of free care were
given to those of inadequate means—eloquent testimony that the sisters
are following the example of the gentle Christ to Whom their lives are
dedicated.”?”

It was primarily the contributed services of the sisters that made
such charity possible. The hospital was able to operate for many years
without the cost of high salaries for lay personnel. Although the work of
each sister who served generously without recompense deserves recog-
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nition, it is impossible to list all who made up the staff from time to
time. Yet the history of the institution would not be complete without
noting the work of those who served for long periods of time, often
under very adverse circumstances: Sister Maternus Hallekamp in
obstetrics, Sister Eugenius Ward in nursing, Sister Romana Zimmer in
Radiology, Sister Coleman Calame as night supervisor, and Sister
Eusebia Perzewski in the dietary department.

In 1985, James Kaskie became the first layman to hold the office
of president and chief executive officer. He faced new financial bur-
dens created by government-imposed adjustments in Medicare reim-
bursements. In 1987, for the first time in its history, the institution was
operating with a deficit, attributed primarily to lack of surveillance of
costs and to major changes in the health care market. Mr. Kaskie com-
missioned Price Waterhouse to make a comprehensive analysis of the
conditions and future potential of the facility. The financial situation
was corrected by the following year, and the hospital began to focus
on a future direction that would preserve its stability.®

In 1989, the Price Waterhouse study was reviewed, updated, and
developed into a strategic long range plan that restated the hospital’s
mission and its “commitment to excellence in patient care, to the digni-
ty of the individual, to the sacredness of human life, and to Christian
service to [its] patients.”® In an effort to meet t